
CABINET

10.00 am
on

Wednesday
20 July 2016

MEETING PAPERS ATTACHED





20 July 2016

Cabinet

Wednesday 20 July 2016 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

Item Discussion Portfolio

1 Apologies 

To note any apologies for absence.

Leader of Council 

2 Minutes (Pages 1 - 20)

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 8 June 2016 (minutes 
attached).

Leader of Council

3 Declarations of Interest 

Cabinet members are invited to declare any pecuniary or personal 
interests relating to specific matters on the agenda.

Please see note (a) at the end of the agenda

Leader of Council

4 Questions at Cabinet Meetings 

Up to 30 minutes is allowed for this item.

Written questions 

To answer any written questions from a County Councillor, (or any 
person living or working in the county, or is affected by the work of the 
County Council), about any matter which relates to any item on the 
agenda for this meeting. 

The closing date for the receipt of written questions is 4.00 pm on 
Thursday 14 July 2016. 

Please send written questions to the Chief Executive marked for the 
attention of Jo Moore, (email: jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk)

Leader of Council

mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


20 July 2016

Oral questions

To answer any oral questions from members of the public. An oral 
question may be asked by a member of the public about any item on the 
agenda for this meeting, provided notice of the question is given by the 
questioner to the Chief Executive’s representative, at least 30 minutes 
prior to the start of the meeting.

Depending on the nature of the questions, it may not be possible to 
provide a comprehensive answer at the meeting, in which case a written 
answer will be provided as soon as reasonably possible after the 
meeting. Questions received and proposed responses will not 
accompany this agenda but will be circulated prior to the meeting.

Key Decisions

5 Draft Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire (2018-2032) for 
Public Consultation (Pages 21 - 198)

To seek Cabinet approval of the Draft Minerals Local Plan for 
Gloucestershire for public consultation.

Fire, Planning and 
Infrastructure 

6 Extension of Contracts for the Provision of Carer Services 
within Gloucestershire (Pages 199 - 208)

To approve the optional 2 year extensions and variations to existing 
Carers Commissioned Services Contracts. 

Older People 

7 Adoption West: Proposals and Consultation to develop a 
Regional Adoption Agency (RAA) (Pages 209 - 218)

To endorse outline proposals for Gloucestershire County Council, along 
with 5 other councils, (Bath & North East Somerset, Bristol, North 
Somerset, South Gloucestershire, and Wiltshire), to develop the 
Adoption West Regional Adoption Agency (RAA), and to approve public 
engagement and consultation on the outline proposals.

Children and Young 
People and 
Strategic 
Commissioning 

8 Direct award of twenty seven 6 month interim recyclate 
contracts and the creation of a Dynamic Purchasing System 
for the delivery of Recyclate Services for the Household 
Recycling Centre Service (Pages 219 - 226)

1) To seek authorisation for the direct award of twenty seven 6 
month interim recyclate contracts to each of the incumbent 
contractors for the period 7 August 2016 to 31 January 2017, and 

2) To establish and operate a five year EU compliant Dynamic 
Purchasing System for the delivery of recyclate services to the 
Household Recycling Centre Service with an estimated total 
value of £5m.

Finance and 
Change 



20 July 2016

9 Decision to launch public consultation on the principles of the 
Sexual Health Services Review (Pages 227 - 236)

To seek approval to go out to public consultation on the principles of the 
Sexual Health Services Review for a period of twelve weeks from 29 July 
2016. 

Public Health and 
Communities 

10 Financial Monitoring Report 2016-17 (Pages 237 - 250)

To provide an update on the year-end forecast for the 2016/17 County 
Council’s Revenue and Capital Budgets.

Finance and 
Change 

Other Decisions

11 Council Strategy and Medium Term Financial Strategy 2017-18 
to 2019-20 (Pages 251 - 260)

To set out the overall context and outline the process and timetable for 
refreshing the Council Strategy and Medium Term Financial Strategy for 
the period 2017/18 to 2019/20.

Leader of Council 

Finance and 
Change

CABINET
Cllr Mark Hawthorne, Cllr Ray Theodoulou, Cllr Dorcas Binns, Cllr Andrew Gravells, 
Cllr Paul McLain, Cllr Nigel Moor, Cllr Vernon Smith and Cllr Kathy Williams 

NOTES
1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 

whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer 
(Jane Burns 01452 328472 /fax: 425149 e-mail: jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk) 
prior to the start of the meeting.

2. INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes 
or reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact: Jo Moore, Senior Democratic Services Adviser :01452 
324196/fax: 425240/e-mail: jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk

3. DEFINITION OF A KEY DECISION - A ‘Key Decision’ is one that is, if implemented, is 
likely to

 Result in significant additional expenditure or savings to the value of £500,000 or 
more, or

 Be significant in terms of its effect on communities in two or more electoral 
divisions.

4.

5. 

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS - Members are required to sign the attendance list.

PHOTOGRAPHY, FILMING AND AUDIO RECORDING OF COUNCIL MEETINGS is 
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions. 

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


20 July 2016

Please contact Democratic Services (01452 324202) to make the necessary 
arrangements ahead of the meeting. If you are a member of the public and do not wish to 
be photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the 
meeting.  

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please 
leave as directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point located outside the 
main entrance to Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further 
instructions.



MINUTES of meeting of the Cabinet

Held on WEDNESDAY 8 JUNE 2016

PETER BUNGARD
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 1 -

CABINET

8 June 2016

Gloucestershire
County
Council

Minutes

Present: 

Cllr Mark Hawthorne Leader of Council
Cllr Ray Theodoulou Cabinet Member for Finance and Change
Cllr Dorcas Binns Older People
Cllr Andrew Gravells Public Health and Communities
Cllr Paul McLain Children & Young People and Strategic Commissioning
Cllr Nigel Moor Fire, Planning and Infrastructure
Cllr Vernon Smith Highways & Flood
Cllr Kathy Williams Long-term Care

1. Apologies 

No apologies were received. 

2. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 20 April 2016 were agreed and signed as an 
accurate record of the meeting. 

3. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were made at the meeting. 

4. Questions at Cabinet Meetings 

Public (written) questions

A public (written) question was submitted by Mr Nigel Wise. Mr Wise was not 
present at the meeting and, therefore, unable to ask a supplementary question.

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

The question and written response can be viewed at the following link: - 

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/b11820/Cabinet%20Questions%2
0and%20Answers%20Wednesday%2008-Jun-2016%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=9 

Public (oral) questions 

Question 1 

Item 7: Reshaping Services for Families with Young Children 

Cllr Paul McLain, (Cabinet Member for Children and Young People and Strategic 
Commissioning), informed members that an additional, (written),  question had 
been submitted by Mrs Chris Roberts, (a member of Fairford Town Council). 
Although the question had been submitted after the deadline for submitting written 
questions, it was agreed a written response would be provided after the meeting.

Mrs Roberts was unable to attend the meeting to ask the question as an oral 
question and subsequently requested that the following written statement be 
considered by cabinet members in advance of making their decision in relation to 
item 7 of the agenda, Reshaping Services for Families with Young Children. 

Question submitted by: Mrs Chris Roberts 

Regarding the re-structuring of the Children’s Centres in Gloucestershire, could 
someone explain why Glos County Council is considering closing the Centre in 
Fairford when the town is being inundated with hundreds of new homes and young 
families needing these services?

Response from Cllr Paul McLain: Cabinet Member for Children and Young 
People and Strategic Commissioning

The children’s centre service is based in Fairford Library and there are no plans to 
close this provision. The library will become the host organisation for the facilitation 
of services for families. The current children centre provider delivers one session on 
Tuesday afternoons. Currently the majority of services are delivered by library staff 
including Toddler Time on a Monday and Baby Bounce and Rhyme on Wednesday. 
These two sessions, for parents and young children will continue. 

Families requiring additional 1.1 support will be able to receive this through the 
outreach service provided by an integrated team of Gloucestershire County Council 
family support workers, who will work exclusively across the Cotswolds. 
Opportunities for future services will be developed with the community according to 
identified needs. 

The response was emailed to Mrs Roberts on 9 June 2016 and circulated to all 
Gloucestershire County Councillors for information. 

Page 3

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/b11820/Cabinet%20Questions%20and%20Answers%20Wednesday%2008-Jun-2016%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=9
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/b11820/Cabinet%20Questions%20and%20Answers%20Wednesday%2008-Jun-2016%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=9


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

The following questions were submitted as oral questions at the meeting. 

The questions were acknowledged by both the Leader of the Council, Cllr Mark 
Hawthorne, and by Cllr Paul McLain, (Cabinet Member for Children and Young 
People and Strategic Commissioning), and the following responses provided and 
emailed to the respective councillors on 9 June 2016. The responses were 
circulated to all Gloucestershire County Councillors the same day. 

Although Cllr Majoram was not present at the meeting for consideration of his 
question, Cllr McLain agreed to provide a written response after the meeting. 

Question 2: Cllr Lucas Schoemaker (Stroud Town Council)  

Cllr Schoemaker submitted the following question in relation to the Parliament 
Children’s Centre in Stroud .

What guarantees and necessary funding will there be that the building -  

1) Will continue to be used as a Children’s centre, even community run?
2) Stay in public ownership?

Response: 

The Parliament Children Centre is based on the same site as Severn View 
Academy. The school will become the host organisation for the facilitation of 
services from the children’s centre building, and services for families will continue to 
be delivered from this building. This will include the current provision, which 
includes nursery education for 2, 3 and 4 year olds, health visitors, antenatal 
sessions and parental peer support groups. Opportunities will be explored with the 
community for the further development of services according to the needs of 
families. The building will stay in public ownership and will be leased by 
Gloucestershire County Council to the school.

Question 3: Cllr John Marjoram (Stroud District Council)  

I wish to ask a specific question about the Children’s Centre at Severn View in 
Stroud . As that school is an academy and no longer in democratic control, what 
guarantees are there that those centre buildings will be used as a children’s centre, 
and further, will the school claim ownership of those premises? 

Response: 

Severn View Academy have expressed an interest in becoming the host 
organisation for services delivered from Parliament Children’s Centre. The building, 
however, will remain in public ownership and Gloucestershire County Council will 
enter into a lease arrangement with the school. The Parent and Community Support 
Service will work with the school to ensure the provision for families offered from 
the site is legal, safe and sustainable. 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

Member questions

Please refer to the following link to view the responses to the member questions 
submitted for consideration at the meeting. 

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/b11820/Cabinet%20Questions%2
0and%20Answers%20Wednesday%2008-Jun-2016%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=9 

A total of 34 (member) questions were submitted for consideration, for which the 
following supplementary questions were asked at the meeting.

Question 1: Cllr Jeremy Hilton 

Agenda item 7: Reshaping Services for Families with Young Children 

Will you welcome bids for all school sites, individual or consortium?  

Response by: Cllr Paul McLain 

Thank you for your work with Kingsholm Primary School. Cllr McLain confirmed he 
would be happy to meet with Cllr Hilton and a delegate from the school outside the 
meeting. 

Subject to detailed conversations with the schools involved, we welcome all bids, 
including consortium bids. 

Question 3: Cllr Jeremy Hilton 

Agenda item 13: Quarter 4 Strategic Performance Report 2015-16 

When the new Traffic Regulations Order (TRO) Officer is in place, and the draft 
programme ready, will you be able to confirm the TRO’s affecting our divisions?  

Response by: Cllr Vernon Smith  

I will list this information for you when in a position to do so.  

Question 4 : Cllr Jeremy Hilton 

Agenda item 13: Quarter 4 Strategic Performance Report 2015-16 

The Local Highway Manager is aware of the list of hotspots in my division and it is 
increasingly frustrating by the lack of progress that has been made during the past 
two years. Do you agree, 18 months is too long to implement a Traffic Regulation 
Order? 

Response by: Cllr Vernon Smith  

The council has to follow legal processes, which can be complex and can 
sometimes cause delays. I believe the Highways Advisory Group would be a good 

Page 5

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/b11820/Cabinet%20Questions%20and%20Answers%20Wednesday%2008-Jun-2016%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=9
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/b11820/Cabinet%20Questions%20and%20Answers%20Wednesday%2008-Jun-2016%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=9


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

way of considering this, but we need to be realistic. The cost of implementing a 
TRO is £10,000. I am keen for the issues you have raised today to be resolved and 
suggest you talk once more with the Local Highway Manager about the list of 
hotspots. 

Question 5: Cllr Joe Harris 

Agenda item 7: Reshaping Services for Families with Young Children 

I would like to thank Linda Uren, Commissioning Director: Children and Families 
and her team for the work that has gone into considering this issue. I believe, 
however, there is still a lot of work to do. Do you agree there is real concern from 
certain areas of Gloucestershire, including the Stroud area about the future of our 
children’s centres?. What will you do to regain their confidence and provide a 
quality service when making changes to the council’s services for families with 
young children. 

Response by: Cllr Paul McLain

This is a valid point. We need to get out there and make clear what is being 
proposed. There have been a lot of misconceptions. We need to be more effective 
when talking about improved outcomes. There are a number of community groups 
in the Stroud area who are very keen to show an expression of interest. When 
people see trusted organisations getting involved, they can see how we can 
enhance and improve our services.  

Question 7: Cllr Joe Harris 

Agenda item 7: Reshaping Services for Families with Young Children 

I believe the council’s cuts are strangling the life out of our children’s services. I 
would like to see a more targeted approach. How much of the current review has 
been introduced to improve services, or are the changes in response to government 
cuts and cuts to the budget?  

Response by: Cllr Paul McLain

This is a difficult time. The Parent and Community Support Service will target those 
families with most need. We also need to look at the GCC contracts that are due for 
renewal and at the same time try to enhance all other services to map this. It would 
be nice to have more money but, unfortunately, we have to work with the money we 
have given. Evidence suggests, this is the best way forward. 

Question 8: Cllr Joe Harris 

Agenda item 5: Overview and Scrutiny Task Group Report (A429 Fosse Way) 

I don’t believe this is good enough and it doesn’t refer to the task group 
recommendations. Cotswold District Council and Cirencester Town Council both 
indicated their support to the proposal to reduce the speed limit on the A429 ring 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

road. I would like to see a commitment to this action. Will the Cabinet Member 
commit to supporting the proposal to reduce the speed limit on the A429 ring road?   

Response by: Cllr Nigel Moor 

The task group’s report will be submitted to the Road Safety Partnership to seek 
advice on the recommendation to reduce the speed limit on the A429. 
A prompt response is anticipated, followed by a report to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Committee. I cannot predict the outcome of this response, but my 
undertaking will be as prompt as possible. 

Question 9: Cllr Lesley Williams 

Agenda item 7: Reshaping Services for Families with Young Children 

It seems you are building this policy around expectations and assumptions rather 
than fact. You have listed 3 services; Libraries; Schools and Charities, that all 
operate because of the good will of volunteers. With Children Centres in the mix, 
volunteers will be needed more than ever. I ask again, how many volunteers will be 
needed to carry on?    

Response by: Cllr Paul McLain

I don’t agree. Some services are already provided by a huge range of 
organisations, including adult education organisations and health professionals and 
a significant amount of time and money will be invested in providing support to 
Children’s Centres. I am concerned by the myth the services will be run by 
volunteers. This is not the case. Lots of parents’ groups want to work together, but 
there is also a wealth of professionals who are keen to lead and provide services. 

Question 10: Cllr Lesley Williams 

Agenda item 7: Reshaping Services for Families with Young Children 

The simple answer is you really don’t know how many volunteers there will be. 
Once these centres go out into the community, the quality of service will go 
unchecked. Expectation is not the same as assurance. Right now, there are 
families across the county who are unsure their service will continue. What will you 
do to ensure that these services remain consistent, universal, and of the highest 
quality once they have left the remit of the county?

Response by: Cllr Paul McLain

There are a number of universal services available, including 22 nursery centres. 
The services will be properly maintained and regulated by Ofsted. With the income 
generated from providing nursery places, there will be an opportunity for further 
investment and expansion. This is not about change but about expansion. 

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

Question 13: Cllr Lesley Williams 

Agenda item 7: Reshaping Services for Families with Young

I’m afraid your reply displays a lack of responsibility. What contingency plans are in 
place to step in and secure failing children centres once they are in the community’s 
hands. 

Response by: Cllr Paul McLain

We will continue to monitor performance. I don’t accept your statement about a lack 
of responsibility. The services are universal and of the highest quality, including the 
best take up of nursery places in the country. The idea children’s centres will close 
is simply not the case. Cllr McLain offered to discuss the issue in more detail after 
the meeting. 

Question 14: Cllr Lesley Williams 

Agenda item 7: Reshaping Services for Families with Young Children 

I am relieved that at last the Cabinet Member recognises that his pledge ‘that no 
children centres will close’ is misleading. Once children centres are given to the 
communities to run, there can be no promises that they will remain operational. I 
am glad that the Cabinet Member brings up expectations; the people of 
Gloucestershire have expectations too. They expect a consistent, high quality and 
universal service – something you can no longer promise. 

Response by: Cllr Paul McLain

I find this very disappointing. Although I cannot comment on what action is being 
taken by other administrations across the country, this administration is committed 
to keeping children’s centres open. I can’t comment beyond that. 

Question 16: Cllr Lesley Williams 

Agenda item 7: Reshaping Services for Families with Young Children 

I’m afraid you didn’t answer the question. What are your biggest concerns about 
this policy change?

Response by: Cllr Paul McLain

My concern is that the critical investment we have made in social workers will have 
to stop. 

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

Question 19: Cllr Paul Hodgkinson 

Agenda item 13: Quarterly Strategic Performance Report 

At last week’s Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee meeting, the 
committee were given lots of reasons as to why the council had only met 60 per 
cent of its targets in the last year. As with any organisation, it is important to set 
SMART and realistic targets. Missing 40 per cent of its own targets is a poor 
appraisal of this council’s performance, for which senior positions in other 
organisations would either lose their jobs or receive a serious ticking off. Which of 
these relate to you?  
 
Response by: Cllr Mark Hawthorne 

Due to high levels of demand, there are a number of areas where the council has 
struggled to meet its ambitious targets. Following a scrutiny review of the council’s 
draft budget, it was evident the council would need to make changes in how it 
invested to make improvements to children’s services. 

Question 20: Cllr Paul Hodgkinson 

Agenda item 13: Quarterly Strategic Performance Report 

I am pleased to see the positive actions. If meeting 60 per cent of our targets is 
acceptable this year, what personal goals will you set for next year. What is 
acceptable? 

Response by: Cllr Mark Hawthorne 

I think we need to look beyond numbers and look at the services we provide. I 
believe tough targets are the right choice. As a council, we need to need to make 
choices collectively. Working with our partners and reviewing contracts is how we 
deliver the best possible service for our communities.  

Question 21: Cllr Paul Hodgkinson

Agenda item 6: A417 Missing Link 

With no changes to the funding for the A417 Missing Link Solution, should it not be 
a Highways England funding commitment, as per the original commitment, and not 
this council’s.  

Response by: Cllr Nigel Moor 

The only funding set aside was that outlined by the feasibility study. The full sum 
was never committed pending confirmation of the project by the government. Our 
role is to support the proposals and keep the momentum going. It is good all 
Gloucestershire MP’s are in support of the development. It is important to confirm 
Phase 1 of  the project before moving on to the construction phase.

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

Question 22: Cllr Paul Hodgkinson

Agenda item 6: A417 Missing Link 
Having asked for confirmation of the timescales for the A417 Missing Link Solution 
in September 2015 and April 2016, I am increasingly frustrated that, despite a 
commitment from Cabinet in April, I have still not received this information. It is 
important for the public to understand what is proposed, and when. Can you please 
confirm the timescales for the project timings of the A417 Missing Link Solution?  

Response by: Cllr Nigel Moor 

This is a 10 year funding agreement. Cabinet will be considering the award of 
funding to assist Highways England in delivering the project at item 6 of the 
agenda. 

Question 24: Cllr Chris Coleman 

Agenda item 12: Revenue and Capital Expenditure 2015-16

In view of the low levels of customer satisfaction, what is your strategy to ensure 
customer feedback is constructive? When will you be putting the list of schemes 
together? 

Response by: Cllr Vernon Smith 

We follow the Highways Efficiency Maintenance Programme, for which I am proud 
of Gloucestershire County Council’s performance. I believe 9 out of 17 top 
recommendations are followed and the customer service arrangements we provide 
are noted as best practice. 

Question 25: Cllr Chris Coleman 

Agenda item 12: Revenue and Capital Expenditure 2015-16

How many miles of pavements are there across the county?

Response by: Cllr Vernon Smith 

Around 3,300 miles of local road, 10,000 miles of footway, £154,000 investment in 
the Highways Local Scheme, plus the new cycling footway scheme. I am keen to 
work with Cheltenham Borough Council to look at investing some of the £3 million 
revenue raised by off-street parking charges in the Cheltenham area on re-
surfacing works on some of the footways in the district. I believe it is important to 
network with the districts. Cllr Smith offered to meet with Cllr Coleman to discuss 
the issue in more detail after the meeting. 

Page 10



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 10 -

Question 26: Cllr Chris Coleman 

Agenda item 12: Revenue and Capital Expenditure 2015-16
How many repairs are inspected by Gloucestershire County Council, (if not all 
carried out by Amey)? What is the pass rate?
. 
Response by: Cllr Vernon Smith 

I will have to provide this detailed information after the meeting. We endeavour to 
inspect 100 per cent of all resurfacing works and urge you to come along to one of 
the depots to see how the work is monitored. Some inspections are undertaken by 
Gloucestershire County Council, others by Amey. 

Question 29: Cllr Lesley Williams 

Agenda item 13: Quarterly Strategic Performance Report 

There seems to be a common theme developing within the administration of this 
Council. Whether it’s overpromising and under-delivering on targets, or under-
budgeting and overspending in departments. What matters is results, and it’s clear 
that this Council is failing. It’s failing in adult social care, it’s failing on potholes, and 
it’s ultimately failing the people of this County. In the last year of your 
administration, what do you hope to achieve?   

Response by: Cllr Mark Hawthorne 

I refute the suggestion this council is failing. We are committed to delivering the 
best possible services for the residents of Gloucestershire. Our policy on children’s 
centres is very different to other (Labour) authorities, where the councils have 
chosen to slash and cut services. Levels of demand undoubtedly affect our 
services. We are currently faced with ambitious targets. I am sure you would be 
questioning our performance if we were continually meeting 100 per cent of our 
targets,. This scare mongering is not the positive vision we should be sending out to 
our communities. 

Question 32: Cllr Paul Hodgkinson 

Agenda item 9: Extension of the Parking Management Services Enforcement 
Contract

What is the specific criteria (referred to in the answer to the question)? 

Response by: Cllr Vernon Smith 

Information gathered from market testing conducted by a professional network of 
contributors. There are no indications to suggest current contracts do not offer good 
value for money or are not the best way forward.  

Page 11



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 11 -

Question 32: Cllr Paul Hodgkinson 

Agenda item 9: Extension of the Parking Management Services Enforcement 
Contract

Why, in many communities, (e.g. Northleach, Cirencester, Bourton on the Water 
and Cheltenham), are people are becoming increasingly frustrated by the lack of 
parking enforcement? What can you do to make sure there is a fair system of 
enforcement, and everyone treated the same?  

Response by: Cllr Vernon Smith 

Enforcement is undertaken via a system of regular rotation across the county. If you 
are able to highlight any specific areas or gaps, I suggest you speak to the council’s 
Parking Manager, Jim Daniels.   

Question 33: Cllr Joe Harris 

Agenda item 9: Extension of the Parking Management Services Enforcement 
Contract 

The report suggests money raised from parking charges will be spent on Highway 
Maintenance. According to the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984, any surplus 
revenue from parking should be reinvested into parking related schemes. How can 
such a surplus be put into Highway Maintenance? 

Response by: Cllr Vernon Smith  

I believe this is the right thing to do and will ultimately benefit the residents of 
Gloucestershire. Anticipating changes brought about by devolution, and the 
revenue raised in off-street parking by Cheltenham  Borough Council, I would like to 
see the county council work with district councils to improve highway maintenance. 
We are committed to spending money on roads and highways maintenance and so 
much more could be achieved with match-funding. I would like to see the surplus of 
revenue from Cheltenham  Borough Council put into resurfacing schemes. I would 
like to see all districts take this approach.  

Question 34: Cllr Iain Dobie

Agenda item 12: Revenue and Capital Expenditure 2015-16

Thank you for your answer. To go back to the actual question asked,  however, 
£300,000 of public mental health funds were unallocated last year because the 
County Council’s commissioning team was understaffed. As a former Head of 
Workforce Planning at GCHQ, I know that when you are short of key staff, you 
prioritise their work. As the responsible Cabinet Member, Cllr Gravells, why did you 
choose to give the delivery of Public Mental Health such a low priority so that it was 
not properly delivered last year? Don’t you value Public Mental Health highly? This 
underspend suggests you don’t. 

Page 12



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 12 -

Response by: Cllr Andrew Gravels 

Public Mental Health is taken very seriously. As Shadow Portfolio Holder, you are 
aware this area is a priority area for the Public Health team. It is not just about 
spending money. The public health budget is fully allocated with spending on track. 
The Self Harm Helpline is an important initiative, and credit should be given to 
Gloucestershire County Council for this significant piece of work. It takes time to 
initiate new activities, and there are a number of intentions currently underway. Any 
underspend is ring-fenced to Public Health. There was never any question of not 
spending on Public Health.   

5. Overview and Scrutiny Task Group Report 

Cllr Shaun Parsons, Chairman of the A429 Task Group, presented the task group’s 
recommendations following its recent review of congestion and safety issues on the 
A429 Fosse Way. 

Cllr Parsons stated that, whilst the recommendation to seek re-classification of the 
A429 as a trunk road could potentially offer a tremendous solution to some of the 
issues that had been considered during the review, the task group was aware this 
might not be a feasible option, and that there could be no guarantees it would 
happen.  

Cabinet Member for Fire, Planning and Infrastructure, Cllr Nigel Moor, noted the 
task group’s report and informed members that the recommendations would now be 
referred to the Gloucestershire Road Safety Partnership to seek advice on the 
suitability of reducing speed limits along the entire length of the A429 corridor, and 
on the Cirencester ring road. 

Cllr Moor confirmed that a formal cabinet response would be circulated to the 
members of the Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee before 
submitting to the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee for final 
consideration in July. 

Having considered all of the information, including known proposals and the 
reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and,  

RESOLVED to: - 

Produce a formal response to the task group’s recommendations

6. A417 Missing Link - Payment of Revenue Funding to Highways England 

Cllr Nigel Moor, Cabinet Member for Fire, Planning and Infrastructure, sought 
Cabinet approval for the payment of £1m revenue funding by Gloucestershire 
County Council to assist Highways England in the delivery of the solution to the 
A417 Missing Link. 

Outlining the near cross party support for the campaign to find a solution to the 
A417 ‘Missing Link’, Cllr Moor confirmed that this remained a number one 

Page 13



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 13 -

infrastructure priority for both the County Council and for the Gloucestershire Local 
Enterprise Partnership. 

Forming part of the county’s strategic road network, the A417 trunk road is 
managed, (in terms of upgrading and maintenance), by Highways England. 
Members recalled that, in December 2014, the government had announced its 
intention to provide grant funding to develop and deliver a solution to the ‘Missing 
Link’. Having completed an initial ‘feasibility’ stage for the project, Highways 
England was now hoping to secure the necessary funding from which to progress to 
the ‘options identification’ stage of the project and beyond. 

Cllr Moor informed members that the £1 million payment, (to be taken from the 
County Council’s A417 Missing Link reserve), would aid Highways England 
commence the next stages of the work. He explained that the payment would be 
subject to a funding agreement, which included a project specification, monitoring 
regime and milestone deliverable dates. 

Cllr Moor confirmed that the Secretary of State for Transport had made a 
commitment for construction works to commence during the next ‘Roads 
Investment Strategy’ period in 2020. Although a matter for Highways England, Cllr 
Moor highlighted the importance of the council continuing to work with local MP’s to 
ensure the allocation of funds for this major artery route through Gloucestershire 
was realised.

A Due Regard Statement was not completed for this item pending completion of a 
thorough equalities assessment by Highways England as part of the scheme 
development process.

Having considered all of the information, including known proposals and the 
reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and,  

RESOLVED to: - 

Approve payment of £1m revenue funding by Gloucestershire County Council to 
Highways England (HE) no later than 1 September 2016.

7. Reshaping Services for Families with Young Children 

Councillor Paul McLain, Cabinet Member for Children and Young People and 
Strategic Commissioning, sought approval of the recommendations for the 
reshaping of services for families and young children, and the procurement of such 
services, as outlined in the decision report published with the cabinet agenda.

Cllr McLain invited Linda Uren, Commissioning Director of Children and Families, 
and Ruth Lewis, Lead Commissioner for Early Years, to give a detailed 
presentation on the background to the decision, including an overview of some of 
earlier decisions relating to the issue. 

Page 14



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 14 -

Please contact jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk for details of the presentation. 

Alternatively, to view the presentation on the council website, please go to the 
following link: - 

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/b11959/Powerpoint%20Presentati
on%20Wednesday%2008-Jun-2016%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=9 

Cllr McLain emphasised the importance of investing in the protection of the most 
vulnerable children in Gloucestershire. He also referred to the need to consider how 
best the council could reshape its services for families and how such services 
would be procured in the future. 

Noting the variations in response by other councils to this national issue, Cllr 
McLain believed it was a fantastic opportunity for Gloucestershire to evaluate how it 
could best target those families and children who needed most support. 

Acknowledging the constraints limited resources had placed on the delivery of 
children’s services, Cllr McLain reassured members it was not this council’s 
intention to close children’s centres, but rather, to avoid this as an option at all 
costs. Furthermore, he was confident service providers and professional groups 
would be keen to work with the council in reshaping how current services were 
delivered. 

Cllr McLain explained how the council aimed to review and expand existing 
childcare facilities. He said this would be achieved via a number of proposals, 
including; providing a locality based family support response service, (for delivery 
from a broad range of community buildings); providing additional outreach services 
for families; delivering universal services via partnership working with voluntary and 
community groups, (for which £300k of capital had been allocated to support the 
development of the provision); creation of a new parent and community support 
service, (offering advice and support to organisations wishing to run universal 
services from children’s centres), and, finally, development of the current network of 
‘other’ children’s centres providing early education and childcare. 
   
Cllr McLain believed the council would maintain existing services. He also believed 
the council would take advantage of this opportunity to expand and develop service 
delivery. Responding to questions, Cllr McLain stressed how important it was for 
the council to target families early. He stated that, rather than rely on the 
assumption that the majority of families were prepared to travel to seek support, it 
was a far better option to concentrate on providing more accessible services, 
particularly in rural areas such as the Cotswolds and Stroud Districts. 
In summary, Cllr McLain anticipated developing a larger, more outreaching 
resource from which to support the vulnerable children and families in 
Gloucestershire. Acknowledging the levels of concern surrounding the proposals, 
Cllr McLain reiterated his offer to meet with members on an individual basis to 
discuss specific issues.

Members were advised that a Due Regard Statement for each of the seven 
children’s centre localities had been produced and published with the agenda. 

Page 15

mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/b11959/Powerpoint%20Presentation%20Wednesday%2008-Jun-2016%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=9
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/b11959/Powerpoint%20Presentation%20Wednesday%2008-Jun-2016%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=9


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 15 -

Having considered all of the information, including known proposals and the 
reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and,  

RESOLVED to: - 

Authorise the Commissioning Director, Children & Families, in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Children & Young People and Strategic Commissioning:

1) To conduct an EU compliant competitive tender process for the award of 
three contracts for a period of 3 years with an estimated total value of up to 
£11.4m, with the ability to extend for a further period of 2 years, (to a value of 
£19 million), for the delivery of a targeted family support service based in 16 
Children and Family Centres across Gloucestershire. The service is to be 
procured as three contracts: Contract 1: Cheltenham and Tewkesbury 
Localities, Contract 2: Gloucester North and Gloucester South localities, and 
Contract 3: Forest of Dean and Stroud localities. (Section 4.1, 5 and 7).

2) To take the Cotswold locality service back in house from 1 April 2017 to 
enable the County Council to deliver the services in the Cotswolds directly to 
vulnerable families by integrating the new targeted family support service 
with the existing Families First plus teams to provide an integrated and 
efficient response to meeting the needs of vulnerable families in the 
Cotswolds (Section 4.2 and 7).

3) To conduct an EU compliant competitive tender process for the award to 
suppliers of a two year contract with an estimated total value of £200k for the 
delivery of business support service to facilitate parent and community led 
universal provision for children and families across the Gloucestershire. 
(section 4.3)

4) Upon conclusion of the competitive tender processes set out in 1 and 3 
above, to enter into contracts with the preferred providers who are evaluated 
as offering the Council best value for money for delivery of the services set 
out in 1 and 3 above. In the event that the preferred provider for the 
contracts is either unable or unwilling to enter into those contracts referred to 
in 1 and 3 above with the council then the Commissioning Director, Children 
and Families is authorised to enter into such contracts with the next willing 
highest placed suitably qualified providers. (Section 5.1).

5) To facilitate the continuation of nursery provision based in the 22 children’s 
centre buildings through an expressions of interest programme to take effect 
by 31 March 2017. (Section 4.4 and 7).

6) Prior to the de-designation of the 30 children’s centres as statutory children’s 
centres to seek expressions of interest and subsequently business cases 
from organisations including schools who wish to be host sites for the 
delivery of early education and childcare and for universal services for 
children and families thereby offering greater flexibility to meet the needs of 
the community.(section 4.3 and 7).

Page 16



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 16 -

7) To give notice to end the current children’s centre contracts to take effect 
from 31 March 2017. (Section 7).

8. Extension of contracts for accommodation based support services for 
vulnerable homeless adults 

Cllr Kathy Williams, Cabinet Member for Long-term care, sought authorisation to 
exercise contractual options for the extension of contracts for accommodation-
based housing related support services for vulnerable homeless adults.

Cllr Williams informed members that the extension of contract would be for one 
year only, allowing support to continue whilst the council reviewed further long term 
options in response to changing patterns of demand. Any financial or resource 
implications to be met from within the existing budget. 

Having considered all of the information, including known proposals and the 
reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and,

RESOLVED to:  

Authorise the Commissioning Director: Children and Families, to:

Exercise the contractual option to extend each of the following contracts for 
accommodation-based support services for vulnerable homeless adults for a final 
period of 1 year in each case, commencing on 1 July 2016: - 

(a) Contract with Elim with a maximum value of £119k;
(b) Contract with Riverside with a maximum value of £284k;
(c) Contract with Homegroup Ltd (Stonham) with a maximum value of £550k; and 
(d) Contract with Cheltenham YMCA with a maximum value of £125k

9. Extension of the Parking Management Services Enforcement Contract 

Cllr Vernon Smith, Cabinet Member for Highways and Flood, sought Cabinet 
approval to exercise the contractual right to extend the current Parking 
Management Services Enforcement contract for a further 2 years, commencing on 
1 April 2018, with an estimated gross value of £2.4m.   

Cllr Smith proposed members consider option 2 of the options outlined on pages 
139 of the agenda pack as the preferred option. Cllr Smith believed this would be 
the best option for the council at this time.   

Having considered all of the information, including known proposals and the 
reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and,

RESOLVED to:  

Authorise the Commissioning Director: Communities and Infrastructure to:

Page 17



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 17 -

1) Exercise the contractual right to extend the current Parking Management 
Services Enforcement contract with APCOA Parking (UK) Ltd (APCOA) for a 
further 2 years commencing on 1 April 2018; and

2) In consultation with the Head of Legal Services, to negotiate and agree the 
terms of the extension with APCOA and subsequently enter into an 
agreement on those terms for the extension period 1 April 2018 to 31 March 
2020.

10. Building Better Lives - Consultation on all age, all disability short breaks 
provision 

Cllr Kathy Williams, Cabinet Member for Long-term care, sought Cabinet approval 
to consult on the reconfiguration of adult-learning disability respite care services in 
order to inform the ongoing commissioning strategy for respite and short breaks.   

Having considered all of the information, including known proposals and the 
reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and,

RESOLVED to:  

Authorise a 3-month consultation on the proposals for short breaks, as detailed 
in paragraph 5 of the published decision report, to run from 1 July to 1 October 
2016. 

11. Building Better Opportunities (Gloucestershire GEM Project) 

Cllr Kathy Williams, Cabinet Member for Long-term care, sought Cabinet approval 
to authorise the Council to act as the lead organisation for the Gloucestershire GEM 
Project, and to accept and administer European Social Fund funding as the 
responsible body, should the funding bid to the Big Lottery Fund be successful.

Cllr Williams informed members that the purpose of this project was to engage 
1100 individuals disengaged from the labour market to move closer to or into work, 
education or training.

Having considered all of the information, including known proposals and the 
reasons for the recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and,

RESOLVED to: 

1) Affirm the appointment of the Council to act as lead organisation for the 
Gloucestershire GEM Project (the Project);

2) Authorise the Commissioning Director: Children and Families, should the 
funding bid to the Big Lottery Fund be successful:

(a) In consultation with the Head of Legal Services, to enter into a funding 
agreement in respect of any and all ESF funding offered to the Council for 
the delivery of the Project; 

Page 18



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 18 -

(b) To accept and administer any and all ESF funding received as the 
responsible body in connection with the delivery of the Project in accordance 
with the funding agreement referred to in Recommendation 2(a)above; 

(c) In consultation with the Head of Legal Services, to negotiate, agree and 
enter into a Partnership Agreement with each of the delivery partners 
required to deliver the Project. 

12. Revenue and Capital Expenditure 2015/16 

Cllr Ray Theodoulou, Cabinet Member for Finance and Change, gave an update on 
the council’s outturn expenditure for 2015/16. 

Cllr Theodoulou confirmed that two of the council’s major infrastructure projects, 
(the waste to energy incinerator and the new anaerobic digestion waste facility at 
Wingmoor Farm near Bishop's Cleeve), were not included in the report to this 
meeting.

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet, 

RESOLVED to: - 

1) Note the revenue and capital outturn positions, and the following transfers to 
reserves; 

i. Revenue contribution to capital of £0.807 million for Highways 
Minor Capital Works 

ii. Transfer of £0.223 million to a new LED renewables reserve 
iii. Transfer of £0.476 million of the Communities and 

Infrastructure underspend to a new Communities and 
Infrastructure reserve to fund the following commitments in 
2016/17:

 Highways Local £0.168 million
 Street Lighting Phase 2 of LED mobilisation  

£0.137 million
 Libraries book and access improvement funding 

£0.150 million
 Road Safety Partnership £0.021 million

iv. Transfer the Children & Families underspend of £0.268 million 
to the Vulnerable Children Reserve 

v. Transfer £0.3 million of technical and cross cutting underspend 
to a new Services to Families with Young Children  Reserve 

vi. Transfer £1.0 million of technical and cross cutting underspend 
to the new Communities & Infrastructure reserve to invest in 
Highways

vii. Increase the bad debts provision by £0.539 million to cover all 
debts over 18 months

viii. Transfer underspends on Traded Services of £0.067 million to 
a new Trading Services Reserve

ix. Transfer of £0.175 million to the Rates Retention Reserve

Page 19



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 19 -

x. Other technical reserve movements for 2015/16, as set out in 
Annex 1.

2) Approve the balanced revenue budget position for 2015/16, on the basis that 
the above transfers to reserves are approved. 

13. Quarterly Strategic Performance Report 2015-16 (Quarter 4) 

Leader of the Council, Cllr Mark Hawthorne, presented the Strategic Performance 
Report (Quarter 4) for 2015/16. 

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet: - 

RESOLVED to: - 

1) Endorse the strategic performance report for 2015/16, 

2) Note the progress made in tracking council priority outcomes; and 

3) Support the actions being taken to address areas of concern.

Leader of Council

Meeting concluded at 12.25 pm

Page 20



DRAFT MINERALS LOCAL PLAN FOR GLOUCESTERSHIRE (2018-2032) 
FOR PUBLIC CONSULTATION

Cabinet Date 20th July 2016

Fire, Planning and 
Infrastructure Cllr Nigel Moor

Key Decision Yes

Background 
Documents

Minerals Core Strategy (MCS): - Issues & Options consultation report (Sept 
2006) and sustainability appraisal and technical evidence reports;
Minerals Core Strategy (MCS): - Preferred Options consultation report (Jan 
2008) and sustainability appraisal and technical evidence reports;
Minerals Local Plan: - Site Options & Draft Policy Framework consultation 
report (June 2014) and sustainability appraisal and technical evidence 
reports;
Minerals Local Plan: - Site Options & Draft Policy Framework Additional Site 
Option consultation report (Feb 2015) and sustainability appraisal; 
Local Aggregates Assessment (LAA) annual report series (covering the 
period 2011 to 2014); 
Gloucestershire Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) 1st Review 
(March 2013);
Gloucestershire Minerals & Waste Development Scheme (MWDS) 2016 – 
2019 (April 2016);

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
Background 
Documents

Please contact Robin Drake (robin.drake@gloucestershire.gov.uk) with any 
questions regarding background documents. 
All previous consultation documents and supporting evidence reports can 
be obtained from the County Council website at: - 
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/mcs

Main Consultees Participants with an interest in the Minerals Local Plan including statutory 
consultees, the minerals industry, local communities and the general public.

Planned Dates Subject to Cabinet approval of the documentation the consultation will 
begin and run for 8 weeks from the end of July / early August 2016.

Divisional 
Councillor All divisions

Officer Kevin Phillips, Team Manager Planning DM & Minerals & Waste Policy. Tel 
01452 427979 E-mail: kevin.phillips@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Nigel Riglar, Commissioning Director Communities & Infrastructure. Tel
01452 838470. E-mail: nigel.riglar@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Page 21

Agenda Item 5

mailto:robin.drake@gloucestershire.gov.uk
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/mcs
mailto:kevin.phillips@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:nigel.riglar@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Purpose of Report To seek Cabinet approval of the Draft Minerals Local Plan for 
Gloucestershire (attached to appendix 1) for public consultation.

Recommendations That Cabinet approve the Draft Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire 
(attached to appendix 1) for public consultation.

Reasons for 
recommendations

As Minerals Planning Authority (MPA) for Gloucestershire the County 
Council has a statutory responsibility for preparing the local development 
plan for minerals. When adopted this will provide the policy framework for 
making decisions on planning applications for minerals development such 
as the working of sand & gravel, limestone and sandstone and also any 
associated on-site infrastructure including processing plant. 

The current minerals local plan (which was adopted in 2003) is in need of 
comprehensive review. It requires updating particularly to bring it fully into 
line with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). This consultation 
is an important step in the progression of the new plan towards the formal 
stages of preparation, which include examination and adoption.

Resource 
Implications

The Council has established core resources to undertake the preparation of 
the new Minerals Local Plan or Gloucestershire and associated documents.

Some consultancy support has been used for discrete areas of work such as 
technical advice or support of the sustainability appraisal.

Further costs can be expected and the intention is to manage these within 
existing budgets.

Page 22



MAIN REPORT CONTENTS

Background 

1. The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires planning authorities to 
produce local plans. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2012) sets 
out the Government policy on planning matters and emphasises the importance of 
plans being up to date for the purposes of determining planning applications.

2. For the County Council as the local Minerals Planning Authority (MPA) this means 
preparing a new Minerals Local Plan to replace the existing Gloucestershire 
Minerals Local Plan that was adopted in 2003. 

3. The new plan is required to undergo several preparation stages culminating in 
adoption, which is proposed to occur in 2018. The new plan will form part of the 
local development plan for the entire county and will provide a comprehensive 
policy framework against which all mineral planning decisions in Gloucestershire 
will be made up to 2032. 

Plan preparation progress so far

4. Evidence gathering and research into preparing a replacement for the 
Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan began in 2005. Under Government policy and 
guidance in place at this time, the new plan was to take the form of several parts or 
documents collectively known as a Local Development Framework (LDF). It was to 
comprise of the Gloucestershire Minerals Core Strategy (MCS), site allocations 
plan; and development management policies document.

5. In 2006 and 2008 two public consultations took place to support the preparation of 
the MCS. These events considered early issues and options and potential preferred 
options for developing a vision, objectives and strategic policies. No investigations 
were carried out at this time into site options for future mineral working. In 2009 the 
MCS was temporarily halted and resources concentrated upon completion of the 
Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy (WCS). 

6. Following the successful adoption of the WCS in late 2012, attention returned to the 
replacement of the Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan. This initially involved 
careful consideration of notable reforms to the planning system, which took place 
following a change of Government in 2010. Of key significance was the desire of 
the Government to see comprehensive new style ‘local plans’ that will bring 
together all of the previous individual elements of an LDF including policies and site 
allocations. The planning reforms also brought about a new suite of Government 
policies called the (NPPF) and guidance known as the Planning Practice Guidance 
(PPG). All new local plans must be in accordance with the policies of the NPPF. 

7. In summer 2014 a third round of public consultation was carried out. This sought to 
re-introduce and review much of the content of the earlier MCS and new and up-to-
date evidence aligned to the recent planning reforms. It also incorporated new 
areas for consideration including candidate site options and a local policy 

Page 23



framework for mineral safeguarding. A total of eighteen candidate site options 
where put forward. Eight sites for crushed rock aggregate (five in the Forest of 
Dean and four in the Cotswolds) and ten sites for sand and gravel (eight in the 
Upper Thames Valley (UTV) and two in the Severn Vale). The candidate sites were 
illustrated using outline maps and an accompanying table containing site 
information. The consultation stressed that no prior decision had been taken as to 
which of the candidate sites should be taken forward into the next stage of the plan. 

8. In February 2015 a further targeted consultation took place regarding a single 
additional candidate site option, which was brought to the attention of the County 
Council in response to the consultation in summer 2014.

Draft Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire (2018-2032) for public consultation 

9. The Draft Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire (2018-2032) (attached to 
appendix 1)has sought to address the points raised during the previous rounds of 
public consultation. It has also taken into account the outcomes of additional 
technical work and further evidence gathering; specific matters brought to the 
attention of the MPA during targeted engagement with key stakeholders; changes 
in circumstances such as the submission of and consideration of planning 
proposals for future minerals development; and an updated analysis of mineral 
supply statistics.

10. Structurally, the draft plan has been divided into twelve sections for the purpose of 
making the plan as user-friendly and navigable as possible. A brief summary of the 
content of the sections is as follows: -

Sections 1, 2 and 3: Introduction, spatial portrait and drivers for change;

11. The early sections of the draft plan provide the background to minerals planning in 
Gloucestershire and how this has influenced the preparation of the draft plan. It is 
here that the county’s economically important mineral resources are introduced 
alongside the potential opportunities and minerals-related challenges that are 
expected to occur over the coming years.

Sections 4 and 5: Vision and objectives, strategy; 

12. This element of the draft plan begins the process of putting in place a policy 
framework for ensuring when opportunities arise, that these are maximised and that 
minerals-related challenges, which largely relate to matters of security of mineral 
supplies, management of constraints and safeguarding important local assets, are 
efficiently and effective tackled. It includes a ‘vision’ or description of the future 
following the successfully implementation of the plan, and seven planning 
objectives that explain, through targeted actions, how the vision will be achieved. 
The influence of the objectives can be charted throughout the remainder of the draft 
plan. An overarching strategy is also provided, which underpin the core policy 
content. 

Sections 6, 7, 8 and 9: Secondary & recycled aggregates, mineral safeguarding, the 
future supply of minerals, and areas for future aggregate working;

Page 24



13. These sections of plan are focused on possible impacts and issues related to the 
different types of development anticipated to occur over the coming years. This 
includes for both non-minerals development and minerals development 
incorporating future working and processing. A total of thirteen policies are included 
across the four relevant sections. 

14. In the case of non-minerals development, specific policies are provided in respect 
of:

 seeking to maximise the use in construction of recycled & secondary 
aggregate in preference to primary land-won aggregates; 

 ensuring provision is made to avoid the needless sterilisation of underlying 
mineral resources (e.g. through supporting the principle of prior-working of 
minerals); and 

 preventing unreasonable constraints on the capability and capacity of the 
county’s mineral infrastructure due to nearby incompatible development; 

15. As part of the safeguarding approach, section 7 also includes the use of Mineral 
Safeguarding Areas (MSA) and Mineral Consultation Areas (MCA); and the 
delineation of safeguarding areas around the county’s mineral infrastructure sites.

16. Within section 8 the attention shifts towards the management of future mineral 
working, aimed at facilitating sufficient mineral supplies in a timely and 
proportionate manner within environmental limits and without unnecessarily 
affecting local communities. It includes a suite of policies for the future working of 
crushed rock and sand & gravel aggregates; limestone and sandstone for natural 
building stone; clay for civil engineering purposes; brick clay; coal and oil & gas.

17. An important national policy requirement (as set out in NPPF) is for local minerals 
plans to ensure the steady and adequate supply of aggregates. This is achievable 
through making sure sufficient provision is available to enable the maintenance of 
appropriate landbanks of permitted reserves. For Gloucestershire, this means that 
throughout and at the end of plan period there should be a rolling landbank equal to 
at least 10 years for crushed rock and at least 7 years for sand and gravel. 
Landbanks are based upon 10-year average sales as detailed within the Local 
Aggregates Assessment (LAA). The most up to date LAA for the county (the 4th 
version) was published on 1st July 2016. Data contained within this version of the 
LAA has been used to support the preparation of the draft plan. 

18. The draft plan identifies that a shortfall in provision is expected to occur over the 
plan period for both crushed rock and sand & gravel; particularly once productive 
capacity issues have been taken into account. As a result the draft plan has 
carefully considered the need for potential allocations of land for future aggregate 
working to ensure both landbanks are capable of being appropriately maintained. 
For crushed rock the amount of additional resources identified totals 16.486 million 
tonnes and for sand & gravel it is 14.24 million tonnes. Section 9 of the draft plan 
details how, in practice, additional provision may be made. 

Page 25



19. Section 9 is an extension to the provision requirements policy for aggregates. It 
sets out the policy framework for how additional provision for primary aggregates 
will be made throughout the county. The section is chiefly concerned with the 
identification of allocations for future working. A total of ten allocations are included 
in the draft plan and collectively these have the potential to meet the anticipated 
shortfall in provision over the lifetime of the plan. All of the allocations have 
previously been consulted upon and represent the most realistically deliverable 
option available. The ten allocations have emerged following the analysis of 
nineteen initial candidate site options (see paragraphs 7 and 8): 

For future working of crushed rock – 
 two allocations in the Cotswold resource area (Huntsman’s and 

Daglingworth); and
 three allocations in the Forest of Dean resource area (Stowe Hill / Clearwell, 

Drybrook and Stowfield).

For sand & gravel working –
 four allocations within the UTV resource area (Manor Farm, Kempsford and 

land at Kempsford / Whelford; Down Ampney and Fairford); and
 one allocation in the Severn Vale resource area (Redpool’s Farm, Twyning)

20. Detailed development requirements for each of the plan’s allocations are included 
along with a site location plan in appendix 6 of the draft plan.

21. In late 2015 the Government issued new Petroleum Exploration and Development 
licenses (PEDLs) across parts of Gloucestershire allowing consideration to be 
given to investigating the potential for oil & gas, including through the use of 
unconventional techniques (e.g. hydraulic fracturing – ‘fracking’). As a 
consequence, the draft plan is required by national policy and advised through 
planning practice guidance to acknowledge the existence of PEDLs and to provide 
a local policy framework to address any potential constraints that might arise from 
oil & gas development (see appendix 1, pages 52 - 57). All PEDL areas are to be 
delineated on the plan’s policies map.

22. In preparing the local policy framework account as been given to restrictions 
imposed by the PEDLs within Gloucestershire and recent debates held on the issue 
of ‘fracking’ by members at Full Council and Environment & Communities Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee.

Sections 10 and 11: Development management and mineral restoration

23. To complete the draft plan’s core policy content, sections 10 and 11 provide a 
series of twelve policies, which cover the range of matters that need to be 
considered when determining future applications for minerals development. For 
section 10 it includes, amongst others, individual policies relating to amenity 
impacts; minerals transport; flood risk; protecting the water environment; 
biodiversity and geo-diversity; Green Belt and protecting valued landscapes. 
Section 11 is exclusively concerned with mineral restoration, aftercare and 
facilitating beneficial after-uses. 

Page 26



Section 12: Managing and monitoring plan delivery

24. The final section of the draft plan sets out a monitoring schedule that explains how 
the plan will be monitored to show it is working effectively and is contributing to the 
delivery of the strategy and plan objectives.

Sustainability Appraisal (SA), Habitats Regulation Assessment (HRA) and Duty-to-
Cooperate (DtC) 

25. The Draft Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire (2018-2032) is subject to 
sustainability appraisal (SA) requirements – to ensure that policies contained within 
the draft are consistent with the principles of sustainable development. An SA 
report is to be published alongside the main consultation document. In addition, a 
Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA) report has also been undertaken and will 
also be made available. This is necessary to determine whether the draft plan is 
likely to result in a significant effect on any protected European Site designated on 
the grounds of their habitat and species importance. 

26. There is also a legal requirement – known as the Duty-to-Co-operate (DtC) 
designed to show how during the preparation of local plans co-operation has taken 
place with a number of prescribed bodies to support the delivery of sustainable 
development at the cross-border / strategic level. An update report will be made 
available as part of the plan’s supporting evidence in order to demonstrate how 
relevant DtC matters affecting the draft plan have been addressed since the last 
consultation.  

Next Stages

27. It is vital that the draft plan undergoes further public consultation and that the views 
of interested parties including local communities are taken into account. Specific 
provision is made for this under regulation 18 of the Town & County Planning (Local 
Planning) (England) Regulations 2012, where consultees are invited to inform the 
MPA of any matters that ought to be included in the plan.  

28. It is proposed that the entire draft minerals plan (attached to Appendix 1) will be 
made available for scrutiny and analysis. Alongside the draft plan, supporting 
evidence, which is referred to in the document and / or which has influenced its 
preparation, will also be made available. The County Council web pages will be 
used to host all relevant publications associated with the draft plan.       

29. Following approval of the draft plan by Cabinet, an eight-week consultation period 
will start. After this time, all responses received will be collated and considered 
before moving towards preparing the Publication stage.

30. In April 2016, a revised Minerals & Waste Development Scheme (MWDS) 2016 – 
2019 was agreed and published. This specifies a timetable for the future plan 
preparation of minerals (and waste) related planning documents proposed by the 
County Council. For the Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire, it sets out the 
following programme:

Page 27



 Publication – Between July and Sept 17 (Q2 – 2017 / 18) 
 Submission to Secretary of State – Between Oct and Dec 17 (Q3 – 2017 / 18)
 Independent Examination – Between Oct 17 and Mar 18 (Q3 to Q4 – 2017 / 18)
 Adoption – Between Apr and Sept 18 (Q1 to Q2 – 2018 / 19) 

Options

31. In light of the County Council’s statutory responsibility to produce a minerals local 
plan and the importance given to such plans being up to date within Government 
policy, Cabinet is requested to either approve the draft plan for consultation in its 
current form or suggest that revisions are made prior to consultation.

Consultation feedback

32. The previous consultation over summer 2014 and in early 2015 generated 
responses from almost 400 different respondents who made upwards of 3,500 
individual comments. A summary report and a comprehensive record of 
representations received and responses to both consultations are to be made 
available on the County Council website as part of the proposed consultation on the 
draft plan. 

33. The key issues previously raised by respondents included: 

 the proposed use of the LAA-based approach and productive capacity 
considerations when identifying future need for aggregates;

 the potential for other non-Gloucestershire based aggregate resources to be 
exploited as an alternative approach to making local provision;

 the acceptability / or otherwise of individual candidate site options for future 
aggregate working – including objections and support for the inclusion of 
individual sites; and

 the quality and quantity of the site-specific information used to inform the 
candidate site options.

34. In terms of the draft plan, subject to its approval for consultation, all comments 
received will again be considered and taken into account before progressing to the 
next preparation stage – Publication, where the plan is to be finalised. 
 

35. The Publication version of the plan will require a recommendation from Cabinet to 
seek approval from Full Council to Publish the plan (for formal representation to be 
made) followed by submission to the Secretary of State. Responses received to the 
draft plan will be reported to Cabinet and Full Council at this time. 

Risk Assessment 

36. The existing Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan was adopted in 2003 and so did 
not take into account current national planning policy and guidance (the NPPF and 
PPG). However, the existing adopted plan has been assessed for NPPF 
compliance to determine whether policies either generally or partially conform to the 
NPPF. In addition, all existing plan policies have been subject to a formal review, 
which took place several years ago as required by the Government at that time. 

Page 28



This sought to decide whether existing plan policies can be used or ‘saved’ as part 
of the local development plan until a replacement plan has been prepared. The 
outcome of this review remains in force today.  In summary, parts of the existing 
adopted plan and the policies contained within it have some influence in 
determining applications for minerals development
 

37. Nevertheless, decisions based on the existing adopted plan do have greater risk 
that they may be subject to appeal and there is an increased likelihood that any 
defence of council decisions will be unsuccessful. For existing plan policies relating 
to oil & gas, these where insufficiently up to date to be saved and therefore are of 
little or no weight in the determination of planning applications for such 
developments that may arise before a new plan is in place.   

38. The lack of up to date allocations for minerals development also generates 
uncertainty for communities and the minerals industry about the acceptability ‘in 
principle’ of sites and creates more pressure on the planning application process. It 
also increases the likelihood of ‘planning by appeal’, which takes control away from 
the County Council and can also have significant resource implications.

39. Progressing the replacement plan will help ensure the County Council has 
appropriate control of all future minerals development and  will provide a clear 
framework in which to resist unacceptable proposals if they come forward in the 
future. 

Officer Advice

40. That the Cabinet approves the Draft Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire (2018-
2032) for consultation purposes.

Equalities considerations

41. Cabinet Members should read and consider the Due Regard Statement in order to 
satisfy themselves as decision makers that due regard has been given. It concludes 
that the preparation of the draft plan has not identified any specific impacts or 
concerns for individuals and communities covered by protected characteristics. The 
policies and the allocation of sites for minerals working to be contained within the 
plan will have the same (whether positive or negative) impact on all people 
regardless of issues of equality. All members of the community will also have the 
opportunity to comment on the proposed forthcoming consultation.

Performance Management/Follow-up 

42. This will be undertaken through reports to Lead Cabinet Member, Shadow Member 
/ Group Spokespersons, Environment & Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, Cabinet and Member Briefing Sheets as appropriate. It will also be 
expected to occur through seeking approval of the next stage of the plan’s 
preparation programme.

Page 29



Report Title Draft Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire (2018-2032) 
for public consultation

Statutory Authority The Draft Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire has been 
prepared under a wide range of European Union (EU) 
Directives, primary legislation and statutory instruments and 
Government policy and guidance, of which the principal 
components are as follows: -

 Coal Industry Act (1994)

 Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended);

 Localism Act 2011; 

 Infrastructure Act 2015;

 Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012; 

 Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015;

 The Onshore Hydraulic Fracturing (Protected Areas) Draft 
Regulations 2015; 

 National Planning Policy Framework - NPPF (March 2012);

 Planning Practice Guidance - PPG (March 2014);

Relevant County Council 
policy

Once adopted the Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire will 
assist with the delivery of the Council’s corporate aim of building 
a sustainable County. It will also replace in full the previously 
adopted Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan (1997 – 2006)

Resource Implications The preparation of the Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire 
will require appropriate level of resources over the period 2016 
to 2018. It will also require further resources beyond 2018 in 
order to meet the plan’s commitments in relation to its 
implementation, monitoring and review. 

Sustainability checklist:

Partnerships The preparation of the Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire is 
reliant upon partnership working. Seeking the views of all 
potentially interested parties is an integral part of an effective 
plan. It must involve informal and formal community 

Page 30



representation – such as individuals, local action groups, Parish 
Councils, District Councils and elected County and District 
members. It must also include statutory bodies and agencies, 
business community and minerals industry and other non-
governmental organisations. The plan also promotes the 
potential formulation of new partnerships through local mineral 
liaison groups that can bring together mineral operators, local 
community representatives and the MPA. 

Decision Making and 
Involvement These are outlined in the main body of the report.

Economy and Employment The Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire will provide an up-
to-date policy framework that will support the local minerals 
industry to develop and evolve in an effective and efficient 
manner over the coming years. Minerals are an integral part of 
the UK economy with mineral products and related services 
worth around £9 Billion a year. The industry also employs up to 
70,000 people directly and indirectly across the country. 
Specifically within Gloucestershire, it is an important contributor 
towards the increasingly diverse rural local economy, which 
includes 700 + plus jobs in more traditional primary services. 

Caring for people The Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire will provide an up-
to-date policy framework for ensuring that the amenity and 
quality of life of local communities will be effectively taken into 
consideration when assessing future mineral proposals. It will 
also seek to make provision for the much needed supply of 
construction and other minerals used in the maintenance and 
development of community infrastructure and services. 

Social Value Not relevant to this cabinet item.

Built Environment The Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire will provide an up-
to-date policy framework for ensuring impacts are effectively 
taken into account with future minerals proposals affecting the 
county’s built-up areas. It will also make provision for a supply of 
minerals needed for growth – in housing, employment and 
infrastructure; and for maintaining the high quality and 
distinctiveness of county’s built character as observed in its 
historic assets and new build developments.   

Natural Environment’ 
including Ecology 
(Biodiversity)

The Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire will provide an up-
to-date policy framework for assessing impacts from future 
minerals proposals on the natural environment and ensuring that 
appropriate safeguards and protections will be put in place.  
Particular attention is given to local areas that have been 
designated for their environmental value (e.g. AONBs, SSSIs 
etc.). It also seeks to promote maximum environmental benefit 

Page 31



from post-mineral extraction activities.  

Education and Information The Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire is evidence-based 
and brings together an array of technical assessments, 
appraisals and policy informed by research. Its publication will 
provide an appraisal of how and where future mineral-related 
activities may occur across the county over coming years and 
identify the issues and opportunities that will need to be 
scrutinised. The plan will be of value to members of the public 
with an interest in local minerals matters and more broadly to 
those studying environmental management-related subjects, 
social policy commentators and analysts the academic 
community.

Tackling Climate Change Carbon Emissions Implications?  Neutral
Vulnerable to climate change? No 

Due Regard Statement Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?     Yes/No
Yes  - considerations included in main body of report

A copy of the full Due Regard Statement  can be accessed on 
GLOSTEXT via 
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1

Alternatively a hard copy is available for inspection from Jo 
Moore, Democratic Services Unit, e-mail: 
jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk.

Human rights Implications Planning-related decisions can impact on an individual’s rights 
under the Human Rights Act 1998. The planning system allows 
people to exercise their rights to make formal representations on 
plans when they are being developed. There are opportunities 
for views to be made and to be taken into account by the 
respective planning authority. A strong framework is in place to 
ensure the protection of people’s rights.

Consultation 
Arrangements Contained in the main body of the report.

Page 32

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1
mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


 

 

 

 

 

 

Draft  

Minerals  

Local Plan for  

Gloucestershire  

 

2018 – 2032 

 

 

For Cabinet 

 

June 2016 

Page 33



 

  

Page 34



 

Contents | Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire 

   
 

Section 1 | Introduction ..................................................................................................... 1 

 

Section 2 | Gloucestershire – a spatial portrait ............................................................... 6 

 

Section 3 | Drivers for change ........................................................................................ 15 

 

Section 4 | Vision and objectives ................................................................................... 18 

 

Section 5 | Strategy ......................................................................................................... 24 

 

Section 6 | Secondary & recycled aggregate supplies ................................................. 27 

Policy SR01 | Maximising the use of secondary and recycled aggregates  ...................... 28 

 

Section 7 | Mineral safeguarding .................................................................................... 31 

Policy MS01 | Non-minerals development within MSAs ................................................... 31 

Policy MS02 | Non-minerals development within MCAs ................................................... 34 

Policy MS03 | Safeguarding mineral infrastructure ........................................................... 36 

 

Section 8 | The future supply of minerals ...................................................................... 38 

Policy MW01 | Aggregate provision .................................................................................. 43 

Policy MW02 | Natural building stone ............................................................................... 45 

Policy MW03 | Clay for civil engineering purposes ........................................................... 47 

Policy MW04 | Brick clay .................................................................................................. 49 

Policy MW05 | Coal .......................................................................................................... 50 

Policy MW06 | Oil & Gas .................................................................................................. 54 

Policy MW07 | Ancillary Development .............................................................................. 58 

 

Section 9 | Allocations for future aggregate working ................................................... 60 

Policy MA01 | Aggregate working within allocations ......................................................... 61 

Policy MA02 | Aggregate working outside of allocations .................................................. 64 

 

Section 10 | Development management ........................................................................ 67 

Policy DM01 | Amenity ...................................................................................................... 71 

Policy DM02 | Cumulative Impact ..................................................................................... 76 

Policy DM03 | Transport ................................................................................................... 79 

Policy DM04 | Flood Risk .................................................................................................. 83 

Policy DM05 | Water Environment .................................................................................... 86 

Policy DM06 | Biodiversity and Geo-diversity ................................................................... 89 

Page 35



 

Policy DM07 | Soils ........................................................................................................... 92 

Policy DM08 | Historic Environment .................................................................................. 95 

Policy DM09 | Landscape ................................................................................................. 99 

Policy DM10 | Gloucester-Cheltenham Green Belt ......................................................... 102 

Policy DM11 | Aerodrome safeguarding and aviation safety .......................................... 104 

 

Section 11 | Mineral restoration.................................................................................... 106 

Policy MR01 | Restoration, aftercare and facilitating beneficial after-uses ..................... 107 

 

Section 12 | Managing and monitoring plan delivery ................................................. 110 

Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire (2018 – 2032) Monitoring Schedule ................. 112 

 
Appendices 
 
Appendix 1 | Key Diagram ..................................................................................................  

 

Appendix 2 | MSA Implementation schedule.....................................................................  

 

Appendix 3 | MCA implementation schedule ....................................................................  

 

Appendix 4 | Safeguarded mineral infrastructure sites ....................................................  

 

Appendix 5 | Summary forecast of aggregate supplies and provision figures ..............  

 

Appendix 6 | Detailed development requirements for allocations  .................................  

Allocation 01 | Preferred Area at Stowe Hill / Clearwell .........................................................  

Allocation 02 | Preferred Area at Drybrook ............................................................................  

Allocation 03 | Preferred Area at Stowfield ............................................................................  

Allocation 04 | Preferred Area at Daglingworth ......................................................................  

Allocation 05 | Preferred Areas at Huntsman’s ......................................................................  

Allocation 06 | Specific Site at Manor Farm, Kempsford ........................................................  

Allocation 07 | Preferred Area at Redpool’s Farm, Twyning ..................................................  

Allocation 08 | Area of Search at Lady Lamb Farm, Fairford .................................................  

Allocation 09 | Areas of Search at Land between Kempsford & Whelford .............................  

Allocation 10 | Areas of Search at Down Ampney and Charlham Farm.................................  

 

 

 

 

Page 36



Page |1 
 

Section 1 | Introduction 

The importance of minerals 

1. Minerals underpin our way of life.  They provide the construction materials upon 

which we all rely for the homes we live in, the places we work and the 

infrastructure that allows us to move around, keep us healthy, and ensure our 

safety.  Minerals are also integral to our economic well being as they support 

energy generation, manufacturing, healthcare production and agriculture.   

2. Minerals are a finite resource that can only be worked where they are found.  It is 

vital therefore we only use what is needed and that maximum benefit is 

achieved.  This should secure their longer-term availability for future generations.  

3. An adequate and steady supply of minerals is of national importance and critical 

to the nation’s growth and prosperity.  It is also central to Gloucestershire 

economic ambitions for: 

 

 enabling housing delivery;  

 facilitating employment and commercial development;  

 supporting manufacturing;  

 aiding the maintenance and improvement of public infrastructure; and 

 safeguarding the built and natural environment.  

 

Minerals planning in Gloucestershire 

4. Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) is the Mineral Planning Authority (MPA) 

for the entire county.  It has a statutory responsibility to plan for future supplies of 

minerals from within its area and to determine planning applications for new local 

mineral development.  

5. An important tool for the MPA is the production of a minerals local plan.  The 

County Council has previously prepared such a plan – the Gloucestershire 

Minerals Local Plan 1997-2006 (the ‘MLP’), which was adopted in 2003.  Since 

this time, the MLP has provided a comprehensive local policy framework that has 

underpinned the provision of mineral and help guide decisions on planning 

applications for mineral developments.  Until replaced, many of the local policies 

contained within the MLP remain in force. 

 

 

Page 37



Page |2 
 

Responding to change 

6. Since the adoption of the MLP over a decade ago, many changes have taken 

place.  The demand for and the supply pattern of local minerals has evolved and 

the level of permitted reserves has depleted.  This means new mineral resources 

need to be investigated to see how best they might contribute to future demands.  

Furthermore, national planning policies and guidance for minerals has 

undergone significant reform.  Consolidated national policy and guidance has 

been introduced through the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2012) 

and Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) (2014).  New concepts and approaches 

have come into being such as the preparation of Local Aggregate Assessments 

(LAAs).  

 

A new plan for the future 

7. This plan when adopted will replace and update all aspects of the 2003 MLP.  It 

has been prepared in a positive manner, focused on the achievement of 

sustainable development.  At its core is the delivery of economic growth; 

effective safeguarding of Gloucestershire’s local communities and those nearby 

potentially affected by mineral developments; and the protection and 

enhancement of natural and built resources and valued assets. 

8. The plan provides a clear policy framework for how mineral developments should 

take place across Gloucestershire.  It is a forward thinking plan with a future 

vision for the county and objectives to achieve this from 2018 through to the end 

of 20321.  It also establishes the steps needed to deliver the plan’s ambitions and 

outlines measures to assess progression and effectiveness along the way. 

9. Robust and extensive evidence gathering and analysis has been central to the 

plan’s preparation, as has been the views expressed by interest groups, 

organisations, businesses, regulatory bodies and individuals.  Extensive public 

consultation has taken place involving the release of numerous reports and 

evidence papers to help explain the different options and choices presented by 

the MPA.  The plan’s overall strategy, objectives, local policies and site 

allocations have been assessed on several occasions.  Since autumn 2006, 

three major consultation events have taken place2.  These have allowed public 

                                                 
1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) paragraph 157, bullet point 2 advises that local plans should have a 15-year time horizon.  
Presently the mineral plan’s project timetable (as set out within the up to date Minerals & Waste Development Scheme – 
MWDS) anticipates the plan achieving adoption during 2018.  As a result 15 years from this time generates a time period of between 2018 
and 2032 inclusive. 
2 An Issues & Options consultation report into a new Minerals Core Strategy (MCS) was published for public consultation in September 2006.  
This was followed by a Preferred Options consultation in early 2008.  The next major consultation commenced several years later in June 
2014 and sought to accommodate many of the legislative and national policy changes brought in since the last major consultation event.  

Page 38



Page |3 
 

scrutiny of early issues and options for the plan, preferred options put forward by 

the MPA and a review of candidate site options along with a draft policy 

framework. 

10. The plan has also sought to be strategic by taking into account mineral planning 

issues that extend beyond the boundary of Gloucestershire.  It has successfully 

met with the ‘Duty-to-Cooperate’ requirements by reflecting the outcome of 

proactive, ongoing and meaningful engagement with key bodies.  These include 

the six districts councils of Gloucestershire; neighbouring and nearby local 

authorities, and other key organisations likely to have an influence on future 

mineral developments.  The ambitions of GFirst LEP – Gloucestershire’s Local 

Enterprise Partnership and views of Gloucestershire Local Nature Partnership 

have also been considered. 

11. Sustainability Appraisal (SA) reports have been prepared to informed each step 

of the plan’s preparation.  The SA process has ensured all reasonable alternative 

options and approaches have been appropriately considered and effectively 

evaluated.  Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA) work has also made an 

invaluable contribution to the plan by ensuring sites of environmental significance 

at a European level have been properly scrutinised and that sufficient provision 

will be put in place to ensure their continued protection. 

 

Legal status and use of the plan 

12. The plan has been prepared to comply with the legal requirements of the 

Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, Planning Act 2008 and Localism Act 

2011.  Its production has also been in accordance with the Town and Country 

Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012.  

The plan should be read and interpreted in its entirety with due regard paid 

to all of the relevant policies and proposals included within it.   

13. The plan forms part of the statutory development plan for Gloucestershire in 

respect of minerals development.  Nevertheless, it should also be read in 

conjunction with other parts of the local development plan, where appropriate to 

do so.  For all waste-related matters, the Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy 

(WCS), which was adopted in 2012 and the remaining saved adopted policies 

contained within the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan 2002 – 2012 needs to be 

considered.  All other development types included housing, commercial, energy, 

                                                                                                                                                           
This included consultation on candidate site options and a suite of draft policies for potential inclusion within a full draft of a comprehensive 
Minerals Plan for Gloucestershire.  An addendum to the 2014 consultation was also consulted upon in February 2015.Full details of the plan’s 
preparation can be found online at: - http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/mcs. 

Page 39

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/mcs


Page |4 
 

retail, infrastructure and recreational facilities will require a review of the saved or 

adopted local plans of Gloucestershire’s six district, borough and city councils. 

 

Mineral developments covered by the plan 

14. Minerals of economic value in Gloucestershire, which are presently worked and / 

or may well be in the foreseeable future include: - clay; coal; limestone; sand & 

gravel; and sandstone.  These minerals are mostly found at the surface and are 

concentrated in four main resource areas – the Cotswolds; Forest of Dean; 

Seven Vale; and the Upper Thames Valley.  Coal is present underground, 

although at relatively shallow depths within the Forest of Dean resource area. 

15. The potential for other onshore hydrocarbons incorporating oil and gas also 

exists within Gloucestershire.  From late 2015, four licenced areas have been 

offered by Government within the county.  These give licensees exclusive rights 

to investigate whether local deposits are going to be economically viable and 

undertake any future allowable working.  All proposals for oil and gas will still be 

subject to a series of permitting regimes including the requirement for planning 

permission.  At the time of preparing the plan no hydrocarbon proposals 

including for initial exploration, have been brought forward within 

Gloucestershire. 

 

How to use the plan 

16. To make the plan user-friendly and simple to navigate, it has been divided into a 

number of sections that are explained below: - 

 Section 1 – an introduction to minerals planning within Gloucestershire and 

discussion concerning the preparation of a new minerals local plan for the 

county; 

 Section 2 – a spatial portrait that describes present day Gloucestershire and 

introduces the minerals likely to be of economic importance over the plan 

period;   

 Section 3 – the drivers for change that the minerals plan will seek to reflect and 

act upon where necessary and appropriate, principally to the advantage of 

Gloucestershire; 

Page 40



Page |5 
 

 Section 4 – the plan’s vision of the future that highlights what success may look 

like, and the objectives that will explain how, through targeted actions, the 

vision will be achieved; 

 Section 5 – the overall strategy for the plan, which details the policy framework 

and strategic approach being taken to deliver the plan’s objectives.  

 Sections 6,7,8,9 – these sections make up a substantial part of the plan’s core 

policy content.  They include the delivery polices for the plan’s themes: – 

reducing the demand for primary minerals (section 6); safeguarding mineral 

resources (section 7), making provision for the supply of minerals (section 8); 

and allocating areas for future aggregate working (section 9); 

 Sections 10 and 11 – complete the plan’s core policy and include the full suite 

of development management policies (section 10).  The plan’s final theme – 

restoration, aftercare and facilitating beneficial after-uses (section 11) is also 

included.    

 Section 12 – explains how the plan will be monitored to ensure it is working 

effectively and contributing the delivery of the strategy, objectives and spatial 

vision. 

 

 

 

  

Page 41



Page |6 
 

Section 2 | Gloucestershire – a spatial portrait 

 

18. The spatial portrait is an illustration of present day Gloucestershire.  It offers a 

summary of the state, form and geographic distribution of the county’s built and 

natural environments, key assets and communities.  It also reviews the nature 

and health of the local economy, ambitions for growth and summary description 

of local minerals of known and potential economic significance and their broad 

distribution throughout the county. 

 

Location 

19. Gloucestershire is a non-metropolitan, shire county located in the northernmost 

part of the South West of England covering an area of just over 1,000 square 

miles.  It borders Wales, the West Midlands and the South East and has eight 

neighbouring local authorities – Monmouthshire, Herefordshire, Worcestershire, 

Warwickshire, Oxfordshire, South Gloucestershire, Swindon, and Wiltshire.  

Key geographic features 

20. Gloucestershire has a strong rural character and is known for its environmental 

quality, biodiversity and scenic beauty.  The west of the county is dominated by 

the upland area of the Forest of Dean, made up of semi-natural and ancient 

woodland.  To the east are the Cotswolds hills, which are characterised by an 

undulating limestone plateau given over mostly to grassland.  A central belt 

running roughly north-to-south contains the Severn Vale, a flat fertile valley floor 

where the lower reaches of the River Severn becomes part of a tidal estuary.  

The meadow lands of Upper Thames Valley (UTV) lie in the far south-east of the 

county; a hydrologically complex locality home to the upper reaches of the River 

Thames. 

Governance  

21. The local administration comprises of Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) 

and six local district councils - Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Boroughs, 

Gloucester City, Forest of Dean, Cotswold and Stroud.  Gloucestershire’s local 

authorities also share a common geography with the Gloucestershire Police 

Constabulary, Police & Crime Commissioner, Gloucestershire Clinical 

Commissioning Group and Local Economic Partnership – GFirst LEP.   

 

 

Page 42



Page |7 
 

Population 

22. At mid-2014 Gloucestershire’s population stood at just over 611,0003 a rise of 

close to 50,000 people since the 2001 census4.  The proportion of older people 

aged 64 years in the county is higher than the national average and this age 

group is also projected to grow over the next ten years5.  

23. Notable population growth is also predicted over the coming years, particularly in 

and around the county’s main built-up areas.  By 2032 this could result in an 

additional 80,000 residents6.  Recent growth has predominately been fuelled by 

people choosing to relocate to Gloucestershire from elsewhere in the UK. 

Built-up areas and notable local settlements 

24. Nearly 60% of the county’s residents are centrally located, mostly within the 

Severn Vale and its two main built-up areas of Cheltenham and Gloucester City, 

and the settlements that make up the Stroud Valleys towns7.  These locations 

also provide the key administrative, commercial and employment centres for the 

county.  

25. Other notable local settlements include: - Tewkesbury and Bishops Cleeve; the 

historic market towns of the Cotswolds – Cirencester, Tetbury, Moreton-in-Marsh 

and Stow-on-the-Wold; Cam and Dursley within the Seven Vale; and the three 

forest towns of Cinderford, Coleford and Lydney.  Parts of Gloucestershire are 

also deeply rural, particularly areas of the Forest of Dean and the Cotswolds, 

some of which are the least densely populated locations in England8.   

Economy 

26. The economy of Gloucestershire is supported by nearly 30,000 businesses and 

employs in the region of 290,000 people9.  It is vibrant and diverse with strong 

numbers of business start-ups and competitive business survival rates10.  

Economic output from Gloucestershire was close to £15billion a year by the end 

of 201411.  Key local sectors include; manufacturing – strongly linked to 

                                                 
3Source: ONS (2014) annual mid-year population estimates published in June 2015: -http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/pop-
estimate/population-estimates-for-uk--england-and-wales--scotland-and-northern-ireland/mid-2014/stb---mid-2014-uk-population-
estimates.html 
4 Source: The 2001 Census recorded the population of Gloucestershire as 565,000. 
5 The proportion of people aged over 64yrs as per the 2011 Census was 20.3%.  The equivalent for the UK as a whole was 17.7% 
6 Source: ONS (2016) 2014 based sub-national population projections by Local Authorities in England: - 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/datasets/localauthoritiesinenglan
dtable2  
7 The Stroud Valleys towns are made up of the individual settlements of Chalford, Minchinhampton, Nailsworth, Stonehouse, Stroud, and 
Woodchester 
8 As of the 2011 Census the population density for Cotswold district was 73 people per km2.  This was the 316th least densely populated 
authority area out of 326 English district councils. 
9 Source: Strategic Economic Plan for Gloucestershire (2014) http://www.gfirstlep.com/doc_get.aspx?DocID=168 
10 The Gloucestershire LEP area is ranked 2nd in the country for having the highest survival rate for new businesses. 
11 Source: ONS (2016) GVA for LEPs: 1997 and 2014 and NOMIS Labour Market Profile – Gloucestershire (2014) 

Page 43

http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/pop-estimate/population-estimates-for-uk--england-and-wales--scotland-and-northern-ireland/mid-2014/stb---mid-2014-uk-population-estimates.html
http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/pop-estimate/population-estimates-for-uk--england-and-wales--scotland-and-northern-ireland/mid-2014/stb---mid-2014-uk-population-estimates.html
http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/pop-estimate/population-estimates-for-uk--england-and-wales--scotland-and-northern-ireland/mid-2014/stb---mid-2014-uk-population-estimates.html
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/datasets/localauthoritiesinenglandtable2
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/datasets/localauthoritiesinenglandtable2
http://www.gfirstlep.com/doc_get.aspx?DocID=168


Page |8 
 

aeronautical engineering and medium-to-high technology activities; service 

industries; public administration & healthcare; and financial, business nad 

professional services.  

27. The rural economy is diverse and no longer dominated by traditional primary 

industries.  Agriculture in Gloucestershire is now under-represented in respect of 

jobs, compared to the UK average12.  However, in sharp contrast the leisure and 

tourism industry has grown and is economically significant in many rural and also 

urban parts of the county.  It employs upwards of 25,000 individuals and has an 

annual turnover of £1billion13. 

Transport Infrastructure    

28. Gloucestershire contains strategic road links to major regional centres such as 

Birmingham, Bristol and Swindon.  It contains sections of two national motorways 

– around 30 miles of the M5 between junctions 9 to 13, and close to 10 miles of 

the M5014.  Just over 40 miles of the A40 major trunk road also runs east-to-west 

across the county.  Main highway routes are generally focused on more strategic 

connections that run beyond the county, but also link a number of the county’s 

main settlements.  A sizeable network of local rural roads also exists.  

Gloucestershire’s highway network covers a distance of over 3,300 miles. 

29. The county is located at a key point on the UK rail network with a concentration 

of routes running into and through the central Severn Vale area.  It includes the 

Cross-Country line between Bristol and Birmingham and the inter-regional routes 

of the North Cotswolds; (Oxford to Worcester); South Cotswolds (Swindon to 

Gloucester); and Cardiff to Midlands line (via Gloucester and Cheltenham).  

There are nine stations in Gloucestershire handling nearly 5 million passenger 

journeys a year15.  A very limited rural rail network is present tied to main inter-

regional routes.  There are no active commercial freight depots or terminals 

present within the county although significant volumes of freight pass through the 

Gloucestershire rail network. 

30. Sharpness Docks at the head of the Severn Estuary is the county’s only 

remaining commercial port.  It handles seafaring vessels up to 6,000 tonnes, 

accepting cargoes such as dry bulks, minerals and timber.  The docks provide 

                                                                                                                                                           
http://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/grossvalueaddedgva/articles/gvaforlocalenterprisepartnerships/1997to2014 and 
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1941962903/report.aspx#tabrespop  
12 Source: ONS (2015) Business Register and Employment Survey (BRES) provisional results for 
2014http://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/bulletins/businessregisterandem
ploymentsurveybresprovisionalresults/2015-09-24 
13Source: The Economic Impact of Gloucestershire’s Visitor Economy (2014) commissioned by Cotswold District Council  
http://www.gfirstlep.com/doc_get.aspx?DocID=346 
14 Source: Department for Transport Traffic Count data for Gloucestershire 2000 – 2014 http://www.dft.gov.uk/traffic-
counts/area.php?region=&la=Gloucestershire 
15 Source: Gloucestershire Local Transport Plan (LTP) 2015-2031 Policy Document PD5:  Rail  http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ltp3 

Page 44

http://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/grossvalueaddedgva/articles/gvaforlocalenterprisepartnerships/1997to2014
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1941962903/report.aspx#tabrespop
http://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/bulletins/businessregisterandemploymentsurveybresprovisionalresults/2015-09-24
http://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/bulletins/businessregisterandemploymentsurveybresprovisionalresults/2015-09-24
http://www.gfirstlep.com/doc_get.aspx?DocID=346
http://www.dft.gov.uk/traffic-counts/area.php?region=&la=Gloucestershire
http://www.dft.gov.uk/traffic-counts/area.php?region=&la=Gloucestershire
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ltp3


Page |9 
 

multi-modal onwards transport opportunities including the possibility for rail and a 

connection to the 15-mile Gloucester-Sharpness Canal, which runs northwards 

into the centre of Gloucester’s historic docks.  

31. Gloucestershire airport at Staverton is a small regional passenger airport that 

handles mostly private and business flights.  Another privately owned aerodrome 

known as Cotswold airport is also located near to Cirencester at Kemble.  RAF 

Fairford situated within the Upper Thames Valley is a strategic operational Royal 

Air force station that has also supported the US Air force at various points in its 

history. 

Main designations and natural assets  

32. Over half of Gloucestershire falls within one of three Areas of Outstanding 

Natural Beauty (AONBs) – the Cotswolds in the east, Wye Valley in the west and 

Malvern Hills along a small part of the county’s northern border.  There are a 

number of designated European Sites including Special Areas of Conservation 

(SACs) and Special Protection Areas (SPAs), two of which also have RAMSAR 

status.  Countywide there are over 100 Sites of Special Scientific Interest 

(SSSIs) and around 850 local Key Wildlife Sites (KWSs).  

33. The area between Cheltenham and Gloucester, covering just less than 7,000 

hectares is designated as Green Belt – the second smallest in England. 

34. Gloucestershire is geological diverse and contains outcrops from throughout 

most of earth’s history.  There are around 200 Regionally Important Geological & 

Geomorphological Sites (RIGS), a number of which also have SSSI status.  Two 

nationally recognised Geo-parks are also present – the Cotswolds Hills and the 

Abberley & Malvern Hills16. 

Historic assets 

35. The county has a wealth of historic assets including over 500 scheduled 

monuments, nearly 15,000 listed buildings and close to 31,000 other locally 

recorded archaeological sites.  Gloucester Cathedral and historic docks; the 

regency architecture of Cheltenham; rural Cotswold market towns and villages; 

and the industrial heritage of the Stroud Valleys exemplify the county’s rich built 

historic assets.  Gloucestershire is also regarded for its Pre-historic and Roman 

archaeology that survive as visible monuments and below ground deposits.  

 

                                                 
16 Information about the Cotswold Hills Geo-park can be found at: - http://www.cotswoldhillsgeopark.net/index.html. For the Abberley and 
Malvern Hills Geo-park this can be viewed at: http://geopark.org.uk/pub/.  

Page 45

http://www.cotswoldhillsgeopark.net/index.html
http://geopark.org.uk/pub/


Page |10 
 

 

Plans for growth 

36. The Gloucestershire Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) sets out how the county will 

develop its economy through to the early 2020’s.  However, it also lays down the 

foundations for longer-term growth over the coming decade.  Its aim is to 

stimulate key business sectors, open up new and expanded employment 

opportunity along key transport routes; and to create an attractive and 

competitive environment for inwards investment, continued innovation, and job 

creation focused on encouraging young people to stay or move into 

Gloucestershire17.  Supported measures contained within the SEP, target the 

delivery of at least 5,000 new jobs and over 1,000 new apprentices by 202118. 

37. A number of planned transport infrastructure projects align with the SEP’s 

ambitions.  These include the maintenance and improvement of stretches of the 

M5 and A40 and upgrades to the public transport infrastructure within the main 

built-up areas – concentrated on Gloucester City19.  

38. Significant housing and employment growth is also being planned through local 

plans prepared by the county’s district councils.  Significant urban development, 

regeneration and renewal and a number of urban extensions have been 

identified for the built-up areas of the Severn Vale – mostly in and around 

Cheltenham and Gloucester City.  By the early 2030’s an additional 20,000 + 

new homes will have been built along with commercial developments capable of 

supporting upwards of 25,000 new jobs20.  Further housing and employment 

growth is envisaged elsewhere throughout the county, mostly as additions to 

existing local settlements.  Overall, planned growth outside of the 

Gloucestershire’s main urban areas could generate a further 30,000 homes21. 

 

  

                                                 
17 Summary of page 14 of the Gloucestershire Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) 2015-2022 – What will be better as a result of this Plan?  
18 Source: Summary of the Gloucestershire Growth Deal (2015) http://www.gfirstlep.com/doc_get.aspx?DocID=269 
19 Key LEP-funded transport infrastructure projects and local delivery priorities are set out through the Gloucestershire Local Transport Board 
(GLTB) http://www.gltb.org.uk/article/113218/Home-Page 
20 Source: Gloucester-Cheltenham-Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy (GCT-JCS) Submission Version (November 2014) http://www.gct-
jcs.org/Documents/Publications/Submission/JCS-Submission-Version-November-2014a-corrected.pdf 
21 The planned housing figure for ‘elsewhere throughout the county’ is based on an accumulation of housing provision numbers targeted 
within the adopted Stroud Local Plan (2015), adopted Forest of Dean Core Strategy (2013), emerging Cotswold District Local Plan; and the 
remainder of the emerging Gloucester-Cheltenham-Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy outside of Gloucester and Cheltenham and the 
surrounding areas identified as urban extensions. 

Page 46

http://www.gfirstlep.com/doc_get.aspx?DocID=269
http://www.gltb.org.uk/article/113218/Home-Page
http://www.gct-jcs.org/Documents/Publications/Submission/JCS-Submission-Version-November-2014a-corrected.pdf
http://www.gct-jcs.org/Documents/Publications/Submission/JCS-Submission-Version-November-2014a-corrected.pdf


Page |11 
 

Mineral Resources in Gloucestershire 

39. The county’s mineral resources of economic importance both at present and 

potentially in the future can be divided into six broad categories: - 

 Limestone;   

 Sand & gravel; 

 Sandstone;  

 Clay; 

 Coal; and 

 Oil & gas   

 

Limestone 

40. There are two main types of limestone deposits present in Gloucestershire: - 

Carboniferous limestones found within the Forest of Dean and Jurassic 

limestones, which makes up the Cotswold Hills.  

41. The county’s limestone deposits have economic significance as a crushed rock 

aggregate.  They are also a prominent local source of building stone, a soil 

improver (agricultural lime) and used to support other specialist industrial 

processes.   

42. Carboniferous limestones are the most productive minerals locally by volume, 

due to their comparable flexibility of end uses.  They are mostly worked as a 

crushed rock aggregate and used in products requiring high strength materials 

such as concrete and roadstone.  

43. Jurassic limestones, which are much softer but more distinctive and diverse in 

colour and texture, are well known as a desirable natural building stone and 

serve both a local market and further afield.  They offer more limited 

opportunities as an aggregate for concrete and some low-grade roadstone 

production, but can provide a local low quality aggregate such as construction fill 

and pipe bedding. 

44. The overall distribution of Gloucestershire limestones are not confined to the 

county’s administrative boundaries.  In particular, Jurassic limestones extend 

over a very wide area including parts of South Gloucestershire and Wiltshire in 

the south, Oxfordshire in the east, and Warwickshire and Worcestershire to the 

north-east.  Similar Carboniferous limestones to that of the Forest of Dean can 

be found in neighbouring and nearby parts of South Wales and immediately to 

the south-west of the county within South Gloucestershire.  Other sub-national 

resources of economic importance are located in North Somerset and Somerset. 

Page 47



Page |12 
 

Sand & gravel 

45. Gloucestershire’s sand & gravel resources comprise of unconsolidated 

superficial or drift materials mostly made up of river terrace and some sub-

alluvial deposits.  They are composed of varying amounts of limestone, 

sandstone, quartzite, igneous rock, flint and quartz with occasional silts and 

clays.  

46. River terrace deposits are the principal source of ‘sharp’ sands and gravels, 

which dominates local supply.  ‘Soft’ sands are also present but in smaller 

quantities.  The county’s sand & gravel are a source of aggregate used in 

mortars; concrete production and concrete product manufacturing, asphalt, pipe 

bedding, and as a fill.   

47. Notable concentrations of sand & gravel can be found within Upper Thames 

Valley (UTV) and largely, but not exclusively, across the Cotswold Water Park 

(CWP).  Other sand & gravel deposits are present throughout parts of the Severn 

Vale, and also the Vale of Moreton and in the Upper Windrush Valley.  Deposits 

of the most economic significance are those found within the UTV and parts of 

the Severn Vale.  

48. Gloucestershire’s economic sand & gravel resources also spread beyond the 

county boundary.  Those within the UTV straddle a significant proportion of the 

county’s south-eastern border and extend into Wiltshire and Swindon, and also 

Oxfordshire.  Comparable resources to those of the Severn Vale are found north 

of the county boundary within neighbouring Worcestershire. 

Sandstone 

49. Deposits of Devonian brownstones and Carboniferous Pennant sandstone both 

of which occur within the Forest of Dean have historically been used as a local 

building stone.  Some resources are still being worked for this purpose but only 

in relatively small amounts.  Carboniferous Pennant sandstone has some limited 

potential as a low grade aggregate although its uses for these purposes in 

Gloucestershire in recent times have been rare and small scale. 

50. Other Gloucestershire sandstone deposits include the Permian Bridgnorth 

sandstone and Triassic Bromsgrove sandstone formations located in the north of 

the county near to Bromsberrow.  These are largely recognised as building sand 

and have been used in pipe bedding.  They are recorded locally as a source of 

local sand & gravel aggregate.  Only limited working of this resource has taken 

place in recent decades. 

  

Page 48



Page |13 
 

Clay 

51. There are extensive and fairly widespread deposits of clay found across a 

number areas within Gloucestershire.  Noteworthy resources of economic value 

include the Carboniferous clays found in the Forest of Dean and the Jurassic 

clays known as the Charmouth mudstone formation near to Blockley in the 

Cotswolds.  These resources support small local supplies of brick clay.  

52. Jurassic blue lias clays found throughout parts of the Severn Vale have also 

been marketed more recently.  Locally they have been used as a lining material 

for landfill sites, the construction of ponds and lakes and other engineering 

works. 

Coal  

53. Three coalfields are found within Gloucestershire – Forest of Dean, Newent and 

parts of the Oxfordshire-Berkshire Coalfield, which lies on the eastern fringes of 

the county.  The only deposits of proven economic value are those found within 

the Forest of Dean.  These form part of a wider resource known as the 

Carboniferous South Wales Coal Measures that includes coalfields located in 

South Wales, Bristol, Somerset and Kent.  Coal from the Forest of Dean has 

been worked over many centuries and has been highly influential in the local 

area’s evolving built and cultural heritage and economic profile. 

54. In recent decades, coal working in the Forest of Dean has become increasing 

low-key and intermittent.  It is carried by a small number of independent 

operators known as Freeminers who are allowed to work coal under ancient 

custom and law.  All workings are at relatively shallow depth and usually through 

inclined drift mines.  

55. More significant, industrial-scale working of coal ceased within the Forest of 

Dean over 30 years ago.  This also exploited shallow coal resources, but mostly 

using surface-mining techniques, traditionally known as open-cast or open pit 

working.  Deep mining has also featured in the past, but the last deep mines 

closed nearly 50 years ago, in the mid 1960’s. 

  

Page 49



Page |14 
 

Oil & gas 

56. Conventional oil & gas is unlikely to be present within Gloucestershire.  Potential 

source rocks identified within the east of the county are deemed to be neither 

thick enough or been buried at sufficient depth for any meaningful accumulations 

of hydrocarbons to occur.  

57. The existence of previously worked coal measures in the Forest of Dean means 

there may be some potential for unconventional oil & gas such as Coal Bed 

Methane (CBM) or Abandon Mine Methane (AMM).  Furthermore, published 

information on other possible source and / or reservoir rocks in Gloucestershire, 

which maybe exploitable through unconventional techniques is presently very 

limited. The likelihood of any economic viable resources is currently speculative.  

  

Page 50



Page |15 
 

Section 3 | Drivers for change 

 

58. Having outlined what is presently happening across Gloucestershire, it is 

important to look to the future.  This will help to identify possible opportunities to 

improve the county and establish the means to tackle existing and emerging 

challenges.  

59. In advance of setting out a vision for the county linked to minerals it is useful to 

explore the main factors that are likely to influence or lead change.  These 

influencing factors are described within the plan as ‘drivers for change’ and have 

been set out below.  

60. The drivers originate from the key facts established within the spatial portrait.  

However, they have also been shaped to take account of the expectations and 

aspirations of local communities and interest groups, national regulatory bodies, 

local businesses and landowners, and the minerals industry. 

 

Driver A – Developing secondary & recycled aggregate supplies 

 

61. The focus for planned growth in and around the county includes urban 

regeneration and renewal.  Combined with pressure to meet increasingly 

stringent sustainable construction practices, this presents opportunities to 

encourage growth in local recycled aggregate supplies.  New permitted 

infrastructure will present opportunities to develop local secondary aggregate – 

currently not available from within Gloucestershire.  Both options offer a potential 

viable alternative to the working of local land-won primary aggregates. 

 

 

Driver B – Safeguarding local mineral resources 

 

62. Ever changing and competing interests for land throughout Gloucestershire, 

including the delivery of local growth, means the county’s finite mineral resources 

and supporting infrastructure may be at increased risk from sterilisation or 

constraint.  A balance needs to be struck between safeguarding resources and 

infrastructure that will support growth, and not unnecessarily stifling other forms 

of development. 

 

  

Page 51



Page |16 
 

Driver C – Supporting local growth ambitions 

 

63. Local mineral resources, particularly construction aggregates will be needed to 

support ambitious plans for growth throughout Gloucestershire over the next 10 – 

15 years.  This includes significant levels of development, mostly involving the 

main urban areas of Gloucester and Cheltenham surrounding parts of the Severn 

Vale; and the delivery of transport infrastructure maintenance and improvements.  

This will undoubted influence local demand for minerals over the coming years, 

particularly if ‘actual’ delivery matches the ambitions currently being expressed. 

 

 

Driver D – Maintaining steady and adequate supplies of aggregates 

  

64. There are limited permitted reserves of local aggregates available in the county.  

As of 31/12/201422 and accounting for projected levels of demand in the future, 

remaining local supplies of crushed rock are available for the next 17.13 years.  

For sand & gravel remaining local supplies equate to just 6.9 years. 

 

 

Driver E – Reducing the impact of mineral transport  

 

65. Minerals are mostly moved by road throughout Gloucestershire, which can put a 

strain on an already pressured highway networks.  This can be harmful to local 

communities and environments and detrimental to action on climate change.  

However, alternative transport options such as rail and waterways are 

insufficiently developed, lack capacity and / or not well located to link mineral 

resources with markets.  Nevertheless, measures are available to support 

greater efficiency and appropriate use of highway routes, avoid adverse impacts 

from occurring and to help deliver efficient, effective and safe highway networks 

throughout the county. 

 

 

Driver F – Protecting the natural environment 

 

66. Gloucestershire includes important environmental designations, many of which 

contain, or are nearby mineral resources that are important to local supplies.  A 

balance is needed to ensure that the natural environment is protected and that 

appropriate provision is made for local minerals to help meet future demand. 

 

                                                 
22 Based on the 4th LAA for Gloucestershire. 

Page 52



Page |17 
 

Driver G – Protecting and maintaining historic environments 

 

67. Gloucestershire contains a wealth of irreplaceable historic assets of cultural 

significance that are also majorly important to local tourism and the county’s 

economy in general.  These need to be recorded and protected wherever 

possible.  However, there is also a need for minerals, particularly a diverse 

supply of specialist local natural building stone, which are vital to maintaining the 

quality and quantity of the county’s historic environments and its local 

distinctiveness. 

 

 

 

  

Page 53



Page |18 
 

Section 4 | Vision and objectives 

 

Vision 

 

68. The vision provides a view into the future – at the start of 2033.  It broadly 

describes what the results of a successfully delivered plan will look like.  Its 

purpose is to help illustrate how responding to the drivers for change will 

positively effect the local environment, the economy and the fortunes of 

Gloucestershire’s local communities. 

 

69. The vision is ‘collective’ in that it has taken account a wide range of views sought 

from across the county.  These include from individuals, local communities, 

interest groups, regulatory bodies, businesses, landowners and the minerals 

industry.   

 

 

A Vision for Gloucestershire – 2033 

 

At the start of 2033, Gloucestershire will be a cleaner, greener, more healthy and 

safer place in which to live, work and visit.  It will be a leading county in managing 

its mineral resources and a successful contributor towards the achievement of 

sustainable development.  

 

Local mineral resources will have played a key part in delivering renewal, 

regeneration and economic growth throughout the county.  Specialist minerals will 

have been important in revitalising and restoring Gloucestershire’s historic built 

environments; and supporting the delivery of key items of infrastructure, housing 

and increased employment opportunities. 

 

The working of primary minerals will have remained an essential part of the 

county’s mineral supply, particularly in meeting local demands, but also in 

contributing to national need.  Nevertheless, wherever possible, positive and 

tangible steps will have been made to reduce reliance on primary minerals by: - 

facilitating their optimum, efficient and most appropriate use; promoting the re-use 

of building and other construction materials; assisting the increased and 

diversified use of recycled construction & demolition wastes and alternative 

secondary aggregate, particularly from local sources.  

 

Although road haulage will have been the dominant form of moving minerals in, out 

and around Gloucestershire, smarter and more respectful supply routes will have 

been applied.  Impacts upon local and strategic roads will have been minimised by 

providing opportunities to reduce the frequency and length of haulage journeys. 

Page 54



Page |19 
 

 

Where mineral development has taken place, minimising the adverse impacts on: – 

amenity; risks to health, well-being and quality of life; the economic vitality of other 

local businesses; the integrity and quality of the natural and historic environment; 

aviation safety caused by the risk of bird strike; and the risk of flooding, will have 

been highly influential in the decision making process.  

 

Furthermore, beneficial after-use opportunities resulting from the timely and 

effective restoration of minerals sites will have been maximised, to: - achieve 

enhancements in beneficial biodiversity; access to geological conservation 

interests; access to the countryside; the level and diversity of participation in 

leisure & recreational activities; the management of the water environment and 

reduced risks to water quality. 

 

 

Objectives 

70. The plan’s vision is to be underpinned by a number of objectives, which seek to 

explain through targeted actions, how the vision will be achieved.  

71. Demonstrating how a meaningful contribution will be made towards the 

achievement of sustainable development - a primary focus of the national 

planning system, has strongly influenced the preparation of the plan’s objectives.  

As have the plan’s drivers for change, which identify possible opportunities and 

emerging challenges in a local context. 

72. To show how important themes flow through into the plan’s objectives, the 

relevant dimensions of sustainable development (Environmental, Social and 

Economic) and their respective roles in guiding national policy and influencing 

decisions on planning proposals have been cross-referenced with each of the 

objectives23.  Relevant, influencing ‘drivers for change’ have also attributed to 

each objective: - 

  

                                                 
23 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) Achieving sustainable development, paragraph 7 

Page 55



Page |20 
 

Objective SR | Maximising the use of secondary and recycled aggregates 

 

PLAN OBJECTIVE – 

 

To promote the maximum use of recycled 

materials and secondary aggregates in 

preference to primary-land won minerals 

having regard to the viability and 

sustainability of transporting, handling and 

processing  of such materials, including the 

avoidance of adverse impacts on local 

communities, the environment, and the 

ability to successfully achieve the 

restoration of mineral sites 

 

 
ROLE IN DELIVERING SUSTAINABLE 
DEVELOPMENT –  
 
Economic role – …contributing to building a 
strong, responsive and competitive economy, 
…ensuring sufficient land is available of the right 
type to support growth and innovation; 

 
Environmental role – …minimising waste and 
pollution, …using natural resources prudently, 
…contributing to protecting our natural, built and 
historic environment. 

INFLUENCING ‘DRIVERS FOR CHANGE’ – 
Driver A – Developing secondary & recycled aggregate supplies; 
Driver C – Supporting local growth ambitions 
Driver D – Maintaining steady and adequate supplies of aggregates   

 

 

73. Objective RM | Effectively managing mineral resources  

 

PLAN OBJECTIVE – 

 

To manage the county’s remaining mineral 

resources in a co-ordinated and efficient 

manner by ensuring other development 

does not unnecessarily sterilise mineral 

resources or adversely affect the operation 

of mineral infrastructure; and that where 

minerals are worked, they are put to their 

optimal use and that any waste generated 

is kept to a minimum. 

 
ROLE IN DELIVERING SUSTAINABLE 
DEVELOPMENT – 
 
Economic role – …contributing to building a 
strong, responsive and competitive economy, 
…ensuring sufficient land is available of the right 
type to support growth and innovation; 

 
Environmental role – …minimising waste and 
pollution, …using natural resources prudently, 
…contributing to protecting our natural, built and 
historic environment. 

INFLUENCING ‘DRIVERS FOR CHANGE’ – 
Driver A – Developing secondary & recycled aggregate supplies; 
Driver B – Safeguarding local mineral resources 
Driver C – Supporting local growth ambitions 
Driver D – Maintaining steady and adequate supplies of aggregates   

  

Page 56



Page |21 
 

74. Objective PS | Making provision for the supply of minerals  

 

PLAN OBJECTIVE – 

 

To ensure that a sufficient supply of 

minerals is provided that contributes 

towards meeting local and national 

requirements having taken account of local 

environmental capacity, the availability of 

viable, workable or alternative resources, 

accessibility to necessary supporting 

infrastructure, and market conditions.   

 

 
ROLE IN DELIVERING SUSTAINABLE 
DEVELOPMENT – 
 
Economic role – …contributing to building a 
strong, responsive and competitive economy, 
…ensuring sufficient land is available of the right 
type to support growth and innovation; 

 
Environmental role – …minimising waste and 
pollution, …using natural resources prudently, 
…contributing to protecting our natural, built and 
historic environment. 

INFLUENCING ‘DRIVERS FOR CHANGE’ – 
Driver A – Developing secondary & recycled aggregate supplies; 
Driver C – Supporting local growth ambitions 
Driver D – Maintaining steady and adequate supplies of aggregates   
Driver F – Protecting the natural environment 
Driver G – Protecting and maintaining historic environments 

 

 

Objective ENV | Protecting the built and natural environment 

 

PLAN OBJECTIVE – 

 

To protect, and where opportunity exists, 

enhance, the quality of landscapes, 

habitats, heritage and other environmental 

assets, having full regard to their 

international, national or local importance 

and value. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
ROLE IN DELIVERING SUSTAINABLE 
DEVELOPMENT – 
 
Economic role – …contributing to building a 
strong, responsive and competitive economy, 
…ensuring sufficient land is available of the right 
type to support growth and innovation; 

 
Environmental role – …minimising waste and 
pollution, …using natural resources prudently, 
…contributing to protecting our natural, built and 
historic environment. 
 
Social role – …supporting healthy communities. 

INFLUENCING ‘DRIVERS FOR CHANGE’ – 
Driver E – Reducing the impact of mineral transport  
Driver F – Protecting the natural environment 
Driver G – Protecting and maintaining historic environments 
 

 

  

Page 57



Page |22 
 

75. Objective LC | Protecting the health and well-being of local communities 

 

PLAN OBJECTIVE – 

 

To avoid adverse impacts on local 

communities and businesses wherever it is 

practicable to do so and in all other 

circumstances, ensure that effective, sound 

and enforceable measures are put in place 

to successfully mitigate unacceptable 

adverse impacts. 

 

 

 

 

 
ROLE IN DELIVERING SUSTAINABLE 
DEVELOPMENT – 
 
Economic role – …contributing to building a 
strong, responsive and competitive economy, 
…ensuring sufficient land is available of the right 
type to support growth and innovation; 

 
Environmental role – …minimising waste and 
pollution, …using natural resources prudently, 
…contributing to protecting our natural, built and 
historic environment. 
 
Social role – …supporting healthy communities. 

INFLUENCING ‘DRIVERS FOR CHANGE’ – 
Driver C – Supporting local growth ambitions   
Driver E – Reducing the impact of mineral transport  
Driver F – Protecting the natural environment 
Driver G – Protecting and maintaining historic environments 

 

 

76. Objective RA | Successfully restoring worked-out mineral sites 

 

PLAN OBJECTIVE – 

 

To secure the highest possible quality of 

mineral reclamation attainable at the 

earliest practicable opportunity, which will 

have enabled a successful balance of 

benefits to be achieved, including in 

respect of – protecting and enhancing 

landscape character, biodiversity, geo-

diversity, agricultural resources, public 

access and recreation, and heritage assets; 

contributing to local economic growth; 

maintaining or improving resilience to 

flooding; and avoiding increased risk to 

aviation safety, particularly caused by bird 

hazard. 

 

 
ROLE IN DELIVERING SUSTAINABLE 
DEVELOPMENT –  
 
Economic role – …contributing to building a 
strong, responsive and competitive economy, 
…ensuring sufficient land is available of the right 
type to support growth and innovation; 

 
Environmental role – …minimising waste and 
pollution, …using natural resources prudently, 
…contributing to protecting our natural, built and 
historic environment. 
 
Social role – …supporting healthy communities. 
 
 
 

INFLUENCING ‘DRIVERS FOR CHANGE’ – 
Driver F – Protecting the natural environment 
Driver G – Protecting and maintaining historic environments 

 

 

Page 58



Page |23 
 

77. Objective MM | Efficient, effective and safe movement of minerals 

 

PLAN OBJECTIVE – 

 

To support the efficiency, effective and safe 

operation of the county’s road networks by 

– encouraging the least amount of road 

haulage of minerals possible; use of the 

most suitable routes wherever it is 

practicably to do so; avoiding adverse 

impacts on the county’s road networks 

where achievable; and in all other 

circumstances, ensuring that effective, 

sound and enforceable measures are put in 

place to successfully mitigate unacceptable 

adverse impacts. 

 
ROLE IN DELIVERNG SUSTAINABLE 
DEVELOPMENT –  
 
Economic role – …contributing to building a 
strong, responsive and competitive economy, 
…ensuring sufficient land is available of the right 
type to support growth and innovation; 
 
Environmental role – …minimising waste and 
pollution, …using natural resources prudently, 
…contributing to protecting our natural, built and 
historic environment. 
 
Social role – …supporting healthy communities. 

 
INFLUENCING ‘DRIVERS FOR CHANGE’ – 
Driver C – Supporting local growth ambitions 
Driver D – Maintaining steady and adequate supplies of aggregates   
Driver E – Reducing the impact of mineral transport  
Driver F – Protecting the natural environment 
Driver G – Protecting and maintaining historic environments 

 

  

Page 59



Page |24 
 

Section 5 | Strategy 

 

78. The strategy set out the approaches taken with the plan to facilitate the delivery 

of its objectives.  It offers the broad direction of policy content of the plan and 

how this will guide future minerals development in Gloucestershire.  Broad 

locations for future minerals development are located on the plan’s Key Diagram 

in Appendix 1. 

79. A fundamental element of minerals planning is that development involving 

working can only happen where resources are found.  Primary minerals are also 

a finite resource and once worked or sterilised are no longer available.  

Furthermore, physical and practical circumstances and wider national 

preferences exist that further inhibit where mineral developments can take place 

in a given area and / or in a particular way.  These matters, amongst others are 

reflected in the plan’s strategy as drawn from the evidence base used in its 

preparation and the advice and guidance offered by consultees. 

 

 

The Strategy of the Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire 2018 - 2032 

 

Secondary & recycled aggregate supplies (see section 6) 

 

Support local decision makers in considering the planning merits of increasing 

the use of recycled and secondary aggregates as an alternative to primary land-

won aggregates.  

 

Mineral safeguarding (see section 7) 

 

Avoid the unnecessary sterilisation of minerals resources by : - 

  

 Defining Mineral Safeguarding Areas (MSAs) for economically important 

minerals and Mineral Consultation Areas (MCAs) around permitted and future 

planned mineral sites; 

 

 Setting out a proportionate approach to the protection of mineral resources and 

supporting infrastructure, without unreasonably burdening and / or overly 

restricting non-minerals development; 

 

 Supporting local decision makers in determining whether mineral resources or 

mineral infrastructure represents a justified constraint on non-minerals 

development, or that satisfactory measures can be put in place to avoid 

Page 60



Page |25 
 

affecting minerals, or that provision for prior-working can be made before non-

minerals development takes place.  

 

The future supply of minerals (section 8) and Areas for future aggregate working 

(section 9) 

 

Make provision for the steady and adequate supply of key local minerals (clay, 

brick clay and aggregates) throughout the plan period and beyond where 

necessary, which will contribute towards meeting identified needs as advised 

appropriately through the monitoring of relevant landbanks of permitted reserves; 

 

Provide for the future working of aggregates from within allocated areas located in 

the Forest of Dean, Cotswold and Severn Vale resource areas.  Aggregate working 

outside of allocated areas will only be allowed when demonstrating particular 

circumstances;   

 

Make provision for the supply of local natural building stone, which will 

meaningfully contribute towards maintaining the historic built environment and 

promoting local distinctiveness in new build design; 

  

Prevent the future working of coal unless the environment will be appropriately 

safeguarded and protected from harm, or that sufficient benefits can be 

demonstrated to outweigh any impacts.  Benefits include support for the cultural 

heritage and economic wellbeing of local communities within the Forest of Dean 

that are linked to coal working; 

 

Allow for the exploration and potential production of oil & gas including through 

unconventional techniques within licensed areas subject to impacts on the 

environment and local communities being minimised as a result of recognising 

and adapting to constraints and through the proportionate use of restrictions.  

 

Development Management (section 10) 

 

Ensure that the natural (including water) and historic environment, health, well-

being and quality of life of local communities, the efficient, effective and safe 

functions of the highway network, and the economic viability of local businesses, 

will not suffer unacceptable adverse impacts caused by minerals development, 

through: -  

 

 Demanding that all proposals set out detailed and robustly evidenced 

appraisals of potential adverse impacts and a clear demonstration of how these 

may be avoided  or that effective mitigation measures will be employed; 

 

 Making provision for proportionate use of local site stand-off zones between 

sensitive nearby receptors and mineral working; and 

Page 61



Page |26 
 

 

 Giving prominence to the potential of cumulative impacts occurring through 

either multiple impacts from a single mineral development or a number of 

mineral developments clustered within one of Gloucestershire’s mineral 

resource areas or another equivalent resource area within an neighbouring 

local authority area. 

 

Seek to avoid, wherever possible, future working of aggregate minerals from 

within the Cotswolds or the Wye Valley AONBs or where the setting of these 

designations might be affected.  In doing so ensure that an appropriate balance is 

achieved that is reflective of reasonableness of these areas to contribute to key 

mineral supplies and will give great importance to protecting from harm, the 

landscape quality, scenic beauty, cultural heritage and wildlife conservation of 

these areas. 

 

Mineral Restoration (section 11) 
 
Make certain that the ‘temporary nature’ of minerals development is upheld and 

that opportunities to achieve beneficial after uses are fully realised by: - 

 

 Requesting appropriately detailed reclamation site plans to be an integral part 

of mineral working proposals.  These must demonstrate how effective, 

progressive restoration will be achieved in the shortest possible timescale, to 

the effect of ensuring the minimum amount of disturbance is achieved; and 

 

 Positively encouraging restoration, which will not limit the range of potential 

acceptable after-uses and that, will secure long lasting community and 

environment benefit including in terms of biodiversity, geological conservation 

interest, and where appropriate, the reinstatement of the highest possible 

achievable grade of best and most versatile agricultural land. 

 

 

  

Page 62



Page |27 
 

Section 6 | Secondary & recycled aggregate supplies 

 

Maximising the use of secondary and recycled aggregates 

 

Reasoned justification 

 

80. Once taken out of the ground, primary minerals cannot be replaced – they are a 

finite resource.  Their working and onwards movements can also be energy 

intensive and disruptive to the natural environment and neighbouring land uses.  

It is therefore important to try and achieve maximum benefit from primary 

minerals and to facilitate alternative options which are more sustainable.  A 

means of achieving this is to support the use of recycled and / or secondary 

aggregates. 

81. The supply of locally-sourced recycled aggregate in Gloucestershire has been 

well in excess of 100,000 tonnes per annum for a number of years24.  It largely 

arises from regeneration and re-development projects from across the county 

and includes construction and demolition material, which has been transported to 

fixed plant, usually located at waste management sites or minerals sites.  

Demolition wastes crushed on-site using mobile plant and utilised on site is also 

likely to account for a substantial proportion of local recycled aggregates.  

However, this supply is not accurately measured.  Planned growth, particularly in 

and around existing built-up areas will undoubtedly provide an opportunity to 

increase the availability and diversity of recycled aggregate sources.  

82. There is currently no production of secondary aggregate in Gloucestershire.  

However, the emerging development of a new EfW facility at Javelin Park near 

Gloucester has the potential to generate a local secondary aggregate source 

through the processing of incinerator bottom ash.  Around 45,000 tonnes per 

annum of incinerator bottom ash aggregate (IBAA) may be made available if the 

EfW facility operates at its permitted capacity from 2019 onwards.  Further 

development of thermal waste treatment could present opportunities to increase 

sources of IBAA or other related secondary aggregate materials locally and 

beyond. 

83. The use of recycled and secondary aggregates in the construction industry has 

grown in the recent past through a combination of technological advancements 

and policy initiatives.  National policy continues to encourage recycled and 

secondary aggregate use and expects it to be of key importance in the 

                                                 
24

 This figure is considered to be a notable underestimation of the amount of material likely to be used for this purpose.  It is 
derived from limited confidential surveying of local waste management operators that handle inert construction and demolition 
wastes on their sites with the potential for creating recycled aggregate products. 

Page 63



Page |28 
 

management of future aggregate supplies, specifically ahead of the working of 

primary minerals25. 

 

Policy SR01 | Maximising the use of secondary and recycled aggregates 

Non-minerals development should use secondary and recycled aggregates 

and / or building products in preference to primary aggregates wherever 

reasonably and practicable to do so.  

For major non-minerals development the use of secondary and recycled 

aggregates and building products made from these materials, should be 

maximised and demonstrated as such through supporting evidence. 

Linked to the delivery of plan objectives – SR, RM 

 

Interpretation and implementation 

84. The aim of policy SR01 is to increase awareness of and to encourage greater 

uptake of recycled and secondary aggregates within new development.  In turn 

this should help stimulate local markets in favour of alternatives to primary land-

won aggregates.  A stimulated local market may also generate a more attractive 

investment environment that could further enhance alternative aggregate 

supplies over time through more efficient and effective infrastructure and product 

innovation. 

85. All non-minerals development should ideally use as much secondary and 

recycled aggregates as possible within reasonable construction and design 

quality constraints, environment limits and where potential impacts on local 

communities are not made worse.  

86. Specific efforts should be made with major non-minerals development proposals 

to maximise the use of secondary and recycled aggregates and this must be 

shown through supporting evidence.  A focus on major development offers an 

opportunity to achieve meaningful change by way of economies of scale.  It also 

enables an effective means of monitoring policy SR01. 

87. The definition of major development is set out in planning regulations and this 

should equally apply to major non-minerals development26.  It involves 10 

                                                 
25

 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) section 13, paragraph 143, bullet point 2 
26 Town & Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/595/article/2/made 

Page 64

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/595/article/2/made


Page |29 
 

dwellings or more, or a site for housing of over 0.5 hectares; and for all other 

development types, any building that creates floor space of 1,000m2  or more, or 

will be carried out on a site of 1 hectare or more. 

88. Collaboration between the MPA and local planning authorities will be essential to 

achieve desirable increases in the demand and subsequent use of secondary 

and recycled aggregates.  Local planning authorities will largely be responsible 

for determining accordance with policy SR01, but may seek advice from the MPA 

from time-to-time to ensure the realistic deliverability of proposals through 

confirmation of proposed sources and uses of secondary and recycled 

aggregates27.  

89. In respect to major non-minerals development proposals, consideration should 

be given to the amount and type of recycled and secondary aggregates that are 

to be used in construction and the anticipated proportions compared with other 

aggregates.  Likely sources of recycled and secondary aggregates material will 

also be relevant and necessary for being able to demonstrate the deliverability of 

any commitments made.  

90. The adopted Gloucestershire Waste Minimisation in Development Projects 

Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) contains a target of 10% of 

construction material being derived from recycled aggregates and sustainable 

sources28.  Non-minerals development proposals that fall short of this target will 

need to provide a robust justification.  

91. In the majority of instance the evidence needed to support policy SR1 will relate 

to other local development plan policy requirements for major non-minerals 

development in Gloucestershire.  For example, the use of recycled aggregate is 

also actively promoted under waste reduction and sustainable construction 

policies29.  Core Policy WCS 2 (Waste Reduction) specifically requests the 

submission of a Waste Minimisation Statement (WMS) that also includes a 

requirement to monitoring and measure waste generated during construction, 

and to show how its re-use on or off-site will be encouraged30.  To avoid 

unnecessary duplication it would not be unreasonable for matters covered by 

                                                 
27 Data is presently collected by Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) in its capacity as the Minerals and Waste Planning Authority (M&WPA) 
to support both policy development and annual monitoring requirements covering the number and capacity of local waste management 
sites capable of generating recycled aggregate from construction & demolition waste sources and local facilities generating and marketing 
secondary aggregate. 
28 Adopted Gloucestershire Waste Minimisation in Development Projects Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
  http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=12849&p=0 
29 Key adopted and emerging local development plan policies that specifically cover sustainable construction and commitments to recycled 
materials in construction included: - Stroud District Local Plan Delivery Policy ES1 (Sustainable Construction & Design), Forest of Dean District 
Core Strategy Policy CSP.1 (Design and environmental protection) and emerging Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy 
Policy SD4 (Sustainable Design and Construction). 
30 The tasks relating to the re-use of waste material, which includes construction & demolition waste as a recycled aggregate are contained 
within stage 1 (project planning) and stage 2 (construction activities)  of the checklist for preparing a waste minimisation statement 
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=12849&p=0 

Page 65

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=12849&p=0
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=12849&p=0


Page |30 
 

policy SR01 to be incorporated as part of a broader submission of evidence, 

such as an expanded WMS. 

92. Infrastructure matters related to the supply of secondary and recycled 

aggregates are dealt with through other local development plan policies covering 

the county.  The policies contained within the adopted Gloucestershire Waste 

Core Strategy (WCS) are more likely to be of key importance.  New, expanded or 

maintained recycled aggregate sources will largely be influenced by the 

successful implementation of Core Policy WCS 4, which is concerned with inert 

waste recycling & recovery, and Core Policy WCS 11 that deals with the 

safeguarding of sites for waste management31.   

 

 

  

                                                 
31 Adopted Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy (WCS)  (November 2012) 
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=53886&p=0 

Page 66

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=53886&p=0


Page |31 
 

Section 7 | Mineral safeguarding  

Mineral Safeguarding Areas (MSAs) 

Reasoned justification 

94. Primary minerals are a finite natural resource that should be afforded protection 

for the benefit of future generations.  Minerals can only be worked where they 

naturally occur, and with increasing pressure on land from a range of different 

uses, are at risk of being needlessly sterilised.  

95. Sterilisation occurs where surface development is allowed to overlay or prevent 

access to mineral resources.  Without demolition and site clearance of surface 

development, minerals resources are effective lost as they are unable to be 

worked. 

96. Mineral safeguarding provides a means of balancing the need for surface 

development against the continued protection of mineral deposits that may prove 

to be of future economic value.  It involves identifying the location and extent of 

mineral deposits and mapping this information in the form of Mineral 

Safeguarding Areas (MSAs).  It also includes possible restrictions on new 

surface development that could affect the ability of minerals to be worked in the 

future.  This approach to mineral safeguarding is supported within national 

policy32.  

Policy MS01 | Non-minerals development within MSAs 

Non-minerals development within a Mineral Safeguarded Area (MSA) will be 

permitted provided: - 

 Mineral sterilisation will not occur; or 

 It is appropriate and practicable to extract the mineral prior to non-

minerals development taking place; or 

 The overriding need for the development outweighs the desirability to 

prevent safeguarded minerals from being sterilised. 

Linked to the delivery of plan objective – RM 

 

                                                 
32 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) section 13, paragraph 143, bullet point 3; and Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) paragraph: 002 
Reference ID: 27-002-20140306. 

Page 67



Page |32 
 

Interpretation and implementation 

97. MSAs for Gloucestershire are broadly defined using the British Geological 

Survey (BGS) Mineral Resource Map for Gloucestershire33.  This is the best 

available technical information on the extent of mineral deposits.  It includes the 

county’s distribution of superficial sands & gravels; the Carboniferous coal 

measures within the Forest of Dean; Carboniferous limestones and sandstones; 

Jurassic limestones; and Permian Bridgnorth and Triassic Bromsgrove 

sandstones. 

98. The Coal Authority has also produced a plan made up of surface coal resource 

areas from across the country for safeguarding purposes34.  It identifies both the 

Newent and Forest of Dean Coalfields. 

99. Local mineral deposits of known economic value, but not set out on the BGS 

Mineral Resource Maps, have also been identified for safeguarding.  These 

include Devonian Brownstones and Lower Lias Jurassic clays35. 

100. Potential local oil and gas resources are not included within the county’s MSAs 

as it is unnecessary to do so36.  Oil and gas exploration is deemed to be a 

sufficiently adaptable and flexible operation that is capable of overcoming 

potential sterilisation risks posed by non-mineral development37. 

101. The location and extent of all Gloucestershire’s MSAs are set out in the plan’s 

policies map38.   

102. There is no presumption in favour of mineral working within an MSA.  Also, the 

size and scale of each MSA is not representative of need or can be used as 

economic justification for future mineral working to be allowed take place over 

the plan period.  Economic viability can change over time depending upon 

evolving trends in demand, the comparable value of mineral resources and the 

costs associated with working. 

                                                 
33 BGS was commissioned by Government to produce mineral resource information to support national, regional and local planning.  This 
project was completed in 2006 and has been converted into a web-based resource.  The information outlines the broad extent of important 
mineral resources across England, includes those within Gloucestershire.  The web-based resource can be found at: - 
http://www.bgs.ac.uk/mineralsuk/maps/maps.html  
34 The Coal Authority has produced web-based resources outlining the extent of the UK’s surface coal resources areas, including for the 
administrative area for Gloucestershire.  This can be found at: - http://mapapps2.bgs.ac.uk/coalauthority/home.html. 
35 The BGS Solid & Drift Edition 1:50 000 series for Moreton-in-Marsh, Gloucester and Monmouth delineates the extent of mineral resources 
that have not been included within the BGS commissioned local Mineral Resource Map.  This includes Devonian Brownstones worked as a 
building stone and Lower Lias Jurassic clays exploited as brick clay. 
36 National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) Paragraph: 108 Reference ID: 27-108-20140306  
37 The exception to this is the surface infrastructure / development linked to oil and gas exploration.  This will need of course need to be 
safeguarded from incompatible non-minerals development being permitted nearby.  Policy MS2 is most likely to apply following the 
designation of a new MCA once any new oil & gas proposals are brought forward and granted permission within Gloucestershire.    
38 The accompanying Policies Map for the Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire is obtainable via the GCC webpage and can be found at: - 
   http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/proposalsmap 

Page 68

http://www.bgs.ac.uk/mineralsuk/maps/maps.html
http://mapapps2.bgs.ac.uk/coalauthority/home.html
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/proposalsmap


Page |33 
 

103. The extensive coverage of local MSAs means that a proportionate approach is 

needed in order to effectively implement mineral safeguarding in 

Gloucestershire.  This is to avoid creating an overly burdensome process that 

could risk unnecessarily stifling local development ambitions. 

104. It would be unreasonable to expect planned for non-minerals development 

presented as site allocations within an adopted local plan to be subject to 

additional mineral safeguarding requirements when detailed proposals are 

brought forward for consideration.  The matter of mineral safeguarding should be 

satisfactorily dealt with through the site selection process.  

105. Furthermore, not all non-mineral development types will either sterilise 

underlying mineral resources or be of a sufficient land take to meaningful prevent 

or hinder access for future working within an MSA.  

106. Appendix 2 sets out the Gloucestershire MSA implementation schedule.  It 

confirms the types and scale of non-minerals development that has potential to 

create mineral safeguarding issues and therefore should be assessed against 

policy MS01.  All other non-minerals development will be exempt from the policy.  

107. The safeguarding of mineral deposits will require collaboration between the MPA 

and local planning authorities.  Non-minerals development proposed within an 

MSA and which are eligible for consideration under policy MS01 should be 

subject to consultation with the MPA.  No decisions should normally be taken 

until a response is then provided. 

108. Where non-minerals development poses a risk of sterilisation, careful 

consideration will be given to the presence of mineral deposits worthy of 

continued safeguarding and / or whether there is a realistic prospect that prior 

mineral working could happen before the non-minerals development takes place.  

To address these matters, non-minerals development proposals must be 

accompanied by a mineral resource assessment (MRA) that may need to include 

an economic viability appraisal of the underlying mineral deposits and a detailed 

analysis of both potential operational and planning constraints and reasonable 

measures that could employed to overcome them.  The planning analysis will be 

heavily influenced by the policy requirements set out in the remainder of this 

plan. 

109. An MRA may also consider the acceptability or otherwise of non-minerals 

development based upon whether there is an overriding need for the 

development including at the expense of prior working of any underlying 

minerals. 

 

Page 69



Page |34 
 

Minerals Consultation Areas (MCAs) 
 

Reasoned justification 

110. The working, processing and movement of minerals within a mineral site can 

impact upon their immediate surroundings and nearby local communities.  Dust, 

noise, light pollution, vibration and vehicle movements are common issues that 

need to be very careful considered and effectively managed.  However, there are 

non-minerals development types for which achieving acceptable levels of 

mitigation can prove extremely difficult to achieve and potentially overly 

restrictive or impractical to implement.  Non-minerals development of this nature 

can be described as incompatible with mineral operations. 

111. To ensure local mineral supplies are able to continue without being unreasonably 

hindered, it is important that existing mineral workings and areas of potential 

working are safeguarded against potentially incompatible non-minerals 

development. 

112. Defining and acting upon Mineral Consultation Areas (MCAs) is a form of 

safeguarding for minerals support in planning legislation, national policy and 

planning practice guidance39.  

Policy MS02 | Non-minerals development within MCAs 

Non-minerals development within a Mineral Consultation Area (MCA) that will 

prejudice existing permitted and / or planned mineral operations will not be 

permitted unless: - 

 It forms part of a planned development strategy or regeneration scheme 

that has wider social, environmental and / or economic benefits, which 

will clearly outweigh the desire to safeguard mineral working or its 

potential within an MCA. 

Linked to the delivery of plan objective – RM 

 

 

                                                 
39 The Town & Country Planning Act 1990, Schedule 1, Paragraph 7 , Sub paragraph 4 and 7 details consultation requirements in two-tier 
areas for local planning authorities and the County Council, where (following notification) development is likely to affect or be affected by 
mineral working (other than coal).  National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) section 13, paragraph 143, bullet point 3 advises on the need 
for local plans to define MCAs, whilst Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) Paragraph: 221 Reference ID: 27-221-20140306 provides the defined 
purpose of MCAs as a consultative requirement for district or borough councils for informing the respective Mineral Planning Authority 
(MPA) of proposals for non-minerals development. 

Page 70



Page |35 
 

 

Interpretation and implementation 

113. All active mineral sites and on-site infrastructure within Gloucestershire are 

safeguarded through individual MCAs.  Additional MCAs exist for sites containing 

unimplemented planning permissions for mineral working, dormant minerals 

sites40, and areas identified in the plan as specific sites, preferred areas and 

areas of search for future mineral working (see section 9 of the plan).  Land 

extending outwards from each site boundary has also been included within MCA 

designations to a distance of 250 metres. 

114. It would be unreasonable to expect planned non-mineral developments such as 

site allocations (for housing, employment etc.) within adopted district local plans 

to be subject to additional mineral site safeguarding requirements.  The matter 

should have been satisfactorily resolved through the site selection process.  

Also, not all non-minerals development types are incompatible with mineral 

working and will prejudice site operations.  To address this matter, a MCA 

implementation schedule is provided under Appendix 3.  It identifies the types of 

non-mineral development exempt from policy MS02.  

115. Effective mineral site safeguarding requires collaboration between the MPA and 

local planning authorities.  Where potentially incompatible non-minerals 

development is proposed within an MCA, the MPA should be formally notified by 

the relevant local planning authority and no decisions should normally be taken 

until a response is provided.   

116. For non-minerals development subject to the requirements of policy MS02 initial 

consideration will be given to compatibility issues with existing and / or planned 

mineral operations contained within an MCA.  Important to this will be the degree 

and nature to which conflicts may occur specifically in relation to the ability for 

safeguarded mineral sites to operate as they are permitted to do so.  Any 

mitigation that would minimise the sensitivity of non-mineral developments to 

mineral operations will be relevant. 

117. The acceptability of potentially incompatible non-minerals development within an 

MCA will also be dependant upon its strategic significance and impact on the 

delivery of the adopted local plan balanced against the importance of the supply 

of local minerals currently and in the future.  

                                                 
40 Under the terms of the Environment Act (1995) a mineral site defined as ‘dormant’ is where no minerals development has been carried out 
to any substantial extent in, on, or under the site at any time in the period between 22nd February 1982 and 6th June 1995 

Page 71



Page |36 
 

Safeguarding minerals infrastructure  

Reasoned justification 

 

118. Efficient and effective mineral infrastructure is vital to the continuation of steady 

and adequate supplies of mineral for Gloucestershire and beyond.  It can include 

transport facilities that moves minerals in and out of the county and added value 

plant. 

 

119. In Gloucestershire, mineral infrastructure is often sited close to other 

development types due to the mutual benefits of well connected transport links 

and proximity to local markets.  However, this can create strong competition for 

the use of land that increases the risk of incompatible developments located 

within close proximity of each other and / or the encroachment of one land use 

over another. 

 

120. Effective site safeguarding for the county’s mineral infrastructure is therefore 

needed to avoid conflicting land uses from disrupting supply networks and / or 

generating a loss of handling capacity or future capability.   

 

121. National policy and practice guidance recognises the importance of mineral 

infrastructure safeguarding and identifies several different types of facility that 

may reasonable be subject to its requirements41. 

 

Policy MS03 | Safeguarding mineral infrastructure 

Non-minerals development on, or near to, a safeguarded mineral infrastructure 

site, which will adversely affect the ability to carry out permitted mineral-

related operations and / or would prejudice planned operations from taking 

place will not be permitted unless: - 

 The safeguarded mineral infrastructure site is no longer suitable or 

viable; or 

 A suitable replacement mineral infrastructure site has been identified 

and permitted. 

Linked to the delivery of plan objectives – SR, RM and PS 

 

                                                 
41 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) section 13, paragraph 143, bullet point 4; and Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) paragraph: 006 
Reference ID: 27-006-20140306 

Page 72



Page |37 
 

Interpretation and implementation 

122. Mineral infrastructure sites safeguarding under policy MS03 are set out in 

Appendix 4.  However, the number and location of sites may evolve over time 

due to new permissions being granted and facilities closing down.  Where 

changes occur these will be reported within the next available annual monitoring 

report of the MPA. 

123. The effective safeguarding of mineral infrastructure sites requires collaboration 

between the MPA and local planning authorities.  Where non-minerals 

development is proposed on or nearby a safeguarded site, the MPA should be 

consulted and no decisions should normally be taken until a response is 

provided.  A distance of 150 metres as a consultation area from a safeguarded 

mineral infrastructure site applies where nearby non-minerals development 

proposals are concerned42. 

124. Non-mineral developments proposed on or nearby a safeguarded site will need 

to demonstrate how incompatibility is to be avoided.  Any mitigation measures 

put forward, which will either satisfactorily minimise impacts and / or will 

sufficiently reduce sensitivity to mineral infrastructure operations will be carefully 

considered.  Particular attention will be given to the extent to which the existing, 

planned or potential capacity for mineral storage, processing and transportation 

will be able to occur. 

125. Where non-mineral developments are to result in the removal or the overly 

restricted functioning of a safeguarded mineral infrastructure site, proposals must 

show how the overall network of mineral infrastructure serving the county and 

beyond will not be adversely affected at the time and into the future.  To achieve 

this robust evidence should be provided that demonstrates how the safeguarded 

site can no longer accommodate mineral infrastructure on practicality or viability 

grounds; and / or there is no interest in continuing operations or developing 

future mineral infrastructure uses.  

126. Alternatively, if a suitable replacement mineral infrastructure site is to be offered, 

it must be acceptable in planning terms confirmed through an extant planning 

permission and be at least equivalent in terms of the handling capacity, 

accessibility, location in relation to the market and suitability to carry out 

comparable functions such as the processing and / or stockpiling of minerals. 

  

                                                 
42 The use of an additional 150m ‘zone’ around safeguarded mineral infrastructure sites represents pragmatic approach for ensuring the 
assessment of sensitivity and potential compatibility of nearby non-mineral developments with the continued functioning of  mineral 
infrastructure sites.  

Page 73



Page |38 
 

Section 8 | the future supply of minerals 
 

 

127. Facilitating sufficient supplies of minerals is essential for sustainable economic 

growth and quality.  However, in doing so a balance needs to be struck between 

making an appropriate contribution towards the need for minerals both locally 

and beyond, and ensuring this is undertaken in a timely way and proportionately 

within environmental limits and without unnecessarily affecting local 

communities. 

 

128. Local mineral supplies specific to Gloucestershire and covered by the plan 

include: - primary land-won aggregates – crushed rock and sand & gravel; 

sandstone and limestone used for natural building stone; clay for brick-making 

and other civil engineering purposes; and hydrocarbons made up of coal, oil and 

gas. 

129. Supplies of minerals are also heavily dependent upon the support of local 

infrastructure such as processing plant used to develop raw minerals into a 

range of different products needed in construction and other industrial processes.  

Other ancillary activities support increasing efficient and effective mineral 

working and the movement of minerals from place to place. 

 

Crushed rock and sand & gravel aggregates  

Influencing factors on future aggregate provision 

Establishing local supply trends and forecasting future demand using Local 

Aggregate Assessments (LAAs) 

130. A Local Aggregate Assessment (LAA) is an assessment of trends in supply and 

demand for aggregates from within a mineral planning authority’s area43.  It is 

updated annually and is based on collated information, which sets out a rolling 

average of 10 years worth of primary aggregate sales.  It also includes other 

relevant local data and an assessment of other supply options including marine 

dredged and recycled & secondary aggregate sources. 

                                                 
43 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG), Planning for aggregates Section, paragraph: 067 Reference ID: 27-067-20140306. 

Page 74



Page |39 
 

131. The LAA for Gloucestershire was first published in November 2013 and 

contained supply data up to the end of 2011.  A 4th version LAA was published in 

summer 2016 and covers the period up to the end of 201444.  

132. The 4th version LAA identifies that for the 10 years between 2005 and 2014 

(inclusive), average annual sales of primary aggregates from within the county 

stood at 1.517 million tonnes for crushed rock and 0.788 million tonnes for sand 

& gravel.  

133. In making provision for aggregates, significant weight should be given to the 

prospect of average annual sales as expressed within the LAA, being effectively 

maintained. 

The role and significance of National and Sub-National Guidelines 

134. Historically, deciding how much aggregate should be provided for was achieved 

under a centrally-led process.  National government predicted the need for 

aggregates across the country and then apportioned this total to each sub-

national area (region) of England.  A further break down was then undertaken to 

each mineral planning authority at the local level.  Making decisions at a sub-

national level involves technical advisory groups called Aggregates Working 

Parties (AWPs).  For the South West of England an AWP has been in existence 

for many years.  The South West AWP is made up of all local mineral planning 

authorities in the South West of England, the minerals industry and other 

government agency representatives. 

135. The current aggregate apportionment for the South West of England covers the 

period from 2005 to 2020.  It amounts to 412 million tonnes of crushed rock and 

85 million tonnes of sand & gravel45.  For Gloucestershire the recommendation of 

the AWP, which supported the then emerging South West Regional Spatial 

Strategy (SW-RSS)46, was for provision to be made for a local apportionment 

equal to 36.01 million tonnes for crushed rock and 16.07 million tonnes for sand 

& gravel47 48. 

                                                 
44 Information on Gloucestershire’s Local Aggregate Assessments (LAAs) can be found at: -
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/article/115911/Local-Aggregates-Assessment 
45 Published CLG National and Regional guidelines for aggregate provision in England (2005-2020) can be found at: - 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/7763/aggregatesprovision2020.pdf 
46 The South West Regional Spatial (SW-RSS) was designed to provide a regional level planning frameworks for the South West region 
including Gloucestershire and was introduced through the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act (2004).  An emerging SW-RSS was prepared 
throughout the mid 2000’s but this was never formally adopted and therefore not included in the Development Plan for Gloucestershire.  
The emerging SW-RSS was revoked through the provision of the Localism Act (2011) by way of an order laid before parliament in April 2013. 
47 The MPA-level recommendations made by the SW AWP towards meeting the present sub-national aggregate guidelines, are published in 
South West Aggregates Working Party Annual Report (2010): - 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/201196/SWRAWP_Report_10_Final_WEB.pdf 
48 The annual expression of the local apportionment for Gloucestershire between 2005 and 2020 is equal to 2.25 mtpa for crushed rock and 
1.0mtpa for sand and gravel.  

Page 75

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/article/115911/Local-Aggregates-Assessment
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/7763/aggregatesprovision2020.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/201196/SWRAWP_Report_10_Final_WEB.pdf


Page |40 
 

136. National policy advises that making a contribution towards national and sub-

national guidelines should be a factor when deciding upon how much local 

provision should be planned for49.  The guidelines are also a valid material 

consideration when making decisions on planning proposals for aggregate 

mineral developments.  

The monitoring of aggregate landbanks 

137. Monitoring primary land-won aggregate landbanks is an established method for 

determine how much provision might need to be supported, through the 

preparation of a minerals local plan.  Aggregate landbanks are made up of the 

remaining mineral reserves within valid planning permissions for a type of 

aggregate over a given location, which is commonly the mineral planning 

authority area.  

138. Primary land-won aggregate landbanks are expressed in years based on how 

long the remaining reserves would in theory be available to keep pace with 

demand as determined using the latest LAA.   

139. National planning policy advises upon the use of thresholds, described as – 

minimum landbank levels – for different types of primary aggregate.  These are 

applicable when preparing new local planning policies and making planning 

decisions.  They act as a justification for new minerals development that will add 

to the level of local aggregate reserves.  For crushed rock, national policy states 

that at least a 10 year landbank of permitted reserves should be maintained.  For 

sand & gravel the figure is at least 7 years50.  

140. Seeking to maintain sizeable minimum landbank levels is a reflection of the 

timeframes involved in moving from a submitted planning proposal to an active 

site that is working minerals.  Minimum landbank levels are deemed 

proportionate for ensuring local supplies that are kept steady and adequate over 

time.  They also give some certainty to the mineral industry and their investors 

who are needed to provide vital up-front capital investment51. 

141. The existence of primary aggregate landbanks at or above the minimum 

landbank levels should not be seen as a justifiable reason to restrict the creation 

of further aggregate reserves.  Circumstances may prevail where local markets 

are insufficiently supplied despite there being a maintained landbank at or above 

the minimum level.  For example; transport links between mineral sites and local 

markets may not be of sufficient capacity to ensure worked minerals can be 

delivered in large enough quantities to keep up with demand.  There may also be 

                                                 
49 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) section 13, paragraph 145, bullet point 4 
50 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) section 13, paragraph 145, bullet point 6 
51 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) minerals section, paragraph: 081 Reference ID: 27-081-20140306 

Page 76



Page |41 
 

a lack of the right quality and type of aggregates to meet specific requirements 

for end users.  Furthermore, productive capacity constraints at mineral sites can 

also make it unachievable to sustain supplies at a steady and adequate rate52, 

even at the strategic level, where a group of mineral sites may be involved.  In 

addition, where reserves are increasingly concentrated in a small number of 

mineral workings, beneficial competition may be put at risk.  This can unduly 

expose local supply chains to the commercial fortunes of just a few operators. 

142. In Gloucestershire the countywide primary land-won aggregate landbanks as of 

the end of 2014, amounted to 17.13 years for crushed rock and 6.9 years for 

sand & gravel53.  

 

Making provision for crushed rock 

Supporting explanation 

143. Based on the data set out within the 4th version LAA, the plan will consider how 

best it can facilitate the provision based on a continued supply of at least 1.517 

million tonnes of crushed rock aggregate per annum from Gloucestershire 

through to the end of 2032.  It will also look to ensure that a sufficient landbank of 

reserves is always maintained at or above the minimum level of 10 years.  To 

achieve this, provision equal to 42.476 million tonnes will need to be made54. 

144. Remaining permitted reserves of crushed rock will undoubtedly make a 

significant contribution to the plan’s future provision requirement, but are 

insufficient on their own to meet it in full.  As a result a shortfall is anticipated.  

This is equal to 16.486 million tonnes or the equivalent of almost 11 years of 

additional sales.    

145. However, local circumstances exist within the county that mean applying a 

countywide approach to future provision requirements for crushed rock 

aggregate, may present some difficulties.  To do so could inadvertently 

undermine the maintenance of steady and adequate aggregate supplies 

throughout the plan period, particularly once any anticipated shortfalls in 

provision start to occur.  The county’s two resource areas for crushed rock 

aggregate – the Forest of Dean and the Cotswolds, both have the potential to 

experience aggregate supply challenges regarding the quality and local capacity 

of available aggregates.  

                                                 
52 These matters are all noted as reasonable justifications to adopt a degree of flexibility when applying landbank indicators within  National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) section 13, paragraph 145, bullet point 6; and Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) mineral section, 
paragraph: 064, reference ID: 27-064-20140306 and paragraph: 084 reference ID: 27-084-20140306. 
53 Based on the 4th LAA for Gloucestershire 
54 For a full breakdown of the calculations informing future provision covered by the plan see Appendix 5 

Page 77



Page |42 
 

146. Furthermore, a countywide approach could also nbe at odds with national policy 

in respect of future aggregate working from within valued environments.  MPAs 

are encouraged to facilitate the maintenance of aggregate landbanks from 

outside of AONB designations55.  A substantial part of the Cotswold resource 

area lies within the Cotswolds AONB.  

147. Consequently, a local approach to future provision requirements for crushed rock 

aggregate is considered to offer a way of overcoming both supply challenges and 

national policy.  It also affords the plan a deliverable strategy for demonstrating 

how steady and adequate supply throughout the plan period can be effectively 

enabled. 

148. The local approach seeks to acknowledge the historic trend in the supply of 

crushed rock aggregate between the Forest of Dean and Cotswold resource 

areas as a means of distributing the shortfall in provision.  It equates to a split of 

70:30 respectively in the contribution made by the two resource areas.   

149. Overall the amount of additional provision that the plan should be considered 

remains unchanged at 16.486 million tonnes.  However, based on the landbank 

of reserves as at 31/01/2014 and the 70:30 split, the requirement from the Forest 

of Dean is 14.063 million tonnes.  For the Cotswold resource area it is 2.423 

million tonnes.  Appendix 5 details the application of the local approach and 

calculations used to determine the future provision requirements for crushed rock 

from Gloucestershire. 

150. Section 9 of the plan sets out in detail how the anticipated shortfall in aggregate 

provision will be handled across the two resource areas.  It includes the 

allocation of sites with the potential to support future crushed rock aggregate 

working (policy MA01).  It also establishes criteria for assessing the acceptability 

of minerals development proposals for aggregate working outside of site 

allocations (policy MA02). 

 

Making provision for sand & gravel 

Supporting explanation 

151. In line with the 4th version LAA, the plan aims to support steady and adequate 

supplies of sand & gravel aggregate of at least 0.788 million tonnes per annum 

throughout to the end of 2032.  It will also look to ensure that a sufficient 

landbank of reserves is always maintained at, or above the minimum level of 7 

                                                 
55 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), section 13, paragraph 144, bullet point 2 

Page 78



Page |43 
 

years.  To achieve this, provision equal to 19.7 million tonnes will need to be 

made. 

152. Remaining permitted reserves of sand & gravel will make a contribution to meet 

the plan’s provision requirements, although they are insufficient to meet it in full.  

As a result a shortfall will be generated amounting to 14.24 million tonnes.  This 

is equivalent to a little over 18 years of additional working.  

153. Section 5 of the plan sets out in detail how the anticipated shortfall in aggregate 

provision will be handled.  It includes the allocation of sites with the potential to 

support future sand & gravel aggregate working (policy MA01).  It also 

establishes criteria for assessing the acceptability of minerals development 

proposals for aggregate working outside of site allocations (policy MA02)  

 

Policy MW01 | Aggregate provision 

Minerals development proposals for aggregate working will be permitted, 

where it can be demonstrated: - 

 It will make a contribution towards maintaining throughout and at the 

end of the plan period, the relevant aggregate landbank requirement of 

at least 10 years for crushed rock or at least 7 years for sand & gravel; 

and 

 The requirements of policy MA01 (Aggregate working within site 

allocations) or policy MA02 (Aggregate working outside of site 

allocations) can be satisfactorily met.  

Linked to the delivery of plan objective – PS 

 

Limestone and sandstone for natural building stone  

Reasoned justification 

154. Natural Building stone is the collective term used to describe the construction 

material often used as a walling and roofing stone, dimension stone, and for 

ashlar, rubble masonry, quoins, lintels, and other architectural masonry.  

155. The working of natural building stone is important to Gloucestershire.  It 

contributes to local economic diversity and supports cultural heritage, particularly 

Page 79



Page |44 
 

across its rural areas.  The supply of natural building stone is also integral to 

efforts to protect and maintain the historic built character of the county and the 

restoration of regionally and nationally significant built assets56.  Building 

conservation projects and extensions to existing local built historic assets 

generate much of the local demand.  

156. Natural building stone also has a role to play in promoting local distinctiveness 

and vernacular styles in new build schemes, principally within conservation areas 

or where it is advised within local design codes or guidance57.  

157. In Gloucestershire, natural building stone is derived from sandstone and 

limestone, sourced from resource blocks that are broadly contiguous with the 

Forest of Dean and Cotswold crushed rock aggregate resource areas 

respectively.  For reasons of site management issues and economic viability, 

minerals with natural building stone potential are sometimes marketed as a 

crushed rock aggregate, agricultural lime or employed in other industrial uses.  

This is often the case where mineral site ‘waste’ is generated – a consequence 

of the needing to meet particularly restrictive building stone specifications.    

158. Natural building stone production is low compared with aggregate working, and 

commonly takes place at small local quarries, usually with only generating a few 

thousand tonnes worth of sales per year.  The colour, texture and availability of 

worked minerals suitable for different end uses are very variable and marked 

differences can occur even within an individual quarry unit.  As a result working 

can be intermittent and limited, and heavily influenced by changeable demand for 

local stone.  

159. The county’s key natural building stone resources are found within or near to a 

number of the highly valued landscapes such as the Cotswold and Wye Valley 

AONBs and other local built historic and environmental assets.  This means any 

future development must be carefully scrutinised and clearly justified.  

160. It is vitally important that any future working does not unnecessarily cause harm 

or create adverse impacts that will lead to a reduction in the quality of important 

local features and characteristics.  This may prove particularly challenging where 

a relative dispersed pattern of small mineral operations is in existence, some of 

which are intermittently working often over an extended period of time.  

  

                                                 
56 More recent nationally significant restoration projects that have utilised natural building stone sourced from the Cotswolds include: - St. 
George's Chapel at Windsor Castle, The Houses of Parliament and Hampton Court Palace in London and Truro Cathedral, Cornwall.  Natural 
building stone from the Forest of Dean has also been used in the regeneration of Bath Spa Railway Station and Hereford Cathedral 
57The Cotswold Design Code exemplifies local guidance that influences the use of natural building stone materials.  It was published in 2000 
as supplementary planning guidance (SPG) to support policy 42 of the adopted Cotswold District Local Plan (2001 – 2011) | 
http://www.cotswold.gov.uk/media/241227/The-Cotswold-Design-Code.pdf 

Page 80

http://www.cotswold.gov.uk/media/241227/The-Cotswold-Design-Code.pdf


Page |45 
 

Policy MW02 | Natural building stone 

Minerals development proposals for small scale natural building stone 

working will be permitted, where it can be demonstrated: - 

 There are no suitable, viable and more sustainable alternative sources 

available; 

 They will positively contribute towards the maintenance of the historic 

built environment and will encourage local distinctiveness and good 

quality design; 

 They will make a positive contribution to sustaining or growing the 

local economy and will uphold the cultural heritage of the Forest of 

Dean or the Cotswolds; and 

 All supplementary working of minerals for non-building stone 

purposes will not prejudice the ability to satisfactory achieve 

previously approved or acceptable in principle proposals for future site 

restoration that accord with policy MR1. 

 

Linked to the delivery of plan objectives – RM, PS, ENV and RA 

 

Interpretation and implementation 

161. Policy MW02 seeks to ensure that future natural building stone working in 

Gloucestershire is proportionate and will meaningfully contribute towards the 

need for local supplies to aid in the maintenance of the historic built environment 

both locally and beyond and protecting and promoting local distinctiveness 

through building design.  This is in line with national policy, which recognises the 

necessity for local planning authorities to deal with demand for natural building 

stone in the repair of heritage assets58.  Policy MW02 also aims to contribute 

towards achieving an effective balance of meeting any demand with the ongoing 

protection and support for the conservation of environmental designations 

162. Mineral development proposals for natural building stone working, including 

extensions to existing operations will need to be scrutinised to ensure that they 

are justified.  This will involve careful consideration of demand, focused on the 

core purposes set out policy MW02 and the potential availability or otherwise of 

alternative, viable and sustainable sources.  These could be local or further 

afield, including from outside of Gloucestershire.  Of relevance will be an 

assessment of the comparable impact on local highway networks, local 

                                                 
58 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), section 13, paragraph 144, bullet point 8 

Page 81



Page |46 
 

economic vitality and resilience and cultural heritage linked to protection of 

traditional rural skills59.  For proposals within or that would affect the setting of 

the Cotswolds or Wye Valley AONB designations, the desirability of conserving 

the landscape and scenic beauty of the area and also its wildlife and cultural 

heritage will be an appropriate factor.  

163. Where proposals seek to include supplementary non-building stone working, this 

will also need to be carefully reviewed.  Key importance will be given to the ability 

to show the quality and / or quantity of the principal supply of natural building 

stone from the proposal will not be adversely affected.  Site restoration plans, 

which have been previously approved should ideally be unhindered and remain 

implementable in full.  For all new or revised restoration plans considered 

concurrently, the ability to meet with requirements set out within policy MR01 

(restoration, aftercare and facilitating beneficial after-uses) will be relevant. 

Clay for civil engineering purposes 

Reasoned justification 

164. Clay minerals can be used for a variety of civil engineering purposes including 

flood defence barriers, noise attenuation bunds, construction fill, landfill lining 

and capping and the lining for canals, ponds and other drainage-related features. 

165. Gloucestershire has extensive and fairly widespread deposits of clay found within 

the Forest of Dean, along the Severn Vale and areas of the Cotswolds.  Clays 

used in civil engineering have more recently been sourced from within the 

Severn Vale linked to landfill operations.  It has also been worked in the past 

alongside other minerals such as sand & gravel and at occasional temporary 

borrow pits.   

166. No evidence has been forthcoming to suggest the nature and scale of clay 

working currently undertaken for civil engineering purposes will change.  

Available reserves are also deemed to be adequate to keep pace demand.  

Nevertheless, it is plausible to consider that the scale, intensity and location of 

new or upgraded civil engineering projects could have enough influence on 

supply at a very local scale to stimulate new proposals, which will need to be 

carefully considered.  

167. In the case of landfill operations, whilst the Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy 

(WCS) indicates that local capacity is presently sufficient to meet the county’s 

needs through to at least the end of the 2020s, this situation is being carefully 

                                                 
59 Traditional rural skills in a minerals context are largely concerned with stone cutting and stone masonry operations  

Page 82



Page |47 
 

monitored60.  Provision has also been made within the WCS under core policy 

WCS 8 (Landfill) to consider the acceptability of new or expanded landfill 

developments.  Furthermore, there are a number of emerging local 

infrastructure-related projects that could generate very acute local demand for 

engineering clay61. 

168. National planning policy categorises clay as an industrial mineral and states that 

plans should be made for its steady and adequate supply, which may include 

contributing to activities beyond the local area 62.  

Policy MW03 | Clay for civil engineering purposes 

Minerals development proposals for the working of clay for civil engineering 

purposes will be permitted, where it can be demonstrated: - 

 There are no suitable, viable and more sustainable alternative sources 

available; or 

 They will make a contribution towards maintaining a steady and 

adequate local supply to meet demand. 

 

Linked to the delivery of plan objectives – RM and PS  

 

Interpretation and implementation 

169. The attention for policy MW03 is upon the achievement of a proportionate and 

balanced approach to future mineral development proposals for clay used in civil 

engineering.  The importance of clay in the delivery and maintenance of much 

needed and crucial local infrastructure is without doubt and as such it is 

reasonable for provision to be made to support new proposals, where they are 

able to demonstrate how they will contribute towards maintaining a steady and 

adequate local supply.  

170. Nevertheless, due to relatively small-scale and low key nature of the county’s 

supply and potential for acute and much more localised demand to arise, it is 

important that a degree of flexibility is embraced.  This would be further endorsed 

where engineering clay may be subject to potential mineral sterilisation and the 

                                                 
60 Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy, paragraph 4.133  
61 The Gloucestershire Local Flood Risk Management Strategy (LFRMS) (2014) facilitates the prioritisation for funding and delivery of projects 
to reduce the risk of flooding locally.  Over time the present LFRMS and future revisions may support infrastructure projects that require the 
importation of clay in bunds and flood defence barriers.  Similar stimulus may arise from future progress with the ongoing restoration 
schemes such as the Stroudwater Navigation; Thames & Severn Canal; and Herefordshire & Gloucestershire Canal all of which may require 
new clay lining. 
62 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) section 13, paragraph 146. 

Page 83



Page |48 
 

possibility for prior-working under policy MS01 (Non-minerals development within 

MSAs). 

171. Consequently, mineral development proposals for civil engineering clay may be 

considered in respect of their comparative advantage to other existing sources 

from within Gloucestershire, irrespective of the overall level of supply and 

demand currently being experienced. 

172. This approach is most likely to be relevant to proposals located relatively nearby 

to their intended use.  Traditionally this type of minerals development has been 

described as a borrow pit or incidental mineral working.    

173. A comparative assessment appropriate to policy MW03 will need to show why 

other sources of clay are deemed to be unavailable, unsuitable and / or viable.  

Where this is not the case, consideration will then be given to a comparable 

analysis of relevant environmental matters, which amongst others, may include 

the impact on: - the local highway networks; the amenity of potentially affected 

local communities; and the quality of natural and built environment assets and 

other designations.  Support for the deliverability of critical local infrastructure 

such as flood defence work, may also be a relevant factor along with the 

possibility of avoiding mineral sterilisation and the unnecessary stifling of 

otherwise acceptable non-minerals development.    

 
Brick clay  

Reasoned justification 

174. Brick clay is the general term to describe clay and shale minerals used in the 

production of structural brick clay products including facing and engineering 

bricks, pavers, tiles for roofing and cladding, and vitrified clay pipes. 

175. The working of brick clay minerals and associated manufacturing of structural 

brick clay products at brickworks within Gloucestershire is relatively small scale.  

There are presently only two active operations – in the north Cotswolds near 

Blockley and at Cinderford in the Forest of Dean.  However, clay deposits with 

the potential for brick clay can be found in many localities throughout the county 

and have been exploited for this purpose in the past.  

176. Gloucestershire is not a significant contributor by volume to the national supply of 

brick clay or structural brick clay products.  However, the local industry plays an 

important role in supporting the security and diversity of supplies to meet 

demand generated from within the county and beyond.  Local producers promote 

handmade and bespoke products of colours and textures that are invaluable in 

Page 84



Page |49 
 

protecting built historic assets and enabling new development projects to 

positively contribute towards the local character and distinctiveness.  Whilst 

sufficient brick clay is available to cope with current local demand, the delivery of 

forecast local housing growth could change matters over the coming years. 

177. National policy highlights brick clay as an important industrial mineral that 

mineral planning authorities should plan for63.  Key to this is support for steady 

and adequate supplies on a larger-than-local scale where necessary, including 

provision for stockpiling and a sufficient stock of permitted reserves or landbank 

of at least 25 years.  Provision of this scale is deemed necessary to afford 

sufficient confidence in the amount of investment needed to set up a new plant or 

to maintain existing equipment. 

Policy MW04 | Brick clay 

Minerals development proposals for brick clay working or its long-term 

stockpiling will be permitted, where it can be demonstrated: - 

 They will make a contribution towards a landbank of brick clay sufficient 

to maintain a requirement of at least 25 years throughout and at the end 

of the plan period. 

 

Linked to the delivery of plan objectives – RM and PS 

 

Interpretation and implementation 

178. Policy MW04 seeks to ensure that appropriate and proportionate consideration is 

given to the availability of local supplies when new mineral development 

proposals for brick clay are brought forward.  This is in line with planning practice 

guidance, which states that low availability of permitted reserves may be a strong 

indicator of urgent need and therefore policy support of new proposals64. 

179. Furthermore, brick clay could be a local mineral deposit subject to mineral 

sterilisation and the potential for prior-working under policy MS01 (Non-minerals 

development within MSAs).  Consequently, the in-principle support for the long-

term stockpiling of brick clay, which may be supported by prior-working should be 

given some weight when assessing submitted feasibility studies.  

 

                                                 
63 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) section 13, paragraph 146 
64 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) - Minerals (section), paragraph: 089, reference ID: 27-089-20140306 

Page 85



Page |50 
 

Energy Minerals – Coal 
 

Reasoned justification 

180. There are three coalfields present within Gloucestershire – the Forest of Dean, 

Newent and Oxfordshire-Berkshire, which lies on the eastern fringes of the 

county.  The Forest of Dean Coalfield is the only one to have been successfully 

worked to any meaningful extent.  The working of coal in Forest of Dean has 

taken place over many centuries and has been highly influential in how the built 

environment, local economy and its social and cultural heritage have evolved 

over time.  

181. Presently, only very localised, low-key, intermittent working of coal remains 

within parts of the Forest of Dean Coalfield.  This is carried out by small number 

of local free miners with rights to do so under ancient custom and law.  Working 

occurs at relatively shallow depth and usually through inclined drift mines.  

182. It is around 30 year since more significant, industrial-scale working of coal 

ceased within the Forest Dean.  This also exploited shallow coal resources, but 

mostly using surface-mining techniques, traditionally known as open-cast or 

open pit working.  Deep mining has also featured in the past, although the last 

deep mines closed nearly 50 years ago in the mid 1960s. 

183. There is a presumption against coal working set out within national policy.  

However, it is not precluded where it is possible to demonstrate environmental 

acceptably or where sufficient national local and community benefits outweigh 

any impacts associated with its working65.  Gloucestershire’s coal resources are 

not yet exhausted and there still remains the possibility that local coal may be 

reconsidered as a viable and desirable resource to exploit again in the future.  

Policy MW05 | Coal 

Minerals development proposals for coal working will not be permitted unless: 

- 

 They are considered to be environmentally acceptable; or 

 They provide national, local or community benefits that clearly outweigh 

impacts likely to arising as a result of their working. 

 

Linked to the delivery of plan objectives – PS, ENV and LC 

                                                 
65 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) section 13, paragraph 149 

Page 86



Page |51 
 

Interpretation and implementation 

184. Policy MW05 confirms that at the local level, there is a presumption against 

future coal working.  In Gloucestershire this is principally a matter for the Forest 

of Dean Coalfield.  

185. Nevertheless, minerals development proposals for coal working, including small-

scale operations and / or the re-opening of previous working sites, are entitled to 

be assessed as to their potential environmental impacts and the realistic 

possibility that sufficiently and acceptable mitigation measures could be put in 

place.  In this regard, and as advised within planning practice guidance, very 

careful consideration will be given to the detailed environmental duty contained 

within the Coal Industry Act 1994 and whether this can be satisfactorily met66. 

186. The environmental duty seeks to ensure the preservation of natural beauty, the 

conservation of ecological and geological assets and the protection of built 

assets including those of historic and archaeological interest67. 

187. For mineral development proposals that are specifically for underground coal 

working, consideration will also need to be given to the possibility or otherwise 

that the following matters will be effectively dealt with – potential effects of 

subsidence, including the potential hazard of old mine workings; the treatment 

and pumping of underground water; monitoring and preventative measures for 

potential gas emissions; and the method for the disposal of colliery spoil68. 

188. In completing the analysis of the environmental acceptability minerals 

development proposals for coal working, all other relevant policy requirements 

set out in the remainder of this plan will need to have been satisfactorily 

addressed. 

189. Where environmental acceptability is not achievable, other benefits may be 

presented that could outweigh the impacts caused by allowing coal working.  

These can be at any scale of significance – community, local and national level.  

Achieving the right planning balance in respect of outweighing benefits will 

always be taken on a case-by-case basis.  However, local circumstances within 

the Forest of Dean Coalfield, point to small-scale, local, shallow coal operations 

carried out by Gloucestershire Freeminers, as the sort of coal development that 

is likely to be given favourable consideration as a means of supporting the 

conservation of cultural heritage and the micro-economy of certain rural 

communities.  

                                                 
66 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) Minerals (section), Paragraph: 147 Reference ID: 27-147-20140306 
67Section 53 of the Coal Industry Act (1994) |  http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1994/21/section/53 
68 Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) Minerals (section), Paragraph: 148 Reference ID: 27-148-20140306  

Page 87

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1994/21/section/53


Page |52 
 

Energy Minerals – Oil & Gas 

Reasoned Justification 

190. Oil and gas are important mineral resources and primary sources of energy in 

the United Kingdom.  They underpin key aspects of modern society and are an 

important part of the UK’s energy mix.  Even accounting for the rise in alternative 

and renewable energy, it is anticipated that 70% of the UK’s energy requirements 

will still be met by oil and gas into the 2040s69.  Consequently, maximising 

economic production of oil and gas from UK reserves to provide reliable energy 

supplies, has become a key activity that the Government supports to minimise 

our risk to increasingly unstable international energy supplies. 

 

191. The Crown owns all of the oil, gas and coal resources in the country.  Crown 

property is administered by the Crown Estates.  Companies who wish to exploit 

the Crown minerals are invited to bid for a Petroleum Exploration and 

Development Licence (PEDL) from the Government, issued via the Oil & Gas 

Authority (OGA).  Licences are usually made available via competitive offerings 

that are held every few years70. 

 

192. The granting of a conditional PEDL licence does not allow a licensee to exploit 

underground resources without obtaining the necessary planning consent.  

Permits from the Environmental Agency (EA) are also required, and specifically 

where coal resources may be affected, permission from the Coal Authority71.  

Other permits and rights may need to be achieved depending upon the location 

and characteristics of the proposed development site. 

 

193. The geology to support accumulations of oil and gas is present within parts of 

Gloucestershire.  However, no commercially viable deposits have been 

discovered to date.  Between the 1960s and 1980s exploratory drilling took place 

along the eastern flank of the county.  All wells have been plugged and fully 

restored.  None of the wells recorded positive results72. 

 

194. Limited information is presently available regarding any re-evaluation of potential 

oil or gas deposits within Gloucestershire.  This includes through more innovative 

or unconventional techniques.  The British Geological Survey (BGS) has 

                                                 
69 [UK Oil and Gas - Business and Government Action Strategy (March 2013) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/175480/bis-13-748-uk-oil-and-gas-industrial-strategy.pdf  
70 The 13th PEDL was conducted in 2008.  The 14th PEDL round commenced in 2010.  However, due to seismic incidents in Lancashire in 2011 
and concern over potential links to licensed exploration operations nearby, the 14th PEDL round was interrupted so as to undertake further 
investigation and appraisal of regulatory requirements.  The 14th PEDL round recommenced in 2014. 
71 To exploit Coal Bed Methane (CBM) or Abandoned Mine Methane (AMM) operators must obtain a Coal Methane Access Agreement 
(CMAA) from the Coal Authority - https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coal-methane-access-agreements 
72 Taken from BGS Mineral Resource Information in Support of National, Regional and Local Planning for Gloucestershire (comprising 
Gloucestershire and South Gloucestershire) 

Page 88

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/175480/bis-13-748-uk-oil-and-gas-industrial-strategy.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coal-methane-access-agreements


Page |53 
 

undertaken a broad level review of local circumstances focused on the county’s 

coalfields – Forest of Dean, Newent and Oxfordshire-Berkshire.  The conclusion 

is that limited or little potential may exist73.  However, continuing technological 

advancements in drilling and changeable economic viability may alter this view in 

the future. 

 

195. In late 2015, four blocks that cover parts of Gloucestershire were awarded 

conditional PEDL licences.  These are mostly contained in Forest of Dean near 

to the border with Monmouthshire and a small area around Sharpness in Stroud 

District74.  The condition attached to each licence prohibits all operations related 

to oil & gas development from taking place at or near to the surface of any land 

within the boundaries of all European sites found within a licensed block. 

 

196. National policy states that minerals planning authorities should, when planning 

for on-shore oil and gas distinguish between the three phases of development 

(exploration, appraisal (testing) and address constraints on production and 

processing within licenced areas and encourage capture and use of methane 

from coal mines in active and abandoned coalfield areas75.  Planning practice 

guidance also advises that areas where proposals for hydrocarbon extraction 

may come forward should be highlighted and policies provided with criteria for 

assessing hydrocarbon extraction within licenced areas76. 

  

                                                 
73 Paragraph 6.2 of the BGS Mineral Resource Information in Support of National, Regional and Local Planning Report for Gloucestershire 
(comprising Gloucestershire and South Gloucestershire) – https://www.bgs.ac.uk/downloads/start.cfm?id=2613 
74  The PEDL 14th onshore oil and gas licensing round – Blocks Map 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/454338/Onshore14thHRAv5.pdf 
75  National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) section 13, paragraph 147, bullet points 1 and 4 
76 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) mineral section, paragraph: 106, reference ID: 27-106-20140306. 

Page 89

https://www.bgs.ac.uk/downloads/start.cfm?id=2613
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/454338/Onshore14thHRAv5.pdf


Page |54 
 

Policy MW06 | Oil & Gas 

Minerals development proposals for the exploration and / or production of oil & 

gas including through the deployment of unconventional techniques, will be 

permitted subject to: - 

 well sites and associated facilities being sited, so far as is practicable, to 

minimise impacts on the environment and local communities;  

 development being located outside of Protected Groundwater Source 

Areas and Protected Areas for the purposes of the Infrastructure Act 

2015, s.50, where hydraulic fracturing is specifically proposed;  

 there being no unacceptable adverse impacts in terms of quantity and 

quality upon sensitive water receptors including groundwater, water 

bodies and natural habitats;  

 all other environmental and amenity impacts being mitigated to ensure 

that there is no unacceptable adverse impact on the environment and 

local communities;  

 exploration and appraisal operations being for an agreed, temporary 

length of time; 

 there being no adverse impacts on seismicity where hydraulic fracturing 

is specifically proposed; 

 the drilling site and any associated land being restored at the earliest 

practicable opportunity, to a high standard that reflects the character of 

the local landscape and where beneficial after-uses will be facilitated; 

and 

 it being demonstrated that greenhouse gases associated with fugitive 

emissions from the exploration, testing and production operations will 

not lead to unacceptable adverse environmental impacts;  

Linked to the delivery of plan objectives – PS, ENV and RA 

 

Interpretation and implementation 

197. Oil and gas developments must be given careful attention through the planning 

stages of their approval.  The nature and significance of issues that might arise 

can be complex and are strongly influenced by the technology utilised and the 

Page 90



Page |55 
 

phase of development proposed (e.g. exploration, testing (appraisal), and 

production).  

198. Consequently, all applications for oil and gas developments will be considered on 

their individual merits.  The acceptability of initial, exploratory drilling to establish 

the presence of hydrocarbon resources will not automatically mean proposals for 

future phases of oil and gas development (e.g. testing or appraising and 

production) will be granted permission.  Material weight that could be attributed 

to the presence of previously permitted and implemented exploration proposals, 

will be limited only to those circumstances where continued exploration is being 

considered. 

199. Policy MW06 encompasses all forms of onshore oil and gas working through the 

deployment of conventional and / or more unconventional hydrocarbon 

techniques.  It incorporates a wide coverage of relevant planning matters that 

individual proposals are likely to face and will therefore need to be satisfactorily 

resolved.  This is in combination with meeting the generic policy requirements set 

out in the remainder of the plan. 

200. Unconventional hydrocarbons refer to oil and gas, which comes from sources 

such as shale or coal seams that also act as a reservoir.  The term 

unconventional relates to the technologies that are now available to obtain these 

resources, which were previously considered to be ‘locked’ into rock formations 

due to prevailing unsuitable and / or uneconomic conditions.  A key feature of 

unconventional working is the need for the prior stimulation of deposits before 

they can be obtained.  This can include the injection of high-pressure fluids 

known as hydraulic fracturing; the abstraction of underground water for pressure 

release; and gasification through the introduction of oxygen and water / steam.  

201. Hydraulic fracturing is associated with shale deposits that may contain shale oil 

and gas.  Whilst water abstraction and gasification is used with previously and / 

or unworked coal resources to obtain gas – most notably methane.  The generic 

name given to gas sourced from coal is Coal Bed Methane (CBM).  Coal Mine 

Methane (CMM) and Abandoned Mine Methane (AMM) exist where previous 

underground coal working has taken place. 

202. The amenity of local communities may be affected by the siting and layout of the 

surface operations associated with all types of oil and gas development.  Key 

issues likely to be scrutinised include the generation of noise, artificial light and 

visual intrusion from the installation of drill infrastructure and traffic generated by 

staff and materials moving to and from a drilling site.  For certain phases of oil & 

gas development there is the possibility that 24 hour operations may be 

requested for at least a period of time.  This could prove to be a significant factor 

Page 91



Page |56 
 

in determining the acceptability of any anticipated impacts and / or the likely 

success of mitigation measures designed to minimise their influence. 

203. Oil and gas developments will also need careful assessment with respect to their 

potential impact on the natural environment including any designated protected 

areas and other valued assets.  Demonstrating how unacceptable adverse 

impacts will be avoided or realistically be mitigated will be a very important 

planning matter to resolve. 

204. As a consequence of evolving drilling technology, which may involve 

unconventional techniques and the introduction of water / steam or fluids and / or 

the abstraction of existing ground water, particular attention should be given to 

potential risks to the local water environment.  Measures put forward to ensure 

both the quality and quantity of surface and ground water resources are not 

adversely affected will be rigorously scrutinised.  Furthermore, the risk to the 

natural environment more generally, from possible exposure of artesian waters to 

surface and unconfined ground water resources will also need to be addressed.  

205. In the event future oil & gas developments within Gloucestershire involve 

onshore hydraulic fracturing, safeguard requirements set out within the 

Infrastructure Act 201577 must be strictly adhered to.  These specifically include 

no hydraulic fracturing from within ‘protected groundwater source areas’ or ‘other 

protected areas’. 

206. Draft secondary legislation has been published, which has defined ‘protected 

groundwater source areas’ as Source Protection Zones (SPZ) 1 and ‘other 

protected areas’ as National Parks, the Broads, Areas of Outstanding Natural 

Beauty (AONBs) and World Heritage Sites78.  For Gloucestershire this could 

prove significant in the future if proposals are to be considered within the 

Cotswolds, Wye Valley and Malvern Hills AONBs and upon the county’s SPZ1 

locations (see also policy DM05).  

 

207. It is unclear as to whether the draft definitions to support the Infrastructure Act 

will change before the secondary legislation is enacted.  As a result any future oil 

& gas developments involving hydraulic fracturing will need to be in accordance 

with the provisions of the Infrastructure Act and the associated secondary 

legislation as it emerges. 

 
208. The scope for considering the relative merits of how Gloucestershire’s minerals 

are subsequently used is somewhat limited under the planning system.  

                                                 
77 Section 50 of the Infrastructure Act 2015 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/7/section/50/enacted  
78 The Onshore Hydraulic Fracturing (Protected Areas) Regulations 2015 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2015/9780111137932/pdfs/ukdsi_9780111137932_en.pdf  

Page 92

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/7/section/50/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2015/9780111137932/pdfs/ukdsi_9780111137932_en.pdf


Page |57 
 

However, the Infrastructure Act includes provision for the Government to request 

advice from the Committee on Climate Change on the likely impact, which 

combustion of, and fugitive emissions from, onshore petroleum will have.  In the 

event advice is published, it would not be unreasonable for the County Council 

as the MPA to take account of this when considering the acceptability of 

individual oil and gas developments that involve hydraulic fracturing.  

 

Ancillary minerals development  

Reasoned Justification 

 

209. Minerals extracted from the ground may need to undergo some form of 

processing before they can be put to use.  This may include washing, screening, 

crushing, cutting and bagging.  It could also involve some secondary processing 

such as the manufacturing of coated materials (e.g. asphalt); batching for mortar 

and concrete; and block, tile and brick-making, often this will include bringing 

some other different minerals to the site in order to manufacture the final product.  

Where this takes place within an existing mineral site it is termed ancillary 

minerals development. 

 

210. These types of development can often go ahead without the need for planning 

permission.  Many mineral processing activities benefit from permitted 

development rights79.  However, where this is not the case new proposals must 

be carefully assessed to ensure they are genuinely needed to support mineral 

working operations as will the acceptability alongside mineral working.  

 
211. Ancillary minerals development offers an opportunity to make best use of 

minerals, a principle that is supported by national policy80.  However, where 

permission is required this often results in fixed built structures and associated 

infrastructure that can bring a sense of permanency.  Furthermore, both 

individually and / or collectively they can generate an industrial feel and 

character, which would otherwise be incompatible within the undeveloped rural 

areas that accommodate most of Gloucestershire’s mineral sites.  Therefore in 

some locations such as AONBs the MPA can be justified in removing permitted 

development rights meaning all forms of ancillary minerals development will 

require planning permission. 

  

                                                 
79 Part 17 of the Town & Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 covers matters relating to mining and mineral 
exploration.  The entire order can be viewed on-line at: - http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/596/pdfs/uksi_20150596_en.pdf. 
80 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) section 13, paragraph 142 

Page 93

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/596/pdfs/uksi_20150596_en.pdf


Page |58 
 

Policy MW07 | Ancillary Development 

Ancillary developments within mineral sites will only be permitted, where it can 

be demonstrated: -  

 they will contribute towards achieving the best possible use of 

minerals sourced from within the boundary of the mineral site in 

which they are located; and / or 

 

 any importation of minerals sourced from elsewhere represents the 

most sustainable option available; and 

 

 all operations will be for a temporary period of time restricted to the 

life of the mineral site in which they are located and the removal of all 

built structures will occur as soon as is practicably possible once 

mineral working has ceased; and 

 

 the ability to satisfactory achieve previously approved or acceptable 

in principle plans for future site restoration that accord with policy 

MR01 will not be inhibited; and 

 

 they will positively contribute towards sustaining or growing the local 

economy; 

Linked to the delivery of plan objectives – RM and RA 

 

Interpretation and implementation 

 

212. The purpose of policy MW07 is to ensure that ancillary minerals development 

represents a necessary function where it is proposed to take place within the 

county’s mineral working sites.  It also aims to make sure that the evolving 

network of ancillary minerals developments will occur in a sustainable manner 

compared to other options and that the removal of individual facilities will occur 

once the principal activity of mineral working has ceased.  

213. All proposals for ancillary minerals development will need to demonstrate how 

they will function alongside, and be beneficial, to the wider mineral working 

activities of the site.  In doing so information will be required to show how mineral 

processing will support diversity of mineral supplies and / or will be able to 

achieve certain mineral product specifications.  Details of the arrangements 

Page 94



Page |59 
 

concerning the temporary nature of any built structures will also be required and 

these should incorporate a reasonable timetable for closure and dismantling, 

which will ensure previously approved or acceptable in principle mineral site 

restoration can be implemented. 

214. Where the importation of minerals from elsewhere is included within a proposal 

this will only be acceptable where it represents the most sustainable option.  A 

justification will be necessary to explain why the origin site(s) for imported 

minerals cannot carry out equivalent processing activities.  In addition, 

consideration will need to be given to the presence of any existing alternative 

processing facilities that may be sited on nearby mineral sites within the same 

resource area or elsewhere covering the same market area.  The reasons why 

these facilities are also not capable or suitable for accommodating planned 

importation of minerals should be provided.  

215. Furthermore, in assessing the sustainability of importing minerals for processing, 

a comparison of environmental and other impacts with alternative processing 

options will be relevant.  Additional influential matters may include: - efforts to 

minimise the amount of freight road miles travelled; increased opportunities to 

implement efficient haulage practices (e.g. backhauling); and sustaining or 

growing the local employment, particularly where traditional skills are to be 

employed.  Other factors may arise or vary in significance depending upon the 

minerals being processed.  These could involve the ability to meet certain 

mineral product specifications and / or to facilitate the creation of desirable 

blended products. 

216. Proposals for the development of new or extended mineral processing facilities 

that are located outside of a mineral site represent an industrial land use.  Their 

acceptability will need to be considered against the relevant non-minerals 

strategy and development management policies contained with the local 

Development Plan for the site concerned.  Gloucestershire’s local planning 

authorities (i.e. the six borough, city or district councils) will be responsible for 

making decisions on these types of development.  

Page 95



Page |60 
 

Section 9 | Areas for future aggregate working  
 

217. This section of the plan provides the policy framework for showing how additional 

provision for primary aggregates may be made.  It is chiefly concerned with 

identifying areas or sites with the potential for future aggregate working known as 

allocations.  However, it also considers the circumstances under which future 

aggregate provision could reasonably be supported from outside of allocated 

areas or sites. 

 

Allocations for future aggregate working 

 

Reasoned justification 

 

218. National policy advocates the use of three different forms of allocations for 

making provision for aggregates – Specific Sites, Preferred Areas, and Areas of 

Search81.  All three forms have been employed within the plan and are reflective 

of the different local circumstances that have influenced decisions to allocate 

land.  The allocations are based on the requirements set out in section 8 and are 

aimed at supporting steady and adequate supplies of primary aggregates 

throughout and at the end of plan period at 2032. 

219. Policy MA01 presents allocations with potential for future aggregate working in 

Gloucestershire.  It incorporates a total of 10 allocations – five for the future 

working of sand & gravel and five for crushed rock limestone.  Collectively, these 

allocations represent the most realistic and achievable solution for ensuring 

sufficient additional provision will be available throughout the duration of the plan.  

220. The allocations are founded upon a rigorous review of evidence and the careful 

consideration of the conclusions drawn from numerous technical assessments 

specifically commissioned to support the plan’s preparation.  

221. A number of the allocations originate from the designated ‘Preferred Areas’ 

previously included within Gloucestershire Minerals Local Plan (1997-2006) and 

are supported by a substantial evidence base that underwent scrutiny during the 

former plan’s preparation and adoption.  Much of this information remains 

relevant and has been incorporated in the plan.       

  

                                                 
81 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) section 13, paragraph 145, bullet points 3 

Page 96



Page |61 
 

Policy MA01 | Aggregate working within allocations 

 

The principle of mineral working for aggregates has been accepted within 

the following allocations: - 

 

 Allocation 01 : Preferred Area at Stowe Hill / Clearwell; 

 Allocation 02 : Preferred Area at Drybrook; 

 Allocation 03 : Preferred Area at Stowfield; 

 Allocation 04 : Preferred Area at Daglingworth; 

 Allocation 05 : Preferred Areas at Huntsman’s; 

 Allocation 06 : Specific Site at Manor Farm, Kempsford; 

 Allocation 07 : Preferred Area at Redpool’s Farm, Twyning; 

 Allocation 08 : Area of Search at Lady Lamb Farm, Fairford; 

 Allocation 09 : Areas of Search at Land between Kempsford & Whelford;  

 Allocation 10 : Areas of Search at Down Ampney and Charlham Farm; 

 

Minerals development proposals for the working of aggregates within 

allocations will be permitted, subject to satisfying the detailed development 

requirements set out in the plan for each allocation (see appendix 6) and 

where it can be demonstrated: - 

 

 existing permitted reserves are inadequate, or are likely to be so in 

the  near future to maintain minimum landbank levels in accordance 

with policy MW01; or 

 

 where minimum landbank levels are being sustained: -  

 

 constraints on the availability of existing permitted reserves and / 

or productive capacity are likely to limit output or restrict the 

range of available products over the plan period; or 

 

 increases in demand for aggregate are forecast with a reasonable 

degree of certainty to the extent that minimum landbank levels 

will not be able to be maintained throughout or at the end of the 

plan period. 

 

Linked to the delivery of plan objectives – RM and PS 

 

 

 

Page 97



Page |62 
 

Interpretation and implementation 

 

222. Allocating land for future aggregate working does not guarantee a planning 

permission will be granted when minerals development proposals are brought 

forward.  All cases will need to be carefully scrutinised and be able to 

demonstrate that relevant planning matters can be satisfactorily dealt with.  

223. Crucial to assessing the acceptability of submitted proposals is the detailed 

development requirements provided for each of the plan’s allocations (see 

Appendix 6).  These identify location-specific issues, which are likely to be 

significant and that will need to be appropriately dealt with.  The acceptability of 

proposals will be heavily influenced by the review of detailed development 

requirements.  However, meeting the general policy requirements contained 

elsewhere in the plan will be of equal importance.  

224. In addition, consideration will be given to the timely release of aggregates to 

allow future working from within allocated areas.  It is critically important this 

happens in a manner that supports the provision for steady and adequate 

supplies of aggregates throughout the duration of the plan.  The main policy 

indicator that is applicable is the maintenance of the relevant aggregate landbank 

to at least the minimum level as prescribed under policy MW01.  

225. Nevertheless, proposals may also be acceptable even where a sufficient 

landbank is already present at the time a decision is taken.  The demonstration 

that capacity constraints are likely to occur and that these would adversely affect 

the maintenance of steady and adequate supplies of local aggregates, is one 

such circumstance.  Particular attention in this instance would need to be given 

to the realistic prospect that the 10-year rolling average of annual aggregate 

sales would be achieved under prevailing capacity conditions.  

226. Another valid circumstance is the impact of any potential increase in demand for 

local aggregates on the maintenance of minimum landbank levels over the 

remainder of the plan period.  Increased demand may risk a more rapid depletion 

of affected landbanks and thus reduce the ability to maintain steady and 

adequate supplies.  Relevant evidence concerning this matter might include any 

alternative trend in demand as observed using the 3-year rolling average annual 

sales set out within the Gloucestershire LAA; and recent local housing 

permissions or other growth and new development data.  

Different forms of allocations for future aggregate working 

227. In line with national policy and planning practice guidance different forms of 

allocation have been employed under policy MA01.  Allocations that are 

Page 98



Page |63 
 

categorised as Specific Sites are most likely to be worked during the plan period.  

They should comprise of viable resources; a landowner(s) willing to allow future 

mineral working to take place; and have a reasonable prospect of being found 

acceptable in planning terms. 

228. The plan contains one Specific Site (MLP Allocation 06: Manor Farm, 

Kempsford).  This entire site is subject to a detailed planning proposal for sand & 

gravel aggregate working, which has already been scrutinised by the MPA.  At 

present a council resolution has been passed in support of a recommendation to 

conditionally approve the proposal subject to the satisfactory completion of a 

legal agreement82.  

229. Designating Preferred Areas represent a less certain option than Specific Sites.  

There are likely to contain minerals resources over closely defined areas and 

planning permission might reasonably be anticipated.  All the Preferred Areas 

have a reasonable prospect of coming forward at some stage during the plan 

period.  Six allocations have been identified as Preferred Areas in the plan.  In 

defining these allocations evidence was sought concerning: - the presence of 

workable mineral resources; operator interest; the views of landowners regarding 

future working; and the identification of potential planning issues, opportunities 

and constraints. 

230. Areas of Search are the least certain type of allocation, but proposals within them 

may prove to be acceptable.  There are three Areas of Search allocated in the 

plan.  Whilst there is some knowledge of mineral resources and some previous 

interest expressed by influential stakeholders, none of the allocations presently 

have the same level of industry interest as expressed with the designated 

Preferred Areas or Specific Site included in the plan. 

 

Future aggregate working outside of allocations 

 
Reasoned justification 
. 

231. Allocating land as a means of making provision of aggregates is the preference 

of national policy83.  Planning practice guidance also advises that the alternative 

– policies setting out of assessment conditions (i.e. the criteria-based approach) 

should be an exceptional circumstance84.  

                                                 
82 Planning Search Reference 13/0097/CWMAJM: -  Extension of sand and gravel extraction operations including the retention of all existing 
site administration, processing and access facilities, with restoration of the extension and existing site to agriculture and species rich 
grassland using imported inert materials to recreate the original land form at Manor Farm Quarry, Washpool Lane, Kempsford, 
Gloucestershire, GL7 4NJ 
83 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) section 13, paragraph 145, bullet points 3 
84 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) – minerals section, paragraph: 008, reference ID: 27-008-20140306 

Page 99



Page |64 
 

232. However, there are examples where mineral working outside of allocations may 

reasonably come forward and also be broadly acceptable.  This includes prior-

working of aggregate bearing land to avoid its needless sterilisation by other 

development, (see policy MS01); or relatively small-scale residual working of 

aggregates related to an existing permitted site. 

233. Furthermore, allowing for aggregate working outside of allocations provides a 

degree of flexibility to adapt to changing circumstances.  A function that is 

supported by national policy85.  Enabling aggregate working in this manner could 

reduce possible risks to sustaining steady and adequate aggregate supplies over 

the plan period, particularly where provision from within allocations cannot be 

satisfactorily secured. 

Policy MA02 | Aggregate working outside of allocations 

 

Minerals development proposals for aggregate working outside of allocations 

will be permitted only where it can be demonstrated: - 

 

 the plan’s allocations as set out in policy MA01 are not able to 

contribute towards maintain minimum landbank levels in accordance 

with policy MW01; and / or 

 

 constraints on the availability of existing permitted reserves and / or 

productive capacity are likely to limit output or restrict the range of 

available products over the plan period; and / or 

 

 they represent the residual working of an area of mineral resource that 

is permitted or planned to be worked and would otherwise be 

impractical to exploit in any other way; and / or 

 

 they will facilitate enhancements to previously approved plans for 

mineral restoration and the achievement of beneficial after-uses that will 

outweigh the desirability to restrict working from outside of allocated 

areas; and / or 

 

 they will facilitate the working of minerals prior to non-minerals 

development taking place in accordance with policy MS01. 

 

Linked to the delivery of plan objectives – RM and PS, RA 

 

                                                 
85 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) – paragraph 14, bullet point 2 

Page 100



Page |65 
 

Interpretation and implementation 

234. Policy MA02 establishes the circumstances under which aggregate working 

outside of allocations may prove to be acceptable.  Its main focus is on ensuring 

proposals will be beneficial, either in terms of supporting aggregate provision, the 

efficient and effective working of resources and / or maximising opportunities to 

achieve betterment through the restoration of mineral sites. 

235. Making provision for steady and adequate supplies of aggregates is a main 

objective of the plan.  However, circumstances may arise where remaining 

reserves and potential resources contained within the plan’s allocations are 

unable to support necessary provision requirements throughout the remainder 

and at the end of the plan period.  This may be a reasonable justification to allow 

aggregate working from outside of allocations.  

236. Any proposals reliant upon this circumstance will need to show how a 

contribution will be made to maintaining steady and adequate supplies of 

aggregates.  This may be in respect of demonstrating how the relevant landbank 

will be sustained at or above the minimum level; or prevented from worsening 

where it has already been breached.  

237. Alternatively, evidence that shows the 10-year rolling average of annual 

aggregate sales would not be achievable under prevailing capacity conditions, or 

that local sources of a particular aggregate product have significantly diminished 

or are due to shortly, will also be relevant.  

238. Aggregate working outside of allocations, which represents residual working, will 

need careful consideration.  Proposals will be assessed with regards to their 

size, scale and timeframe compared to the characteristics of the existing 

aggregate working site it relates to.  Ensuring that mineral working will not be 

excessively extended will be critical factor.  Furthermore, previously approved 

mineral site restoration must not be unduly inhibited.  Although, where revised 

mineral restoration is presented, this must be acceptable in principle and offer 

demonstrable benefits with regard to future land use opportunities. 

239. The prospect of the sterilisation of aggregates by non-minerals development may 

also act as a reasonable justification to allow mineral working outside of 

allocations.  It should be given some weight when assessing submitted feasibility 

studies in line with the requirements of policy MS01 (Non-minerals development 

within MSAs). 

 

 

Page 101



Page |66 
 

Detailed development requirements 

240. Detailed development requirements for all of the plan’s allocations are set out 

Appendix 6 of the plan.  

241. For each plan allocation a profile has been generated.  This includes a site map 

that incorporates key geographic information and other relevant minerals 

planning data such as the presence of existing permitted mineral workings, other 

future allocations contained in plan, and the proposed areas for mineral working 

contained within other adopted or emerging mineral plans for neighbouring 

areas.  The district and parish that contains each allocation, the aggregate 

mineral resource type, current predicted yields, and an estimated site area have 

also been provided. 

242. Site boundaries have been delineated for all of the allocations.  These represent 

the maximum extent for which a proposal would be considered against policy 

MA01.  Any proposal that extends beyond a site boundary would also need to be 

assessed against policy MA02.  

243. As previously stated, allocating land for future aggregate working does not 

guarantee a planning permission will be granted when minerals development 

proposals are brought forward.  However, the plan’s allocations do present a 

broad view upon suitability through location-specific issues, particularly when 

considered alongside other relevant remaining policies contained within the plan. 

244. For each allocation a number of location-specific issues have been identified.  To 

assist those involved with reviewing issues individually or collectively, a standard 

table format has been applied.  This sets out three items – general theme; detail 

of the specific issue / requirement; and link to the relevant policy and objective(s) 

of the plan.   

245. The information that comprises the location-specific issues was correct at the 

time the plan was being prepared.  Nevertheless, circumstances can change and 

unforeseen environmental and other complications and / or opportunities may 

present themselves.  It will be at the detailed planning application stage that the 

significance of any additional or changed matters will need to be very carefully 

investigated to determine how they should be taken into account. 

 

  

Page 102



Page |67 
 

Section 10 | Development Management  

Defining minerals development 

246. Minerals development consists of a range of processes and activities that vary 

depending upon the mineral resources being worked and the type of products 

being supplied.  However, commonly it is used to describe the working of 

minerals, which involves up to four phases –  

 Exploration to prove the existence, extent and economic viability;  

 Preparation of land to make minerals accessible; 

 The removal of minerals from the ground and processing to support the 

creation of a saleable product; and 

 The restoration of the sites once the working of minerals has ended and the 

maintenance of the site known as aftercare, for a period of time afterwards.  

247. In addition, the installation and operation of ancillary buildings and ‘added value’ 

plant for the purpose of manufacturing saleable mineral products and other 

supportive infrastructure (e.g. haul roads, on-site renewable energy generation 

etc…), which are demonstrably linked to the functions of mineral working fall 

under the same development type. 

248. All other development activities subject to the planning system are not 

considered to be minerals development and therefore not subject to 

determination by the Minerals Planning Authority (MPA).  In Gloucestershire, the 

City, Borough and District Councils in their capacity as Local Planning Authorities 

(LPAs) or the County Council in its capacity as the Waste Planning Authority 

(WPA) may be an appropriate, alternative local decision maker. 

249. Policies contained in Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire would only be 

relevant with non-minerals development in specific circumstances.  This may 

include where a risk of mineral sterilisation or hindrance to mineral operations is 

present (policies MS01 and MS02); or through the safeguarding of mineral 

infrastructure (policy MS03).  

Permitted development rights 

250. The Town & Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order (GPDO) 

2015 sets out a number of ‘permitted development rights’ that enable certain 

Page 103



Page |68 
 

operations and activities to take place without the need for planning permission86.  

For mineral developments, this covers the installation, expansion, alteration and 

repair of plant and machinery and other structures of a certain size and scale; 

tipping of mineral site wastes; and short-term, time-restricted drilling of 

boreholes, seismic surveying and related excavations.  

251. During the process of determining mineral development proposals, the MPA may 

seek to remove future permitted development rights from site operators.  This is 

achievable through the use of planning conditions.  It will usually only be 

considered where future permitted development could unbalance assessed 

impacts and / or prejudice any approved mitigation measures, thus risk causing 

adverse affects to create unacceptable harm. 

252. The GPDO 2015 also gives MPAs the opportunity to remove some permitted 

development rights outside of the consideration of a planning application.  This is 

known as an Article 4 Direction.  It may be relevant to parts of Gloucestershire, 

where a lack of restriction may unacceptable increase the risk of harm to 

sensitive locations such as the Cotswolds, Wye Valley and Malvern Hills AONBs 

or Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs).  The desirability or otherwise of 

proposing Article 4 Directions over the plan period will be kept under review and 

will be considered with regard to the scale and significance of future mineral 

development proposals within and / or close to sensitive locations. 

Preparing applications for mineral development  

253. Before any decision is taken to submit a planning application for minerals 

development, prospective applicants will need to review the Gloucestershire 

County Council’s Local Validation Checklist87.  This sets out the range of 

information needed in order to effectively assess planning proposals.  The 

checklist includes both compulsory ‘national’ standard requirements applicable to 

all applications and ‘local’ requirements that relate to particular circumstances 

covered by relevant local development plan policies that are in force across the 

county 

254. A vital part of the decision making process is the consideration of potential 

impacts arising from proposed minerals development.  As a result, applicants 

should complete necessary impact assessments, provide an analysis of their 

findings, and then report upon potential means of avoiding impacts or deliverable 

mitigation measures.  All relevant information should be provided alongside the 

                                                 
86 Part 17 of the Town & Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 covers matters relating to mining and mineral 
exploration.  The entire order can be viewed on-line at: - http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/596/pdfs/uksi_20150596_en.pdf. 
87 The most recent version of the Gloucestershire County Council Local Validation Checklist can be obtained online at: - 
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=22934&p=0  

Page 104

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/596/pdfs/uksi_20150596_en.pdf
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=22934&p=0


Page |69 
 

submission of a planning application.  Failure to do so may dramatically increase 

the risk of a proposal being refused planning permission. 

255. To support prospective applicants, Gloucestershire County Council operates a 

Pre-application Planning Advice Service88.  This seeks to offer advice on a range 

of matters such as the different types of document that may be needed to 

support any subsequent planning application; the scale and nature of any 

technical advice that might be needed from specialists; and to outline potential 

planning matters and issues that could arise with an emerging proposal.  The 

advice provided arises from council officers and is given in good faith and to the 

best of ability and experience, without prejudice to the formal consideration by 

the MPA of any future planning application.  The service operates under a 

standard charging regime, which is kept under review and revised from time to 

time89. 

256. Where significant effects upon a local area are anticipated, there is an 

expectation that prospective applicants will also engage with local communities 

prior to submitting a planning application.  This approach is supported by the 

Gloucestershire Statement of Community Involvement (Glos-SCI), which offers 

advice as to how best to undertake pre-application engagement and illustrate 

how findings would have been taken into account should any subsequent 

planning application be submitted90. 

Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) requirements 

257. Planning applications must be screened as part of the Environmental Impact 

Assessment (EIA) process to determine whether or not they require an 

Environmental Statement.  This is required by EU and UK law.  The screening 

and subsequent scoping processes help to identify whether a proposal is likely to 

have significant environmental effects, and if so, an Environmental Statement 

(ES) must accompany any submitted planning application. 

258. Proposals falling within Schedule 1 of the EIA Regulations must be accompanied 

by an ES.  Proposals under Schedule 2 may require an ES depending on 

individual circumstances usually relating to the type, scale and location of the 

development.  An ES should identify the likelihood of significant impacts 

occurring.  It should also show how these impacts can be avoided, mitigated and 

compensated for, and consider alternative ways the development might be 

                                                 
88 Details of the Gloucestershire County Council Pre-application Planning Advice Service can be obtained online at:-  
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/article/120269/Pre-application-planning-advice  
89 Fees for advice sought through Gloucestershire County Council Pre-application Advice Service came into force on 1st January 2016.  They 
are reviewable via relevant GCC guidance that can currently be obtained at: - 
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=65190&p=0 
90 The 1st Review Gloucestershire Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) (Adopted 2013) can be obtained online at: - 
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=56308&p=0  

Page 105

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/article/120269/Pre-application-planning-advice
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=65190&p=0
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=56308&p=0


Page |70 
 

carried out.  It should be noted that minerals working can often fall under 

Schedule 2 and sometimes Schedule 1 for larger scale development. 

Development management – considering applications for minerals development  

259. A key function of a local MPA is to effectively assess and determine planning 

applications for future minerals development.  This function is known as 

Development Management. 

260. All mineral developments within Gloucestershire that require planning permission 

must be determined in accordance with the policies contained within the Minerals 

Local Plan for Gloucestershire once it has been formally adopted unless material 

considerations indicate otherwise.  This is a core convention of the English 

planning system enshrined in planning law91.  

261. Consequently, the effective delivery of development management will be 

fundamental to realising the expectations of the plan, particularly in ensuring 

future proposals are contributing to the achievement of sustainable development 

– national government’s ambition for planning92.  The objectives that sit behind 

the Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire, which themselves are a local 

measure of sustainable development, should be given specific attention.  To 

assist with such assessments, all development management policies continue to 

use the specific link back to the requisite objectives of the plan. 

262. The consideration of the plan’s development management policies must be 

undertaken in conjunction with a review of other relevant thematic mineral 

polices contained elsewhere in the plan (see sections 6,7,8,9 and 11).  This is to 

ensure proper account has been given to all local policy matters affecting a 

particular proposal. 

263. The remainder of this section provides a full and comprehensive suite of 

development management policies relevant to future mineral development 

proposals within Gloucestershire.  It incorporates full policy details and local 

guidance to assist prospective applicants in their initial appraisal, preparation, 

design and subsequent submission of planning applications.  The supporting text 

for each policy covers both a reasoned justification for its inclusion in the plan 

and important information relating to implementation and interpretation. 

264. The order in which the policies have been presented is designed to aid those 

using the plan.  It is reflective of how often the matters contained within the 

                                                 
91 Established under Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Section (70(2) of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 
92 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) paragraphs 6-10 set out the terms under which the delivery of the planning system can 
demonstrably achieve sustainable development.  The focus is on ensuring the integrated delivery of its three dimensions – economic, social 
and environment through three consequential roles to be performed by the planning system. 

Page 106



Page |71 
 

policies have been assessed within planning application for minerals 

developments over the recent past.  The ordering of policies is not representative 

of their relative importance within the plan. 

 
Amenity 

Reasoned justification 

265. Minerals can only be worked where they occur, which could potentially lead to 

developments being located near to residential properties, business premises, 

and / or places that offer recreation and leisure activities.  

266. Amenity impacts can include noise; air pollution usually resulting from fumes and 

/ or dust; vibration; and visual intrusion, incorporating light pollution and privacy.  

The nature and scale of these impacts may vary in significance depending on the 

activities taking place at a site and the relationship to nearby land uses.  Other 

influences could include the type of mineral being worked; the nature of ancillary 

saleable products being produced; or phase of development (e.g. site 

preparation, working of minerals, implementing restoration etc.). 

267. Future mineral developments should seek to avoid creating adverse impacts 

wherever possible.  The health, quality of life and well being of local communities 

– including the economic prosperity enjoyed by existing local businesses, should 

be safeguarded where they could be put at risk.  If this is not achievable, all 

unavoidable adverse impacts must be effectively controlled so as not to breach 

acceptable levels. 

Policy DM01 | Amenity 

Minerals development proposals will be permitted only where it can be 

demonstrated that unacceptable adverse impacts on the amenity of local 

communities within Gloucestershire and those of neighbouring administrative 

areas by means of noise, air pollution, vibration and visual intrusion, can be 

avoided and / or satisfactorily mitigated. 

Linked to the delivery of plan objective – LC 

 

Interpretation and implementation 

268. For the purposes of the plan, residential occupiers and those users of other 

nearby land uses are described as Gloucestershire’s local communities.  A local 

Page 107



Page |72 
 

community could be quite small in number and homogeneous, representing a 

tight group of local residents.  It could however, incorporate a large and diverse 

group of residents, visitors, customers, business owners and employees loosely 

unified by their location and potential sensitivity to future minerals development.  

Nevertheless, the health and well-being, and quality of life enjoyed by all, is 

critical in assessing acceptable levels of amenity.    

269. Local mineral liaison groups that bring together mineral operators, local 

community representatives and the County Council as the MPA may prove to be 

a valuable tool in effectively managing relationships.  They provide an 

opportunity to discuss concerns about current and proposed minerals 

development and to arrive at potential workable solutions.  Mineral liaison groups 

have been set up at several working quarries in Gloucestershire and remain 

active in contributing to the ongoing management of existing mineral 

developments. 

270. In preparing planning applications for minerals development proposals, there is 

an expectation that applicants will investigate and identify potential amenity 

impacts.  They will also need to show how routine monitoring of any impacts 

highlighted will take place through an agreed monitoring programme, which must 

be submitted and be subjected to scrutiny before any decisions are made.  In 

support of this approach, the carrying out of a Health Impact Assessment (HIA) 

may be particularly useful where significant impacts might arise93. 

271. Detailed matters covering the different amenity impacts highlighted under policy 

DM01 are set out in the following paragraphs: - 

Noise 

272. Minerals developments may generate noise from a variety of different activities 

and operations.  These can include preparing the land for mineral working (e.g. 

soil stripping), the working of minerals, moving materials around the site, 

processing, as well as on and off site transport.  

273. The prevention of noise impacts from occurring at source should be the aim of all 

minerals developments.  However, where noise impacts are unavoidable, they 

should be appropriately mitigated so as to achieve acceptable levels.  In 

determining the use of noise limits, consideration will be given to the scale, 

duration, hours of operation, and type of activities proposed; and whether they 

are likely to be temporary or continuous.  All noise limits must be appropriate and 

proportionate.  Planning practice guidance sets out detailed requirements for 

considering noise impacts including the need to prepare a Noise Impact 

                                                 
93 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) health and well-being section, paragraph: 004, reference ID: 53-004-20140306 

Page 108



Page |73 
 

Assessment (NIA).  In particular this should provide sufficient detail from which 

an appropriate noise limit can be established through conditions94. 

Air pollution – fumes, odour and dust 

274. Mineral developments can impact upon local air quality, often through emissions 

caused by on-site operations (e.g. working of minerals and processing) and 

vehicle movements on and off-site.  They may involve chemical pollutants and 

dust and can sometimes generate unpleasant odours.  

275. In determining air quality impacts, consideration will be given to current air quality 

levels prior to development, whether new sources of air pollution are likely to be 

created and their influence on air quality, and the impact on air quality levels from 

changes in local traffic linked to minerals development both near to the site and / 

or further afield along defined freight routes.  Account will also be given to the 

scale, duration, hours of operation, and type of activities proposed; and whether 

they are likely to be temporary or continuous.  In addition, the ability to protect or 

enhance safeguards already afforded to environmental assets, particularly 

designated nature sites will be a contributing factor.  

276. In the case of dust-related emissions appropriate mitigation standards must be in 

place throughout the lifespan of the operation.  Technical advice on how dust 

emissions should be handled is provided within planning practice guidance95.  

277. Air quality in general across Gloucestershire is regarded to be within acceptable 

levels, although some local air quality issues exist, often attributable to road 

transport.  Exceeding acceptable levels of nitrogen dioxide and air particles has 

led to several local Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs)96 being declared 

across the county.  The effect on local AQMAs by minerals development will be 

an important consideration when determining air quality impacts.  This is an 

approach supported by planning practice guidance97. 

278. Mineral developments must not compromise efforts to positively contribute 

towards the achievement of national air quality objectives and the European 

directive and target values concerning the protection of human health98.  

                                                 
94 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) mineral section, paragraph: 019, reference ID: 27-019-20140306, paragraph: 020 reference ID: 27-020-
20140306, and paragraph: 021, reference ID: 27-021-20140306 
95

 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) assessing environmental impacts from mineral extraction section, paragraph: 023, reference ID: 27-019-

20140306 
96 DEFRA publishes data on declared Air Quality Monitoring Areas (AQMAs) across the country, including across Gloucestershire - http://uk-
air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/  
97 National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) air quality section, paragraph: 002 Reference ID: 32-002-20140306 
98 Details covering the UK’s and EU Air Quality Limits are reviewable via the DEFRA website at:-  http://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/air-pollution/uk-
eu-limits  

Page 109

http://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/
http://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/
http://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/air-pollution/uk-eu-limits
http://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/air-pollution/uk-eu-limits


Page |74 
 

Planning practice guidance provides details of the scope for assessing air quality 

impacts in general99.  

 

Vibration 

279. Vibration linked to blasting operations is a largely a concern of Gloucestershire’s 

hard rock mineral sites, where crushed rock aggregate is produced.  The effects 

associated with blasting can include ground vibration, air overpressure and 

projected rock particles.  The scale of Impacts is dependent on the type and 

quantity of explosives, degree of confinement, the distance to the nearby 

development, underlying geology and surrounding topography and atmospheric 

conditions. 

280. Where the risk of vibration impacts is present, avoidance of these impacts should 

be sought.  In the case of blasting, this may be achieved by adopting alternative 

working techniques100.  However, if it is practicably unavoidable, blasting 

operations should be carefully designed so that the number of blasts and 

quantity of explosives are kept to a minimum.  Specific limits and controls may be 

necessary to protect surrounding areas and nearby land uses that may be 

particularly sensitive to vibration. 

Visual Intrusion – visual impacts, light pollution and privacy 

Visual impact 

281. The scale and significance of visual impacts is normally defined through an 

assessment of publicly accessible viewpoints.  Of critical importance is the 

identification of nearby receptors (e.g. residential properties, places of work, 

visitor attractions etc.) and the degree of adversity that might present itself.  

Visual impact will be reviewed against relevant components of a minerals 

development such as the evolving nature of the site landform; the approach to 

screening, including management of any retained features; site layout; access 

arrangements; height and design of any built structures and machinery; and the 

planned programme of restoration.  The likely effectiveness of any proposed 

mitigation will be of the upmost significance.  All proposals should be 

                                                 
99 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) air quality section, paragraph: 007, reference ID: 32-007-20140306 
100 ‘Ripping’ is an established alternative to blasting.  It is a means of achieving the mechanical breakage of rock.  A common method includes 
the use of a bulldozer fitted with a tooth at the rear.  Where secondary fragmentation is deemed necessary, alternatives to blasting could 
involve the use of a steel drop ball or pneumatic / hydraulic impact breakers.  Minerals development proposals may be required to 
demonstrate why these types of alternative options are not possible as part of their justification for the need to carry out blasting. 

Page 110



Page |75 
 

accompanied by an appropriately detailed visual impact assessment, that is often 

incorporated within a wider study including a landscape strategy101. 

Light pollution 

282. Mineral developments can generate light pollution where operations take place 

early in morning, into the evening and / or at night.  Unacceptable levels of light 

pollution can adversely affect the quality of life and well being of local 

communities and the enjoyment of the natural environment.  There may also be 

potential impacts to biodiversity and in particular feeding bats.  As a result light 

impacts from artificial lighting must be controlled so as not to breach acceptable 

levels.  Particular attention will need to be given to the positioning, height, 

alignment, intensity and proposed period of use.  Planning practice guidance 

considers the effective assessment of light pollution and relevant factors for 

review through the planning system102. 

Privacy  

283. The siting of mineral developments in relation to neighbouring properties could 

result in the loss of privacy, usually through overlooking.  Loss of privacy will 

normally be measured against the amount of private space afforded to residential 

properties likely to be adversely affected.  The disruption caused to the 

enjoyment of habitable rooms within the main dwelling house and any immediate 

garden space will represent the starting point for defining private space that may 

be impacted103.  Nevertheless, assessments of this nature must be carried out on 

a case-by-case basis.  The entire curtilage of a dwelling house may not always 

be a reasonable and proportionate definition of private space for determining 

whether a loss of privacy will occur. 

 

 
  

                                                 
101 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) minerals extraction section, paragraph: 059, reference ID: 27-059-20140306 
102 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) light pollution section, paragraph: 001, reference ID: 31-001-20140306 
103 A habitable room is normally defined as being a bedroom; living room; kitchen; dining room; study / home office; and / or a child’s play-
space.  It is not usual to apply the same definition to a hallway; stairwell; passageway; or utility room.      

Page 111



Page |76 
 

Cumulative Impact 

Reasoned justification 

284. The cumulative effect from mineral developments can give rise to challenging 

impacts, which may prove to be unacceptable.  Cumulative impacts can result 

from multiple activities taking place on a single site and / or as a result of a 

combination of activities across several mineral development sites.  It may also 

arise from intensified development generally across a locality – even beyond the 

administrative area of Gloucestershire. 

 

 

Interpretation and implementation 

285. National Policy specifically identifies the potential for harm from the cumulative 

effects of minerals development.  It is expected that all potential cumulative 

effects are appropriately assessed to ensure any unacceptable adverse impacts 

on natural and historic environments and human health will not transpire104.  It 

also states that new development must not create severe cumulative impacts on 

the transport network105. 

286. All minerals development proposals will be expected to identify potential 

cumulative impacts and to show how these will be avoided or sufficiently 

mitigated to prevent unacceptable impacts from arising.  In respect of cumulative 

impacts related to intensified development across a locality, the parameters for 

this will need to be agreed on a case-by-case depending upon prevailing 

environmental conditions and geography, the scale of development proposed 

                                                 
104 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) section 13, paragraph 143, bullet point 6. 
105 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) section 4, paragraph 32, bullet point 3. 

Policy DM02 | Cumulative Impact 

Minerals development proposals will be permitted where it can be 

demonstrated unacceptable cumulative impacts will not be generated from: - 

 Within the mineral site for which a proposal is located; and / or  

 A number of minerals and non-mineral developments being 

concentrated in a locality. 

Linked to the delivery of plan objectives – LC, ENV and MM 

Page 112



Page |77 
 

and the nature of the individual matter of concern subject to a cumulative impact 

assessment.  

287. It may be justified to impose planning conditions to limit activities by way of 

operating hours or levels of production on monthly or annual basis in order to 

make proposals acceptable in planning terms.  Other specific policy 

requirements contained within the plan may also have a role in avoiding or 

minimising cumulative impacts.  An example of this is policy MR01 (Restoration, 

aftercare and facilitating beneficial after-uses), where phased working and 

progressive restoration techniques are preferred.  Under these circumstances 

the principle that underpins policy DM02 should be adhered to. 

288. Where cumulative impacts cannot be mitigated to an acceptable level, mineral 

development proposals must be able to demonstrate how the benefits of the 

development may outweigh any harm caused.  Although, even under these 

circumstances, mitigation measures should still be applied to reduce impacts as 

far as is practicably possible. 

 
  

Page 113



Page |78 
 

Transport 
 
Reasoned justification 

289. Mineral developments are heavily dependent on Gloucestershire’s highway 

networks, which provide access for staff and customers, and for hauling minerals 

to markets or for further processing.  The county’s mineral supplies are 

predominately local in nature and follow well established routes that are strongly 

aligned with the existing road infrastructure.  This presents very limited 

opportunities for more sustainable modes of transport such as rail, ports or other 

inland waterways to attract the necessary interest and much needed investment 

to act as a viable alternative.  Nevertheless, Gloucestershire still contains 

numerous rail links, navigable waterways and canals with potential that under the 

right circumstances could be used as an alternative to the movement of minerals 

by road.  

290. It is vitally important Gloucestershire’s roads are enabled to function in as an 

efficient and effective manner as possible.  The management of traffic is vitally 

important to this fundamental aim.  For new mineral development proposals, the 

generation of new or additional vehicle movements must not result in 

unacceptable adverse impacts on the county’s highway networks. 

291. Avoiding the creation or exacerbation of transport impacts through new 

development will always be the preferred approach and wherever possible efforts 

should be made to minimise the amount of road miles travelled.  Not only will this 

reduce the potential for adverse impacts to occur, but it will also contribute 

towards wider national transport policy ambitions – such as reducing the need for 

travel by significant road users106 and helping to curb greenhouse gas emissions 

from freight107. 

292. Mineral developments can also affect other transport infrastructure such as the 

Public Rights of Way (PRoW) network.  Wherever reasonable and practicable, 

this network should be retained and its safety, function and enjoyment preserved. 

 

 

 

 

                                                 
106 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) section 4, paragraph 34 
107 Government Freight Policy – https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/freight  

Page 114

https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/freight


Page |79 
 

Policy DM03 | Transport 

Alternatives to road transport 

Minerals development proposals will be permitted that use alternative modes 

of non-road transport. 

Highway Network 

Minerals development proposals will be permitted where it can be 

demonstrated: - 

 Unacceptable adverse impacts on road safety and the capacity and 

function of the strategic and local highway networks will be avoided; 

and / or 

 Satisfactory mitigation measures will be put in place to ensure 

unavoidable adverse impacts on road safety and the capacity and 

function of the strategic and local highway networks will not be severe. 

Public Rights of Way (ProW) Network  

Minerals development proposals will be permitted where it can be 

demonstrated: - 

 Public rights of way routes will be retained and unacceptable adverse 

impacts will be avoided or satisfactory mitigated; and / or 

 The temporary or permanent diversion of public rights of way routes are 

justified and changes will not cause unacceptable adverse impacts on 

the safety, integrity and enjoyment of affected routes; and / or 

 The formal closure of public right of way routes represents a very 

exceptional circumstance where replacement routes are no longer 

required and that unacceptable adverse impacts on the wider public 

rights of way network will be avoided. 

Minerals development proposals affecting National Trails will be permitted 

only where adverse impacts are avoided or satisfactory mitigated.  

Linked to the delivery of plan objectives – MM 

 

 

Page 115



Page |80 
 

Interpretation and implementation 

Transport Network  

293. Avoiding adverse impacts on Gloucestershire’s local and strategic highway 

networks is the preferred solution with new mineral developments.  Minimising 

the amount of vehicular movements linked to a proposal site could be a means of 

accomplishing this, which is also supported by national policy108.  Ideally using 

existing transport infrastructure that supports non-road modes of transport such 

as rail and inland waterways within and beyond the county, and port facilities for 

more strategic journeys, should occur wherever possible.  However, where any 

additional infrastructure is needed to enable and / or, which will support the 

viability of using non-road modes of transport this will need to be acceptable in 

planning terms in accordance with policy MW07. 

294. Non-road haulage of minerals is limited within the county due to the reasons 

discussed both in the spatial portrait and reasoned justification for the policy.  

Nevertheless, at the local level preference should still be given to on-site 

processing rather than exporting raw material to other facilities, using conveyor 

belts and pipelines, or constructing internal haul roads.  Although careful 

consideration must be given to other planning matters such as avoiding 

unacceptable amenity impacts. 

295. For new minerals development proposals that use the local and / or strategic 

highway network, the potential for adverse impacts arising must be carefully 

scrutinised.  National policy provides a clear threshold in this respect, focused on 

ensuring severe impacts on the highway network is prevented109.  Particular 

issues likely to be scrutinised include: - network capacity; maintenance, safety of 

road users, debris on the highway and related amenity impacts such as noise, 

dust, vehicular vibration, and air and water pollution.  These impacts may be of 

significance to a variety of sensitive receptors located along mineral haulage 

routes and not just those local communities that are close by to the proposal site.   

296. Attention should also be given to other related policies set out in the plan such as 

policies DM01 and DM05 concerned with amenity and water quality impacts 

respectively.  Policy DM02 may also require consideration where cumulative 

impacts are likely to be present. 

297. In addition, opportunities to reduce impacts on the highway networks resulting 

from staff / and or site visitors should be investigated, particularly where this may 

contribute to the delivery of other cycling and walking initiatives. 

                                                 
108 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) section 4, paragraph 35 
109 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) section 4, paragraph 32, bullet point 3 

Page 116



Page |81 
 

Highways-related requirements with minerals development proposals 

298. The Local Highway Authority (LHA) and / or Highways England (HE) – who are 

responsible for stretches of the strategic road network (SRN) within 

Gloucestershire, should be contacted by prospective applicants for minerals 

development, where highway networks could be affected.  This will help to 

establish as early as possible whether a Transport Assessment (TA) or Transport 

Statement (TS) is needed and what will be required as part of any subsequent 

highway assessment110.  

299. In the event potentially unacceptable adverse impacts are identified, information 

as to how these will be made acceptable will be critical.  Mitigation measures to 

this effect might include specific infrastructure improvements or financial 

contributions towards work to the highway network.  Physical schemes may 

incorporate junction improvements and management, road widening along 

stretches of the highway, increasing visibility around site access and / or the 

construction of new accesses or junctions. 

300. For proposals likely to affect existing freight movements and / or generate 

additional movements on the county’s roads, it is preferable that proposed freight 

routes consult the Gloucestershire Freight Gateway111. 

301. Route management plans that formally designate freight routes for mineral 

developments may also be sought, particularly where more sensitive sections of 

the highway could be exposed to minerals-related traffic such as HGVs or ELVs 

(Extra Long Vehicles).  Critical to any new designated route will be the ability to 

maintain highway safety, and avoid environmental damage and / or loss of 

amenity for local communities.  Sensitive receptors should be safeguarded to 

prevent unacceptable harm from occurring.  

302. Small and ordinarily unsuitable local roads should also be avoided wherever 

practicable.  The acceptability of local roads to accommodate minerals-related 

traffic will be judged on a case-by-case basis. 

PRoW network  

303. In the case of the PRoW network, minerals developments should seek to avoid 

adverse impacts from occurring.  Retaining accessibility and usability should be 

seen as the priority.  However, for health & safety and security reasons 

proportionate restrictions or diversions of a temporary or permanent nature may 

necessary.  

                                                 
110 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) transport assessments and statements section, paragraph: 013, reference ID: 42-013-20140306 offers 
advice to LPAs as to the sort of criteria that should apply in determining the need for a TA or TS. 
111 The Gloucestershire Freight Gateway System can be assessed at: - http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/freight-gateway  

Page 117

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/freight-gateway


Page |82 
 

304. Minerals development proposals affecting the PRoW network will need to 

establish the anticipated scale of any envisaged impacts upon individual 

designated routes.  All associated details (e.g. diversions) will need to be fully 

detailed and justified.  Local advice should be obtained as early as possible from 

the LHA in respect of this matter.  Where opportunities to enhance the network 

exist, which could involve the creation of additional links, this may be viewed as a 

relevant factor in determining the acceptably of proposals112. 

305. The presence of National Trails (NTs) should be seen as a potentially significant 

constraint upon new minerals development.  Unless a strong justification can be 

given, established NT routes must not be adversely affected including any 

diversions.113. 

 
Flood Risk  

Reasoned justification 

306. The threat of flooding is present across many parts of Gloucestershire.  

Significant recent flooding events have highlighted the need to be better 

prepared and for greater resilience114.  Over the coming decades the risk of 

flooding is set to rise caused by increasing demands upon land from growing 

populations and climate change.  Gloucestershire is expected to see greater 

fluctuations in weather patterns with wetter winters, periods of prolonged drought 

and more severe, extreme wet weather events at other times of the year115. 

307. Mineral developments could adversely affect flood risk, but may also have a 

positive impact and help to mitigate future flooding events.  Sand and gravel 

working is singled out specifically as a potential water-compatible land use within 

planning practice guidance116.  However, in general mineral developments will 

still require careful consideration to determine their impact upon flood risk 

particularly in areas vulnerable to flooding.  

                                                 
112 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) section 8, paragraph 75 
113 There are three designated national trails that run through parts of Gloucestershire – the Cotswold Way, Offa’s Dyke Pathway and Thames 
Path.  More details setting out the specific routes and other details can be found at: - http://www.nationaltrail.co.uk/ 
114 In 2007 and 2012 Gloucestershire was subject to significant levels of flooding.  The 2007 event in particular affected 5,000 residential 
properties, 500 non-residential premises and left 135,000 people without water for up to 2 weeks.     
115 Extracted from the summary conclusions of the Gloucestershire County Council Corporate Climate Change Strategy & Action Plan 
(2008/09 – 2011/12) – Responding to Climate Change.  This document can be viewed at: - 
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=30432&p=0 
116 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) flood risk and coastal change section, Flood Zone and Flood Risk Tables, Table 3: Flood risk vulnerability 
and flood zone ‘compatibility’. 

Page 118

http://www.nationaltrail.co.uk/
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=30432&p=0


Page |83 
 

Policy DM04  | Flood Risk 

 

Minerals development proposals classified as ‘Less Vulnerable’ and subject to 

the Sequential Test will be permitted in Flood Zones 1, 2, 3a where it can be 

demonstrated, if necessary, through an acceptable Site-Specific Flood Risk 

Assessment (FRA) that the risk of flooding from all potential sources will not 

increase. 

 

Minerals development proposals within Flood Zone 3b (the functional 

floodplain) will only be permitted where they have been subject to the 

Sequential Test, are classified as 'Water-Compatible' development, and can 

demonstrate through an acceptable FRA there will be: -  

 

 No net loss in floodplain storage capacity; 

 No impediment to water flows; and  

 No increase in flood risk elsewhere. 

 

Linked to the delivery of plan objectives – LC and ENV 

 

Interpretation and implementation 

308. Avoiding development, within areas of highest risk of flooding is a national 

planning objective.  It is delivered through the use of a sequential test that aims 

is to steering development towards areas with the lowest probability of flooding, 

taken account of a number of exceptions117.  

309. Nevertheless, the fact minerals can only be worked where they occur and future 

working could prove important in delivering other national policy objectives will 

need to be taken into account in judging the outcome of any sequential test.  

310. The Gloucestershire Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (Glos-SFRA) provides 

detailed guidance on the application of the sequential test at the local level118.  

This is a crucial planning document that is fundamental to implementing policy 

DM4. 

311. Surface Water Management Plans (SWMPs) have been prepared for parts of the 

county119.  These provide enhanced information to that contained within the 

                                                 
117 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) section 10, paragraph 100. 
118 The Gloucestershire Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (Glos-SFRA) Level 1 (specifically for minerals & waste) can be obtained at: - 
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=28388&p=0 
119 A total of 6 location-specific Surface Water Management Plans (SWMPs) have been completed and published by GCC in its capacity as the 
Lead Local Flood Risk Authority (LLFRA).  The areas covered by a SWMP include: - Cheltenham, Tewkesbury, Bishops Cleeve, Southam & 
Woodmancote, Gloucester, and Churchdown & Innsworth.  Gloucestershire’s SWMPs can be obtained at: - 
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/swmp  

Page 119

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=28388&p=0
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/swmp


Page |84 
 

Glos-SFRA and cover the risk of surface water flooding.  An updated Flood Map 

for Surface Water (uFMfSW) has also been collated and published by the 

Environment Agency (EA)120.  Information of this nature will be taken into 

account alongside the Glos-SFRA, where relevant when assessing the flood risk 

of individual proposals. 

312. All mineral developments must show how they will not increase flood risk at their 

immediate location, elsewhere and also in the future.  The design of any built 

structures, the carrying out of operations linked to the working of minerals, and 

site restoration, must seek to follow this overarching objective.  Ensuring that at 

least existing flood capacities are maintained and that the effective and 

appropriate management of surface water run-off will take place represents the 

minimum acceptable solution.  New mineral developments may need to 

incorporate a sustainable drainage system often referred to as SuDS121.   

313. Where development could lead to a reduction in flood risk, this matter should not 

be overlooked.  The practice of sequential working of minerals and effective site 

restoration has the potential to deliver additional flood storage and attenuation 

over the short and / or long term.  Evidence of this nature will be considered as 

part of the overall planning balance. 

314. The MPA will look to the advice of the EA and the County Council through its 

Lead Local Flood Risk Authority (LLFRA) responsibilities for Gloucestershire, 

when assessing the significance of flood risk with minerals development.  

National guidance has been produced setting out standard consultation practice 

in respect of this matter122.  However, this guidance does not preclude seeking 

advice from the EA and / or LLFRA on a case-by-case basis. 

 

Flood risk-related requirements with minerals development proposals 

315. All minerals development proposals will need to consider their impact upon flood 

risk.  For those proposals that fall within allocated areas contained within the 

plan, requirements are set out within section 9 of the plan under the detailed 

development requirements.  Where proposals fall outside of allocated areas a 

sequential test will be needed as a minimum.  Under certain circumstances a 

site-specific flood risk assessment (FRA) may also be required in order to 

demonstrate how flood risk will not increase. 

                                                 
120Information about the updated Flood Map for Surface Water (uFMfSW) (2013) can be obtained at: -   
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/297432/LIT_8988_0bf634.pdf 
121 SuDS are an acronym of Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems.  However, development of flood strategy and policy over the recent years 
has expanded the practice of apply a SuDS approach.  As a result the reference to ‘urban’ has been largely dropped from general use. 
122 Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs and Environment Agency, Guidance: Flood risk assessment: local planning authorities, 
(1st published Apr 2015) – https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-assessment-local-planning-authorities  

Page 120

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/297432/LIT_8988_0bf634.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-assessment-local-planning-authorities


Page |85 
 

316. Technical guidance on how best to assess flood risk with planning proposals has 

been produced jointly by DEFRA and the EA123.  This sets out the requirements 

for carrying out an FRA.  Thresholds for FRA submissions are specified within 

national policy124.  A detailed checklist of minimum FRA requirements has also 

been included within planning practice guidance125. 

 
Water Environment 

Reasoned justification 

317. Gloucestershire’s water resources are widespread and often inter-connected.  

They cover over 5,000km of surface watercourses and a number of sizeable 

groundwater aquifers. 

318. Several main rivers run through the county – the Severn, Wye, Avon and 

Thames as do a number of ordinary watercourses.  Gloucestershire sites within 

two nationally recognised river basin areas – the Severn and the Thames126.  

Natural habitats and wildlife areas, including some of national and international 

importance, are also hugely reliant upon the quality and reliable quantity of 

Gloucestershire’s watercourses.  

319. Large areas of Gloucestershire sit above designated Principal and Secondary 

Aquifers that contribute to drinking water supplies127.  These areas are 

predominately, but not exclusively found in the south-west of the county, and 

also contain a number of designated Groundwater Source Protection Zones 

(SPZs) that highlight sources of public drinking water.  The key focus of SPZs is 

to reduce contamination risk from surrounding activities128.  

320. In addition, several statutorily and non-statutory Drinking Water Safeguarding 

Zones (DW-SZs) also exist within Gloucestershire.  The EA and water 

companies target these zones when combating contamination risks and seeking 

to avoid costly additional treatment and water management infrastructure.  

                                                 
123 Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs and Environment Agency, National Guidance: Flood risk assessment for planning 
applications, (Updated Oct 2015) – https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-assessment-for-planning-applications  
124 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) section 10, paragraph 103, footnote 20. 
125 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) flood risk and coastal change section,  paragraph: 030, reference ID: 7-030-20140306 and paragraph: 
031 Reference ID: 7-031-20140306 
126 England & Wales River Basin Map (Oct 2015) which has been published by EA can be viewed at : - 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/river-basin-district-map  
127 As of April 2010 aquifer designations in the England was re-classified into Principal and Secondary, with further sub-divisions of the 
Secondary type.  This change was to ensure greater consistency with the European Water Framework Directive.  Designation is determined 
by virtue of the importance of the aquifer as a resource for drinking water supplies, supporting surface water flows and wetland ecosystems.  
128 Detailed groundwater mapping information (Aquifers and Source Protection Zones)  for England, including Gloucestershire, can be viewed  
via the Environment Agency’s ‘What’s In Your Backyard’ web-resource at: - http://apps.environment-agency.gov.uk/wiyby/117020.aspx 

Page 121

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-assessment-for-planning-applications
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/river-basin-district-map
http://apps.environment-agency.gov.uk/wiyby/117020.aspx


Page |86 
 

321. Minerals developments have the potential to generate water resource 

management issues.  Mineral working and / or the removal and storage of 

overburden and soils, and de-watering operations can influence groundwater 

recharge and depletion rates as well as the dynamic of surface water flows.  

Often significant volumes of water are required in washing minerals and other 

processing.  The use of industrial machinery and vehicles may also generate 

potential pollution risks that may affect surface and groundwater resources.  

Processes for waste water resulting from de-watering processes (such as silt 

lagoons) can also be a consideration. 

 

Policy DM05  | Water Environment 

Minerals development proposals will be permitted where it can be 

demonstrated that adverse impacts on the quality and quantity of water 

resources can be avoided and / or satisfactorily mitigated. 

Linked to the delivery of plan objectives – LC and ENV 

 

Interpretation and implementation 

322. Minerals development proposals must demonstrate how the quality and quantity 

of water resources will not be adversely affected.  Potential adverse impacts 

must be avoided wherever possible or effectively mitigated both on-site and 

within the surrounding area.  This is a position supported by national policy, 

which states unacceptable impacts on the flow and quality of both surface and 

groundwater should not occur129 and that unacceptable risks of contamination 

must be avoided130.  The preparation of a hydrogeological assessment offers an 

opportunity to identify important sensitive water-related receptors with minerals 

developments and to consider effective means of avoiding impacts and / or 

appropriate mitigation measures. 

323. In addition, planning practice guidance advises on the potential contribution that 

may be achievable to a ‘catchment-based approach’ to water through the 

implementation of local planning policy131.  A ‘catchment’ is a geographic area 

defined naturally by surface water hydrology.  Although, it usually means 

management areas that the EA applies for determining the availability of water 

for abstraction.  The catchment-based approach is also promoted by EA as it 

                                                 
129 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) section 13, paragraph 143, bullet point 6; 
130 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) section 11, paragraph 109; 
131 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) Water supply, wastewater and water quality section,  paragraph 002, reference ID: 34-002-20140306 

Page 122



Page |87 
 

aids the carrying out of its more strategic duties such as delivering the EU Water 

Framework Directive (WFD).    

324. The WFD requires there to be at least no deterioration in the status of all water 

bodies, and this obligation will be highly significant in assessing water resource 

impacts at the local level132.  The EA are principally responsible for managing the 

delivery of the WFD in England and are the main consultee in respect of this 

matter.  River Basin Management Plans (RBMPs), which are heavily reliant upon 

catchment information, have been prepared by the EA and these will act as the 

baseline from which recommendations are made to the MPA133. 

325. Where water quality improvements in line with the WFD are a potential outcome 

of a minerals development proposal, this may be given due consideration based 

on the scale and significance of any likely change, balanced against other 

competing planning interests.  Efforts to use water in a responsible and efficient 

manner including the implementation of water recycling regimes may also be 

taken into account.  

 
Biodiversity and Geo-diversity 

Reasoned justification 

326. Gloucestershire is renowned for its rich and diverse natural environment made 

up of individual species, habitats, ecosystems, geological landforms and 

features.  These assets are afforded special attention and often have protection 

at an international, national and local level. 

327. A total of 11 ‘European Sites’ designated as either Special Areas for 

Conservation (SACs) or Special Protection Areas (SPAs) fall within the county 

and / or lie within it’s sphere of influence (e.g. no more than 15km away).  Two of 

these sites are also designated as RAMSAR sites – wetlands of international 

importance, which from a UK Government viewpoint are treated in the same 

manner as European Sites134 are under the Conservation of Habitats and 

Species Regulations 2010 (as amended).  

328. Gloucestershire’s international and national nature conservation designations are 

protected by European and / or UK law.  Where European Sites are concerned, 

and from a planning perspective, legal requirements go beyond the consideration 

of individual development proposals.  All emerging plans and strategies must be 

                                                 
132 The Water Environment (Water Framework Directive) (England and Wales) Regulations 2003 – 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2003/3242/contents/made  
133All RBMPs (and subsequent updates) that have been prepared by the EA are accessible on-line at: -  
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/river-basin-management-plans 
134 As set out within National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) section 11, paragraph 118, bullet point 6 and DEFRA Circular 01/2005 

Page 123

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2003/3242/contents/made
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/river-basin-management-plans


Page |88 
 

confident that their proposed actions, if adopted, will not have a likely significant 

effect upon any European Site and if necessary be able to demonstrate that they 

will not adversely affect the integrity of such sites. 

329. Gloucestershire’s national nature conservation designations include about 100 

Sites of Scientific Interest (SSSIs), notified for their biological and / or geological 

interest, and four National Nature Reserves (NNRs) – important habitats that 

contain valuable species and geology and have research potential.  SSSIs are 

protected by the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) as are 

numerous plants, birds and other species that are resident to Gloucestershire.  

Some species which are particularly threatened or declining are afforded 

additional ‘European Protected Species’ status under the Conservation of 

Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended).  

330. In terms of local sites there are well over 800 Key Wildlife Sites (KWS) which 

support a diverse range of habitats with valuable linkages that allow wildlife to 

move across the county.  There are also around 200 Regionally Important 

Geological Sites (RIGS) and these are the most important places for geology and 

geomorphology conservation outside of Gloucestershire’s SSSIs.  

331. Beyond the established designation regime for sites of nature conservation 

interest, the Gloucestershire Nature Map also provides a vehicle for the 

identification and planned enhancement of the county’s wider ecological 

network135.  The Nature Map network produced by the Gloucestershire Nature 

Partnership includes main river systems but mainly consists of locally defined 

landscape units called Strategic Nature Areas (SNAs).  These are useful for 

spatial targeting of nature conservation action and are not formal designations.  

The SNAs have been arranged into six county priority landscape groupings 

which have assisted in the identification and formation of several Gloucestershire 

Nature Improvement Areas (NIAs).  The local NIAs represent areas that have 

active partnerships present that are restoring nature through joint co-ordinated 

action.  

332. All parts of the county that fall outside of a nature conservation designation or a 

wider area identified through the Gloucestershire Nature Map, may still contain 

biodiversity value worthy of conserving or enhancing.  The provisions of the 

Natural Environment and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006 places a duty on 

all public authorities to consider the purposes of conserving biodiversity whilst 

carrying out their functions and so is relevant to the Minerals Local Plan.  This 

duty is in additional to complying with legislative requirements related to 

                                                 
135 Gloucestershire Nature Map forms part of wider nature conservation online resource known as ‘Gloucestershire’s Natural Environment’.  
It can viewed online at: -  http://www.gloucestershirenature.org.uk/index.php  

Page 124

http://www.gloucestershirenature.org.uk/index.php


Page |89 
 

biodiversity but also to conserving priority habitats and species on the English 

List (Section 41, NERC Act). 

333. All future development proposals, including those related to minerals, pose a 

potential threat to the habitats, wildlife, wider ecosystems and geological features 

and occurrences, which collectively make up Gloucestershire’s natural 

environment.  The fundamental action of removing materials and reshaping 

landforms will physically eradicate and / or irreversibly alter the conditions for 

biodiversity and geo-diversity.  Operational impacts such as light, noise, dust, air 

and water pollution may also have similar significant impacts particularly where 

more sensitive and less resilient habitats, species and geological features are 

present. 

334. However, mineral development also presents tangible opportunities to secure 

enhancements to Gloucestershire natural environment.  Although this is possible 

throughout a development site’s life cycle it is particularly relevant to the latter 

stages where consideration is given to the final or sequential restoration of 

mineral sites.  Policy MR01 covering mineral site restoration predominantly 

addresses this matter. 

 

Policy DM06  | Biodiversity and Geo-diversity 

Designated sites and protected species 

Alone or in combination mineral development proposals which are likely to 

have a significant effect on any European or Internationally Important Site 

designated as a Special Area of Conservation (SAC), Special Protection Area 

(SPA) or RAMSAR site will only be permitted, where they have been subject to 

an Appropriate Assessment, which has determined there will be no adverse 

affect upon the integrity of such designated sites. 

Mineral development proposals will only be permitted within designated Sites 

of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) and National Nature Reserves (NNR) and in 

localities that could have an impact upon such designations, where it can be 

demonstrated: -  

 There will be no conflict with the conservation, management and 

enhancement of a designation; 

 

 That any potentially harmful aspects of mineral development can be 

satisfactorily mitigated; and 

  

 There would be no broader adverse impact on the national network of 

Page 125



Page |90 
 

SSSIs; or where the benefits of mineral development clearly outweigh 

the potential adverse impacts upon the key features of any designation. 

 
Minerals development proposals on local sites that include Local Nature 

Reserves (LNR), Gloucestershire Key Wildlife Sites (KWS) and Regionally 

Important Geological Sites (RIGS) and in localities that could have an impact 

upon such designations will be permitted where it can be demonstrated: - 

 Adverse impacts can be avoided and /or satisfactorily mitigated; or  

 Where the benefits of minerals development clearly outweigh the 

potential adverse impacts upon the key features of any designation. 

Mineral development proposals that could adversely affect legally protected 

European Protected Species (EPS) or Nationally Protected Species will only be 

permitted where it can be demonstrated that suitable safeguarding measures 

will be provided. 

Biodiversity and geo-diversity outside of designated areas  

Minerals development proposals will normally only be permitted where it can 

be demonstrated that biodiversity and/or geo-diversity can be conserved or 

enhanced with potential adverse impacts on natural environment assets 

avoided or satisfactorily mitigated in line with Gloucestershire Local Nature 

Partnership objectives.  

Linked to the delivery of plan objectives – LC and ENV 

 
Interpretation and implementation 

335. National policy requires balanced judgements to be made concerning the 

conservation and enhancement of the natural environment.  These should be 

based upon a proportionate analysis of the status given to designated sites, aged 

or veteran trees136, irreplaceable habitats including ancient woodland, locally 

recognised Nature Improvement Areas137 (NIAs) and geological conservation 

interests.  Specific reference is also made of the need to minimise impacts on 

biodiversity by avoiding significant harm, providing adequate mitigation which 

includes as a last resort compensation for where no alternative with less harmful 

impacts is available.  

                                                 
136 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) section 11, paragraph 118. 
137 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) paragraph 117 and Gloucestershire LNP website at 
http://gloucestershirenature.org.uk/delivery/index.php  

Page 126

http://gloucestershirenature.org.uk/delivery/index.php


Page |91 
 

336. To supplement the protection regime, national policy also seeks appropriate local 

provision to support established commitments and linked targets, utilising 

existing nature conservation initiatives, to achieve overall net gains in 

biodiversity.  These may be implementable at a landscape-scale and include 

measures to preserve, restore and / or recreate priority habitats and ecological 

networks and aid the recovery of priority species138.  In Gloucestershire the 

consideration of these matters in deriving minerals policy and site allocations has 

been well facilitated by reference to the Local Nature Partnership’s plan139 which 

includes Nature Map and its component Strategic Nature Areas.  

337. Minerals development proposals will be expected to demonstrate how impacts 

upon biodiversity and geo-diversity have been carefully considered.  In doing so, 

it will be important to have taken into account the nature conservation hierarchy 

present across the county in arriving at any recommendations and conclusions.  

Furthermore, vital to any assessment will be the provision of sufficient and 

proportionately detailed technical information where a Habitats Regulations 

Assessment (HRA) is required to consider impacts on European Sites.  

338. In addition, where a net increase in beneficial biodiversity and, or where 

enhanced protection and access to geological conservation interests might be 

achievable, particular significance will be given to minerals development if it can 

show that these positively contribute towards the objectives set out by the 

Gloucestershire Local Nature Partnership for Strategic Nature Areas (SNAs), 

Nature Improvement Areas or for green infrastructure provision140. 

 
  

                                                 
138 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) section 11, paragraph 109, 113, 114, 117, 165 & 180. 
139 Gloucestershire LNP website at http://gloucestershirenature.org.uk/actionplan/index.php  
140 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) section 11, paragraph 114 

Page 127

http://gloucestershirenature.org.uk/actionplan/index.php


Page |92 
 

Soils 

Reasoned justification 

339. Gloucestershire is a rural county that makes a small, but not less important 

contribution to the UK’s agricultural economy.  Its valuable finite soil resources 

must therefore be carefully managed and appropriately protected so as to 

sustain their use for future generations.  

340. The county contains land that bares the highest quality grades of productive soils 

(i.e. grades 1, 2, 3a), known as the Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land 

(BMVAL) 141.  These are an important resources considered to be of national 

significance. 

341. Mineral developments can pose a risk to the quality and quantity of soils.  The 

physical removal of soils (i.e. stripping) is necessary to allow access to 

underlying minerals, but this also risks severely damaging soil resources if not 

properly handled and stored.  

342. There are also potential contamination and degradation risks to soils through the 

use of heavy machinery and related transport activities, which could spread to 

surrounding undisturbed soils.  It is important therefore that issues regarding the 

maintenance and monitoring of soil resources is appropriately and 

proportionately taken into account. 

Policy DM07  | Soils 

Mineral development proposals will be permitted where it can be 

demonstrated: -  

 unacceptable adverse impacts on the quality of soil resources as 

defined through Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land (BMVAL) 

grades can be avoided and / or satisfactorily mitigated; or 

 The benefits of minerals development clearly outweigh the potential 

adverse impacts on the quality of soil resources  

Linked to the delivery of plan objectives – LC and ENV 

 

 

                                                 
141 Natural England, through its ‘Access to Evidence’ web resource has published sub-national scale (1:250 000) agricultural land classification 
(ALC) maps including for the South West of England.  This shows the coverage of different grades of agricultural land from 1-5 - 
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/144017?category=5954148537204736.   

Page 128

http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/144017?category=5954148537204736


Page |93 
 

Interpretation and implementation 

343. As set out within national policy, developments including for minerals should 

seek to protect soil resources142.  In doing so higher quality soils as defined by 

BMVAL grades should be avoided wherever possible and preference given to the 

development of land containing poorer quality soils143.However, if this is not 

practicably achievable, reasonable and proportionate efforts must be made to 

ensure the integrity of existing soil quality and any potential degradation is kept 

to a minimum.  

344. A key measure for assessing mineral developments will be the ability to revert 

disturbed soils back to their most productive use without undermining other 

measures to safeguard amenity and public health particularly where dust 

generation may be prevalent.  

345. In all instances, a balance will need to be reached between attaining a certain 

level of protection for soil resources and  the need for minerals and subsequent 

ability to restore worked out mineral sites to facilitate the achievement of 

beneficial after-uses144.    

346. Mineral development proposals will need to consider their possible impact on soil 

resources both underlying and nearby.  Establishing the quality grade of soils 

should form part of this exercise.  Where disturbance of soil may occur, details of 

the effective storage of sub soils and top soils will be necessary.  Specific 

matters that will need to be addressed include: - soil stripping; the timely and 

minimal handling of soils; the avoidance of compaction under storage; and the 

movement of soils under dry conditions.  

347. The significance of soil impact assessments will be determined against their 

accordance with the most up-to-date good practice advice.  This is presently set 

out within the ‘Good Practice Guide for Handling Soils’ and ‘Guidance for 

Successful Reclamation of Mineral and Waste sites’ published by the 

Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA)145.  

  

                                                 
142 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) section 11, paragraph 109, bullet point 1 
143 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) Brownfield land, soils and agricultural land section, paragraph: 026 Reference ID: 8-026-20140306 
144 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) section 11, paragraph 112 
145 DEFRA’s Good Practice Guide for Handling Soils is obtainable online at: - 
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20090306103114/http:/www.defra.gov.uk/farm/environment/land-use/soilguid/index.htm.  
Guidance for Successful Reclamation of Mineral and Waste sites is also obtainable online at: -
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20090330220529/http:/www.defra.gov.uk/farm/environment/land-use/reclamation/index.htm  

Page 129

http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20090306103114/http:/www.defra.gov.uk/farm/environment/land-use/soilguid/index.htm
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20090330220529/http:/www.defra.gov.uk/farm/environment/land-use/reclamation/index.htm


Page |94 
 

Historic Environment 

Reasoned justification 

348. Gloucestershire contains heritage assets of international, national and local 

significance.  The county has over 500 scheduled monuments, nearly 15,000 

listed buildings and structures of various grades, several hundred conservation 

areas, and over 30,000 other notable archaeological sites documented on the 

Gloucestershire Historic Environment Record (G-HER)146.  

349. The historic environment makes an invaluable contribution towards defining 

‘Gloucestershire’ and establishing the individuality and / or connectedness of 

local places within it.  Heritage assets and their setting, along with archaeological 

remains are important, irreplaceable features that help in our understanding of 

the past, and to make better sense and enjoyment of the present.  

350. The working of minerals can be an intensive activity with major implications for 

the historic environment.  Its extractive nature often over a large land-take can 

leave few options to avoid impacts, particularly when considering the quality and 

quantity of resource as a whole.  Key risks associated with working may include 

the direct loss of assets or their partial damage, and / or degradation of quality 

caused by vehicular and machinery emissions or other disruptive activities. 

351. National policy is clear that heritage assets should be conserved, but in a 

manner that is appropriate to their significance147.  It also provides a definition of 

‘significance’ from a heritage perspective – a measure of value attributed to 

assets based upon their archaeological, architectural, artistic and / or historic 

interest both in physical form and also by way of their setting148.  Practice 

guidance offers further details on delivering conservation through a flexible 

approach to facilitating the maintenance of assets and their effective 

management in the presence of change149.  

352. Legislation specifically concerning the protection of designated heritage assets is 

also in place.  Of relevance to Gloucestershire and the plan, are the legal 

protections afforded to listed buildings and conservation areas and scheduled 

monuments150. 

                                                 
146 Gloucestershire’s Historic Environment Record (G-HER) can be viewed online at: - http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/her  
147 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) section 12, paragraph 126. 
148 National Planning Policy Framework(NPPF) Annex 2: Glossary, definition of  ‘significance’ (for heritage policy) 
149 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) conserving and enhancing the historic environment section,  paragraph: 003, reference ID: 18a-003-
20140306 
150 The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and Ancient Monuments & Archaeological Areas Act 1979. 

Page 130

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/her


Page |95 
 

Policy DM08  | Historic Environment 

Designated and non-designated heritage assets 

Minerals development proposals will be permitted where it is demonstrated 

that any potential harm to the significance of heritage assets will be avoided 

and / or satisfactorily mitigated. 

Where harm to the significance of heritage assets cannot be fully mitigated, 

minerals development proposals will only be permitted where it can be 

demonstrated all reasonable efforts will be taken to reduce harm to a level 

where it will no longer outweigh the benefits of the proposed mineral 

development.    

Scheduled Monuments and other non-designated assets of archaeological 

interest of equivalent importance 

Minerals development proposals will be permitted, where it is demonstrated 

that scheduled monuments and other non-designated archaeological assets of 

equivalent importance will be preserved in situ.  

Where it is not justifiable or practicable for scheduled monuments and other 

non-designated archaeological assets of equivalent importance to be 

preserved in situ, proposals for mineral development will only be permitted, 

where necessary provision is made, following a suitable assessment and 

evaluation, for the excavation, recording, archive deposition, and publication 

of findings. 

Linked to the delivery of plan objectives – ENV and LC 

 

Interpretation and implementation 

353. In practice, designated and non-designated heritage assets require balanced 

judgements to be made regarding the potential scale of loss or harm caused by 

development including for minerals, measured against their significance.  For this 

reason, it is vitally important that, adequate and proportionate information is 

available to fully understand the significance of potentially affected heritage 

assets (including undesignated assets).   

354. However, in recognition that certain archaeological assets may not be identifiable 

or fully appreciated early on in the decision making process, it may be 

reasonable for a phased approach to be adopted for assessing significance and 

determining the subsequent treatment of assets, which involves initial desk-

Page 131



Page |96 
 

based assessment and / or field evaluations.  A clear national framework for 

assessing the significance of heritage assets is provided by national policy, 

which sets out specific requirements of prospective applicants and expectations 

for determining planning authorities151.  There is a necessity for the G-HER to be 

consulted and technical expertise should also be employed, where necessary. 

355. In terms of implementing balanced judgements, the established approach is that 

the more important the heritage asset, the greater the weight that should be 

afforded to its conservation through protecting it and / or its setting from harm or 

loss.  Heritage assets of the highest significance should only be subject to 

substantial harm or loss as a result of development under wholly exceptional 

circumstances.  National policy identifies the designation types that fall into the 

category of highest significance152.  It also states that for grade II listed buildings, 

parks or gardens substantial harm or loss caused by development must be 

exceptional.  

356. In all other cases, substantial harm or loss to heritage assets and / or their 

setting should be strongly resisted unless substantial public benefits can be 

demonstrated153.  From a minerals planning perspective, the ability to maintain 

steady and adequate supplies of an important mineral may represent a sufficient 

justification that outweighs the likelihood of substantial harm or loss occurring.  

More specifically, this could also include the ability to provide for sufficient 

supplies of highly valued natural building stone essential to the preservation of 

the local historic built environment present beyond the proposal site and / or the 

most significant heritage assets found elsewhere in the country. 

357. Where minerals development proposals are deemed likely to cause less than 

substantial harm to the significance of heritage assets and / or their setting, 

consideration will be given to the degree of harm weighted against the 

demonstrable public benefits of the development. 

358. It is expected that proposals for minerals development will be accompanied by 

proportionately detailed assessments of heritage impact.  In addition to 

establishing the significance of each affected heritage assets, analysing potential 

harm and setting out any reasoned justification for reluctantly allowing harm or 

loss to occur, thoroughly evidenced means and measures of how mitigating harm 

and the avoidance of loss should also be provided.  Where heritage assets of 

archaeological interest may be affected, sufficient provision should also be made 

for their effective preservation in situ or the investigation, excavation and the 

recording of any finds.  The preservation in situ of archaeological assets will 

                                                 
151 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) section 12, paragraphs 128,129, 130.  
152 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) section 12, paragraph 132. 
153 This includes those parts of designated conservation areas that are deemed to be making positive contribution to their significance as 
highlighted under National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) section 12, paragraph 138. 

Page 132



Page |97 
 

normally be the preferred solution.  Although decisions will be taken on a case-

by-case and largely be determined by practicality and the scale of importance 

(e.g. national or otherwise) of the heritage asset. 

359. The degree of weight afforded to the content and conclusions drawn by 

submitted assessments of heritage impact will be determined by their 

accordance with the most up-to-date good practice advice endorsed by Historic 

England (HE) and / or the Department for Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS)154. 

360. The MPA will routinely seek local technical advice from the County Council 

through its archaeological service, and dependant upon the heritage assets 

affected, may also pursue specialist advice from District Councils, where 

technical expertise in the management of listed building and conservation areas 

is in existence.  Furthermore, national practice guidance also sets out standards 

of consultation practice in respect of heritage matter and notifying Historic 

England (HE) – the national public body tasked with protecting the historical 

environment of England155.  However, such guidance does not preclude the MPA 

from seeking advice from Historic England on a case-by-case basis. 

 
 
  

                                                 
154 Historic England has published a suite of Good Practice Advice (GPA) documents for Planning and the Historic Environment.  These 
presently cover: - local planning, managing significance in decision-taking, the setting of heritage assets and enabling development (not yet 
published).  GPA documents are accessible on-line at: - http://historicengland.org.uk/  
Historic England (officially the Historic Buildings and Monuments Commission for England) is an executive non-departmental public body of 
the British Government sponsored by the Department for Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS). It is tasked with protecting the historical 
environment of England by preserving and listing historic buildings, ancient monuments and advising central and local government. 

Page 133

http://historicengland.org.uk/


Page |98 
 

Landscape  

Reasoned justification 

361. Gloucestershire is renowned for the diverse and scenic beauty of its landscapes.  

Over 50% of the county falls under one of three nationally designated Areas of 

Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONBs)156.  More generally, the National Character 

Area (NCA) classification identifies 6 distinctive landscape profiles for 

Gloucestershire – the Herefordshire Lowlands (NCA100), South Herefordshire & 

Over Severn (NCA104), Forest of Dean & Lower Wye (NCA105), Severn & Avon 

Vales (NCA106), Cotswolds (NCA107) and Upper Thames Clay Vales 

(NCA108)157. 

362. Detailed landscape characterisation studies have also been prepared at the 

countywide and local level throughout Gloucestershire.  Collectively these 

studies contribute to a robust local landscape evidence base described as the 

Gloucestershire Landscape Character Assessment.  The studies provide an 

invaluable baseline for determining the presence of specific features and 

qualities, identifying potential risks and sensitivities, and highlighting 

opportunities for enhancement158. 

363. Mineral developments have the potential to impact on local landscapes – through 

the re-shaping of landforms, removal of features and vegetation and / or the 

construction of site buildings and structures.  However, the significance of such 

impacts will largely be determined by the site location; relationship to sensitive 

receptors159; nature of working proposed; phase of development; and the type of 

landscape affected, its qualities, sensitivity and designation status.  Of equal 

significance is the potential to achieve local landscape benefits, particularly 

through the process of site restoration.     

                                                 
156 The three AONB designations present in Gloucestershire include: The Cotswolds, Wye Valley and Malvern Hills 
157 National Character Areas (NCAs) are defined by Natural England (NE).  They are an assemblage of unifying features relating to landscape, 
biodiversity, geo-diversity, history, culture and economic activity.  Full details of each NCA can be found on-line  at: -  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-character-area-profiles-data-for-local-decision-making/national-character-area-
profiles#ncas-in-south-west-england 
158 The overarching ‘Gloucestershire Landscape Character Assessment’ represents the main evidence base covering landscape matters for the 
county.  It is made up of: – The Gloucestershire LCA: - Study Areas of:  The Severn Vale, Upper Thames Valley, Vale of Moreton and Vale of 
Evesham Fringe (2006) http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=51673&p=0; The Forest of Dean LCA (2002) – 
http://www.fdean.gov.uk/nqcontent.cfm?a_id=6479&tt=graphic; Cotswold AONB LCA (2004) – 
http://www.cotswoldsaonb.org.uk/landscape_character_assessment/index.htm ; and Cotswold Water Park Integrated LCA (2009) - 
http://www.cotswold.gov.uk/residents/planning-building/landscape/landscape-character/cotswold-water-park-integrated-landscape-
character-assessment/. Other relevant local area landscape assessments include: The Gloucester-Cheltenham-Tewkesbury  Joint Core 
Strategy Landscape Characterisation Assessment & Sensitivity Analysis (2013)  - http://www.gct-jcs.org/Documents/EvidenceBase/Final-JCS-
Master-Landscape-Characterisation-Assessment-and-Sensitivity-Analysis.pdf and The Stroud LP Landscape Sensitivity Appraisal (2013) 
http://www.stroud.gov.uk/info/plan_strat/Landscape_Sensitivity_Appraisal.pdf 
159 Sensitive receptors from a landscape perspective will be determined on a case-by-case basis.  However, they usually include: - any 
statutorily and nationally designated landscape areas reasonably likely to be affected; locally designated landscape areas reasonably likely to 
be affected; statutorily and non-statutorily designated historic assets and features included within the Gloucestershire Historic Landscape 
Characterisation (HLC) study; commercial premises for which the preservation or enhancement of local landscape character may be business 
critical; and residential properties.     

Page 134

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-character-area-profiles-data-for-local-decision-making/national-character-area-profiles#ncas-in-south-west-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-character-area-profiles-data-for-local-decision-making/national-character-area-profiles#ncas-in-south-west-england
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=51673&p=0
http://www.fdean.gov.uk/nqcontent.cfm?a_id=6479&tt=graphic
http://www.cotswoldsaonb.org.uk/landscape_character_assessment/index.htm
http://www.cotswold.gov.uk/residents/planning-building/landscape/landscape-character/cotswold-water-park-integrated-landscape-character-assessment/
http://www.cotswold.gov.uk/residents/planning-building/landscape/landscape-character/cotswold-water-park-integrated-landscape-character-assessment/
http://www.gct-jcs.org/Documents/EvidenceBase/Final-JCS-Master-Landscape-Characterisation-Assessment-and-Sensitivity-Analysis.pdf
http://www.gct-jcs.org/Documents/EvidenceBase/Final-JCS-Master-Landscape-Characterisation-Assessment-and-Sensitivity-Analysis.pdf
http://www.stroud.gov.uk/info/plan_strat/Landscape_Sensitivity_Appraisal.pdf


Page |99 
 

Policy DM09  | Landscape 

Landscapes outside of AONB designations and which do not affect their 

setting 

Minerals development proposals will be permitted where it can be 

demonstrated unacceptable adverse impacts on the character, features and 

qualities of landscapes as defined through NCAs and LCAs will be avoided 

and / or satisfactorily mitigated. 

Valued landscapes of AONB designations or those forming part of their 

setting  

Minerals development proposals within or that affect the setting of the 

Cotswolds, Wye Valley and Malvern Hills AONBs will only be permitted where 

they can demonstrate: - 

 There is an overriding need for the mineral, including national 

considerations; 

 The local economy will not be subject to unacceptable adverse impacts; 

 Alternative non-AONB sources of mineral supply, which are no more 

constrained, are not practicably available; 

 Adverse impacts on the special qualities of the AONB as defined in 

AONB Management Plans (including on the landscape setting and 

recreational opportunities) can be avoided and / or satisfactorily 

mitigated; and 

 Landscape character areas or types as defined through NCAs and LCAs 

of the AONB will be satisfactorily restored and, where practicably 

possible, enhanced over the longer term. 

Minerals development proposals classified as ‘major development’ within the 

Cotswolds, Wye Valley and Malvern Hills AONBs or that affect their setting, 

will only be permitted under exceptional circumstances, where they have 

successfully met all of the relevant criteria set out above and have 

demonstrated they are in the public interest. 

Linked to the delivery of plan objectives – ENV, LC and RA 

 

 

Page 135



Page |100 
 

Interpretation and implementation 

364. Policy DM09 aims to ensure that sufficient and proportionate analysis is 

undertaken with minerals development proposals to identify potential landscape 

impacts and to achieve consistent levels of protection against adverse effects 

based on their national and local importance, and contribution towards wider 

ecological networks160.  This approach accords with national policy, which seeks 

the protection and enhancement of valued landscapes amongst other 

environmental assets161. 

365. AONB designations are given specific attention in respect of the high degree of 

protection that should be given to conserving landscapes and scenic beauty and 

for the importance of taking into account wildlife interests and cultural heritage162.  

There is an overriding presumption against major development within AONBs for 

which only under exceptional circumstances, proposals may be acceptable163. 

366. From a mineral planning perspective, a clear and demonstrable need for mineral 

may prove to be a valid exceptional circumstance, but only when considered 

alongside other factors such as economic impact and viability and a broader view 

environmental, landscape and recreational impacts.  Furthermore, national policy 

concerning mineral developments, also targets the need to make provision of 

non-energy minerals, by way of maintaining landbanks, from outside of 

designated AONBs, where this can practicably be achieved164. 

367. Landscape mitigation for minerals developments has potential and usually 

involves either integrating or screening operating sites.  It can include planting, 

the construction of bunds and / or sympathetic colouring of built structures and 

the design and positioning of development to take advantage of site contours.  

The acceptability of any mitigation proposals will largely be dependant upon the 

preservation or enhancement of the existing defining elements of local landscape 

character and local distinctiveness, and the avoidance of risk from the 

introduction of alien features (i.e. by appropriately selecting the right mix of 

species and planting layouts).  Existing vegetation should be skilfully integrated 

as far as reasonably practicable, so as to achieve minimal intervention in 

reducing landscape and visual impacts. 

368. Where mineral development proposals are of size, scale and nature that more 

significant landscape impacts become unavoidable, even accounting for a 

proportionate and reasonable programme of mitigation, very careful 

                                                 
160 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) section 11, paragraph 119. 
161 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) section 11, paragraph 109, bullet point 1. 
162 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) section 11, paragraph 115. 
163 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) section 11, paragraph 116. 
164 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) section 13, paragraph 144, bullet point 2. 

Page 136



Page |101 
 

consideration will need to be given to the severity of any residual landscape 

impacts compared to the importance of the mineral being sought with reference 

to the aims of policy MW01 (aggregate provision) and / or policy MW02 (natural 

building stone).   

369. All mineral development proposals should be accompanied by a proportionately 

detailed Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) that identifies and 

responds to potential landscape-related issues having reviewed the latest 

available local evidence, which forms the Gloucestershire Landscape Character 

Assessment. 

370. Critical to such assessments will be the degree to which avoidance, protection 

and / or mitigation of landscape impacts can be satisfactorily achieved.  Where 

designated AONBs or their settings are concerned, specific consideration will be 

given to the potential impact upon their defined ‘special qualities’165.  

371. LVIAs should ideally be prepared in accordance with the most up-to-date version 

of the Landscape Institute’s Guidance for Landscape and Visual Impact 

Assessment (GLVIA)166. 

 
Gloucester – Cheltenham Green Belt 

Reasoned justification 

372. The Gloucester-Cheltenham Green Belt designation was initially incorporated 

into the County of Gloucestershire Development Plan 1st Quinquennial Review 

published in 1960.  Its main aim, which remains unchanged and valid, was to 

preserve the open character of land between the two settlements and to prevent 

them from merging.  The countywide Structure Plan adopted in 1981, has 

extended the designation northwards of Cheltenham to also avoid coalescence 

between Cheltenham and the expanding settlement of Bishop’s Cleeve. 

373. Several Mineral Safeguarding Areas (MSAs) exist across parts of the 

Gloucester-Cheltenham Green Belt.  These are concerned with the presence of 

sand & gravel and clay resources167.  In the past relatively small-scale mineral 

working has taken place, which has made a modest contribution to the steady 

and adequate supply of aggregate minerals and the landbank of permitted 

                                                 
165 The ‘special qualities’ of the Cotswold AONB are defined  within the Cotswold AONB Management Plan (2013-2018) which can viewed on-
line at: - http://www.cotswoldsaonb.org.uk/management_plan/index.html.  For the Wye Valley AONB, its ‘special qualities’ are established 
within the Wye Valley AONB Management Plan (2009-2014), which can also be viewed on-line at: - 
http://wyevalleyaonb.org.uk/images/uploads/general/AONBManagementPlan09-14.pdf.  The Malvern Hills AONB Management Plan (2014-
2019) contains its areas ‘special qualities’ and is available on-line at: - http://www.malvernhillsaonb.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2015/02/FinalLowResManPlan2014-19.pdf  
166 The 3rd edition of Guidelines for Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (GLVIA3) prepared by the Landscape Institute was published 
and came into force on 17 April 2013.  The GLVIA3 is purchasable on-line at: -   http://www.landscapeinstitute.org/knowledge/GLVIA.php 
167 Appendix 1: The  Key Diagram  sets out the full extent of Gloucestershire’s Mineral Safeguarding Areas (MSAs) 

Page 137

http://www.cotswoldsaonb.org.uk/management_plan/index.html
http://wyevalleyaonb.org.uk/images/uploads/general/AONBManagementPlan09-14.pdf
http://www.malvernhillsaonb.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/FinalLowResManPlan2014-19.pdf
http://www.malvernhillsaonb.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/FinalLowResManPlan2014-19.pdf
http://www.landscapeinstitute.org/knowledge/GLVIA.php


Page |102 
 

reserves168.  Whilst, no plan allocations presently exist within the designation, 

future minerals development could still arise as windfalls most likely linked to the 

occurrence of mineral sterilisation issues or for providing a localised mineral 

supply related to specific development projects. 

374. Consequently, very careful consideration will need to be taken of the matters 

surrounding the acceptableness of minerals development proposals that may be 

brought forward within Gloucester-Cheltenham Green Belt over the course of 

plan period taking into account the overarching aim of the designation   

Policy DM10 | Gloucester-Cheltenham Green Belt 

 

Mineral extraction within the Green Belt 
 

Minerals development proposals for extraction within the Gloucester-

Cheltenham Green Belt and will be permitted where it can demonstrated: -  

 

 the openness of the designation will be preserved; and  

 there will be no conflict with the purposes of including land in the Green 

Belt 

 

Minerals development proposals for extraction within the Gloucester-

Cheltenham Green Belt that will reduce the openness of the designation and 

will cause conflict with the purposes of including land in the Green Belt, will 

only be permitted under very special circumstances, where it can be 

demonstrated that the totality of the harm to the Green Belt and any other 

harm will be outweighed by other planning considerations 

 

Other minerals developments within the Green Belt 

 

Minerals development proposals other than for extraction will be inappropriate 

development within the Gloucester-Cheltenham Green Belt and will only be 

permitted under very special circumstances, where it can be demonstrated the 

totality of the harm to the Green Belt and any other harm will be outweighed 

by other planning considerations. 

 

Linked to the delivery of plan objective – ENV 

 

 

 

                                                 
168 The Gloucestershire Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) 2004/2005 indicates that 8.40ha of land within the Gloucester-Cheltenham Green 
Belt was subject to minerals development proposals.   

Page 138



Page |103 
 

Interpretation and implementation 

 

375. National policy maintains a longstanding position on the aim and function of 

Green Belt designations169.  It specifically states they are required to prevent 

urban sprawl and to keep land permanently open.  It also sets out five purposes 

for the designation : - 

 

 To check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas; 

 To prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another; 

 To assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;  

 To preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and 

 To assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict 

and other urban land170 

 

376. National policy also makes provision for mineral working to be allowed to take 

place in principle within the Green Belt where openness is preserved and no 

conflict will occur with purposes of the designation171.  This is reflective of the 

temporary nature and low intensity of any built structures such as certain forms 

of plant that usually accompanies this type of activity. 

377. However, all other types of minerals development such as ancillary added value 

plant e.g. ready mix plant, block-making etc. must demonstrate very special 

circumstances exist before they are able to proceed.  National policy confirms 

such proposals will be inappropriate, and by definition harmful to Green Belt 

designations172. 

378. All minerals development proposals will need to be considered on their individual 

merits.  Although the importance of the mineral to be worked with respect to 

maintaining steady and adequate supplies from Gloucestershire; the availability 

of resources from outside of the Green Belt; and / or the size, scale and 

timescales being considered for minerals development may be matters that could 

contribute towards the demonstration of very special circumstances. 

 
 

 
  

                                                 
169 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) section 9, paragraph 79.  
170 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) section 9, paragraph 80. 
171 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) section 9, paragraph 90. 
172 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) section 9, paragraph 87. 

Page 139



Page |104 
 

Aerodrome safeguarding and aviation safety 

Reasoned justification 

379. Gloucestershire contains civil and military aerodromes including Gloucestershire 

Airport located at Staverton and RAF Fairford within the Cotswold Water Park.  In 

both cases mineral resources of potential economic interest are located nearby.  

380. At RAF Fairford, in particular, significant and extensive amounts of sand & gravel 

are known to exist.  Large areas of land surrounding the military aerodrome have 

already been worked and proposals for this to continue into the future may come 

forward.  These local sand & gravel resources are considered to be of strategic 

significance, but so are the county’s aerodromes.    

Policy DM11 | Aerodrome safeguarding and aviation safety 

Minerals development proposals will be permitted only where it can be 

demonstrated that unacceptable adverse impacts on aviation safety can be 

avoided and / or satisfactorily mitigated. 

Linked to the delivery of plan objective – LC 

 

Interpretation and implementation 

381. Town and Country Planning (safeguarded aerodromes, technical sites and 

military explosives storage areas) direction 2002 sets out the government 

approach for dealing with this matter173.  The direction seeks to ensure the 

operation and development of aerodromes will not be inhibited.  It states that 

buildings, structures, erections or works that could infringe protected surfaces, 

obscure runway approach lights or have the potential to impair the performance 

of aerodrome navigation aids, radio aids or telecommunication systems must be 

avoided.  It also advises against artificial lighting that may distract pilots and the 

prevention of bird hazard resulting from the introduction of and / or increase in 

birds.  This latter issue is of particular relevance to mineral developments that 

incorporate the restoration of worked out mineral sites.  

382. Mineral developments located within 13km of officially safeguarded civil 

aerodromes and up to 8 miles of military aerodromes or delineated safeguard 

areas for NATS Technical Sites, will need to be scrutinised by the relevant owner 

                                                 
173 Circular 01/03: Safeguarding aerodromes, technical sites and military explosives storage areas contains within Annex 1 the full content of 
Town and Country Planning (Safeguarding Aerodromes, Technical Sites and Military Explosives Storage Areas) Direction 2002.  It can be 
obtained online at: - https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/safeguarding-aerodromes-technical-sites-and-military-explosives-
storage-areas  

Page 140

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/safeguarding-aerodromes-technical-sites-and-military-explosives-storage-areas
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/safeguarding-aerodromes-technical-sites-and-military-explosives-storage-areas


Page |105 
 

or operator of each facility concerned.  Specifically in the case of military 

facilities, the Secretary of State for Defence must be consulted.  Representations 

made by these parties will be carefully considered against the provisions of the 

government’s direction. 

383. Several certified aviation safeguarding maps have been published that include 

parts of Gloucestershire174.  This also includes safeguarding areas for RAF Brize 

Norton in Oxfordshire which extends into part of Gloucestershire.  Safeguarding 

consultation areas have also been included on the plan’s policies map. 

384. All mineral development proposals will need to consider their significance in 

terms of aerodrome safeguarding and aviation safety.  For those proposals that 

fall within allocated areas contained within the plan, location-specific matters are 

provided where relevant under the detailed development requirements of section 

9 of the plan. 

385. For proposals outside of allocated areas, but within aviation-related safeguarding 

areas, detailed information concerning how the operations of aerodromes and 

related facilities will not be adversely impacted will be necessary.  This will need 

to address all phases of minerals development including restoration and 

aftercare.  Where mitigation is considered necessary, its feasibility and practical 

implementation will be carefully scrutinised before any decisions are taken.  

                                                 
174 All aviation safeguarding maps issued to local planning authorities, including MPAs for consultation notification purposes must be certified 
by either the Civil Aviation Authority (CAA) or the Secretary of State for Defence. 

Page 141



Page |106 
 

Section 11 | Mineral Restoration 

Restoration, aftercare and facilitating beneficial after-uses 

Reasoned justification 

386. Unlike most other forms of development the working of minerals is a temporary 

use of land.  No proposal can claim to have avoided or mitigated possible 

adverse impacts without sufficiently addressing the matter of site restoration.  It 

is applicable to all types of mineral workings whether they are carried out rapidly 

or take place over a long period of time.  It also incorporates ancillary built 

development tied to the mineral operations. 

387. The restoration of mineral sites is integral to the achievement of sustainable 

development.  The way in which disturbed, worked land is restored and managed 

to facilitate beneficial after-use provides a unique opportunity to enhance the 

character of land directly impacted by mineral working.  Well-managed 

restoration should enable appropriate after-uses to be established that will 

positively contribute towards safeguarding or improving the environment or the 

facilities that are available to local communities.  This may include 

complementing other locally prepared and supported plans and strategies such 

as various AONB Management Plans and the Cotswold Water Park Master 

Plan175. 

388. Wherever possible, valuable new assets should also be carefully considered, 

particularly where benefits to future generations are realistically achievable.  It is 

also important that the types of potential after-uses that are able to come forward 

post-mineral working are not unreasonably and / or unjustifiably limited and 

sufficient flexibility is available to reflect changing priorities for land use over time.  

389. National policy specifically states that local planning authorities should seek to 

ensure mineral site restoration and aftercare occurs at the earliest opportunity 

and it is carried out to high environmental standards176. 

  

                                                 
175 Cotswold Water Park Master Plan (2008)  
http://www.waterpark.org/resources-documents/ 
 
176 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) section 13, paragraph 144, bullet point 6 

Page 142

http://www.waterpark.org/resources-documents/


Page |107 
 

Policy MR01 | Restoration, aftercare and facilitating beneficial after-uses 

Minerals development proposals will be permitted only where it can be 

demonstrated: -  

 Restoration and aftercare will take place at the earliest opportunity and 

to an acceptable environmental condition; and 

 Beneficial and sustainable after-uses will be facilitated that will 

positively contribute towards improvements to environmental quality, 

biodiversity and / or the health, well-being and quality of life of local 

communities. 

Linked to the delivery of plan objective – RA 

 

Interpretation and implementation 

390. Restoration consists of all operations designed to return the land to an 

acceptable landform and environmental condition.  It includes the use of and / or 

the act of replacing lost subsoil and topsoil or other soil making materials and 

related activities such as the stripping and protection of existing, on-site soils.  

The dismantling of temporary buildings and breaking up of concrete pads or site 

roads also falls into this category. 

391. Following planning practice guidance, all minerals development proposals should 

incorporate a plan for restoration.  This should form a key element of the 

application process, and preferably be established from the outset and be 

included as an item for pre-application advice.  

392. For practical reasons very long-term minerals developments proposals may not 

be able to provide all restoration and aftercare details in full.  However, sufficient 

information must be provided to demonstrate how the overall objectives for 

restoration are both reasonable and achievable. 

 

393. The nature of any supporting information will also likely vary depending upon the 

size, scale and type of minerals development proposal under consideration.  

Nevertheless as minimum, the following items should be provided: - 

 

 An overall restoration strategy, identifying the proposed after-use of the site; 

 Information about soil resources and hydrology, and how topsoil / subsoil / 

overburden / and other soil making materials are to be handled and stored 

whilst extraction is taking place; 

Page 143



Page |108 
 

 Where the land is agricultural land, an assessment of the agricultural land 

classification grade; 

 Short term aftercare and any long-term management if necessary; and  

 A landscape strategy. 

 

394. If mineral extraction is carried out on Best and Most Versatile agricultural land 

the outline restoration and aftercare strategy should show, where practicable, 

how the methods used in the restoration and aftercare enable the land to retain 

its longer term capability, even though the proposed after-use need not always 

be agriculture177. 

 

395. Reclamation also provides potential opportunities for delivery of benefits and 

enhancements to the environment or amenity.  An approach that has broad level 

support in national policy178.  For example, reclaimed sites can provide 

biodiversity or geo-diversity gain in line with biodiversity and geo-diversity action 

plans, opportunities for informal or formal recreation and, for certain areas, 

reclaimed sites may be able to play a role in flood risk reduction, or supply of 

water for agriculture, or for potential river recharge.  Biodiversity should be 

designed into schemes from the start to ensure a net gain overall as advised 

within planning practice guidance179. 

 

396. Mineral site restoration provides an opportunity to recognise the wider benefits of 

ecosystem services and an appropriately detailed assessment can be used to 

compare alternative restoration scenarios in order to provide a scheme, which 

offers the most ‘value’ in terms of ecosystem services.  Defra have produced 

guidance on valuing ecosystem services which can be used to inform decision-

taking on planning applications180. 

 

397. It is also important to consider the contribution that mineral site restoration can 

make towards green infrastructure provision.  Where this is cited, submitted 

evidence will be reviewed to establish whether contributions to green 

infrastructure provision are realistic. 

 
398. Increasingly, inert material is being diverted away from landfill as it is subject to 

more re-use and recycling in accordance with adopted Waste Core Strategy 

policy WCS4 (Inert Waste Recycling and Recovery).  This means that forms of 

low level (i.e. below original ground level) reclamation are increasingly common 

and this is not expected to change.  Waste Core Strategy Policy 8 (Landfill) sets 

                                                 
177 Taken from Planning Practice Guidance (PPG),  Restoration and aftercare of minerals sites section, paragraph: 040, reference ID: 27-040-
20140306 
178 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), section 11, paragraph 109, bullet point 3 
179 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG),  Biodiversity and ecosystems section, paragraph: 008, reference ID: 8-008-20140306 
180 Guidance on Ecosystem services provided through DEFRA – https://www.gov.uk/guidance/ecosystems-services 

Page 144

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/ecosystems-services


Page |109 
 

out the criteria under which landfilling for restoration purposes may be 

acceptable within Gloucestershire.  

 
399. In the case of sand & gravel mineral sites where the water table is more often 

high, reclamation usually results in the creation of wetland features and lakes.  

As well as providing opportunities (e.g. for habitat creation, geo-diversity and 

recreation), this can also create challenges.  These may include amongst others: 

loss of landscape, impact and changes to the setting of communities and 

heritage assets, loss of agricultural land, water resources and flooding issues 

and potential conflict with airfield safeguarding requirements due to the 

attractiveness of lakes to flocking birds.  

 
400. Consequently, careful consideration should be given to the habitats that are a 

priority in a particular area and whether importing material as part of any 

restoration scheme would bring greater benefits than simply allowing a low-level 

scheme. 

 

401. Restoration and aftercare will be secured through the use of appropriate 

conditions and in some cases, planning obligations.  Amendments to restoration 

schemes may need to be made where circumstances change over the time 

between permission being granted and the restoration being implemented.  The 

responsibility for restoration and aftercare lies with the operator, or in the case of 

default, the landowner.  Aftercare and maintenance of the restored land shall be 

for a period of not less than five years in line with planning practice guidance181.  

Longer aftercare periods may be needed in some circumstances.  

 
402. Whatever form of reclamation is agreed, it will be necessary to ensure that 

appropriate safeguards and controls are in place to ensure the satisfactory long 

term after-use of the land, and to plan for this as part of the process.  Some after-

uses, such as formal recreation, may need to be resolved through the 

submission of separate planning applications.  In all cases, it will be important 

that reclamation and after-use proposals brought forward by the mineral operator 

are developed in consultation with local communities and other relevant 

stakeholders, to help ensure that proposals accommodate local opinion. 

  

                                                 
181 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG),  Restoration and aftercare of minerals sites section, paragraph: 056, reference ID: 27-056-20140306 

Page 145



Page |110 
 

Section 12 | Managing and monitoring plan delivery 
 

403. Monitoring is a vital part of evidence-based local plan making.  National policy 

states that local planning authorities should ensure that their plans are based on 

adequate, up-to-date and relevant evidence182.  To achieve this, it is necessary 

for the plan to contain a clear monitoring schedule aimed at ensuring its policies 

are still founded upon accurate, appropriate and up-to-date evidence over time, 

and that the vision and objectives they are seeking to support are being 

achieved. 

 

404. A monitoring and delivery framework has been established.  It details how the 

objectives of the plan will be achieved using monitoring data indicators relevant 

to each of the plan's policies.  The framework includes targets against which the 

performance of the policies can be monitored, plus 'triggers' to signpost when 

corrective action may be necessary. 

 

405. The monitoring of each indicator will be carried out as part of the production of 

the Gloucestershire Minerals & Waste Authorities Monitoring Report183.  Where 

data outputs indicate a change has, or is beginning to occur with minerals 

development including trends that could potentially undermine the vision or 

objectives, this may instigate a detailed analysis leading to a more formal policy 

review. 

 

406. Data collection and management will be undertaken in a collaborative manner.  A 

number of indicators will require support from local planning authorities 

throughout the county.  Some local minerals data will also be of significance to 

national and sub-national level planning.  In particular aggregate supply data 

from Gloucestershire will feed into the monitoring and reporting of the South 

West Aggregate Working Party (SW-AWP) through the Local Aggregate 

Assessment (LAA) process. 

 

407. Gloucestershire County Council as the local MPA will publish monitoring data 

regularly and in a consistent format to allow its analysis by all other interested 

parties.  However, circumstances may occur which prevent full disclosure on all 

occasions due to commercial confidentially.  Furthermore, there may also be 

limitations to the amount of data that is collected or has been made available.  

An example of this is the local supply of recycled aggregate.  This is heavily 

reliant upon the willingness of operators to co-operate often under only informal, 

individual and unwritten voluntary agreements. 

                                                 
182 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), paragraph 158.  
183 The Gloucestershire Minerals & Waste Authorities Monitoring Report (AMR) can be viewed at: -  
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/amr 

Page 146

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/amr


Page |111 
 

 

408. The following monitoring schedule reiterates the link made between each of the 

plan's objectives and its policies.  It also sets out the mechanism for local 

monitoring and how effective policy delivery will be measured and scrutinised.  

 

 

Page 147



Page |112 
 

Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire (2018 – 2032) Monitoring Schedule 

Policy Indicator(s) Who? How? When? Target Trigger 
Plan 
objective 
link 

SR01 | 
Maximising the 
use of secondary 
and recycled 
aggregates 

Planning applications for major 
non-minerals development being 
permitted that will result in 
primary aggregates being used in 
preference to viable and available 
sources of alternative – 
secondary and / or recycled 
aggregates 

GCC 
 
District 
Councils 

Review of 
district 
DM decisions 
 
Review of 
non-minerals 
County 
Council 
DM decisions 

On-going / 
Annually 
reported 

100% refusal of non-minerals major 
development that do not provide a 
comprehensive assessment of 
whether alternative – secondary and / 
or recycled aggregates could be used 
within the development 

1 application permitted that 
permitted that does not meet all 
policy criteria and received an 
objection from the MPA 
concerning the failure to use 
viable and available  sources of 
alternative – secondary and / or 
recycled aggregates  

SR, RM, PS 

MS01 | Non-
minerals 
development 
within MSAs 

Planning applications for non-
minerals development being 
permitted within MSAs 

GCC 
 
District 
Councils 

Review of 
district 
DM decisions 
 
Review of 
non-minerals 
County 
Council 
DM decisions 

On-going / 
Annually 
reported 

100% refusal of non-minerals 
development within MSAs that would 
otherwise needlessly sterilise mineral 
resources 

1 application permitted that 
does not meet all policy criteria 

RM 

MS02 | Non-
minerals 
development 
within MCAs 

Planning applications for non-
minerals development being 
permitted within MCAs 

GCC 
 
District 
Councils 

Review of 
district 
DM decisions 
 
Review of 
non-minerals 
County 
Council 
DM decisions 

On-going / 
Annually 
reported 

100% refusal of non-minerals 
development within MCAs that would 
prejudice existing or planned mineral 
operations  

1 application permitted that that 
does not meet all policy criteria 
and received an objection from 
the MPA relating to mineral 
sterilisation and / or restricted 
operations 

RM 

MS03 | 
Safeguarding 
mineral 
infrastructure 
 

Planning applications for non-
minerals development being 
permitted on, or within 150m of 
safeguarded mineral 
infrastructure sites (see appendix 
4)  

GCC 
 
District 
Councils 

Review of 
district 
DM decisions 

On-going / 
Annually 
reported 

100% refusal of non-minerals 
development being permitted on, or 
within 150m of safeguarded mineral 
infrastructure sites that would 
prejudice the capability and  / or 
capacity of mineral operations in the 
county 

1 application permitted that 
received an objection from the 
MPA linked to the safeguarding 
of mineral infrastructure  

SR, RM 

P
age 148



Page |113 
 

Policy Indicator(s) Who? How? When? Target Trigger 
Plan 
objective 
link 

MW01 | 
Aggregate 
provision 
 

Sales and reserve data for sand 
& gravel and crushed rock 
limestone 

GCC 
 
Mineral 
Operators 

Aggregate 
Monitoring 
Survey 

Annual data 
from the 
previous 
calendar 
year 

The annual supply of aggregates to 
equal at least the 10 year rolling 
average of sales for crushed rock 
(1.517mt as of 2014)  and sand & 
gravel (0.788 mt as of 2014) and the 
maintenance of at least a 10 year 
landbank for crushed rock or at least a 
7 year landbank for sand & gravel.   

Remaining estimated aggregate 
yields contained in site 
allocations being insufficient to 
facilitate the maintenance of at 
least a 10 year landbank for 
crushed rock or at least 7 year 
landbank for sand & gravel.   

PS 

MW02 | Natural 
building stone 
 

Sales and reserves data for 
natural building stone and 
planning applications being 
permitted for working natural 
building stone. 

GCC 
 
Mineral 
Operators 

Mineral 
Monitoring 
Survey and 
review of 
County 
Council 
DM decisions 

Annual data 
from the 
previous 
calendar 
year 

100% of applications meeting all policy 
criteria granted planning permission 

1 application permitted that 
does not meet all policy criteria 

PS, RM, 
ENV 

MW03 | Clay for 
civil engineering 
purposes 

Planning applications being 
permitted for working clay for civil 
engineering purposes. 

GCC 

Review of 
County 
Council 
DM decisions 

On-going / 
Annually 
reported 

100% of applications meeting all policy 
criteria granted planning permission 

1 application permitted that 
does not meet all policy criteria 

PS, RM 

MW04 | Brick clay 
 

Sales and reserves data for brick 
clay and planning applications 
being permitted for working brick 
clay 

GCC 
 
Mineral 
Operators 

Mineral 
Monitoring 
Survey and 
review of 
County 
Council 
DM decisions 

Annual data 
from the 
previous 
calendar 
year 

100% of applications meeting all policy 
criteria granted planning permission 

1 application permitted that 
does not meet all policy criteria 

PS, RM, 
ENV 

MW05 | Coal 
Planning applications being 
permitted for working coal 

GCC 

Review of 
County 
Council 
DM decisions 

On-going / 
Annually 
reported 

100% of applications meeting all policy 
criteria granted planning permission 

1 application permitted that 
does not meet all policy criteria 

PS, RM, 
ENV, LC 

MW06 | Oil & Gas 
 

Planning applications being 
permitted for the exploration, 
appraisal, production of oil and / 
or gas through conventional and / 
or  unconventional techniques 

GCC 

Review of 
County 
Council 
DM decisions 

On-going / 
Annually 
reported 

100% of applications meeting all policy 
criteria granted planning permission 

1 application permitted that 
does not meet all policy criteria 

PS, RM, LC 

P
age 149



Page |114 
 

Policy Indicator(s) Who? How? When? Target Trigger 
Plan 
objective 
link 

MW07 | Ancillary 
Development 

Planning applications permitted 
for ancillary minerals 
development 

GCC 

Review of 
County 
Council 
DM decisions 

On-going / 
Annually 
reported 

100% of applications meeting all policy 
criteria granted planning permission 

1 application permitted that 
does not meet all policy criteria 

PS, RM, LC 

MA01 | 
Aggregate 
working within 
site allocations 

Planning applications for non-
minerals development being 
permitted within site allocations 

District 
Councils 

Review of 
District 
DM decisions 

On-going / 
Annually 
reported 

100% refusal of non-minerals 
development within site allocations  
that received an objection from the 
MPA 

1 application permitted that 
received an objection from the 
MPA 

PS, RM, LC 

Planning applications for 
aggregate working within site 
allocations 

GCC 
 

Review of 
County 
Council 
DM decisions 

100% of applications meeting all policy 
criteria including Site Specific 
Requirements granted planning 
permission 

1 application permitted that 
does not meet all policy criteria 

PS, RM, LC 

MA02 | 
Aggregate 
working outside 
of site allocations 

Planning applications permitted 
for aggregate working on land 
outside of site allocations 

GCC 

Review of 
County 
Council 
DM decisions 

On-going / 
Annually 
reported 

100% refusal of decisions that do not 
meet requirements of the policy. 

1 application permitted that 
does not meet all policy criteria 

PS, RM, LC 

DM01 | Amenity 

Planning applications for minerals 
development being permitted 
where amenity issues where  
relevant and underwent scrutiny 

GCC 

Review of 
County 
Council 
DM decisions 

On-going / 
Annually 
reported 

100% of applications meeting all policy 
criteria granted planning permission 

1 application permitted that 
does not meet all policy criteria 

LC 

DM02 | 
Cumulative 
Impact 

Planning applications for minerals 
development being permitted 
where cumulative impacts from 
other on-site operations and / or 
those in the nearby locality where 
relevant and underwent scrutiny 

GCC 

Review of 
County 
Council 
DM decisions 

On-going / 
Annually 
reported 

100% of applications meeting all policy 
criteria granted planning permission 

1 application permitted that 
does not meet all policy criteria 

LC 

DM03 | Transport 

Planning applications for minerals 
development being permitted 
where transport issues where 
relevant and underwent scrutiny 

GCC 

Review of 
County 
Council 
DM decisions 

On-going / 
Annually 
reported 

100% of applications meeting all policy 
criteria granted planning permission 

1 application permitted that 
does not meet all policy criteria 

LC, MM 

P
age 150



Page |115 
 

Policy Indicator(s) Who? How? When? Target Trigger 
Plan 
objective 
link 

DM04 | Flood 
Risk 

Planning applications for minerals 
development being permitted 
where flood risk issues where 
relevant and underwent scrutiny 

GCC 

Review of 
County 
Council 
DM decisions 

On-going / 
Annually 
reported 

100% of applications meeting all policy 
criteria granted planning permission 

1 application permitted that 
does not meet all policy criteria 

ENV, LC, RA 

DM05 | Water 
Environment 

Planning applications for minerals 
development being permitted 
where water environment issues 
where relevant and underwent 
scrutiny  

GCC 

Review of 
County 
Council 
DM decisions 

On-going / 
Annually 
reported 

100% of applications meeting all policy 
criteria granted planning permission 

1 application permitted that 
does not meet all policy criteria 

ENV, LC, RA 

DM06 | 
Biodiversity and 
Geo-diversity 

Planning applications for minerals 
development being permitted  
where biodiversity and / or geo-
diversity issues where relevant 
and underwent scrutiny 

GCC 

Review of 
County 
Council 
DM decisions 

On-going / 
Annually 
reported 

100% of applications meeting all policy 
criteria granted planning permission 

1 application permitted that 
does not meet all policy criteria 

ENV, RA 

DM07 | Soils 

Planning applications for minerals 
development being permitted 
where soil resources issues 
where relevant and underwent 
scrutiny 

GCC 

Review of 
County 
Council 
DM decisions 

On-going / 
Annually 
reported 

100% of applications meeting all policy 
criteria granted planning permission 

1 application permitted that 
does not meet all policy criteria 

ENV, RA 

DM08 | Historic 
Environment 
 

Planning applications for minerals 
development being permitted 
where historic environment 
issues where relevant and 
underwent scrutiny 

GCC 

Review of 
County 
Council 
DM decisions 

On-going / 
Annually 
reported 

100% of applications meeting all policy 
criteria granted planning permission 

1 application permitted that 
does not meet all policy criteria 

ENV 

DM09 | 
Landscape 

Planning applications for minerals 
development where landscape 
issues where relevant and 
underwent scrutiny 

GCC 

Review of 
County 
Council 
DM decisions 

On-going / 
Annually 
reported 

100% of applications meeting all policy 
criteria granted planning permission 

1 application permitted that 
does not meet all policy criteria 

ENV, RA 

DM10 | 
Gloucester-
Cheltenham 
Green Belt 

Planning applications for minerals 
development where permitted 
within the Gloucester-
Cheltenham Green Belt 

GCC 

Review of 
County 
Council 
DM decisions 

On-going / 
Annually 
reported 

100% of applications meeting all policy 
criteria granted planning permission 

1 application permitted that 
does not meet all policy criteria 

ENV, RA 

P
age 151



Page |116 
 

Policy Indicator(s) Who? How? When? Target Trigger 
Plan 
objective 
link 

DM11 | 
Aerodrome 
safeguarding and 
aviation safety 

Planning applications for minerals 
development being permitted 
where aerodrome safeguarding 
and / or aviation safety issues 
where relevant and underwent 
scrutiny 

GCC 

Review of 
County 
Council 
DM decisions 

On-going / 
Annually 
reported 

100% of applications meeting all policy 
criteria granted planning permission 

1 application permitted that 
does not meet all policy criteria 
and received an objection from 
aviation safeguarding bodies  

ENV, LC, RA 

MR01 | 
Restoration, 
aftercare and 
facilitating 
beneficial after-
uses 

Planning applications for minerals 
development being permitted 
where site restoration and 
aftercare issues where relevant 
and underwent scrutiny 

GCC 

Review of 
County 
Council 
DM decisions 

On-going / 
Annually 
reported 

100% of applications meeting all policy 
criteria granted planning permission 

1 application permitted that 
does not meet all policy criteria 

ENV, LC, RA 

 P
age 152



Page |117 
 

 

P
age 153



Page |118 
 

Appendix 2 | MSA implementation schedule 

A2.1  The MSA implementation schedule is designed to assist Gloucestershire’s local 

planning authorities (i.e. boroughs, districts, city and the County Council) in the 

consideration of mineral sterilisation matters in accordance with policy MS01.  

The schedule includes the type of non-minerals development proposals within 

Gloucestershire’s Minerals Safeguarding Areas (MSAs), which should be 

assessed.  This will normally involve the preparation of an appropriately detailed 

mineral resource assessment (MRA). 

A2.2 All non-minerals development, which is not included on the schedule, is deemed 

to have satisfied the requirements of policy MS01 – in that the size, scale and 

nature of the development would be insufficient to create a meaningful mineral 

sterilisation issue and / or there may be no reasonable prospect of there being 

practicable and achievable means to avoid sterilisation from taking place.  

A2.3 In addition, all potential development that is included within an adopted or 

emerging local plan will not be required to undergo an MRA unless it is 

specifically identified as a detailed local policy requirement that forms part of that 

allocation.    

Non-minerals development proposals within a MSA that WILL require a 
Mineral Resource Assessment (MRA): - 

Residential development of 2.5 ha184 or more within rural and / or edge of urban 

localities185, which has not been allocated within an adopted or emerging  local plan; 

Residential development of 5 ha186 or more within urban / built-up areas187, which has 

not been allocated within an adopted or emerging local plan; 

                                                 
184A land take threshold of 2.5ha before a MRA is needed for non-minerals development within rural and edge of urban localities represents a 
pragmatic approach to the effective implementation of mineral resource safeguarding in Gloucestershire.  A development of 2.5ha or more is 
more likely to be able to accommodate the degree of amenity and environmental protection and mitigation likely to be required with any 
prior working opportunities and be of a sufficient size in order to realise a large enough quantity of mineral to make any potential prior 
working realistically viable and achievable.  
185 For the purposes of policy MS01 ‘rural’ localities include all areas outside of a locally designated settlement boundary or settlement 
development limit  ‘Edge of urban’ localities also represent a ‘rural’ locality, but which is adjacent to land that falls under the definition of an 
‘urban / built-up’ area.  
186 The larger land take threshold afforded to urban areas (i.e. 5 ha) before a MRA is needed for non-minerals development has been applied 
in recognition of the likelihood that larger stand-off zones will be required to ensure the effective amenity protection and mitigation for 
sensitive neighbouring / nearby receptors such as housing and commercial premises and the consequential impact this may have on the 
availability and viability of prior working of underlying mineral resources.   
187 For the purposes of policy MS01 ‘urban / built-up’ areas include all those that form part of a locally defined: - key urban area, market 
town, rural service centre, local service centre, accessible settlement, or major village as used within the various settlement hierarchies of 
Gloucestershire’s districts adopted and emerging local plans.    
 

Page 154



Page |119 
 

Employment development188 of 1.5 ha189 or more within rural and / or edge of urban 

localities, which is not located upon an employment allocation within an adopted or 

emerging local plan; 

Employment development of 3 ha190 or more within urban / built-up areas, which is not 

located upon an employment allocation within an adopted or emerging local plan; 

All National Significant Infrastructure Projects (NSIPs) excluding gas pipelines or over 

ground electricity lines191; 

All sub-national infrastructure development, which falls outside of the NSIP thresholds 

and has a land take of 1.5 ha192 or more within rural and / or edge of urban localities;       

All sub-national infrastructure development, which falls outside of the NSIP thresholds 

and has a land take of 3 ha193 or more within urban / built-up areas;       

All development that also falls within a MCA and which is not exempt from the 

requirements of policy MS02 

 

  

 

 

  

                                                 
188 For the purposes of policy MS01 employment development includes: - retail, finance & professional services, and food & drink (use classes 
A1-A5); general business, industry and storage (use classes B1, B2 and B8); leisure and recreation (including use classes C1 and D2); and all 
other sui generis development that will generate employment.  
189 The reduced land take threshold afforded to employment development within rural / edge of urban localities reflects the increased 
prospect of there being less sensitivity adjacent land uses. New employment development is more often situated in localities that already 
experience some business / commercial development rather than more sensitive existing residential neighbourhoods. 
190 The same justification applies to a reduced land take threshold for employment development within urban / built-up areas as discussed in 
footnote 189. 
191 All NSIP projects that fall under part 3, section 14, sub-section 1 (b), (f) and (g) of the Planning Act 2008 - 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2008/29/contents  
192 The same justification applies to a reduced land take threshold for sub-national infrastructure within rural and / or edge of urban localities 
as discussed in footnote 189 
193 The same justification applies to a reduced land take threshold for sub-national infrastructure within urban / built-up areas as discussed in 
footnote 189 

Page 155

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2008/29/contents


Page |120 
 

Appendix 3 | MCA implementation schedule 

A3.1  The MCA implementation schedule is designed to assist Gloucestershire’s local 

planning authorities (i.e. boroughs, districts, and city) in assessing mineral site 

safeguarding matters in accordance with policy MS02.  The schedule includes 

the type of non-minerals development proposals within Gloucestershire’s Mineral 

Consultation Areas (MCAs) that do not require formal consultation with the 

Minerals Planning Authority (MPA) to establish whether a land use conflict may 

exist and / or that mitigation will be necessary to avoid prejudicing the operations 

of existing mineral workings of planned working in the future.  

A3.2 All non-minerals development proposals included on the schedule do not need 

to be assessed against the criteria set out under policy MS02. 

Non-minerals development proposals within a MCA that will NOT require 
consultation with the Mineral Planning Authority (MPA): - 

All development on land, which has already been allocated within an adopted / or 

emerging local plan and where no specific detailed policy requirement exists to consult 

the MPA. 

Infill development194 that is within a defined settlement boundary or settlement limit   

All minor householder development within the curtilage of an existing dwelling house 

All temporary development granted for no more than 5 years (excluding any renewal 

of temporary permission) 

Amendments to extant permissions (only if no additional land take is involved) 

All development for minor works such as alternations to existing buildings that involve 

no additional land take and boundary treatments and bus shelters  

All telecommunications development 

All other types of planning-related consents for advertisements; listed building 

consent; conservation area consent; works to trees; and the removal of hedgerows 

  

                                                 
194 For the purposes of policy MS02 infill development occurs where it is enclosed on at least two sides by functioning and previously 
developed land. 

Page 156



Page |121 
 

Appendix 4 | Safeguarded mineral infrastructure sites 

Type of safeguarded mineral 
infrastructure facility  

Site location 

Wharfage with storage / handling / 

processing potential 

The Docks, Sharpness, Berkeley, GL13 9UX 

Land next to Gloucester & Sharpness Canal and 

adjacent to The Old Log Pond, Bristol Road, 

Gloucester, GL2 5DH 

Concrete batching plant 

Land at Huntsman’s Quarry, Buckle Street, Naunton, 
GL54 3BA 

Land at the Old Bakery, Lower Tuffley Lane, 
Gloucester, GL2 5DP 

Land at Netherhills, Fromebridge Lane, Whitminister, 
GL2 7PD 

Land at Claydon Pike Works, Claydon Pike, Lechlade, 
GL7 3DT 

Land at Swindon Road, Cheltenham, GL51 9NB 

Hayricks Wharf, Tewkesbury Road, Cheltenham, 
GL51 9AA 

Land at Barnwood Junction, Myers Road Off Horton 
Road, Gloucester, GL1 3QA 

The Old Ryeford Sawmills, Ryeford Industrial Estate, 
Stonehouse, GL10 3HE 

The Old Log Pond, Bristol Road, Gloucester, GL2 

5DH 

Land at Golden Valley, Gloucester Road, Cheltenham, 

GL51 0TT 

Land at Ruardean Hill, Drybrook, GL17 9AR 

Coated Road stone Plant 

Land at Stowfield Quarry, Staunton Road, Coleford 
GL16 8NS 

Land at Clearwell Quarry, Stowe Green, St. Briavels, 
GL15 6QW 

Concrete Products Plant Land at Huntsman’s Quarry, Buckle Street, Naunton, 
GL54 3BA 

Page 157



Page |122 
 

Sites for handling and / or 

processing and distributing  

recycled and secondary 

aggregates 

Land at the Old Airfield, Moreton Valence, GL2 7NA 

Land at Netherhills, Fromebridge Lane, Whitminister, 

GL2 7PD 

Land at Allstone, Myers Rd, Gloucester, GL1 3QD 

Land off Buckle Street, Honeybourne, Evesham, 

WR11 7QE 

Land at Overton Farm, Maisemore, GL2 8HR 

Land at Javelin Park, Haresfield, GL10 3DP 

 

 

  

Page 158



Page |123 
 

Appendix 5 | Summary forecast of aggregate supplies and 

provision figures  

 

10-year rolling average of annual sales for primary land-won aggregates from 

within Gloucestershire (2005-2014 inclusive): -  

 1.517 million tonnes per annum for crushed rock  

 0.788 million tonnes per annum for sand and gravel;  

 
Source data: 4

th
 LAA for Gloucestershire 

 

Remaining reserves of primary land-won aggregates from within Gloucestershire 

as at the end of 31/12/2014: -  

 25.99 million tonnes for crushed rock;  

 5.46 million tonnes for sand and gravel  

 
Source data: 4

th
 LAA for Gloucestershire 

 

Total aggregates provision requirement in years 

Crushed Rock Sand & Gravel 

Years prior to adoption (2015-2017) #  3 Years prior to adoption (2015-2017) # 3 

Plan period (2018-2032) ## 15 Plan period (2018-2032) ## 15 

Landbank at end of plan (2033-2042) ### 10 Landbank at end of plan (2033-2039 )### 7 

Total requirement (years) 28 Total requirement (years) 25 

 
# Included because reserve data is only up until 31/12/2014 at this time; 
## See NPPF – paragraph 157, bullet 2; 
### See NPPF – paragraph 145, bullet 6 

 

Mineral 

A. 
Requirement 

(years) 

B. Annual 
provision (mt) 

C Total 
requirement 

D. Landbank 
as at 

31/12/2014 

Provision 
requirement 
for plan C-D 

Carboniferous 
Limestone 

28 *1.0619 29.733 *** 15.67 14.063 

Jurassic Limestone 28 ** 0.4551 12.743 *** 10.32 2.423 

Total Crushed Rock 28 1.517 42.476 25.99 16.486 

Sand & Gravel 25 0.788 19.7 5.46 14.24 

 
* Based on 70% of 1.517mt 
** Based on 30% of 1.517mt 
***  Taken from 2014 survey data  

Page 159



Page |124 
 

Appendix 6 | Detailed development requirements for plan 

allocations  

 

 Allocation 01 : Preferred Area at Stowe Hill / Clearwell; 

 Allocation 02 : Preferred Area at Drybrook; 

 Allocation 03 : Preferred Area at Stowfield; 

 Allocation 04 : Preferred Area at Daglingworth; 

 Allocation 05 : Preferred Area at Huntsman’s; 

 Allocation 06 : Specific Site at Manor Farm, Kempsford; 

 Allocation 07 : Preferred Area at Redpool’s Farm, Twyning; 

 Allocation 08 : Area of Search at Lady Lamb Farm, Fairford; 

 Allocation 09 : Areas of Search at Land between Kempsford & Whelford 

 Allocation 10: Areas of Search at Down Ampney and Charlham Farm 

  

Page 160



Page |125 
 

Allocation 01 – Preferred Area at Stowe Hill / Clearwell 
Aggregate type Forest of Dean (Carboniferous) Limestone 

Potential Yield  Between 10 and 17 mt Site Area  c. 54 

District Forest of Dean Parish Newland 

 
 

Page 161



Page |126 
 

Detailed Development Requirements for the Stowe Hill / Clearwell Preferred Area  

Theme Specific Requirement Linked to the 
delivery of  
plan objectives 

Landscape & 
Visual Impact 

A Landscape & Visual Impact Assessment will be necessary, which 
will analyse the sensitivity of national landscape character NCA 105 
(Forest of Dean and Lower Wye) and the regional / local level 
classification – The Limestone Plateau landscape character type and 
the Tidenham Chase landscape character area, which are both 
described in the Forest of Dean Landscape Character Assessment.  
The landscape impact on the Wye Valley AONB, which lies less than 
1km of the Preferred Area, will also require careful consideration.  In 
addition, potential visual impacts on nearby sensitive receptors will 
need to be scrutinised.  These include: - the individual properties, 
farms and agricultural premises that surround the parameter of the 
Preferred Area, the properties that form the hamlet of Trow Green; the 
settlements of Clearwell and Bream; nearby sections of the B4231 / 
Bream Avenue and B4228; and the network of paths and recreational 
routes in the locality.  Where potential impacts are identified and 
mitigation is required, due attention should be given to: - the early and 
progressive installation of grassed, perimeter screen mounds; the 
retention of existing hedgerows and field boundary vegetation within 
the Preferred Area for as long as possible; a stand-off area adjoining 
the Bearse Common woodland; and a phasing strategy that will see 
mineral working from the higher ground outwards with completion on 
the west side of the ridge before moving eastwards.  

ENV, LC 

Highways 

The permitted, but unimplemented access off the B4228 into the 
existing Stowe Hill Quarry should be utilised

195
.  This is in preference 

to creating any new vehicular access for the purpose of the Preferred 
Area or retaining the current operational access into the existing 
Clearwell Quarry 

MM 

Operational 
Matters / Site 
Infrastructure 

The existing infrastructure within Clearwell Quarry should be removed 
to allow progressive restoration in accordance with the extant 
permission.  Provision should be made for new site infrastructure to 
support the Preferred Area to be sited within the existing Stowe Hill 
Quarry.  The capacity of the Clearwell / Stowe Hill Quarry complex 
including the Preferred Area should be maintained at the permitted 
maximum overall output level of 600,000tpa

196
.  A new maximum 

output level would only be considered where this can be demonstrated 
to be acceptable in planning terms. 

MM, ENV, 
LC 

ProW 

An assessment of the PRoW network should be undertaken with 
particular attention given to paths RNE 66/1, RNE 67/1 and FSB 
138/1.  Advice should be sought from the Local Highways Authority 
regarding any proposals to temporarily divert or permanent re-routing 
any of the potentially affected paths. 

LC 

Local 
Communities 

An analysis of potential amenity impacts will be necessary.  Careful 
consideration should be paid to the local communities made up of the 
individual residential properties, farms and commercial enterprises 
located nearby to the Preferred Area and those that comprise the 
nearby hamlets of Stowe, Stowe Green, Trow Green, Mork and Lower 
Cross and the villages of Clearwell, Sling and St. Briavels 

LC 

                                                 
 
196

 Planning search reference: - 09/0072/FDMAJM – Phased relocation and replacement of the stone processing plant, office, staff facilities 

and workshop from Clearwell Quarry to Stowe Hill Quarry, erection of an environmental bund to attenuate noise, a new haul road and road 
access onto the B4228 and accompanying weighbridge/wheel wash facilities at Clearwell Quarry Stowe Green St Briavels Lydney. 

Page 162



Page |127 
 

Natural 
Environment 

An assessment of the natural environment surrounding and within the 
Preferred Area will be required.  This should consider potential 
impacts, their significance and possible mitigation measures, if 
required, on the following environmental designations in the locality: - 
Wye Valley & FoD Bat Sites SAC, Wye Valley Woodlands SAC, Old 
Bow & Old Ham Mines SSSI, Devil’s Chapel Scowles SSSI, Tudor 
Farm Bank SSSI, and the Slade Brook SSSI. It will also need to 
investigate and report upon possible impacts on priority habitats and / 
or priority species, which have been recorded adjacent or near to the 
Preferred Area.  An analysis of whether any significant effects on the 
Wye Valley & FoD Bat Sites SAC and / or Wye Valley Woodlands SAC 
either alone or in combination with other plans or projects, are likely to 
arise must also be carried out through formal screening to establish 
the need for an Appropriate Assessment (AA).   

ENV 

Geo-diversity 

An assessment of potential impacts on Stowe Green / Clearwell 
Quarries RIGS no. 236 should be carried out, which incorporates 
possible mitigation measures, if required.  Advice should be sought in 
this regard from the Gloucestershire Geology Trust 

ENV 

Archaeology / 
Historic 
Environment 

An archaeological assessment should be undertaken concerning the 
archaeological interest associated with the Preferred Area.  This must 
include both a pre-determination evaluation to establish the presence 
and significance of heritage assets; and a mitigation strategy that 
could introduce constraints upon future mineral working and 
associated activities in order to preserve key heritage assets and their 
settings; and the appropriate and proportionate recording and / or 
excavation of all other heritage assets. 

ENV 

Water 
Resources 

A hydrogeological impact assessment should be completed, which will 
consider potential risks, their significance and possible mitigation 
measures, if required, on the nearby surface water bodies up to 1km 
from the Preferred Area. Particularly attention will need to be paid to 
the possible impacts / risk to the Slade Brook – an active tufa-forming 
stream of national importance, which may be sensitive to local 
hydrological change.  A review of the underlying geology should also 
be carried out to identify the presence of a designated aquifer. This 
may result in the need to investigate hydrological characteristics in 
terms of transmissivity (i.e. groundwater flow rate); porosity; yield; and 
hydraulic conductivity; and possible risk from contamination.  In 
preparing any hydrological mitigation, attention should be given to 
reducing the impact of any dewatering that may be proposed through 
sub-dividing the working area into smaller cells to reduce the active 
perimeter; and restricting the practice during storm events to ensure 
receiving waters have appropriate capacity for the flow.  For 
minimising the risk to water quality, bunded tanks and drip trays to 
prevent spillages should be proposed, along with settlement (silt) 
ponds or proprietary equipment 

ENV, LC 

Flood Risk 

A flood risk assessment should be carried out, which affords attention 
to the possibility of elevated risks associated with groundwater flooding 
and increased surface water run-off.  Potential sensitive receptors 
surrounding the site should be investigated.  Mitigation to minimise the 
impact of flood risk that require consideration include: - the placing of 
any buildings, storage and stockpiling and other site infrastructure 
away from areas susceptibly to surface water flooding; and the 
provision of appropriate flow balancing using sustainable drainage 
systems. 

ENV, LC 

Page 163



Page |128 
 

Restoration 
opportunities 
& constraints 

Integration of restoration proposals with the existing Clearwell and 
Stowe Hill Quarry complex restoration plans should be explored 
including agriculture and / or woodland after-uses, along with 
opportunities to achieve biodiversity enhancements.  This may be 
realised through contributing to the Wye Valley Woods SNAs and 
facilitating the commuting patterns of protected Bats using hedgerow 
planting.  Woodland and / or support for natural regeneration of the 
area may prove particularly relevant nearby to the existing established 
wooded areas such as Bearse Common and along the lower, steeper 
slopes and benches.  Furthermore, any restored and infilled parcels of 
land using inert materials should not exceed the pre-working ground 
level and must provide safe pathways for groundwater to move around 
or through in order to avoid creating heightened flood risk. 

RA 

  

Page 164



Page |129 
 

Allocation 02 – Preferred Area at Drybrook 
Aggregate type Forest of Dean (Carboniferous) 

Potential Yield < 4mt (<. 3.2mt up to gas pipeline) Site Area  Approx. 10ha 

District Forest of Dean Parish Ruardean 

 
  

Page 165



Page |130 
 

Detailed Development Requirements for the Drybrook Preferred Area  

Theme Specific Requirement Linked to the 
delivery of  
plan objectives 

Landscape & 
Visual Impact 

A Landscape & Visual Impact Assessment will be necessary, which 
will analyse the sensitivity of national landscape character NCA 105 
(Forest of Dean and Lower Wye) and the regional / local level 
classification – The Limestone Hills landscape character type and the 
Ruardean Hills landscape character area, which are both described in 
the Forest of Dean Landscape Character Assessment.  Consideration 
should also be given to potential visual impacts on nearby sensitive 
receptors that may include: - individual properties, farms and 
agricultural premises particularly those located at the western end of 
Morse Lane, the properties that comprise the south east and south 
west of Drybrook; the settlement of Ruardean, and the network of 
paths and recreational routes in the locality.  Where potential impacts 
are identified and mitigation is required, due attention should be given 
to bunding and hedgerow planting focused on screening views from 
the nearby receptors mentioned above.  Integration with previously 
implemented landscape mitigation measures at Drybrook quarry 
should also be assessed. 

ENV, LC 

Highways 

The access for the existing Drybrook Quarry should be utilised.  This is 
in preference to creating a new vehicular access for the purpose of the 
Preferred Area.  A Transport Assessment may be necessary if an 
extension of time is required to use existing site infrastructure. 

MM 

Operational 
Matters / Site 
Infrastructure 

Site infrastructure contained within existing Drybrook Quarry should be 
utilised.  Separate provision should not be made within the Preferred 
Area.  The capacity of the Drybrook Quarry complex including the 
Preferred Area should be maintained at or near to levels identified in 
the supporting application information for the most recent permission 
at Drybrook Quarry

197
.   

ENV, LC, 
MM 

PRoW 

An assessment of the PRoW network should be undertaken with 
particular attention given to paths DRD 11 and 43.  Advice should be 
sought from the Local Highways Authority regarding any proposals to 
temporarily divert or permanent re-routing either of the potentially 
affected paths. 

LC 

Local 
Communities 

An analysis of potential amenity impacts will be necessary.  Careful 
consideration should be paid to the local communities made up of the 
individual residential properties, farms and commercial enterprises 
located nearby to the Preferred Area and those that comprise the 
settlements of Ruardean, Ruardean Hill, Drybrook and Puddlebrook.   

LC 

Natural 
Environment 

An assessment of the natural environment surrounding the Preferred 
Area will be required.  This should consider potential impacts, their 
significance and possible mitigation measures, if required, on the 
following nearby (i.e. less than 1km) environmental designations: - 
Woodlands near Hope Mansell Local Wildlife Site (Herefordshire), Lea 
Bailey Enclosure Local Wildlife Site (Herefordshire) and Ruardean 
Hills KWS.  It will also need to investigate and report upon possible 
impacts on priority habitats and / or priority species, which have been 
recorded adjacent or within 1km of the Preferred Area.  An analysis of 
whether any significant effects on internationally and nationally 
designated sites may arise must also be incorporated into the 
assessment. 

ENV 

                                                 
197 Planning search reference: - 14/0032/FDMAJM – Variation of condition 2 to extend the time period for completion of quarrying and 
restoration on appeal reference APP/T1600/A/90/155527 dated 27.01.1992 [for the winning and working of minerals, erection of processing 
plant and associated landscape works] at Drybrook Quarries Ltd Hawthorns Road Drybrook Gloucestershire 

Page 166



Page |131 
 

Archaeology / 
Historic 
Environment 

An assessment of heritage assets should be undertaken for the 
Preferred Area that incorporates an analysis of its potential 
archaeological interest. This must include both a pre-determination 
evaluation to establish the presence and significance of heritage 
assets; and a mitigation strategy that could introduce constraints upon 
future mineral working and associated activities in order to preserve 
key heritage assets and their settings; and the archaeological 
recording and / or excavation of all other heritage assets.  Of potential 
relevance to the Preferred Area is evidence of early activity from the 
prehistoric or Roman period, which has been drawn from recordings at 
the adjacent Drybrook quarry and the surrounding landscape.  This will 
need to be appropriately evaluated. 

ENV 

Water 
Resources 

A hydrogeological impact assessment should be completed, which will  
consider potential risks, their significance and possible mitigation 
measures, if required, on the following nearby surface water bodies 
(i.e. within 1km): - Cinderford Brook Source to Blackpool Brook, Dry 
Brook, Bailey Brook, Lodgegrove Brook, and quarry lagoons at the 
existing Drybrook quarry.  The underlying geology, which has been 
classified as a Principal aquifer will also need to be analysed to 
establish its characteristics in terms of transmissivity (i.e. groundwater 
flow rate); porosity; yield; and hydraulic conductivity; and possible risk 
from contamination.  In preparing any hydrological mitigation, attention 
should be given to reducing the impact of any dewatering through sub-
dividing the working area into smaller cells to reduce the active 
perimeter; and restricting the practice during storm events to ensure 
receiving waters have appropriate capacity for the flow.  For 
minimising the risk to water quality, bunded tanks and drip trays to 
prevent spillages should be proposed, along with settlement (silt) 
ponds or proprietary equipment. 

ENV, LC 

Flood Risk 

A flood risk assessment should be carried out, which affords attention 
to the possibility of elevated risks associated with groundwater flooding 
and increased surface water run-off.  Potential sensitive receptors 
include the residential properties and commercial premises of 
Ruardean, the northern side of Ruardean Hill and Drybrook.  Mitigation 
to minimise the impact of flood risk that require consideration include: - 
the placing of buildings, storage and stockpiling and other site 
infrastructure away from areas susceptibly to surface water flooding; 
and the provision of appropriate flow balancing using sustainable 
drainage systems. 

ENV, LC 

Restoration 
opportunities 
& constraints 

Integration of restoration proposals with the existing Drybrook Quarry 
restoration plan should be explored including grassland and / or 
woodland after-uses, along with seeking opportunities to achieve 
biodiversity enhancements.  This may prove particularly relevant 
nearby to existing established wooded areas and along the upper 
slopes and benches of the northern boundary, close to where a 
relatively recent plantation has developed.  Furthermore, any restored 
and infilled parcels of land using inert materials should not exceed the 
pre-working ground level and must provide safe pathways for 
groundwater to move around or through in order to avoid creating 
heightened flood risk. 

RA 

 

  

Page 167



Page |132 
 

Allocation 03 - Preferred Area at Stowfield 
Aggregate type Forest of Dean (Carboniferous) Limestone 

Potential Yield  c. 7.4mt Site Area  20ha 

District Forest of Dean Parish Coleford and Staunton Coleford  

 

Page 168



Page |133 
 

Detailed Development Requirements for the Stowfield Preferred Area  

Theme Specific Requirement Linked to the 
delivery of  plan 
objectives 

Landscape & 
Visual Impact 

A Landscape & Visual Impact Assessment will be necessary, which 
must acknowledge the wider Wye Valley AONB designation that the 
Preferred Area is located within.  This should be achieved by 
analysing the sensitivity of national landscape character NCA 105 
(Forest of Dean and Lower Wye) and the regional / local level 
classification – The Limestone Hills landscape character type and the 
Highmeadow Woods and Staunton Hills landscape character area, 
which are both described in the Forest of Dean Landscape Character 
Assessment.  In addition, the presence of the Preferred Area within 
the Wye Valley AONB’s Landscape Management Zone 10 – Dean 
Edge Limestone Hills should also be taken into account. 

ENV, LC 

Highways 
The access for the existing Stowfield Quarry should be utilised.  A 
Transport Assessment may be necessary if an extension of time is 
required to use existing site infrastructure. 

MM 

Operational 
Matters / Site 
Infrastructure 

Site infrastructure contained within existing Stowfield Quarry should 
be utilised.  The capacity of Stowfield Quarry including the Preferred 
Area should be maintained at the permitted maximum overall output 
level (This is present 800,000 tpa, but subject to meeting conditions 
of a s.106 legal agreement could rise to 1.2mtpa. A quarterly 
restriction of no more than 400,000 tonnes is also in place)

198
. 

ENV, LC 

Local 
Communities 

An analysis of potential amenity impacts will be necessary.  Careful 
consideration should be paid to the local communities made up of the 
individual residential properties, farms and commercial enterprises 
located nearby to the Preferred Area and those that comprise the 
nearby hamlets and villages of Crossways, Scowles, Staunton and 
Newland. 

LC 

Natural 
Environment 
 

An assessment of the natural environment surrounding and within the 
Preferred Area will be required.  This should consider potential 
impacts, their significance and possible mitigation measures, if 
required, on the following nearby (i.e. less than 1km) environmental 
designations: - Wye Valley Woodlands Sites SAC; Dingle Wood 
SSSI; Swanpool Wood & Furnace Grove SSSI; Blakes Wood KWS; 
Whitecliffe Recreation Ground KWS; and Staunton Woods KWS.  An 
analysis of whether any significant effects on the Wye Valley 
Woodlands Sites SAC either alone or in combination with other plans 
or projects, are likely to arise must also be carried out through formal 
screening to establish the need for an Appropriate Assessment (AA).   

ENV 

Water 
Resources 

A hydrogeological impact assessment should be completed, which 
will  consider potential risks, their significance and possible mitigation 
measures, if required, on the nearby surface water bodies up to 1km.  
A review of the underlying geology should also be carried out to 
identify the presence of a designated aquifer. This may result in the 
need to investigate hydrological characteristics in terms of 
transmissivity (i.e. groundwater flow rate); porosity; yield; and 
hydraulic conductivity; and possible risk from contamination.  In 
preparing any hydrological mitigation, attention should be given to 
reducing the impact of any dewatering that may be proposed through 
sub-dividing the working area into smaller cells to reduce the active 
perimeter; and restricting the practice during storm events to ensure 

ENV, LC 

                                                 
198 Planning search reference: - 09/0013/FDMAJM –  Extension to Stowfield and Rogers Quarries for the extraction of dolomitic limestone at 
Stowfield Quarry Scowles Road Scowles Coleford Gloucestershire 

Page 169



Page |134 
 

receiving waters have appropriate capacity for the flow.  For 
minimising the risk to water quality, bunded tanks and drip trays to 
prevent spillages should be proposed, along with settlement (silt) 
ponds or proprietary equipment. 

Flood Risk 

A flood risk assessment should be carried out, which affords attention 
to the possibility of elevated risks associated with groundwater 
flooding and increased surface water run-off.  Potential sensitive 
receptors surrounding the site should be investigated.  Mitigation to 
minimise the impact of flood risk that require consideration include: - 
the placing of any buildings, storage and stockpiling and other site 
infrastructure away from areas susceptibly to surface water flooding; 
and the provision of appropriate flow balancing using sustainable 
drainage systems. 

ENV, LC 

Restoration 
opportunities & 
constraints 

Full integration of restoration proposals with the existing Stowfield 
Quarry restoration plan will be required.  This presently includes a 
strategy of minimal landscaping and natural re-colonisation 
processes. 

RA 

  

Page 170



Page |135 
 

Allocation 04 - Preferred Area at Daglingworth 
Aggregate type Cotswolds (Jurassic) Limestone 

Potential Yield  9mt Site Area  17ha 

District Cotswold Parish Daglingworth 

 

Page 171



Page |136 
 

Detailed Development Requirements for the Daglingworth Preferred Area  

Theme Specific Requirement Linked to the 
delivery of  
plan 
objectives 

Landscape & 
Visual Impact 

A Landscape & Visual Impact Assessment will be necessary, which must 
acknowledge the wider Cotswold AONB designation that the Preferred 
Area is located within.  This should be achieved by analysing the 
sensitivity of national landscape character NCA 107 (Cotswolds) and the 
regional / local level classification – The High Wold Dip Slope landscape 
character type and area.  Consideration should also be given to potential 
visual impacts on nearby sensitive receptors that may include a number of 
individual properties, farms and agricultural premises; the settlements of 
Woodmancote and Bagendon; several nearby paths and recreational 
routes and the highway network along the A417, Welsh Way and Cutham 
Lane.  Where potential impacts are identified and mitigation is required, 
due attention should be given to facilitating new planting opportunities 
along the boundary with the A417 and also the future maintenance of 
existing planting along the north east, north west and south east of the 
Preferred Area. 

ENV, LC 

Soil 
Resources 

A soil impact assessment should be undertaken, which identifies potential 
impacts and possible mitigation, if required, particularly in light of the 
presence of agricultural land of BMVAL quality grade 3b. 

ENV, LC 

Highways 

The existing access into the existing Daglingworth Quarry should be 
utilised.  A new vehicular access for the purpose of the Preferred Area 
should not be proposed.  For all non-local freight movements, the A417 
should be employed as the preferred haulage route.   

MM 

Operational 
Matters / Site 
Infrastructure 

Provision should be made for a service tunnel between the Preferred Area 
and the existing Daglingworth Quarry.  This is to allow the movement of 
worked minerals for both use of the existing quarry infrastructure and 
onward export, whilst avoiding constraints that exist on the parcel of land 
between the two areas. 

ENV, LC, 
MM 

PRoW 

An assessment of the PRoW network should be undertaken with particular 
attention given to paths BDH 3/2 and 10/1.  Advice should be sought from 
the Local Highways Authority regarding any proposals to temporarily 
divert or permanent re-routing either of the potentially affected paths. 

LC 

Local 
Communities 

An analysis of potential amenity impacts will be necessary.  Careful 
consideration should be paid to the local communities that comprise the 
individual residential properties, farms and commercial enterprises located 
nearby to the Preferred Area and those which form the hamlets of Itlay 
and Upper End near to Bagendon. 

LC 

 
Natural 
Environment  

An assessment of the natural environment surrounding and within the 
Preferred Area will be required.  This should consider potential impacts, 
their significance and possible mitigation measures, if required, on the 
following nearby (i.e. less than 1km) environmental designations: - High 
Tun Farm KWS, Itlay KWS, Stancombe Grove & Oysterwell Wood KWS, 
Bagendon Grove & Oysterwell Wood KWS, Merchants Downs KWS, 
Daglingworth & Snakes Groves KWS, Duntisbourne Grove KWS and Five 
Acre Grove (Bagendon) KWS.  It will also need to investigate and report 
upon possible impacts on priority habitats and / or priority species, which 
have been recorded within 1km of the Preferred Area.  An analysis of 
whether any significant effects on internationally and nationally designated 
sites may arise must also be incorporated into the assessment. 

ENV 

Page 172



Page |137 
 

Geo-diversity 
 
 

An assessment of potential impacts on Daglingworth Quarry RIGS no. 165 
should be carried out, which incorporates possible mitigation measures, if 
required.  Advice should be sought in this regard from the Gloucestershire 
Geology Trust  

ENV 

Archaeology / 
Historic 
Environment 

An assessment of heritage assets should be undertaken for the Preferred 
Area that incorporates an analysis of its potential archaeological interest.  
This must include both a pre-determination evaluation to establish the 
presence and significance of heritage assets; and a mitigation strategy 
that could introduce constraints upon future mineral working and 
associated activities in order to preserve key heritage assets and their 
settings; and the appropriate and proportionate recording and / or 
excavation of all other heritage assets.  Of potential relevance to the 
Preferred Area, which will need to be evaluated, is the linear earthwork 
located close to the south eastern boundary and its setting; and other 
features associated with the historic settlement of Bagendon and their 
settings. 

ENV 

Water 
Resources 

A hydrogeological impact assessment should be completed, which will  
consider potential risks, their significance and possible mitigation 
measures, if required, on the nearby surface water bodies up to 1km.  A 
review of the underlying geology should also be carried out to identify the 
presence of a designated aquifer. This may result in the need to 
investigate hydrological characteristics in terms of transmissivity (i.e. 
groundwater flow rate); porosity; yield; and hydraulic conductivity; and 
possible risk from contamination.  In preparing any hydrological mitigation, 
attention should be given to reducing the impact of any dewatering that 
may be proposed through sub-dividing the working area into smaller cells 
to reduce the active perimeter; and restricting the practice during storm 
events to ensure receiving waters have appropriate capacity for the flow.  
For minimising the risk to water quality, bunded tanks and drip trays to 
prevent spillages should be proposed, along with settlement (silt) ponds or 
proprietary equipment. 

ENV, LC 

Flood Risk  

A flood risk assessment should be carried out, which affords attention to 
the possibility of elevated risks associated with groundwater flooding and 
increased surface water run-off.  Potential sensitive receptors surrounding 
the site should be investigated.  Mitigation to minimise the impact of flood 
risk that require consideration include: - the placing of any buildings, 
storage and stockpiling and other site infrastructure away from areas 
susceptibly to surface water flooding; and the provision of appropriate flow 
balancing using sustainable drainage systems. 

ENV, LC 

Restoration 
opportunities 
& constraints 

Consideration should be given to facilitating agriculture and / or woodland 
as possible beneficial after-uses.  This should occur alongside 
opportunities to achieve both local biodiversity and geo-diversity 
enhancements.  In respect to the latter, the potential of a lookout 
viewpoint(s) alongside relevant sections of path BDH3 should be 
assessed.   

RA 

 

 

  

Page 173



Page |138 
 

Allocation 05 - Preferred Areas at Huntsman’s 
Aggregate type Cotswolds (Jurassic) Limestone 

Potential Yield  Up to 10mt Site Area  39ha 

District Cotswold Parish Naunton 

 

Page 174



Page |139 
 

Detailed Development Requirements for the Huntsman’s Preferred Areas  

Theme Specific Requirement Linked to the 
delivery of  
plan 
objectives 

Landscape & 
Visual Impact 

A Landscape & Visual Impact Assessment will be necessary, which must 
acknowledge the wider Cotswold AONB designation that the Preferred 
Area is located within.  This should be achieved by analysing the 
sensitivity of national landscape character NCA 107 (Cotswolds) and that 
of the regional / local level classification – The High Wold landscape 
character type and area.  Consideration should also be given to potential 
visual impacts on nearby sensitive receptors that may include a number of 
individual properties, farms and agricultural premises and numerous 
recreational paths and routes present in the locality.  
 
Specifically for the southern Preferred Area: - 
The sensitivity of the Sumerhill prehistoric site Scheduled Ancient 
Monument will need to be scrutinised.  Where potential impacts are 
identified and mitigation is required careful consideration will need to be 
given to screening around the perimeter of the Preferred Area and 
particularly bolstering / gapping-up of existing hedgerows and boundary 
vegetation along Buckle Street (C103).   
 
Specifically for the western Preferred Area: - 
Particular attention should be paid to Bowl Barrows Scheduled Ancient 
Monuments and the campsite and Wildlife Walk associated with Cotswold 
Farm Park.  Where potential impacts are identified and mitigation is 
required due attention should be given to: - gapping-up of existing 
vegetation and hedgerows along the eastern boundary at Snowshill Road 
to Chapel Ash and along Buckle Street (C103); the creation of grassland 
bunds around the perimeter of Preferred Area; and improvements to the 
existing dry-stone wall along the northern side of the access track linking 
to Tinker’s Barn. 

ENV, LC 

Soil 
Resources 

A soil impact assessment should be undertaken, which identifies potential 
impacts and possible mitigation, if required, particularly in light of the 
presence of agricultural land of BMVAL quality grade 3a. 

ENV, LC 

Highways 

The access arrangements at the existing Huntsman’s quarry should be 
utilised rather than a new separate vehicular access for either of the 
Preferred Areas.  A Transport Assessment may be necessary if an 
extension of time is required to use existing site infrastructure. 

MM 

Operational 
Matters / Site 
Infrastructure 

Site infrastructure contained within existing Huntsman’s quarry should be 
utilised.  Alternative, separate provision should not be made within the 
Preferred Areas.  The capacity of Huntsman’s quarry complex including 
from the Preferred Areas should be maintained at the permitted maximum 
overall output level (500,000tpa)

199
.  This includes for both any aggregates 

and non-aggregates worked at the Huntsman’s quarry complex.   

ENV, LC, 
MM 

Local 
Communities 

An analysis of potential amenity impacts will be necessary.  Careful 
consideration should be paid to the local communities made up of the 
individual residential properties, farms and commercial and leisure 
enterprises located nearby to the Preferred Areas. 

LC 

                                                 
199 Planning search reference: - 06/0038/CWFUL – Deepening of the existing quarry floor by approximately 12 metres, to include a revision to 
the approved scheme of working, a revision to the approved restoration contours, and a programme for the development of a sequence of 
silt lagoons (reference CD.0165/1/X) at Huntsmans Quarry Naunton Gloucestershire  

Page 175



Page |140 
 

Natural 
Environment 

An assessment of the natural environment surrounding and within the 
Preferred Areas will be required.  This should consider potential impacts, 
their significance and possible mitigation measures, if required, on the 
following nearby (i.e. less than 1km) environmental designations: - 
Huntsman's Quarry SSSI, Barton Bushes SSSI, Warren Beds KWS and 
Barton Vale KWS.  It will also need to investigate and report upon possible 
impacts on priority habitats and / or priority species, which have been 
recorded within 1km of the Preferred Area.  An analysis of whether any 
significant effects on internationally and nationally designated sites may 
arise must also be incorporated into the assessment. 

ENV 

Geo-diversity 

An appraisal of potential geo-diversity matters should be carried out.  This 
should acknowledge previous recorded exposures of ‘Cotswold Slates’ 
and fossil-bearing rocks.  Consideration should also be given to whether 
conservation of geo-diversity may be achievable and advice may be 
needed to this affect from the Gloucestershire Geology Trust, who have 
experience of engagement with previous mineral working at Huntsman’s 
quarry (see RIGS site no.92) 

ENV 

Archaeology / 
Historic 
Environment 

An assessment of heritage assets should be undertaken for the Preferred 
Areas that incorporates an analysis of its potential archaeological interest, 
particularly the presence of several Scheduled Ancient Monuments 
nearby.  This must include both a pre-determination evaluation to 
establish the presence and significance of heritage assets; and a 
mitigation strategy that could introduce constraints upon future mineral 
working and associated activities in order to preserve key heritage assets 
and their settings; and the appropriate and proportionate recording and / 
or excavation of all other heritage assets. 

ENV 

Water 
Resources 

A hydrogeological impact assessment should be completed, which will 
consider potential risks, their significance and possible mitigation 
measures, if required, on the following nearby surface water bodies (i.e. 
within 1km – 3km): - River Windrush, River Eye, several springs feeding 
an unnamed tributary of the Windrush; and small ponds and a small lake 
that relate the existing Huntsman’s Quarry.  The Preferred Areas is also 
located less than 1km of a Source Protection Zone Level 3 and the 
underlying geology, which has been classified as a Principal aquifer will 
also need to be analysed to establish its characteristics in terms of 
transmissivity (i.e. groundwater flow rate); porosity; yield; and hydraulic 
conductivity; and possible risk from contamination.  In preparing any 
hydrological mitigation, attention should be given to reducing the impact of 
any dewatering through sub-dividing the working area into smaller cells to 
reduce the active perimeter; and restricting the practice during storm 
events to ensure receiving waters have appropriate capacity for the flow.  
For minimising the risk to water quality, bunded tanks and drip trays to 
prevent spillages should be proposed, along with settlement (silt) ponds or 
proprietary equipment. 

ENV, LC 

Flood Risk 

A flood risk assessment should be carried out, focused on the possibility 
of elevated risks from groundwater flooding and increased surface water 
run-off.  Potential sensitive receptors include Summerhill Farm (to the 
south) and the offices of the existing Huntsman’s Quarry.  Mitigation to 
minimise the impact of flood risk could include: - the placing of buildings, 
storage and stockpiling and other site infrastructure away from areas 
susceptibly to surface water flooding; and the provision of appropriate flow 
balancing using sustainable drainage systems. 

ENV, LC 

Page 176



Page |141 
 

Restoration 
opportunities 
& constraints 

Integration of restoration proposals with the existing Huntsman’s Quarry 
restoration plan should be explored.  For the western Preferred Area 
consideration should also be given to the restoration plan concerning the 
existing Tinkers Barn Quarry.  The Preferred Areas are also close by to 
the Brockhill B SNA and as such opportunities to support beneficial after-
uses involving the creation of calcareous grassland should also be 
encouraged.  Furthermore, it would be advantageous to re-create internal 
field boundaries and seek the reinstatement and / or building of new dry-
stone walls as additional boundary features  All restored and infilled 
parcels of land using inert materials must not exceed the pre-working 
ground level and provide safe pathways for groundwater to move around 
or through in order to avoid heightened flood risk. 

RA 

  

Page 177



Page |142 
 

Allocation 06 - Specific Site at Manor Farm, Kempsford 
Aggregate type Sand & Gravel 

Potential Yield  3.2mt Site Area (hectares) 85.5ha 

District Cotswold Parish Kempsford 

 
  

Page 178



Page |143 
 

Detailed Development Requirements for the Manor Farm Specific Site  

Theme Specific Requirement Linked to the 
delivery of  
plan 
objectives 

UPDATE as of June 2016 
 
The planning application under search reference: – 13/0097/CWMAJM for the extension of sand 
and gravel extraction and associated activities at Manor Farm Quarry, Washpool Lane, 
Kempsford encompasses the Specific Site – Allocation 8 of the Draft Minerals Local Plan for 
Gloucestershire. The County Council Planning Committee at its meeting of the 12

th
 May 2016, 

resolved to approve the application subject to the completion of a Section 106 legal agreement to 
secure off-site monitoring of ground and surface water levels and bird hazard management. In 
the event the legal agreement can be completed the Specific Site will be removed from the 
emerging plan as all relevant matters will have been resolved.     

Landscape & 
Visual Impact 

A Landscape & Visual Impact Assessment will be necessary, which will 
analyse the sensitivity of national landscape character NCA 108 (Upper 
Thames Clay Vales) and the regional / local level classification – River 
Basin Lowland landscape character type and the Fairford and Lechlade 
landscape character area, that are both described in the Various Vales 
(Gloucestershire) Landscape Character Assessment.  Consideration 
should also be given to potential visual impacts on nearby sensitive 
receptors that may include: - the properties that form the settlements of 
Whelford and Kempsford; the network of paths and recreational routes in 
the locality; and Whelford Road running north from Kempsford to 
Whelford.  Where potential impacts are identified and mitigation is 
required, particular attention should be given to the placement and 
subsequent management of soil storage and noise attenuation bunds; 
and the maintenance of buffers around existing public footpaths through 
the site along with hedgerow planting and screening. 

ENV, LC 

Soil 
Resources 

A soil impact assessment should be undertaken, which identifies 
potential impacts and possible mitigation, if required, particularly in light 
of the presence of agricultural land of BMVAL quality grades 3a and 3b. 

ENV, LC 

Highways 

The access arrangements at the existing Manor Farm Quarry should be 
utilised rather than a new separate vehicular access for the Specific Site.  
A Transport Assessment may be necessary if an extension of time is 
required in order to use existing site infrastructure. 

MM 

Operational 
Matters / Site 
Infrastructure 

Site infrastructure contained within existing Manor Farm Quarry should 
be utilised and the capacity of the existing Manor Farm Quarry including 
from the Specific Site should be maintained at the permitted maximum 
overall output level.  

ENV, LC, 
MM 

PRoW 

An assessment of the PRoW network should be undertaken with 
particular attention given to paths BKD 19/1, 19/2, 27/1, 28/1, 34/1, 34/2.  
Advice should be sought from the Local Highways Authority regarding 
any proposals to temporarily divert or permanent re-routing of any the 
potentially affected paths. 

LC 

Local 
Communities 

An analysis of potential amenity impacts will be necessary.  Careful 
consideration should be paid to the local communities made up of the 
individual residential properties, farms and commercial enterprises 
located nearby to the Specific Site and those that comprise the villages 
of Kempsford and Whelford.   

LC 

Page 179



Page |144 
 

Aerodrome 
Safeguarding 

A full assessment of aviation safety should be carried out as the Specific 
Site lies within the safeguarding zone for RAF Fairford and RAF Brize 
Norton. It also falls within a zone where Instrumental Landing Systems 
(ILSs) may need to be operated. Any assessment must also consider 
statutory explosive and birdstrike safeguarding matters.  DIO 
Safeguarding will be consulted on all minerals development proposals 
within the Specific Site. 

LC 

Natural 
Environment 

An assessment of the natural environment surrounding and within the 
Specific Site will be required.  This should consider potential impacts, 
their significance and possible mitigation measures, if required, on the 
following nearby (i.e. less than 1km) environmental designations: - 
Cotswold Water Park SSSI, Cotswold Water Park KWS and Jenner's 
Farm Field KWS.  It will also need to investigate and report upon 
possible impacts on priority habitats and / or priority species, which have 
been recorded on, adjacent and within 1km of the Specific Site.  An 
analysis of whether any significant effects on internationally and 
nationally designated sites may arise must also be incorporated into the 
assessment. 

ENV 

Archaeology 
/Historic 
Environment 

An assessment of heritage assets should be undertaken for the Specific 
Site that incorporates an analysis of its potential archaeological interest.  
This must include both a pre-determination evaluation to establish the 
presence and significance of heritage assets; and a mitigation strategy 
that could introduce constraints upon future mineral working and 
associated activities in order to preserve key heritage assets and their 
settings; and the appropriate and proportionate recording and / or 
excavation of all other heritage assets. 

ENV 

Water 
Resources  

A hydrogeological impact assessment should be completed, which will 
consider potential risks, their significance and possible mitigation 
measures, if required, on the following nearby surface water bodies (i.e. 
within 1km): - Dudgrove Brook and several of its local tributaries and 
network of drains; River Coln; Thames & Severn Canal; River Thames; 
Bowmoor Lake; Coln Park Lake; and a number of unnamed ponds 
concentrated to the north east of the Specific Site.  The Specific Site is 
also located less than 1km of a Source Protection Zone Level 3 and the 
underlying geology has been classified as a Secondary Aquifer of High 
Vulnerability.  This means the area is able to easily transmit pollution 
through to groundwater.  In preparing any hydrological mitigation, 
attention should be given to reducing the impact of any dewatering 
through sub-dividing the working area into smaller cells to reduce the 
active perimeter; and restricting the practice during storm events to 
ensure receiving waters have appropriate capacity for the flow.  For 
minimising the risk to water quality, bunded tanks and drip trays to 
prevent spillages should be proposed, along with settlement (silt) ponds 
or proprietary equipment. 

ENV, LC 

Flood Risk 

A flood risk assessment should be carried out focused on the risk of river 
flooding, groundwater flooding and increased surface water run-off.  
Particular attention will also need to be given to the identification of 
Flood Zone area 2 over the site.  Potential sensitive receptors that may 
be subject to flood risk and will therefore require scrutiny include the 
properties that comprise the village of Whelford and RAF Fairford.  
Mitigation to minimise the impact on flood risk could include: - the 
placing of buildings, storage and stockpiling and other site infrastructure 
away from areas susceptibly to surface water flooding; and the provision 
of appropriate flow balancing using sustainable drainage systems. 

ENV, LC 

Page 180



Page |145 
 

Restoration 
opportunities 
& constraints 

Integration of restoration proposals with the existing Manor Farm Quarry 
complex restoration plans should be explored.  The re-instatement of 
footpaths and additional permissive paths to provide enhanced links to 
the surrounding public rights of way network is advisable as well as 
opportunities to achieve biodiversity enhancements, through contributing 
to the Coln Corridor SNA and Jenner's Farm Field KWS.  Key features 
worth investigating include: - the creation a series of ditch structures and 
hedge and tree lines; and facilitating species rich, rough grassland 
alongside more traditional agriculture.  The former of these features may 
also support a combined water management regime.  Careful 
consideration must also be given to continued aviation safeguarding 
associated with RAF Fairford such as avoiding heightened risk of bird 
strike.  Furthermore, whilst restoration back to original / or near original 
ground level should be the preferred approach, any infilling of parcels 
using inert materials must provide safe pathways for groundwater to 
move around or through in order to avoid creating heightened flood risk. 
Opportunities to contribute towards beneficial and supported landscape-
scale change or enhancement as guided through the Cotswold Water 
Park Master Plan should also be examined. 

RA 

 

 

  

Page 181



Page |146 
 

Allocation 07 - Preferred Area at Redpool’s Farm, Twyning 
Aggregate type Sand & Gravel 

Potential Yield  c. 450-500,000mt Site Area  32ha 

District Tewkesbury Parish Twyning 

 

 

Page 182



Page |147 
 

Detailed Development Requirements for the Redpool’s Farm Preferred Area  

Theme Specific Requirement Linked to the 
delivery of  
plan 
objectives 

Landscape & 
Visual Impact 

A Landscape & Visual Impact Assessment will be necessary, which will 
analyse the sensitivity of national landscape character NCA 106 (Severn 
and Avon Vales) and the regional / local level classification –Unwooded 
Vale and River Meadows landscape character type and the Twyning Hills 
and Mythe Meadows landscape character areas that are described in the 
Various Vales (Gloucestershire) Landscape Character Assessment.  
Consideration should also be given to potential visual impacts on nearby 
sensitive receptors that may include: - a number of individual properties 
and farms that surround the Preferred Area and the network of paths and 
recreational routes in the locality. Of particular significance is the potential 
visual impact of distant views, most notable the eastern part of the site 
near to the A38, which is on elevated ground. Where potential impacts are 
identified and mitigation is required, attention should be given to a 
combination of mounding and boundary planting both of new vegetation 
and to enhance existing hedgerows and wooded areas and a strategy of 
phased and progressive working with site restoration linked to the 
changing elevation over the site 

ENV, LC 

Highways 

A new access will be required onto the A38, vehicular limits and a routing 
strategy will need to be carefully considered.  A full and detailed Transport 
Assessment should be carried out following advice provided from the 
Local Highways Authority. 

MM 

Operational 
Matters / Site 
Infrastructure 
Site 
infrastructure 

Site infrastructure is only likely to be achievable on the elevated, eastern 
side of the site due to the susceptibly to flooding at lower levels. 
Consequentially very carefully consideration will need to be given to 
potential amenity impacts on nearby sensitive receptors that are more 
concentrated in this area. Furthermore, appropriate capacity and other 
relevant operational limits will need to be explored.  A wider mineral 
development strategy may also be necessary in the event that the 
adjacent site at Bow Farm in Worcestershire is to be included as an 
allocation within the emerging Worcestershire Minerals Local Plan

200
.  The 

Bow Farm site will likely require access through the Redpool’s Farm site in 
Gloucestershire and this should be factored into any mitigation proposals.  
Presently, no decision has been made by Worcestershire County Council 
as the MPA regarding the Bow Farm candidate allocation. 

ENV, LC, 
MM 

PRoW 

An assessment of the PRoW network should be undertaken with particular 
attention given to path ATW 37/1.  Advice should be sought from the Local 
Highways Authority regarding any proposals to temporarily divert or 
permanent re-route the potentially affected path. 

LC 

Local 
Communities 

An analysis of potential amenity impacts will be necessary.  Careful 
consideration should be paid to the local communities made up of the 
individual residential properties, farms and commercial and leisure 
enterprises located nearby to the Preferred Area and those that comprise 
the hamlets and villages of Church End; Puckrup and Shuthonger. 

LC 

                                                 
200 The Bow Farm site was presented to Worcestershire County Council as part of a representative to the 2nd  Stage Consultation carried out 
between the end of 2013 and early 2014: - 
http://www.worcestershire.gov.uk/downloads/file/521/minerals_local_plan_second_stage_consultation_responses  

Page 183

http://www.worcestershire.gov.uk/downloads/file/521/minerals_local_plan_second_stage_consultation_responses


Page |148 
 

Natural 
Environment 

An assessment of the natural environment surrounding and within  the 
Preferred Area will be required.  This should consider potential impacts, 
their significance and possible mitigation measures, if required, on the 
following nearby (i.e. less than 1km) environmental designations: - Mythe 
Railway KWS; Mythe Composite Site (lakes and reservoirs) KWS; and 
Brokeridge Common KWS all within Gloucestershire; and Ripple Brook 
LWS, Ripple Lake and The Knapps LWS, Ripple Meadow LWS and River 
Severn LWS contained in Worcestershire.  It will also need to investigate 
and report upon possible impacts on priority habitats and / or priority 
species such as coastal & floodplain grazing marsh, which have been 
recorded adjacent to / and less than 1km of the Preferred Area.  An 
analysis of whether any significant effects on internationally and nationally 
designated sites may arise must also be incorporated into the 
assessment. 

ENV 

Archaeology / 
Historic 
Environment 

An assessment of heritage assets should be undertaken for the Preferred 
Area that incorporates an analysis of its potential archaeological interest.  
This must include both a pre-determination evaluation to establish the 
presence and significance of heritage assets; and a mitigation strategy 
that could introduce constraints upon future mineral working and 
associated activities in order to preserve key heritage assets and their 
settings; and the appropriate and proportionate recording and / or 
excavation of all other heritage assets. 

ENV 

Water 
Resources 

A hydrogeological impact assessment should be completed, which will 
consider potential risks, their significance and possible mitigation 
measures, if required, on the following nearby surface water bodies (i.e. 
within 1km): - the River Severn; Ripple and Mythe Brook; Walmer Pool; 
Hill View Fishing Lakes; Ripple Lake; a number of unnamed brooks and 
ditches that lie across the Preferred Area; and a number unnamed lakes 
and ponds in the local vicinity.  The underlying geology has been 
classified as a Secondary Aquifer of High Vulnerability.  This means the 
area is able to easily transmit pollution through to groundwater.  In 
preparing any hydrological mitigation, attention should be given to 
reducing the impact of any dewatering through sub-dividing the working 
area into smaller cells to reduce the active perimeter; and restricting the 
practice during storm events to ensure receiving waters have appropriate 
capacity for the flow.  For minimising the risk to water quality, bunded 
tanks and drip trays to prevent spillages should be proposed, along with 
settlement (silt) ponds or proprietary equipment. 

ENV, LC 

Flood Risk 

A flood risk assessment should be carried out focused on the risk of river 
flooding and groundwater flooding.  Particular attention will also need to 
be given to the identification of Flood Zone areas 2 and 3 over the 
Preferred Area.  Potential sensitive receptors to flood risk include: - the 
nearby commercial nursery, Twyning Farm and Puckrup Golf Course.  
Mitigation to minimise the impact on flood risk could include: - the placing 
of buildings, storage and stockpiling and other site infrastructure away 
from areas susceptibly to surface water flooding; and the provision of 
appropriate flow balancing using sustainable drainage systems. 

ENV, LC 

Restoration 
opportunities 
& constraints 

Restoration proposals could include coastal & floodplain grazing marsh or 
eutrophic standing water or even Reed-bed.  However, on higher ground 
more substantial vegetation such as woodland may enhance the existing 
riverine ecological network.  Opportunities to achieve biodiversity 
enhancements should also be explored through contributing to the 
Bushley SNA.  Furthermore, where any infilling of parcels using inert 
materials is deemed acceptable, this must provide safe pathways for 
groundwater to move around or through in order to avoid creating 
heightened flood risk. 

RA 

  

Page 184



Page |149 
 

Allocation 08 - Area of Search at Lady Lamb Farm, Fairford 
Aggregate type Sand & Gravel 

Potential Yield  <3mt Site Area  84ha 

District Cotswold Parish Kempsford 

 
 

Page 185



Page |150 
 

Detailed Development Requirements for the Lady Lamb Farm Area of Search  

Theme Specific Requirement Linked to the 
delivery of  plan 
objectives 

Landscape & 
Visual Impact 

A Landscape & Visual Impact Assessment will be necessary, which 
should analyse the sensitivity of national landscape character NCA 
108 (Upper Thames Clay Vales) and the regional / local level 
classification – Unwooded Vale and River Basin Lowland landscape 
character type and the Fairford and Lechlade landscape character 
areas that are described in the Various Vales (Gloucestershire) 
Landscape Character Assessment.  Consideration should also be 
given to potential visual impacts on nearby sensitive receptors that 
may include: - a number of individual properties, farms and 
commercial premises nearby to the Area of Search; the network of 
paths and recreational routes in the locality; and the A417 and 
minor road running north from Oak Copse.  Where potential impacts 
are identified and mitigation is required, particular attention should 
be given to: - the creation of a bund with vegetation along the 
southern boundary of the Area of Search; enhanced, infill planting 
and bunding along the eastern boundary and a buffer with 
hedgerow planting around public footpath BFA 6/1. 

ENV, LC 

Soil Resources 

A soil impact assessment should be undertaken, which identifies 
potential impacts and possible mitigation, if required, particularly in 
light of the presence of agricultural land of BMVAL quality grades 
3a. 

ENV 

Highways 

A new access will be required onto the A419 and vehicular limits 
and a routing strategy will need to be carefully considered.  
Particular attention should also be given to the restrictions that exist 
through nearby Fairford (to the east) A full and detailed Transport 
Assessment should be carried out following advice provided from 
the Local Highways Authority. 

MM 

Operational 
Matters / Site 
Infrastructure 
Site 
infrastructure 

Site infrastructure will need to be provided.  Careful consideration 
will also need to be given to an appropriate capacity and other 
relevant operational limits.  These may be form part of a deliverable 
mitigation strategy.   

ENV, LC, MM 

PRoW 

An assessment of the PRoW network should be undertaken with 
particular attention given to paths BFA 6/1.  Advice should be 
sought from the Local Highways Authority regarding any proposals 
to temporarily divert or permanent re-routing the affected path. 

LC 

Local 
Communities 

An analysis of potential amenity impacts will be necessary.  Careful 
consideration should be paid to the local communities made up of 
the individual residential properties, farms and commercial and 
leisure enterprises located nearby to the Area of Search and those 
that comprise the western side of Fairford town; and the hamlets 
and villages of Meysey Hampton and Furzey Hill. 

LC 

Aerodrome 
Safeguarding 

Aviation safety should be considered as the Preferred Area falls 
within a zone where Instrumental Landing Systems (ILSs) may 
need to be operated.  It also falls within the statutory Birdstrike zone 
for RAF Fairford.  DIO Safeguarding will be consulted on all 
minerals development proposals within the Preferred Area. 

LC 

Page 186



Page |151 
 

Natural 
Environment 

An assessment of the natural environment surrounding and within 
the Preferred Area will be required.  This should consider potential 
impacts, their significance and possible mitigation measures, if 
required, on the nearby environmental designations.  It will also 
need to investigate and report upon possible impacts on priority 
habitats and / or priority species.  An analysis of whether any 
significant effects on internationally and nationally designated sites 
may arise must also be incorporated into the assessment. 

ENV 

Archaeology / 
Historic 
Environment 

An assessment of heritage assets should be undertaken for the 
Preferred Area that incorporates an analysis of its potential 
archaeological interest.  A review of a previous evaluation 
undertaken in 1993 may prove useful to this exercise.  The 
assessment must include both a pre-determination evaluation to 
establish the presence and significance of heritage assets; and a 
mitigation strategy that could introduce constraints upon future 
mineral working and associated activities in order to preserve key 
heritage assets and their settings; and the appropriate and 
proportionate recording and / or excavation of all other heritage 
assets. 

ENV 

Water 
Resources  

A hydrogeological impact assessment should be completed, which 
will consider potential risks, their significance and possible 
mitigation measures, if required, on the following nearby surface 
water bodies (i.e. within 1km): - Marston Meysey Brook; River Coln; 
the network of drains and tributaries to the River Coln that lie across 
the Preferred Area; and several lakes and ponds concentrated in 
the local vicinity, to the east. Consideration should also be given to 
the Preferred Area being located within a Source Protection Zone 
Level 1 and that the underlying geology has been classified as a 
Secondary A Aquifer.  In preparing any hydrological mitigation, 
attention should be given to reducing the impact of any dewatering 
through sub-dividing the working area into smaller cells to reduce 
the active perimeter; and restricting the practice during storm 
events to ensure receiving waters have appropriate capacity for the 
flow.  For minimising the risk to water quality, bunded tanks and drip 
trays to prevent spillages should be proposed, along with settlement 
(silt) ponds or proprietary equipment. 

ENV, LC 

Flood Risk 

A flood risk assessment should be carried out focused on the risk of 
groundwater flooding and increased surface water run-off.  Potential 
sensitive receptors that may be subject to flood risk and will 
therefore require scrutiny include: - Waitenhills, Waitenhills Farm 
and Waiten Hill.  Mitigation to minimise the impact on flood risk 
could include: - the placing of buildings, storage and stockpiling and 
other site infrastructure away from areas susceptibly to surface 
water flooding; and the provision of appropriate flow balancing 
using sustainable drainage systems. 

ENV, LC 

Page 187



Page |152 
 

Restoration 
opportunities 
& constraints 

Restoration proposals worth exploring may include a combination of 
wet grassland, reed-bed shallows and traditional agriculture.  In 
doing so the potential to follow the principles laid down with nearby 
Horcott Quarry site to the east should also be investigated.  
Opportunities to achieve biodiversity enhancements may also exist, 
predominately to the south of the Area of Search nearby to the 
wooded area of Lady Lamb’s Copse.  Careful consideration must 
also be given to continued aviation safeguarding associated with 
RAF Fairford such as avoiding heightened risk of bird strike.  
Furthermore, any infilling of worked parcels using inert materials 
must provide safe pathways for groundwater to move around or 
through in order to avoid creating heightened flood risk. 
Opportunities to contribute towards beneficial and supported 
landscape-scale change or enhancement as guided through the 
Cotswold Water Park Master Plan should also be examined. 

RA 

  

Page 188



Page |153 
 

Allocation 09 – Areas of Search at Land between Kempsford & 
Whelford 
Aggregate type Sand & Gravel 

Potential Yield  <3mt Site Area  84ha 

District Cotswold  Parish Kemspford 

 

Page 189



Page |154 
 

Detailed Development Requirements for Land between Kempsford and Whelford Areas of 
Search 

Theme Specific Requirement Linked to the 
delivery of  plan 
objectives 

Landscape & 
Visual Impact 
 

A Landscape & Visual Impact Assessment will be necessary, which 
will analyse the sensitivity of national landscape character NCA 108 
(Upper Thames Clay Vales) and the regional / local level 
classification – River Basin Lowland landscape character type and 
the Fairford and Lechlade landscape character area, that are both 
described in the Various Vales (Gloucestershire) Landscape 
Character Assessment.  Consideration should also be given to 
potential visual impacts on nearby sensitive receptors that may 
include: - the properties that form the settlements of Whelford and 
Kempsford; the network of paths and recreational routes in the 
locality; and Whelford Road running north from Kempsford to 
Whelford.  Where potential impacts are identified and mitigation is 
required, particular attention should be given to the placement and 
subsequent management of soil storage and noise attenuation 
bunds; and the maintenance of buffers around existing public 
footpaths through the site along with hedgerow planting and 
screening; and hedgerow and tree planting along Whelford Road 
with regards to the southern Area of Search. 

ENV, LC 

Soil  
Resources 

A soil impact assessment should be undertaken, which identifies 
potential impacts and possible mitigation, if required, particularly in 
light of the presence of agricultural land of BMVAL quality grades 2 
and 3a. 

ENV, LC 

Highways 

The access arrangements at the existing Manor Farm Quarry should 
be utilised. This may also include the Area of Search to the north of 
the River Coln, which could be accessed using a conveyor, which  
crosses the river. Alternative arrangements for the Area of Search 
north of the River Coln may include Thornhill Farm Quarry.  No new 
separate vehicular accesses for the Areas of Search should be 
proposed.  A Transport Assessment may be necessary if an 
extension of time is required in order to use existing site 
infrastructure.   

MM 

Operational 
Matters / Site 
Infrastructure 

Site infrastructure contained within the existing Manor Farm Quarry 
should be utilised. However, for the Area of Search to the north of 
the River Coln, Thornhill Farm Quarry may prove an acceptable 
alternative. However, separate provision should not be made within 
the Areas of Search.  The capacity of the existing Manor Farm 
Quarry and / or Thornhill Farm Quarry should not be affected by the 
Areas of Search and not breach the permitted maximum overall 
output levels. 

MM, LC 

Local 
Communities 

An analysis of potential amenity impacts will be necessary.  Careful 
consideration should be paid to the local communities made up of 
the individual residential properties, farms and commercial and 
leisure enterprises located nearby to the Areas of Search and those 
that comprise the villages of Kempsford and Whelford. 

LC 

Page 190



Page |155 
 

Aerodrome 
Safeguarding 

A full assessment of aviation safety should be carried out as the 
Preferred Areas lie within the safeguarding zones for RAF Fairford 
and RAF Brize Norton. It also falls within a zone where Instrumental 
Landing Systems (ILSs) may need to be operated. Any assessment 
must also consider statutory explosive and birdstrike safeguarding 
matters.  DIO Safeguarding will be consulted on all minerals 
development proposals within the Areas of Search 

LC 

Natural 
Environment 

An assessment of the natural environment surrounding and including 
the Areas of Search will be required.  This should consider potential 
impacts, their significance and possible mitigation measures, if 
required, on the following nearby (i.e. less than 1km) environmental 
designations: - Cotswold Water Park SSSI; Whelford SSSI; Cotswold 
Water Park KWS; and Jenner's Farm Field KWS.  It will also need to 
investigate and report upon possible impacts on priority habitats and 
/ or priority species, which have been recorded on, adjacent and 
within 1km of the Specific Site.  An analysis of whether any 
significant effects on internationally and nationally designated sites 
may arise must also be incorporated into the assessment. 

ENV 

Archaeology / 
Historic 
Environment 

An assessment of heritage assets should be undertaken for the 
Areas of Search that incorporates an analysis of potential 
archaeological interest.  This must include both a pre-determination 
evaluation to establish the presence and significance of heritage 
assets; and a mitigation strategy that could introduce constraints 
upon future mineral working and associated activities in order to 
preserve key heritage assets and their settings; and the appropriate 
and proportionate recording and / or excavation of all other heritage 
assets. Of potential relevance, which will need to be properly 
evaluated, is the identification of a complex pattern of settlement and 
trackways over the southern most Area of Search; an enclosure 
within the Area of Search South of the River Coln; and a further 
enclosure possibly of Roman period within the Area of Search North 
of the River Coln. 

ENV 

Water 
Resources 

A hydrogeological impact assessment should be completed, which 
will consider potential risks, their significance and possible mitigation 
measures, if required, on the following nearby surface water bodies 
(i.e. within 1km): - Dudgrove Brook and several of its local tributaries 
and network of drains; River Coln; Thames & Severn Canal; River 
Thames; Bowmoor Lake; Coln Park Lake; and a number of unnamed 
ponds and lakes concentrated to the north of the Areas of Search.  
All Areas of Search are also located less than 1km of a Source 
Protection Zone Level 3 and the underlying geology has been 
classified as a Secondary Aquifer of High Vulnerability.  This means 
the area is able to easily transmit pollution through to groundwater.  
In preparing any hydrological mitigation, attention should be given to 
reducing the impact of any dewatering through sub-dividing the 
working area into smaller cells to reduce the active perimeter; and 
restricting the practice during storm events to ensure receiving 
waters have appropriate capacity for the flow.  For minimising the 
risk to water quality, bunded tanks and drip trays to prevent spillages 
should be proposed, along with settlement (silt) ponds or proprietary 
equipment. 

ENV, LC 

Page 191



Page |156 
 

Flood Risk 

A flood risk assessment should be carried out focused on the risk of 
river flooding, groundwater flooding and increased surface water run-
off.  Particular attention will also need to be given to the identification 
of Flood Zone area 2.  Potential sensitive receptors that may be 
subject to flood risk and will therefore require scrutiny include the 
properties that comprise the village of Whelford and RAF Fairford.  
Mitigation to minimise the impact on flood risk could include: - the 
placing of buildings, storage and stockpiling and other site 
infrastructure away from areas susceptibly to surface water flooding; 
and the provision of appropriate flow balancing using sustainable 
drainage systems. 

ENV, LC 

Restoration 
opportunities 
& constraints 

Integration of restoration proposals with the existing Manor Farm 
Quarry complex restoration plans and those of the Specific Site - 
Allocation No. 6 should be explored.  The reinstatement of footpaths 
and additional permissive paths to provide enhanced links to the 
surrounding public rights of way network is advisable as well as 
opportunities to achieve biodiversity enhancements, through 
contributing to the Coln Corridor SNA, Jenner's Farm Field KWS, 
and / or Kempsford SNA.  Key features worth investigating include: - 
the creation a series of ditch structures and hedge and tree lines; 
and facilitating species rich, rough grassland alongside more 
traditional agriculture.  The former of these features may also support 
an effective combined water management regime also involving the 
River Coln.  Very careful consideration must also be given to 
continued aviation safeguarding associated with RAF Fairford such 
as avoiding heightened risk of bird strike.  Furthermore, whilst 
restoration back to original / or near original ground level should be 
the preferred approach, any infilling of parcels using inert materials 
must provide safe pathways for groundwater to move around or 
through in order to avoid creating heightened flood risk. 
Opportunities to contribute towards beneficial and supported 
landscape-scale change or enhancement as guided through the 
Cotswold Water Park Master Plan should also be examined. 

RA 

 

  

Page 192



Page |157 
 

Allocation 10 - Areas of Search at Down Ampney and Charlham Farm 
Aggregate type Sand & Gravel 

Potential Yield  <15mt Site Area  488ha 

District Cotswold Parish Down Ampney 

 

Page 193



Page |158 
 

Development Requirements for Down Ampney & Charlham Fm  Areas of Search  

Theme Specific Requirement Objectives 
/Policies 

Landscape & 
Visual Impact 

For Charlham Farm Area of Search: - 
A Landscape & Visual Impact Assessment will be necessary, which 
will need to analysis the sensitivity of national landscape character 
NCA 108 (Upper Thames Clay Vales) and that of the regional / local 
level classification – the River Basin Lowland and Dip Slope Lowland 
landscape character types and Down Ampney and Driffield Lowland 
landscape character areas, which are described in the Various Vales 
(Gloucestershire) Landscape Character Assessment. 
Consideration should also be given to potential visual impacts on 
nearby sensitive receptors that may include: - several individual 
farms and properties to the north of Down Ampney; properties 
contained within the main village of Down Ampney; the residential 
estate of Broadleaze and Linden Lea; and nearby recreational routes 
and paths.  Where potential impacts are identified and mitigation is 
required careful consideration will need to be given to: - the creation 
of a corridor of planted hedgerows and screen bunds alongside 
public and permitted footpaths within and immediately adjacent the 
Area of Search; phased working and restoration to reduce the 
physical extent of the mineral development at any one time; the 
retention and strengthening of the hedgerow to the north of Down 
Ampney; and; hedgerow and tree planting along the eastern 
boundary of the Area of Search. 
 
For the Down Ampney Area of Search: - 
A Landscape & Visual Impact Assessment will be necessary, which 
will need to analysis the sensitivity of national landscape character 
NCA 108 (Upper Thames Clay Vales) and that of the regional / local 
level classification – the River Basin Lowland landscape character 
type and Down Ampney landscape character area, which are 
described in the Various Vales (Gloucestershire) Landscape 
Character Assessment.  Consideration should also be given to 
potential visual impacts on nearby sensitive receptors that may 
include: - several individual farms and properties to the north and 
east of the Area of Search; properties within the village of Marston 
Meysey and Down Ampney and nearby recreational routes and 
paths.  Where potential impacts are identified and mitigation is 
required careful consideration will need to be given to: - the 
strengthening of hedgerows alongside roads and site boundaries 
through buffer planting, infill planting, tree planting and allowing these 
to grow to a tall height; retaining wherever possible woodland blocks 
within the Area of Search; screen planting around key sensitive visual 
receptors; phased working and restoration and; the creation of buffer 
zones with hedgerow planting and screen bunds around paths and 
other recreational routes that lie across the Area of Search. 

ENV, LC 

Soil 
Resources 

A soil impact assessment should be undertaken, which identifies 
potential impacts and possible mitigation, if required, particularly in 
light of the presence of agricultural land of BMVAL quality grades 2 
and 3a. 

ENV 

Page 194



Page |159 
 

Highways 

Safe and effective new accesses will be required for the Areas of 
Search.  This may be achievable using routes that arrive into 
Wiltshire. Vehicular limits and routing strategies will need to be 
carefully considered.  Full and detailed Transport Assessments 
should be carried out following advice provided from the Local 
Highways Authority. Particularly for the Down Ampney Area of 
Search, the previously proposed means of access contained within 
the 2009 Down Ampney Quarry application should be explored

201
.   

MM 

Operational 
Matters / Site 
Infrastructure 
Site 
infrastructure 

Site infrastructure will need to be provided at both of the Areas of 
Search.  Careful consideration will also need to be given to an 
appropriate capacity and other relevant operational limits. 
Furthermore, in the case of the Down Ampney Area of Search 
opportunities to rationalise the use of site infrastructure should be 
explored taking into account the areas identified for future working 
within neighbouring Wiltshire. This approach may contribute towards 
demonstrating an achievable mitigation strategy can be put in place. 

ENV, LC, 
MM 

PRoW 

An assessment of the PRoW network should be undertaken with 
particular attention given to paths and recreational routes:  - BAP15, 
BDA 1/1, ½, 2/1, 9/2, 7, 10/1 and 11, and BMH5, depending upon 
which of the Areas of Search is under consideration.  Advice should 
be sought from the Local Highways Authority regarding any 
proposals to temporarily divert or permanent re-route potentially 
affected paths. 

LC 

Local 
Communities 

An analysis of potential amenity impacts will be necessary.  Careful 
consideration should be paid to the local communities made up of the 
individual residential properties, farms and commercial and leisure 
enterprises located nearby to the Areas of Search and those that 
comprise the villages of Down Ampney (including Broadleaze); 
Latton; and Marston Meysey. Cumulative impacts associated with the 
areas identified for future working within neighbouring Wiltshire will 
need to be explored.  

LC 

Aerodrome 
Safeguarding 

Aviation safety should be considered as the Areas of Search falls 
within a zone where Instrumental Landing Systems (ILSs) may need 
to be operated.  It also falls within the statutory Birdstrike zone for 
RAF Fairford.  DIO Safeguarding will be consulted on all minerals 
development proposals within the Areas of Search. 

LC 

Natural 
Environment 

For both Areas of Search an assessment of the natural environment 
will be required.  This should consider potential impacts, their 
significance and possible mitigation measures, if required, on the 
nearby environmental designations.  It will also need to investigate 
and report upon possible impacts on priority habitats and / or priority 
species.  An analysis of whether any significant effects on 
internationally and nationally designated sites may arise must also be 
incorporated into the assessment. 

ENV 

                                                 
201  Planning search reference: - 09/0050/CWMAJM | The winning and working of sand and gravel, the construction of a new road access 
onto the C124 (proposed Eastern Spine Road), a bridge crossing of the Ampney Brook, temporary conveyor gantry crossing of the C124, 
construction and operation of a concrete batching plant, aggregate bagging plant and associated ancillary buildings, structures and 
operations, demolition and recycling of a concrete runway, with restoration to agriculture, woodland, amenity and nature conservation at 
land to South & South East of Down Ampney up to the Gloucestershire / Wiltshire border. This application has been formally disposed.  

Page 195



Page |160 
 

Archaeology 
/Historic 
Environment 

An assessment of heritage assets should be undertaken in the case 
of both Areas of Search, which incorporates an analysis of potential 
archaeological interest.  It must include both a pre-determination 
evaluation to establish the presence and significance of heritage 
assets; and a mitigation strategy that could introduce constraints 
upon future mineral working and associated activities in order to 
preserve key heritage assets and their settings; and the appropriate 
and proportionate recording and / or excavation of all other heritage 
assets.  Of potential relevance, which will need to be properly 
evaluated, is the identification of multi-period heritage assets across 
the Charlham Farm Area of Search; and prehistoric and Roman 
activity in the Area of Search for Down Ampney.   

ENV 

Water 
Resources 

For Charlham Farm Area of Search: - 
A hydrogeological impact assessment should be completed, which 
will consider potential risks, their significance and possible mitigation 
measures, if required, on the following nearby surface water bodies 
(i.e. within 1km): - Ampney & Poulton Brook; numerous drains into 
the Ampney Brook that lie across the Area of Search and nearby; and 
several ponds mostly to the north and east.  Consideration should 
also be given to the Area of Search being largely located within a 
Source Protection Zone Level 2 and that a very small area also falls 
in a Source Protection Zone Level 1.  In addition, the underlying 
geology has been classified as a Secondary A Aquifer.  In preparing 
any hydrological mitigation, attention should be given to reducing the 
impact of any dewatering through sub-dividing the working area into 
smaller cells to reduce the active perimeter; and restricting the 
practice during storm events to ensure receiving waters have 
appropriate capacity for the flow.  For minimising the risk to water 
quality, bunded tanks and drip trays to prevent spillages should be 
proposed, along with settlement (silt) ponds or proprietary equipment. 
 
For Down Ampney Area of Search: - 
A hydrogeological impact assessment should be completed, which 
will consider potential risks, their significance and possible mitigation 
measures, if required, on the following nearby surface water bodies 
(i.e. within 1km): - Marston Meysey Brook; Ampney and Poulton 
Brooks; River Thames; River Churn; Thames & Severn Canal; 
tributaries and drains to Ampney Brook that lie across the Area of 
Search; and several ponds and lakes to the south.  Consideration 
should also be given to the Area of Search being located within 
Source Protection Zones Level 1, 2 and 3.  In addition, the underlying 
geology has been classified as a Secondary A Aquifer.  In preparing 
any hydrological mitigation, attention should be given to reducing the 
impact of any dewatering through sub-dividing the working area into 
smaller cells to reduce the active perimeter; and restricting the 
practice during storm events to ensure receiving waters have 
appropriate capacity for the flow.  For minimising the risk to water 
quality, bunded tanks and drip trays to prevent spillages should be 
proposed, along with settlement (silt) ponds or proprietary equipment. 

ENV, LC 

Page 196



Page |161 
 

Flood Risk 

For Charlham Farm Area of Search: - 
A flood risk assessment should be carried out focused on the risk of 
river flooding and groundwater flooding.  Particular attention will also 
need to be given to the identification of Flood Zone areas 2 and 3 
over the Area of Search.  Potential sensitive receptors to flood risk 
that will need to be investigated include the properties of the village of 
Down Ampney.  Mitigation to minimise the impact on flood risk could 
involve: - the placing of buildings, storage and stockpiling and other 
site infrastructure away from areas susceptibly to surface water 
flooding; and the provision of appropriate flow balancing using 
sustainable drainage systems. 
 
For Down Ampney Area of Search: - 
A flood risk assessment should be carried out focused on the risk of 
river flooding and groundwater flooding.  Particular attention will also 
need to be given to the identification of Flood Zone areas 3 over part 
of the Area of Search.  Potential sensitive receptors to flood risk that 
will need to be investigated include: the settlements of Down 
Ampney; Latton; Marston Meysey; Cricklade; Castle Eaton; 
Kempsford; and RAF Fairford.  Mitigation to minimise the impact on 
flood risk could involve: - the placing of buildings, storage and 
stockpiling and other site infrastructure away from areas susceptibly 
to surface water flooding; and the provision of appropriate flow 
balancing using sustainable drainage systems. 

ENV, LC 

Restoration 
opportunities 
& constraints 

Restoration proposals including a combination of marl lakes, 
agriculture and water meadows should be explored.  Opportunities to 
achieve biodiversity enhancements, through contributing to the Down 
Ampney Pits SNA, Eysey SNA and / or the Ampney Corridor SNA 
may also benefit from investigation.  Very careful consideration must 
also be given to continued aviation safeguarding associated with RAF 
Fairford such as avoiding heightened risk of bird strike.  Furthermore, 
whilst restoration back to original / or near original ground level 
should be the preferred approach, any infilling of parcels using inert 
materials must provide safe pathways for groundwater to move 
around or through in order to avoid creating heightened flood risk. 
Opportunities to contribute towards beneficial and supported 
landscape-scale change or enhancement as guided through the 
Cotswold Water Park Master Plan should also be examined. 

RA 

 

 

Page 197



This page is intentionally left blank



TO APPROVE THE OPTIONAL 2 YEAR EXTENSIONS AND VARIATIONS 

TO EXISTING CARERS COMMISSIONED SERVICES CONTRACTS 

Cabinet Date 20 July 2016

Older People Cllr Dorcas Binns 

Key Decision Yes

Background 
Documents

 Carers Commissioning Strategy 2012-2016
 Summary Carer Consultation Report 2012
 Section 75 agreement

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
Background 
Documents

Louise West
Outcome Manager (Children and Families)
01452 328530
louise.west@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Main Consultees Providers
Carers
Cabinet lead member

Planned Dates N/a

Divisional 
Councillor

All

Officer Helen Price

Purpose of Report To seek agreement to activate the clause in the carers services contracts to 
extend for 2 years. 

Recommendations That Cabinet:

Authorises the Commissioning Director - Adults, to invoke the above 
mentioned 2 year extension option under the following contracts and, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Older People, to make the 
proposed variations thereto:

 Carers Information,  Advice and Guidance contract with Carers 
Gloucestershire 

 Carers Assessments and Support Planning contract with Carers 
Gloucestershire

 Carers Emotional Support contract with Carers Gloucestershire
 Carers Voice contract with Carers Gloucestershire
 Carers Breaks contract with Guideposts 

Page 199

Agenda Item 6

mailto:louise.west@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Reasons for 
recommendations

The council is required to ensure support is available for carers. Contracted 
services to date have performed well and improved the range and number 
of services that are available for carers. Feedback from carers has been 
positive. Some of the detailed arrangements and delivery of some services 
have required variations to the above-mentioned contracts in light of the 
Care Act 2014. These variations are currently under discussion with 
Providers.  To date all providers have engaged positively with any 
proposed contract variations. 

The contracts for the services will expire on 30th September 2016 unless 
extended in accordance with the terms and conditions thereof. Should the 
council wish to continue to provide services for carers in this way; the 
contracts will need to be extended on the proposed basis. 
 

Resource 
Implications Both Gloucestershire County Council and the Clinical Commissioning Group 

primarily fund  carer support through the Better Care Fund.  The cost of the 
contract extension will be within existing budget, currently £3.058 million of 
which GCC is £1.989 million and the CCG is £1.069 million.  

GCC’s contribution over 2 years shall be £3.978 million (£1.989 million per 
annum).

  

Page 200



MAIN REPORT CONTENTS

1. Background

1.1 Carers population
According to the 2011 census there are 6.5 million people in the UK who are carers and 
this number is anticipated to rise to around 9 million by 2037. In Gloucestershire there 
were 62,644 carers identified by the 2011 census. There are over 1,600 young carers in 
Gloucestershire. Gloucester and the Forest of Dean have the highest proportion of carers, 
caring for 50 hours or more per week (23% and 22%).   

1.2 Carers Joint Commissioning Strategy
In 2010 the Department of Health (DH) published “Recognised, Valued and Supported: 
Next Steps for the Carers Strategy”. It recommended that carers needs were met through a 
range of services and combined NHS and council resources. 

Analysis of service provision at the time identified a number of challenges:

 Low level of carers assessments
 Some inconsistency in provision across the county
 Provision unable to respond more strategically to national policy developments
 Separate funding streams sometimes created a lack of coherence and duplication
 Existing good practice needed to be maintained and built upon e.g. young carers 

support
 A carers pathway for separate carers assessments needed to be established to 

ensure carers were able to have their needs considered clearly.  
 There needed to be a consistent approach across social care and health in 

supporting carers.  
 There was a lack of preventative support for carers around emotional support and 

resilience training, despite these being widely identified as positive ways to support 
carers and prevent breakdown.

Significant consultation with carers confirmed these challenges. The joint GCC and 
CCG carers strategy was significantly revised, reshaped and set out to secure services 
which: 

 Ensured carers have appropriate and timely advice and support
 Ensured carers have access to take an individual budget
 Ensured carers have appropriate support to access the services they need
 Ensured that flexible breaks provision is in place to meet the needs of carers and 

their families
 Ensured that support is available to carers to help maintain their health and well 

being
 Ensured the carers are supported in their caring role.
 Ensured that carers have opportunities to maintain a good quality of life

Page 201



This year the Government will update the National Carers Strategy to reflect the Care Act. 
The NHS Memorandum of Understanding for Carers has recently been published and the 
National Carers Strategy revision is due to be published soon.

1.3 Care Act.

The Care Act 2014 came into force on 1 April 2015, introducing a new range of rights 
for carers and new duties for local authorities. Carers are given parity with those they 
care for. The Care Act relates to adults with care and support needs and adult carers, 
young carers and adult carers of young people in transition to adult services.

Under the Care Act councils are required to promote a carers well being; to prevent, 
reduce and delay carers needs from developing; to provide information and advice and 
to provide independent advocacy. Councils have a duty to assess a carer’s needs for 
support, where the carer appears to have such needs and will consider the impact of 
caring on the carer including for example what they want to achieve in their own day-to-
day life , whether they work or want to work, and whether they want to study or do more 
socially etc. Following an assessment, the Care Act introduces new national eligibility 
criteria which are locally applied in order to determine eligibility for services. 

As such provisions within services to reflect national eligibility criteria and governance 
are anticipated. A GCC review of carers services to ensure compliance is underway. 

2. Consultation 

In developing the carers strategy in 2012 detailed consultation with carers was conducted. 
This consultation underpins the strategy and shaped the contracts that were tendered.  
Carers were involved in the development and evaluation of the tendering process for these 
contracts. They helped develop the specifications, evaluated sections of the applications, 
services and evaluated the presentations. 

Carers continue to be involved in shaping these services through the Peer Evaluation 
Group which monitors a contract every 6 months through interviewing carers who have 
used the service as well as support staff. The future refresh of the strategy will be 
underpinned by consultation with carers. 

Carers levels of satisfaction and user experience with carer services is regularly 
monitored. A summary of the annual survey of feedback is as follows: 

99%    were satisfied with their carers assessments 
80%  felt that their outcomes had been met following their assessment
81%    felt that the break helped their health and well being
79%    felt they got a break at the right time
90%    felt they were able to access emotional support in a timely way
90%    felt the emotional support they received has made a difference to being able to  
            care
90%    felt that the information and advice they received helped them deal with the 
           problem/issue they had

Page 202



100%  felt that they were better informed as a result of the carers voice work
87%    young carers felt their emotional well being had improved 
87%    felt the Positive Caring Programme improved their knowledge and skills 
65%    have made changes to their lifestyle after being on the Positive Caring  
           Programme

3. Options

The following options have been considered:

1) Do nothing. 

To not extend the contracts would mean that from 1st October 2016 there would be no 
carers specific services available. No consultation with carers has taken place to cease 
this support. The council would not be able to comply with the requirements of the Care 
Act relating to carers.  

2) To extend for 1 year and initiate a tendering process 

To extend for one year was not specified within the contract clause. This would limit the 
time to to ensure the services continue to develop in line with the Care Act.  It would not 
allow the time required to revise the Gloucestershire Carer strategy in line with the 
national carers strategy when it is published. Any new tendering process will require 
significant consultation.

3) To implement the 2 year extension clause in the contracts.   

This would allow for the Gloucestershire carers strategy to be updated to reflect the 
national developments and allow for a planned consultation for the next commissioning 
phase. It would also allow time for practice around the Care Act to be embedded.  This 
will also allow time to ensure there is a consistent approach to supporting service users 
and their carers.

4. Officer Advice

It is recommended that option 3 is approved. 

 This option allows for the successful contracts to continue to build on the 
improvements achieved to date. 

 It enables the established partnership between commissioners and providers to 
continue to implement developments to meet the Care Act requirements. 

 It allows time to update the Carers Commissioning Strategy, engage with carers 
and plan any future tendering processes.

5. Risk Assessment 

There is no risk of challenge by other potential providers. The original tendering process 
allowed for extensions of 2 years plus a further 2 years if required

Page 203



Compliance with the Care Act, by more closely linking services to carers and the person 
they care for is more difficult to achieve within this arrangement. Work is progressing to 
ensure that compliance is consistent between in-house and these contracted services. 

6. Equality Considerations

The Due Regard statement completed does not identify any negative impacts on any of the 
protected groups as a result of this recommendation. 

7. Performance Management/follow-up 

 There is a structured performance framework in place. This includes the 
production of quarterly monitoring reports, regular monitoring/contract meetings 
and carers evaluation of support provided.  Carers independently review 
contracts and their feedback shapes monitoring discussions with the providers.

 There is now a process in place to undertake carers assessment audits and this 
system will be augmented to include audits of the new support plans.

 Care Act requirements will continue to be overseen to ensure compliance and to 
maintain the relationship between providers and Adult Social Care delivery.

           

Page 204



Report Title To approve the optional 2 year extensions and variations 
to existing Carers Commissioned Services Contracts 

Statutory Authority Care Act 2014

Statutory guidance to support local authorities implement the 
Care Act 2014

Relevant County Council 
policy

Gloucestershire Carers Strategy

Carers Care Act Review (to be completed)

Resource Implications
Both Gloucestershire County Council and the Clinical 
Commissioning Group primarily fund  carer support through 
the Better Care Fund.  The cost of the contract extension will 
be within existing budget, currently £3.058 million of which 
GCC is £1.989 million and the CCG is £1.069 million.  

GCC’s contribution over 2 years shall be £3.978 million 
(£1.989 million per annum)

Sustainability checklist:

Partnerships There has been a long established partnership with the CCG in 
working together to support carers. This is reflected in the S75 
agreement which is in place. 
A multi agency approach to working with carers ensures that a 
positive working relationship is maintained between other 
statutory agencies and third sector providers.  A long 
established working partnership with the voluntary 
organisations working with carers themselves is the foundation 
of the current and future developments. Carers have been 
active participants in the process of commissioning the 
contracts. 

Decision Making and 
Involvement

Carers have been actively involved in the development of the 
service specifications and the tendering process. A group of 
carers continues to evaluate and monitor these contracts. 
There is a strategy mapping group which oversees the work 
with regard to the relevant adult and children’s legislation. 
There is a separate carers work stream under the Care Act 
implementation group

Page 205



Economy and Employment Many of the services provide carers with the appropriate 
support to enable them to continue in employment or to enable 
them to consider returning to employment or training.

Caring for people By supporting carers the person cared for is supported and a 
quality of life is maintained. Supporting carers through quality 
flexible breaks enables them to continue to care. By supporting 
carers in their caring roles the risk of situation breakdown is 
reduced along with the need for high level services to the cared 
for.

Social Value Nationally, carers save the economy £132 billion1 which is just 
under the cost of the NHS (£134 b).
Carers can be considered as community assets. The care they 
provide to help sustain people in their own homes and in
their own communities is vital.

Built Environment NA

Natural Environment’ 
including Ecology 
(Biodiversity)

NA

Education and Information Up to date information is provided through the organisations 
supporting carers in ways which are accessible to the 
community.

Tackling Climate Change Carbon Emissions Implications? Neutral
Vulnerable to climate change? No

Due Regard Statement Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?     Yes

A copy of the full Due Regard Statement  can be accessed on 
GLOSTEXT via 
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1

Alternatively a hard copy is available for inspection from Jo 
Moore, Democratic Services Unit, e-mail: 
jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk.

Human rights Implications Article 8: The right to respect for private and family life, home 
and correspondence.

This includes the right to develop as a person and the right to 
have access to information. Without appropriate support and 
information on their rights, adults with significant caring 
responsibilities can not fulfil their potential or enjoy a full and 
balanced family life.

Page 206

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1
mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Consultation 
Arrangements

The Carers and Young Carers Forums provide ongoing 
consultation opportunities. Each organisation completes an 
annual carer satisfaction report following a questionnaire sent 
to all carers who have accessed the particular service. The 
revision to the carers strategy will offer a strategic involvement 
opportunity for carers. Carers will continue to independently 
monitor these contracts.

1 State of Caring Report 2016 (Carers UK)

Page 207



This page is intentionally left blank



ADOPTION WEST: PROPOSALS AND CONSULTATION 

TO DEVELOP A REGIONAL ADOPTION AGENCY (RAA)

Cabinet Date 20th July 2016

Children & Young 
People and 
Strategic 
Commissioning

Cllr Paul McLain

Key Decision Yes 

Background 
Documents Regionalising Adoption (June 2015) DfE

Adoption: A vision for change (March 2016) DfE
The Education and Adoption Act 2016
Adoption and Children Act 2002

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
Background 
Documents

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file
/437128/Regionalising_adoption.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file
/512826/Adoption_Policy_Paper_30_March_2016.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2016/6/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2002/38/contents

Main Consultees  Adoptees

 Adopters

 Birth families

 Local Authority, Voluntary Adoption Agency and Adoption Support Agency 
Staff

 Health service commissioners and providers

 Adoption panel members

 Education services

Planned Dates 10 week consultation period Monday 25th July to Monday 3rd October 2016

Divisional 
Councillor

All

Officer Helen Price
Tel. no,8484
Email address helen.price@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Page 209

Agenda Item 7

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/437128/Regionalising_adoption.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/437128/Regionalising_adoption.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/437128/Regionalising_adoption.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/512826/Adoption_Policy_Paper_30_March_2016.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/512826/Adoption_Policy_Paper_30_March_2016.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2016/6/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2002/38/contents
mailto:helen.price@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Purpose of Report To endorse outline proposals for Gloucestershire County Council with 5 other 
councils (Bath & North East Somerset, Bristol, North Somerset, South 
Gloucestershire, and Wiltshire) to develop the Adoption West Regional 
Adoption Agency (RAA) and approve public engagement and consultation on 
these outline proposals.

Recommendations Cabinet to

1) Agree to support proposals for Gloucestershire County Council to join 
with Bath and North East Somerset, Bristol, North Somerset, South 
Gloucestershire and Wiltshire councils to develop Adoption West 
Regional Adoption Agency, and 

2) Approve public engagement and consultation on the proposals outlined 
in this report

Reasons for 
recommendations Gloucestershire is required by recent government policy to be part of a 

regional adoption agency by 2020. To this end Gloucestershire has been 
working with 5 other councils (Bath & North East Somerset, Bristol, North 
Somerset, South Gloucestershire, and Wiltshire) and a number of voluntary 
adoption agencies to create a regional arrangement. The group has now 
proposed an organisational arrangement to enable the RAA to be created 
and the proposed wider consultation offers the best opportunity for 
Gloucestershire to be fully involved in the proposed RAA to enable the 
County Council to comply with government requirements by 2020.

Resource 
Implications

None currently, DFE are fully funding development costs. Overall adoption 
service budget is £908k.

Page 210



National Background 

The development of Regional Adoption Agency proposals is part of the government’s  
national regionalising adoption agenda as set out in ‘Regionalising Adoption’ (July 
2015), and further developed in ‘Adoption; A Vision for Change’ (March 2016). 
Proposals are also informed by the Education and Adoption Act 2016. Adoption is seen 
by the government, as the best way to offer children who are unable to live with their 
birth parents, lasting family relationships that will offer them secure futures. 

‘Regionalising Adoption’ requires councils to establish Regional Adoption Agencies by 
the end of the Parliament in 2020 and invited expressions of interest from local 
partnerships. The paper included an emphasis on getting adoption/permanence right 
for harder to place children whilst ensuring adoption support is available and accessible 
to adoptive families. 

The government expects to see voluntary adoption agencies actively included in 
regional arrangements, they are ‘particularly keen to consider models that have an 
element of cross-sector collaboration’. Although not explicit, there is an expectation that 
the final regional agency organisational form will go beyond a traditional council run 
service. 

Local response – Adoption South West 

The Adoption West project developed from a steering group that formed in July 2013 to 
consider the possibility of more collaborative working to improve adoption delivery 
across a number of local authorities in the South West. Initial work was undertaken by 
Gloucestershire and Wiltshire before engaging the Institute of Public Care (IPC) to 
complete more detailed work. During 2014, following extensive staff and user 
engagement, plans were developed and it was agreed that work should be undertaken 
to move towards a collaborative model of providing adoption services. Participating 
councils sought to offer more scope to place children across the region and to offer a 
more consistent and flexible service to adopters. 

As a consequence of the government policy changes in 2015/16 six local authorities 
from the original group (Bath & North East Somerset, Bristol, Gloucestershire, North 
Somerset, South Gloucestershire, and Wiltshire) and six Voluntary Adoption Agencies/ 
Adoption Support Agencies revised these plans and began to plan for a more formal 
alternative delivery arrangement to meet government expectations.  South 
Gloucestershire Council agreed to lead this work on behalf of the other councils. 

The Adoption West plans were submitted to DfE in September 2015. Funding was 
agreed for resources to support the project including independent specialist legal, 
financial and technical advice. DfE continue to provide independent support and 
challenge to all plans and proposals. 

The current governance structure for Adoption West developments is attached at 
Appendix 1. Gloucestershire is represented at all levels and on all groups. Directors 
and Lead Cabinet Members have been part of these discussions. 

Page 211



Proposed Organisational arrangements for Adoption West

A range of types of organisational arrangements were initially considered for Adoption 
West. Through a process of options appraisal, soft market testing and specialist advice 
the following three options were taken forward for more detailed analysis: 

1. Hosted by a single LA on behalf of a number of LAs

2. Joint venture between LAs – public sector owned entity

3. Creation of a new VAA – public and third sector ownership

The options appraisal exercise highlighted the potential benefits and recommended 
option 2, a public sector entity, jointly owned by the six councils. The following key 
strengths were identified: 

 The proposed structure creates a new entity which offers a neutral platform which 
affords all participating authorities equal status within the arrangements and avoids 
the perception of control which the required role of a "lead authority" can create. 

 The proposed structure allows governance arrangements to be straightforward with 
all councils represented on the Board of Directors (the VAA / ASAs would have 
limited voting rights). 

 The procurement position is more favourable as this type of organisation (that is 
wholly owned by the participating councils) will be exempt from competitive tender 
processes.  Given the embryonic market in this area, the significant government 
focus on adoption and the likelihood of rapid developments and changes in this area 
of policy, this will be important in the medium term.  

 Innovation and growth are better facilitated by this model. This may range from 
experimenting with new practice methodologies and trialling alternative evidence 
based practice models and programmes, through to embracing new technology and 
improving working practices such as team and service user communications.

 The flexibility offers the opportunity to build on good practice and services that are 
already provided to adopted children and adopters in some councils. It allows for 
this to become standard across the region and significantly more flexibility for 
adopters and adopted children than is currently possible. 

A full business case for option 2 will be developed in the coming months. The preferred 
model and accompanying financial plans have been submitted to DfE in order to secure 
some transitional funding. It is a requirement to submit all proposals for regional 
adoption agencies to the DfE to secure funding and approval to proceed with next 
steps, such as consultation.  

Page 212



Proposed consultation 

Alongside organisational arrangement proposals, significant progress has been made 
towards developing options for operational arrangements. Staff have supported the 
process through an engagement events and on-going communication with service 
managers. Adopters are represented as part of the governance group through Adoption 
UK. Fuller consultation with adopters, adopted children, staff, partners, members and 
the wider public is now needed.  

The areas for consultation are as follows:

 The preferred organisational arrangements for Adoption West 
 Operational considerations
 Voluntary Adoption Agency and Adoption Support Agency (VAA / ASA) roles and 

considerations
 Health provision, specifically in relation to adoption medical advice which is 

commissioned by a number of CCGs
 Financial planning, principles and processes
 Human resources implications (staffing, organisational structure, employee 

transfer and pensions)
 Service delivery locations and ensuing property requirements. 

Engagement and consultation is planned to run for 10 weeks from Monday 25th July to 
Monday 3rd October 2016. The principal stakeholders include:

 Adopted children and young people

 Adopters

 Birth families

 Council, Voluntary Adoption Agency and Adoption Support Agency Staff

 Health service commissioners and providers

 Adoption panel members

 Education services

Plans are in place for more thorough engagement with adopters working with Adoption 
UK to facilitate surveys, focus groups and various forums. Likewise plans are in place 
to involve adopted children and young people in a more structured way. The outcomes 
of this engagement process will inform the development of proposals for a decision 
paper to return to this cabinet later this year.

Page 213



Options

Option 1. To do nothing: Gloucestershire is required by government to work towards 
becoming part of a regional adoption agency. The government position is clear. The 
expectation that regional adoption agencies are in place by 2020 means that doing nothing is 
not an option.   

Option 2. To proceed with the Adoption West plans as detailed and to consult on the 
proposals: The work so far in developing Adoption West has accorded with government 
expectations. Officers from Gloucestershire have been fully involved in developments. The 
proposals offer opportunities to improve adoption services for children and adopters in 
Gloucestershire. At this stage consultation of proposals is sought. Cabinet will have the 
opportunity to consider more detailed proposals and business cases in the autumn. 

Option 3. To pursue an alternative regional adoption arrangement: The arrangements for 
Adoption West make sense geographically, for children and prospective adopters. Other 
councils in parallel with the Adoption West councils have been developing their own regional 
arrangements; Gloucestershire has not been involved with these developments and so would 
be joining any arrangements at a late stage. This could mean that arrangements will not reflect 
Gloucestershire’s requirements or offer the same level of opportunity. Near neighbours include 
the West Midlands or Welsh councils. Wales has its own regional adoption arrangements 
which are already operational. 

Risk Assessment  

The development of a regional adoption agency risks dislocating adoption services form the 
social work teams which work with children. Services may become fragmented leading to 
delay for children. All participating councils are aware of this risk; engagement of social work 
teams for children is planned. Close monitoring of adoption delay and rates of adoption is now 
in place at national, regional and council level to closely track any changes.

Gloucestershire currently has direct control over its adoption service; regionalisation has the 
potential to dilute this. Being closely involved in developing Adoption West offers some 
mitigation to this risk, joining other arrangements at a later date could compound this risk.  

The adoption service in Gloucestershire is good and performs above national averages. Any 
change (including regionalisation) to the service risks a dip in performance. This risk can be 
managed by careful transition planning which enables staff to continue to focus on local 
priorities, adopters and children. 

The Bevan Brittan options appraisal report identifies a number of elements to consider in 
regard to employment and pensions and these will need to be assessed to ensure best value 
for money is achieved and any financial implications mitigated in the final business case.

Officer Advice

Officers advise proceeding with option 2. Gloucestershire is required by recent government 
policy to be part of a regional adoption agency by 2020. This option offers the best opportunity 
to be fully involved with the development of a regional adoption agency. Gloucestershire and 
Wiltshire were key early leaders of these developments prior to the more recent government 

Page 214



direction, understanding that to make adoption arrangements sustainable and accessible 
regional developments could be key. Gloucestershire officers have been fully involved in 
developments to date and have shaped the options proposed. Doing nothing is not an option, 
and joining other regional arrangements at this stage may not afford the same level of 
involvement in the final proposals. Cabinet will have the opportunity to consider more fully 
developed plans in the autumn, following fuller consultation and business case development. 

Equalities considerations

The due regard statement indicates that Adoption West could offer some opportunities to 
impact positively on some protected characteristics. The arrangements for consultation will 
need to take account of the predominately female workforce who may have additional caring 
responsibilities. Likewise sensitivity in arrangements and consultation methods will be required 
to engage the full range of adopters and adopted children and young people. Cabinet 
Members should read and consider the Due Regard Statement in order to satisfy themselves 
as decision makers that due regard has been given.

Appendix 1

Page 215



Report Title Adoption West: Proposals and consultation to develop a 
regional adoption agency (RAA)

Statutory Authority
The Education and Adoption Act 2016
Adoption and Children Act 2002

Relevant County Council 
policy

Council Strategy priorities (2015-18):
 Making a difference for the most vulnerable children, 

young people and adults.
 Finding the best, most efficient way of delivering 

services.
 Being there when needed most - reducing the length of 

episodes in are by helping children to find safe, secure 
homes through adoption, when they cannot be cared for 
by their birth families.

Resource Implications None currently, DFE are fully funding development costs. 
Overall adoption service budget is £908k

Sustainability checklist:

Partnerships This proposal seeks to develop a regional adoption agency 
through partnership working with the six councils.  All relevant 
partners are included in consultation proposals. Some key 
partners such as the NHS are already part of arrangements

Decision Making and 
Involvement

Adopters are represented as part of the governance 
arrangements for Adoption West. The planned consultation 
seeks to involve a wider cohort of adopters and adopted 
children

Economy and Employment No significant impact

Caring for people Proposals accord with the council’s strategy priorities relating 
to caring for people. Specifically ‘Being there when needed 
most’ - reducing the length of episodes in are by helping 
children to find safe, secure homes through adoption, when 
they cannot be cared for by their birth families. 

Social Value Adopters provide safe, secure homes to children who need 
them. This long term commitment to becoming a family and 
providing lifelong support are reported to have significant 
benefits. Recent estimates to quantify the SRoI relating to a 
child being adopted suggests that this is worth some £410k per 
child over their lifetime. (PACT/Baker-Tilly/City University, 
London: 2011) 

Page 216



Built Environment No impact

Natural Environment’ 
including Ecology 
(Biodiversity)

No impact

Education and Information No immediate impact, some long term evidence in relation to 
children achieving better in education and employment in later 
life. 

Tackling Climate Change Carbon Emissions Implications? Positive/ Neutral/ Negative
Vulnerable to climate change? Yes/ No/ Maybe

Due Regard Statement Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?     Yes
Yes  - considerations included in main body of report

A copy of the full Due Regard Statement  can be accessed on 
GLOSTEXT via 
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1

Alternatively a hard copy is available for inspection from Jo 
Moore, Democratic Services Unit, e-mail: 
jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk.

Human rights Implications None

Consultation 
Arrangements

As detailed in report

Page 217

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1
mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



DIRECT AWARD OF TWENTY SEVEN 6 MONTH INTERIM RECYCLATE CONTRACTS AND 
THE CREATION OF A DYNAMIC PURCHASING SYSTEM FOR THE DELIVERY OF 
RECYCLATE SERVICES FOR THE HOUSEHOLD RECYCLING CENTRE SERVICE

Cabinet Date 20 July 2016

Finance and 
Change Cllr Ray Theodoulou  

Key Decision Yes

Background 
Documents

Cabinet Report 20 April 2016 - Options to deliver the Household Recycling 
Centre (HRC) Service 
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s28965/Item%2018%20-
%20Household%20Recycling%20Centre.pdf

Main Consultees
Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee
Shadow Members

Planned Dates
21st June 2016 – Joint Waste Committee
19th July 2016 – Shadows
7th August – Contract start date

Divisional 
Councillor All

Officer

Contacts; Nigel Riglar, Tony Childs or Steve Read
Tel. No.; 01452 328470, 01452 425448 or 07824460588
Email addresses; nigel.riglar@gloucestershire.gov.uk, 
tony.childs@gloucestershire.gov.uk or steve.read@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Purpose of Report To seek Cabinet approval to:

1. Direct award twenty seven  6 month interim recyclate contract to each of 
the incumbent contractors for the period 7th August 2016 to 31st 
January 2017; and 

2. Establish and operate a five year EU compliant Dynamic Purchasing 
System for the delivery of recyclate services to the Household Recycling 
Centre Service with an estimated total value of £5m.

Page 219

Agenda Item 8

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s28965/Item%2018%20-%20Household%20Recycling%20Centre.pdf
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s28965/Item%2018%20-%20Household%20Recycling%20Centre.pdf
mailto:nigel.riglar@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:tony.childs@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:steve.read@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Recommendations That Cabinet authorises:

1.  the Commissioning Director: Communities and Infrastructure, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance and Change to:

a. direct award 6 month interim recyclate contracts to each of the 
incumbent contractors set out in paragraph 2.3 of this Report for 
the period 7th August 2016 to 31st January 2017 with a total 
estimated value for all the contracts of £0.52m;

b. conduct an EU compliant competitive tender process for the 
creation of a 5 year Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS) for the 
provision of recyclate services to the Household Recycling Centre 
Service commencing on the 1st February 2017 with an estimated 
total value of £5m over its term;

2. the Commissioning Director: Communities and Infrastructure:

a. throughout the term of the DPS to admit or remove contractors to 
the DPS in accordance with the required selection criteria or any 
revised selection criteria set out in the DPS;

b. to procure recyclate services from contractors  under the DPS and 
award contracts for recyclate services up to the value of £499k in 
respect of  any single contract; any contract with a value of £500k 
or more must be the subject of a separate Cabinet decision;

c. to report back to Cabinet on an annual basis throughout the term of 
the DPS detailing the total value of the contracts let under the 
System for that year and cummulatively. 

Reasons for 
recommendations

It is necessary to implement the recommendations to maintain the HRC 
service ensuring compliance with the Council’s statutory duty under s51 of 
the Environmental Protection Act 1990 and to meet the Councils obligations 
for letting contracts.

Resource 
Implications

The expected overall value of the contracts to be let under the DPS on a per 
annum basis is estimated to be around £1m.  The budget to support these 
contracts remains within the existing waste budget level although the 
procurement will aim to generate efficiencies.  
 

Page 220



MAIN REPORT CONTENTS

1. Background

1.1 On 20th April 2016 Cabinet approved the award of a contract to Ubico Ltd to operate the 
HRC service. Although the contract with Ubico Ltd is to operate the HRCs there are a 
number of other contracts that are required to ensure the service runs smoothly.  These 
contracts are for the removal of materials brought in by the public for recycling, some of 
these materials have a value e.g. scrap metal, and some of have a cost to recycle e.g. 
wood.  This means that to maintain service continuity the County Council has to let a 
range of additional contracts to ensure these materials are removed from the Household 
Recycling Centres by reprocessors on a regular basis. 

1.2 The range of materials that will be covered by the contracts is set out in table 1 below.  

Table 1: Materials collected separately at HRCs for recycling 

Material
Asbestos Paper
Bikes Plasterboard
Books Plastic bottles
Bric-a-Brac Plastic Rigid
Cans Printer Cartridge
Car Batteries Scrap Metal
Cardboard Soil
Chemicals Soil Conditioner
DIY Waste Spectacles
Gas Bottles Textiles
Glass Tyres
Household Batteries Vegetable Oil
Mineral Oil Wood
Mobile Phones

2. Options

1.3 There are a number of purchasing options available these include; the use of a 
framework, advertising contracts as they become available, operating a dynamic 
purchasing system or direct award.  Some of these options have more limitations than 
others. Frameworks would not allow new entrants to the market to be added and 
advertising contracts as they become available will increase the administrative burden on 
both the council and bidders.  Due to the short amount of time until the start of the HRC 
contract with Ubico, directly awarding contracts is considered as the only option in the 
timescale.  In the longer term, a dynamic purchasing system is considered to offer 
advantages over the other options.  A dynamic purchasing system will give us the 
flexibility  to respond to changes in market conditions in order for us to maintain the best 
value for the service.

Page 221



1.4 It will take about six months to tender and set up the dynamic purchasing system which 
will enable the contracts for the reprocessors to be let for the longer term.  In the 
meantime short-term contracts will need to be put in place from 7th August 2016 to 
ensure the continuity of the service.

1.5 We need to directly award 27 contracts, one to each of the incumbent contractors  as 
listed in Table 2 because there is insufficient time to carry out a  formal tender process 
for the award of these interim contracts.  By directly awarding these short term 6 month 
contracts we will ensure the service can operate from 7th August until 31st January and 
smoothly transition from the current operator Kier to Ubico Ltd.

1.6 The interim contracts all range in value though no individual contract exceeds the 
relevant EU procurement threshold under the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (PCR 
2015). These are short-term interim contracts and contractors will be able to apply to join 
the DPS in due course. The impending award of the main HRC contract to Ubico Ltd 
means that these contracts need to be awarded urgently.

Table 2: Existing service providers as at 6th August 2016

Service Provider Material for recycling or disposal
Grundon Ltd Asbestos
EnviroWales Ltd Automotive Batteries
G & P Batteries Household Batteries
D S Smith Recycling Cardboard
Chemtech Chemicals
Living Fuels Cooking Oil
Envik Waste Gas Bottles
Smiths (Glos) Ltd Soil, Glass, Cans & Paper
EMR Ltd Ferrous & Non Ferrous Metals
Plasterboard Recycling Solutions Plasterboard
Printwaste Plastic bottles
Thamesdown Plastic bottles & Rigid Plastic
Recyclafone Mobile phones
J M P Wilcox Textiles
Credential Environmental Tyres
Eco-Oil Engine Oil
S W Wood Ltd Wood
M Bennion Ltd Soil Conditioner
Cory Environmental Ltd DIY Waste
Repic Waste electrical items
Recolight Bulbs and fluorescent tubes 
Greenworld Trading Automotive Batteries
Gloucestershire Bike Project Bicycles
British Heart Foundation Books
W H Papps Bric a brac
Sims Ferrous & Non Ferrous Metals
Tony Webb Bric a brac

Page 222



1.7 A Dynamic Purchasing System is an electronic procurement approach for setting up and 
maintaining a list of contractors. It will need to be established in accordance with PCR 
2015, given its value and will be open throughout its duration for the admission of any 
contractor  who  satisfies the selection criteria. 

1.8 The benefits of utilising a Dynamic Purchasing System are:

 It allows new contractors  to be added during the lifetime of the system and for 
contractors to improve their pricing with each contract they tender for under the 
DPS. 

 The market place can remain competitive in terms of cost and quality  
 The market place can grow and develop over the lifetime of the system with new 

contractors being able to join which encourages the market to develop.  
 Prices can remain current
 As contractors are able to join at anytime this allows GCC access to potentially 

new innovative solutions.   

1.9 As part of the introduction of the proposed DPS the Joint Waste Team in partnership with 
the Commercial Unit will undertake a large scale supplier engagement process to 
encourage contractors to join the system and offer services to the council, thus 
increasing competition.  

1.10 The flexibility offered by a DPS will encourage increased competition for contracts which 
should deliver downstream cashable benefits.

3. Risk Assessment

3.1. It is essential that the interim direct award contracts for contractors as outlined in this 
report are in place by 7th August 2016.  Failure to have these contracts in place will result 
in either recyclable waste having to be landfilled or the sites having to close.

3.2. The interim direct award contracts will be let using a standard set of terms and conditions 
and a tailored specification, which will ensure that the sites are serviced as required and 
that materials are recycled where possible.

4. Officer Advice

4.1. Having considered the options available within this timeframe and due to the urgent need 
to have contracts in place by 7 August, it is recommended that 27 short-term contracts 
are directly awarded.  We also recommend that the Commissioning Director: 
Communities and Infrastructure is authorised to set up a dynamic purchasing system in 
consultation with the Cabinet member for Finance and Change from 1 February 2017.

5. Equalities considerations

5.1. A due regard statement is not needed because no material impact on any of the nine 
protected characteristics was identified relating to awarding these contracts. Any 
changes to the contracts will need to be considered separately.

Page 223



6. Performance Management/Follow-up 

6.1. The spending on these contracts will be closely monitored and reported to the 
appropriate Director on a monthly basis and an annual report will be presented to 
Cabinet to show the spend using the Dynamic Purchasing system.

Page 224



Report Title Direct award of twenty seven 6 month interim recyclate 
contracts and the creation of a Dynamic Purchasing System for 
the delivery of recyclate services for the Household Recycling 
Centre Service

Statutory Authority
Environmental Protection Act 1990 (EPA 1990);
51. Functions of waste disposal authorities.

(1) It shall be the duty of each waste disposal authority 
to arrange—

(b) for places to be provided at which persons 
resident in its area may deposit their household 
waste and for the disposal of waste so deposited;

Relevant County Council 
policy

Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy

Resource Implications
The cost of the service will remain within the existing budget 
although the procurement will aim to generate efficiencies.

Sustainability checklist:

Partnerships Gloucestershire County Council is a member of the 
Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee together with 
Cheltenham Borough Council, Cotswold District Council, Forest 
of Dean District Council and Tewkesbury Borough Council.

Decision Making and 
Involvement

This decision is made by the Cabinet.

Economy and Employment Awarding these contracts will benefit the economy and 
employment by keeping materials flowing in the recycling 
system.  

Caring for people No effect

Social Value The contracts add social value by ensuring that some 
recyclable materials are passed to local charities e.g. bicycles.

Built Environment No effect

Natural Environment’ 
including Ecology 
(Biodiversity)

No effect

Education and Information The sites are used to host visits by schools and others to 
educate
and inform about recycling and the positive benefits it can 
deliver.

Page 225



Tackling Climate Change Carbon Emissions Implications?  Positive
Vulnerable to climate change?  No

Due Regard Statement Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?     No

Human rights Implications No effect

Consultation 
Arrangements

A verbal briefing on this Cabinet paper was presented to the 
Joint Waste Committee on 21st June.

Page 226



DECISION TO LAUNCH PUBLIC CONSULTATION ON THE PRINCIPLES OF THE SEXUAL 
HEALTH SERVICES REVIEW FROM 29 JULY 2016 FOR A PERIOD OF TWELVE WEEKS

Cabinet Date 20th July 2016

Public Health & 
Communities Cllr. Andrew Gravells

Key Decision Yes

Background 
Documents

Gloucestershire Sexual Health Strategy 2012-2017
Gloucestershire Sexual Health Needs Assessment  - 2015
Sexual Health Services Review consultation questionnaire 

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
Background 
Documents

Background documents are available on the Gloucestershire County 
Council (GCC) website www.gloucestershire.gov.uk  

Or by request from Karen Pitney, Outcome Manager (Public Health)

Email: Karen.Pitney@gloucestershire.gov.uk    

Tel: 01452328611

Main Consultees Service users 

Partner organisations (health, social care, and voluntary sector)

Existing service staff

Service providers

General public

GCC elected members, including shadow Cabinet members for Public 
Health and Communities

GCC Directors and Commissioners, e.g. children and families, adult social 
care

Page 227

Agenda Item 9

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/


Planned Dates Scoping/Briefing paper presented at Commissioning Board – 15th March 
2016

Provider co-production meetings : 11th March 2016, 13th April 2016, 18th 
May 2016, 15th June 2016, 6th July 2016, 14th September 2106, 5th October 
2016.

Provider staff briefings:  17th March 2016, 12th July 2106  

Provider market engagement event – 6th April 2016 

Engagement with priority groups – 15th February 2016 to 30th May 2016 

Public Consultation – Friday 29th July 2016 (twelve weeks)

Divisional 
Councillor

All divisions

Officer Sarah Scott, Director of Public Health Tel: 01452 328249
   Email: Sarah.L.Scott@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Purpose of Report To seek Cabinet approval to go out to public consultation on the principles 
of the Sexual Health Services Review from 29th July 2016 for a period of 
twelve weeks

Recommendations It is recommended that Cabinet:

1. Approves the consultation principles for the Sexual Health Services 
review as set out in Paragraph 1.9 of this Report. 

2.  Authorises the Director Public Health to undertake a 12 week public 
consultation exercise commencing on the 29th July 2016 in accordance 
with the principles approved under Recommendation 1 of this Report.

3.  Requires the Director Public Health to report the results of the 
consultation exercise undertaken in accordance with Recommendation 2 
of this Report back to Cabinet as part of any proposals for the future 
delivery of Sexual Health Services in Gloucestershire.

 

.Reasons for 
recommendations

To enable Gloucestershire residents and key stakeholders to influence the 
direction of travel for the development of Sexual Health Services in 
Gloucestershire. The input of the key groups will help to ensure that 
Services are aligned to their needs and deliver value for money for the 
people of Gloucestershire. 

Resource 
Implications

Spend in relation to the recommendations within this report will be within 
existing budget resources. Expenses beyond normal operational costs are 
not expected as part of this project. 

Page 228



MAIN REPORT CONTENTS
1. Background 
Sexual Health Service Commissioning in Gloucestershire
1.1 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 brought about a change in the commissioning 
landscape in England. Prior to the Act sexual health services had been the sole responsibility 
of the National Health Service . Sexual health services in Gloucestershire are now 
commissioned across three organisations: Gloucestershire County Council (GCC); 
Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (GCCG); and NHS England (regional teams 
and Specialised Commissioning). As part of the ‘new’ commissioning arrangements GCC has 
responsibility for the commissioning of: 

 Contraception, including services delivered by GP’s which are outside of their 
General Medical Services (GMS) contract (implants and intrauterine contraception 
(IUS/IUD), and pharmacy interventions). 

 Testing and treatment for sexually transmitted infections (STI), Chlamydia testing 
as part of the national chlamydia screening programme, and HIV testing.

 Sexual health aspects of psychosexual medicine. 

 HIV prevention
1.2 The three commissioning bodies (GCC, GCCG, NHS England) coordinate sexual health 
service planning through the Sexual Health Strategic Partnership for Gloucestershire. This 
helps to ensure that there is a seamless patient pathway across Sexual Health Services in 
Gloucestershire. 
The Current Service
1.3 The current service delivery model combines: abortion (commissioned by GCCG); HIV 
Treatment and Sexual Assault Referral Centre (commissioned by NHS England); and the 
county-wide Sexual Health Service (Integrated contraception and genitourinary medicine 
(GUM) and psychosexual medicine, commissioned by GCC). All of these Services are 
currently provided by Gloucestershire Care Services NHS Trust (GCS). 
1.4 The Service operates under a hub and spoke delivery model, with GCS providing clinics in 
each district. This is complemented by service provision from GP’s and Community Pharmacy 
across the county. Outside of the hub and spoke model, but still working closely with GCS 
services, are a number of targeted prevention services including: HIV prevention and testing 
(Eddystone Trust);  Teenage Pregnancy Service (Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Trust); and 
free condom distribution scheme C-Card (Prospects Youth Service).  In addition to these 
services, General Practices provide all contraceptive solutions as part of their standard 
contract.  GCC Public Health commissions additional services for the fitting of Intrauterine 
devices and systems (coils) and hormonal implants.  
Sexual Health Needs Assessment
1.5 In 2015 a comprehensive assessment of sexual health need for Gloucestershire was 
completed. The aim of the needs assessment was to understand the successes, challenges, 
and opportunities associated with the sexual health of the people of Gloucestershire. The 
needs assessment identified some key challenges for Gloucestershire to improve sexual 
health in the area:

 Improving access to Sexual Health Services (either due to geographic location or 
service format)

Page 229



 Understanding and responding to the sexual health needs of key vulnerable groups

 Focusing on prevention as a key intervention to improve the sexual health of people 
living in Gloucestershire, whilst reducing reliance on specialist treatment services

 Ensuring that both the requirements  of the Health and Social Care Act 2012 and 
working across three commissioning bodies are addressed in the delivery of services to 
enable a seamless patient flow

1.6 There is clear evidence of inequalities in sexual health relating to age, ethnicity, sexuality, 
poverty and social exclusion. There is a need to address the sexual health needs of these 
particular groups, widen access to Services and reduce the impact of substance abuse on risk 
taking behaviour.
Gloucestershire Sexual Health Review
1.7 The GCC Public Health team are proposing to undertake a review of Sexual Health 
Services in Gloucestershire to establish if there is a more efficient and effective model for 
encouraging and enabling people to better protect their sexual health with a particular 
emphasis on relationships, consent, safety, and the prevention of disease and unplanned 
outcomes. This responds to challenges identified in the Sexual Health needs assessment, and 
the wider Gloucestershire County Council strategic direction. It also responds to the feedback 
received as part of GCC’s consultation ‘Together we can’, which supports focusing services on 
those who have the highest need. 
1.8 The review aims to develop cost effective approaches to the delivery of Sexual Health 
Services, focused on the needs of those who are most vulnerable to poor sexual health 
outcomes.  This will be done in conjunction with the commissioners of other Sexual Health 
Services in the county to ensure a joined up approach.
Consultation on the Principles of Sexual Health Review
1.9 It is important that the people of Gloucestershire have the opportunity to influence how a 
new model of delivery for Sexual Health Services is developed. It is proposed that a public 
consultation is launched on the principles of the Sexual Health Service Review which will run 
for a twelve week period from 29th July 2016. The principles that the public will be consulted 
on are:

 People should find it easy to access the care they need, regardless of the 
service they require or the location they attend. This means people can easily 
move within the sexual health system and can expect a consistent standard of 
care.

 Services provide care focused on need – ensuring those who most need 
help have access to specialist services targeted to their needs. We know that 
there are some groups of people who are particularly vulnerable to poor sexual 
health outcomes. Services should be designed so that they are targeted to the 
needs of those groups.

 Prevention of poor sexual health outcomes is a priority. This means focusing 
on preventing people from having poor sexual health outcomes (such as 
unplanned pregnancy or sexually transmitted infections) through education, 
access to information, and targeted schemes for vulnerable or high-need groups.

 Technology is used to allow people to access services most appropriate for 
them, and, where possible, choose online or self care. This means that 

Page 230



information is easily accessible to allow individuals to access services most 
convenient for them and can choose the option of home and self sampling/testing 
services.  

1.10 The feedback from the public consultation will be used to help shape the approach to the 
design of the future delivery model for Sexual Health Services. This will help to ensure that 
service specifications are produced which represent excellent value for money for the people 
of Gloucestershire, focused on those with the highest need. 
2. Options
2.1 At this stage of the process it is important that service users, priority groups, and 
Gloucestershire residents have the opportunity to influence the Sexual Health Services 
Review. The feedback from the consultation will be incorporated into the design of the model, 
which will be presented in the final business case for decision by the Cabinet.   As this review 
is considering a fundamental re-design of Sexual Health Services in Gloucestershire a full 12 
week consultation will be carried out, therefore no other options for consultation have been 
considered.
3. Risk Assessment  
3.1 The public consultation has been assessed as a level two risk; medium risk. The 
assessment is based on the following identified risks:

 Public engagement: The key risk is that the public consultation does not accurately 
reflect the demographics of Gloucestershire. This could impact on the value of the 
consultation findings in defining the direction of the Sexual Health Review. To mitigate 
this risk a range of media and approaches will be used to reach as wide a population 
base as possible, including face-to-face consultation through community agents or 
organisations who have established contact with key groups.

 Difficulties accessing priority groups: There are key groups in Gloucestershire who have 
higher need and poorer sexual health outcomes. These groups are also often considered 
‘hard to reach’. There is therefore a risk that they have limited opportunity to influence 
service model development. This risk is being mitigated by accessing these groups 
through community agents and organisations who already have good access to such 
groups and an established relationship. The consultation format will be adjusted to their 
needs to ensure engagement. Moreover, these groups have also been surveyed in 
response to their identification through the sexual health needs assessment. The 
outcomes from this will also be used to inform the Sexual Health Services Review.

 Over representation of some groups: Whilst the public consultation needs to adopt a 
targeted approach to ensure that the voice of hard to reach groups with some of the 
highest need is included, there is a risk that this is at the expense of the wider population 
of Gloucestershire. To mitigate this risk a range of formats are being used to ensure that 
the consultation is accessible to people across Gloucestershire, reflecting the range of 
demographics.  

 Feedback does not agree with principles: The principles have been informed by a range 
of sources including the Sexual Health Needs Assessment, the strategic direction of 
GCC  and the wider health economy. Feedback from the public will be integrated with 
these sources to influence the direction of the Sexual Health Services Review. Public 
feedback, whether supportive or challenging, is an important part of this process. 

Page 231



4. Officer Advice
4.1 Officer advice is to agree the recommendations set out in this report.
5. Equalities considerations
5.1 A Due Regard Statement, considering the equality duty, has been completed and 
accompanies this report.
5.2 Consideration of the likely equalities impact of the recommended option indicates that 
there is no disproportionate negative effect upon those with protected characteristics. The 
principles being consulted on aim to reduce inequalities that already exist for groups that have 
been previously identified through the Sexual Health Needs Assessment as having a higher 
burden of need and poorer access.
5.3 Cabinet Members should read and consider the Due Regard Statement in order to satisfy 
themselves as decision makers that due regard has been given.
6. Consultation feedback
6.1 Feedback from the public consultation will be collated and analysed by the GCC Public 
Health team. The outputs will be shared with partners through the Gloucestershire Sexual 
Health Strategic Partnership Group, and at the Gloucestershire Sexual Health Lead Provider 
Group. Stakeholders will have the opportunity to agree on changes to the principles of the 
Sexual Health Services Review, as informed by the outcomes of the public consultation. 
6.2 The feedback from the consultation and how this affects the model of delivery of Sexual 
Health Services will be presented as part of the final business case. 
7. Performance Management/Follow-up 
7.1 The public consultation process will be managed by GCC Public Health Team. The GCC 
Public Health Team will also have responsibility for the analysis and presentation of feedback 
received through the consultation process. The integration of feedback from the consultation 
process in the service review principles will be the responsibility of the wider network of 
partners, organised through the Gloucestershire Sexual Health Strategic Partnership Group 
and the Gloucestershire Sexual Health Lead Provider Group.

Page 232



Report Title Decision to launch public consultation on principles of the 
Sexual Health Services Review from 29th July 2016 for a period 
of twelve weeks

Statutory Authority Health & Social Care Act 2012

Relevant County Council 
policy

Meeting the Challenge 2 – Together We Can: Gloucestershire 
County Council Strategy 2015-2018 (updated 2016/17)

Early Help and Children & Young People’s Plan

Building Better Lives Policy 

Settled, Secure and Safe lives in Gloucestershire – a policy for 
supporting people in vulnerable circumstances.

Active Individuals – Draft policy

Active Communities

Resource Implications
Spend in relation to the recommendations within this report will 
be within existing budget resources from the GCC Public 
Health Team. 

Sustainability checklist:

Partnerships The Sexual Health Services Review is part of a partnership 
approach across the Gloucestershire health economy. Partners 
will also have the opportunity to engage with the public 
consultation as participants, and to interpret the outcomes 
through the Gloucestershire Sexual Health Strategic 
Partnership Group and the Gloucestershire Sexual Health Lead 
Provider Group. Both of these groups include the key providers 
and commissioners for Sexual Health Services across 
Gloucestershire.

Decision Making and 
Involvement

A wide variety of stakeholders will be included in the public 
consultation including: service users; key high-burden groups; 
and partner organisations. Hard to reach groups have also 
been targeted in pre-engagement exercises, including sex 
workers. 

Economy and Employment Poor sexual health can have adverse effects on person’s ability 
to access and remain in training, education, and employment. It 
can also negatively affect a person’s productivity. 

Caring for people Key groups with high burden of need and service users from 
across the demographic scope of Gloucestershire will be 
involved in pre-engagement and public consultation. 

Page 233



Traditionally hard-to-reach groups will be accessed through 
community agents or organisations who already have an 
established relationship with them. 

Social Value The Sexual Health Services Review has the opportunity to both 
treat and prevent ill health, and to allow vulnerable groups to 
remain productive members of their communities and places of 
work or training. The public consultation will be a key source of 
information in enabling this. 

Built Environment No impact

Natural Environment’ 
including Ecology 
(Biodiversity)

No impact

Education and Information Education and information will be key tools to help clients avoid 
contracting a sexual disease and to reduce the likelihood of 
them infecting others. There will also be education and 
information to support relationship and family planning choices. 

Tackling Climate Change Carbon Emissions Implications? Positive/ Neutral/ Negative

Vulnerable to climate change? Yes/ No/ Maybe

Due Regard Statement Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?     Yes/No

Yes  - considerations included in main body of report

A copy of the full Due Regard Statement  can be accessed on 
GLOSTEXT via 
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1

Alternatively a hard copy is available for inspection from Jo 
Moore, Democratic Services Unit, e-mail: 
jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk.

Human rights Implications None 

Consultation 
Arrangements

This report describes the approach to the public consultation 
on the principles of the Sexual Health Services Review. The 
consultation is planned to commence on the 29th July 2016 and 
run for a period of twelve weeks. The public consultation 
feedback will be integrated into the agreed principles for 
delivery of sexual health, and ultimately the design of the 
sexual health delivery models.  
This consultation document will be made available online and 
in hard copy in a variety of locations, including at current 

Page 234

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1
mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


service delivery points. Key groups who are traditionally 
considered hard to reach will be accessed through community 
agents and organisations who already have an established 
relationship, to ensure they are adequately represented in the 
consultation feedback

Page 235



This page is intentionally left blank



FINANCIAL MONITORING REPORT: 2016/17

Cabinet Date 20 July 2016.

Deputy Leader and
Finance & Change

Cllr Raymond Theodoulou 

Key Decision Yes

Background 
Documents

MTFS to 17th February 2016 County Council 

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
Background 
Documents

The MTFS 2016/17 can be found using the following web link:
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=65756&p=0

Main Consultees Cabinet Members, OSMC, COMT and Budget Managers.

Planned Dates Not Applicable

Divisional 
Councillor

Countywide.  A number of capital schemes relate to specific divisions: 
  Flood alleviation schemes:
  Cllr Jason Bullingham, Bisley and Painswick (Whaddon)
  Cllr Jack Williams, Churchdown (Anne Hathaway Drive)
  Cllr Robert Vines, Brockworth (Medway Crescent)

  Schools:
  Cllr Tony Blackburn, Hardwicke and Severn (Lakefield Primary School)
  Cllr David Prince, Pittville and Prestbury (Pittville School)
  Cllr Iain Dobie, Leckhampton and Warden Hill (Bournside School)
  Cllr Barry Kirby, Grange and Kinsway (Hunts Grove)

Officer Jo Walker, Strategic Finance Director  (01452) 328469
joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Paul Blacker, Head of Financial Management, (01452) 328999 
paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Purpose of Report To provide an update on the year-end forecast for the 2016/17 County 
Council’s Revenue and Capital Budgets.

Recommendations That the Cabinet:
1. Notes the forecast revenue year end position, as at the end of May 

2016 for the 2016/17 financial year, of a net £0.16 million underspend, 

Page 237

Agenda Item 10

mailto:joanna.walker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk


2. Notes the forecast capital year end position of a small under-spend of 
£0.028 million for 2016/17.

3. Agrees the following changes to the capital programme:

a) that the approved capital programme be increased by £0.3 
million to fund capital works which will enable children centre 
buildings to be adapted and made suitable for the provision of 
a wider range of services. This increase will be funded by a 
revenue contribution from the Services to Families with Young 
Children Reserve.

b) that a new £3.1 million scheme for a programme of structural 
patching be included in the approved capital programme, 
financed from £1.006 million DfT Pothole Action Fund grant, 
£0.807 million approved 2015/16 revenue contribution, £1.0 
million from the Communities & Infrastructure reserve and a 
£0.28 million transfer from the Minor Works budget.

c) that the approved capital programme be increased by £1.501 
million for three flood alleviation schemes at Whaddon 
(£1.288 million), Anne Hathaway Drive, Churchdown (£0.071 
million), and Medway Crescent, Brockworth (£0.142 million), 
financed by Flood Defence Grant Aid.

d) that £0.231 million be transferred from the unallocated Basic 
Need grant funding to a new Lakefield C of E Primary School 
project, within the approved capital programme.

e) that £0.5 million be transferred from the Future Secondary 
Basic Need allocation to the Pittville School project, within the 
approved capital programme.

f) that a new £2.4 million scheme for Bournside School be 
included in the approved capital programme, financed from 
the transfer of £2.187 million from the Future Secondary 
Basic Need allocation and £0.213 million from s106 funding, 
increasing the overall capital programme by £0.213 million.

g) that the £5.875 million scheme and the associated s106 
contributions for a new school at Hunts Grove be removed 
from the approved capital programme, on the basis that the 
developer will be building the school.

h) that a new £1.409 million scheme for Social Care projects be 
included in the approved capital programme, financed from 
Social Care Capital grant, increasing the overall approved 
capital programme by £1.409 million.

Page 238



i) that a new £0.51 million scheme for two Fire Appliances and 
a new £0.13 million scheme for Road Traffic Control 
Equipment be included in the approved capital programme for 
the Fire & Rescue Service, financed through a revenue 
contribution to capital from the capital financing budget.

Reasons for 
recommendations To ensure Cabinet are aware of the latest revenue and capital monitoring 

positions and the approved capital programme is updated to reflect the 
latest position of approved and new schemes.

Resource 
Implications These are detailed within the report.

Page 239



Section A: Revenue Outturn 2016/17: Forecast Position

1. The current forecast of the year end revenue position, based on actual expenditure at the 
end of May 2016 and forecasts made in June 2016, is a small under-spend of £0.16 
million. 

2. Details of the forecast year end position, analysed by service area, is provided in the 
table below and the narrative that follows.

Variance

%

£000 £000 £000 %

Adults 153,367 153,367 0 0.0%

Public Health 25,542 25,542 0 0.0%

Children & Families 100,713 101,852 1,139 1.1%

Communities & 
Infrastructure

88,088 87,996 -92 -0.1%

Business Support Services 26,112 26,112 0 0.0%

Support Services 
Recharges

-26,112 -26,112 0 0.0%

Total for Services 367,710 368,757 1,047 0.3%

Technical & Cross Cutting 52,349 51,145 -1,204 -2.3%

Total 420,059 419,902 -157 0.0%

Service Area
2016/17 
Budget

Forecast 
Variance

Forecast 
Outturn 

3. The main reasons for the forecast revenue outturn positions, together with the  actions 
being taken to address these positions, are as follows:

Page 240



Adults 

A breakeven position is forecast, based on the underlying overspend being offset by a 
combination of temporary and permanent funding available to Adults in this financial 
year. The underlying position is a net overspend of £3.85 million based on the following;

• Learning Disabilities (LD) £2.00m overspend  
• Older People/ Physical Disabilities (OPPD) £1.50m overspend 
• Mental Health (MH) £0.14m overspend
• Community Equipment and Telecare £0.21m overspend

Underlying Position £3.85m overspend

• Less Care Act Reserve (temporary) £1.31m

• Less Unallocated Social Care Levy £2.54m
(permanent)

Net Position Breakeven

The above strategy for achieving breakeven assumes the use of £1.31 million of the 
Care Act Reserve, which would leave a minor balance of £0.01 million in the reserve.  
No call is assumed for the Vulnerable Adults Reserve, which remains at £1.65 million.  
Both the Care Act and Vulnerable Adults reserves were brought forward from 2015/16.   

The amount required from the Care Act and Vulnerable Adults reserves will inevitably 
change as the year progresses and outturn forecasts are refined. Therefore, at this 
stage, no formal request is being made to Cabinet for the use of the reserves, this will 
be done when there is greater certainty about the amount of reserve required to support 
the 2016/17 budget.  

The £2.54 million Social Care Levy balance is after allocation of £1.60 million Levy to 
support the recurring commitments associated with the Care Act, and £0.59 million 
investment in additional social care staffing and staff retention measures in Adult Social 
Care. 
 
Learning Disabilities are forecasting a £2 million overspend (4.1% of budget).  This 
includes the impact of forecast underachievement of Building Better Lives (BBL) 
savings (£1.14 million) due to increased pressures arising from ‘knock on costs’ from 
other areas such as mental health. Other overspends include staffing costs in 
Assessment and Support Planning services(£0.6 million) which have occurred as a 
result of the reduction in temporary joint funding for projects such as Review and 
Renew, Raising the Bar and Joint Funding staffing. 

A review of BBL savings by Commissioners is taking place to seek to address the 
shortfall and strategic discussions about future staffing capacity to achieve the BBL 
programme will be part of these discussions. A process is being established to ensure 
BBL governance is both understood across the Adults Senior Management Team and 
aligned with the OPPD Single savings Programme.  

Page 241



Older People and Physical Disabilities are forecasting a £1.50 million overspend, (2.9% 
of budget). This relates to pressures in both the Locality-managed External Care 
budgets, and additional budget managed by the Lead Commissioner (relating to void 
payments under the OSJ Care Home Placement contract).

The overspend includes projected Single Programme savings of £5 million, of which 
£3.67 million relates to red and amber risk-rated targets.  Expectations regarding 
achievability of savings targets (including profiling) are being clarified with Project 
Leads, with accountability both to the Single Programme Project Leads Group, and to 
the Head of Adult Social Care and her Management Team.  

Mental Health is forecasting a £0.14 million overspend, (2.1% of budget).  The position 
reflects the overspend reported by 2gether NHS Foundation Trust(2G) , less current 
and prior year MTFS funding for inflation and demand, as well as savings,  which the 
Lead Commissioner is holding.  Decisions on the use of this funding are likely to be 
conditional on completion of formal discussions (between representatives from the 
Council, 2G and the Clinical Commissioning Group) to address both budgetary and 
contractual issues. This group has been tasked with formulating a cost reduction plan to 
enable the overspend to be resolved.

Telecare is forecasting a £0.21 million overspend (31% of budget) due to increase 
staffing and equipment purchases following expansion of the service to support 
commissioning intentions. This forecast represents the first estimate for this financial 
year and is subject to risk of under/ over statement, this risk reducing as the year 
progresses.

Staffing/ other budgets are forecast to breakeven overall.

Public Health

As in previous years, Public Health Grant conditions permit any underspend to be 
carried forward into the next financial year providing it is used for “qualifying purposes”, 
which can include new commitments.  This is actioned through the Public Health 
Reserve.  The budget forecast therefore nets to a breakeven position.

The brought forward total on the Reserve is £4.60 million, of which £0.45 million is ring-
fenced for the Active and Healthy Together Schemes, with the balance required to 
cover delays in realising MtC2 savings and other commitments.  The forecast 
underspend on the current year grant is £0.32 million relating to Substance Misuse and 
Sexual Health (GP/ pharmacy costs) and Mental Health programmes.

Page 242



Children & Families

The current forecast of the year end revenue position as at June 2016 for non-DSG 
funded services is an over-spend position of £2.79 million (2.77% of budget). The over-
spend reduces to £1.14 million after the vulnerable children’s reserve has been applied. 

The significant rise in children coming into care (600 cases in May 2016 compared to 
479 cases in April 2014) is continuing to cause considerable pressures on children’s 
services and in particular against the external agency placement and fostering 
allowances budgets resulting in the over-spend.  Robust scrutiny by senior managers of 
high cost placements continues to ensure appropriate provision is in place and 
placement drift is avoided but the underlying issue is the volume of placements 
required. The financial recovery plan continues to be reviewed and updated to mitigate 
against the volume increases wherever possible.

Within Children in Care the external placement budget is forecasting a £1.59 million 
over-spend (17.0% above budget). The forecast position is similar to last year after 
allowing for the additional one year investment of £1.5 million approved in the MTFS. 
The volume of placements for both residential and fostering continues to cause the 
budget to over-spend with in-house fostering services forecasting an over-spend of 
£1.08 million. The increase in children coming into care and the complexity of some 
cases is causing substantial budget pressures against the allowance budgets.

Safeguarding staffing budgets received £2 million investment in 2016/17 and staff 
budgets are forecast to be on budget at the year end. Social workers are being 
recruited to fill the additional posts with agency staff continuing to cover in the interim. 
Section 17 and discretionary payments for children in care are forecasting to be over-
spent by £0.29 million (79.6% of the budget).  Changes in practice are being introduced 
replacing the use of ad hoc arrangements with a more coherent commissioning 
framework. Over time this should reduce some of the financial pressures in this area.

Services for disabled children and young people are forecast to under-spend by £0.09 
million across a number of areas including residential units, field work staff and care 
packages. Youth support budgets are forecasting to under-spend by £0.09 million. 

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) position 

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) funded services are forecast to be under-spent by 
£5.51 million which includes uncommitted balances brought forward from 2015/16 
totalling £5.35 million. Staffing budgets within Education, Prevention and Inclusion 
teams (EPI) are forecasting an under-spend of £0.08 million. 

Community and Infrastructure

The current forecast position for Communities & Infrastructure is an under-spend of 
£0.10 million (0.1% of the net budget).

Highways Commissioning are reporting a breakeven position this month, with spending 
to date on track with profiled spend.

Page 243



Health Watch currently forecast at £0.20 million under-spend (43.1% of budget). As per 
last year this is due to income from third parties and the actual grant received 
exceeding the indicative allocation when contracts were tendered. This indicates a 
favourable variance long term. 

Registration Service has a current forecast of a £0.17 million under-spend due to 
forecast ceremony income being more than budget.

Trading Standards is currently reporting a £0.11 million over-spend (14.2% of budget) 
due to MtC savings not yet being realised.

Integrated Transport Unit, this area is currently reporting an over-spend of £0.10 million 
(1.1% of budget). This is related to the delays in the implementation of the Bus Review.

Waste is currently reporting a balanced position due to insufficient trend information at 
this stage of the year to influence any forecast.

Libraries are currently reporting a balanced position.

The Communities & Infrastructure Corporate Budget is reporting a breakeven position.

Business Support Services

The forecast outturn position for Business Support Services is a break even position. 

Technical and Corporate budgets   

The forecast outturn position for Technical and Corporate budgets is a £1.20 million 
underspend (2.3% of budget).  The main reasons are;

 positive interest rate credits on balances of £300k and 
 a positive variation on the budget for the increase in the Council’s employer’s 

national insurance costs of £900k, following the introduction of the Government’s 
single-tier state pension for all employees on 1st April 2016. At the time of setting 
the budget the data was based on detailed modelling for both schools and GCC.  
Subsequently the split has been refined resulting in the positive variance.  

When the 2016/17 budget was approved by Council in February 2016 a number of 
government funding streams had not been finalised and estimates were used in the 
approved Budget.  These funding streams have now been confirmed and have resulted 
in £0.090 million less central funding than originally estimated.  This is made up of;

 £0.237 million less from the Rates Retention Baseline funding as a result of 
district council’s updated predictions on business rate income being lower than 
those included in the MTFS. 

 £0.013 million less from the Autumn Statement s31 grant adjustments
 £0.160 million more from extra New Homes Bonus Returned Funding grant. 

Page 244



These changes to funding are relatively minor and reflect the accuracy of the funding 
estimates made during budget preparation. The minor funding changes can be 
managed within the overall Technical and Corporate budgets.

Section B:  Capital Expenditure

Current Spend 2016/17

The capital budget for 2016/17 is £91.58 million, whilst the actual spend against the 
capital programme as at June 2016 is £3.53 million.  

The nature of capital investment means that spend tends to be lower during the first 
phase of a scheme with the majority of spend occurring once the construction phase 
begins. This means that for new schemes the majority of spend will occur towards the 
end of the financial year.  

Forecast Outturn Position 2016/17

The forecast outturn for 2016/17 is £91.55 million, giving a small underspend position of 
£0.028 million for the year.   

Details of the forecast year end position, analysed by service area, and key factors 
considered in producing this forecast position are provided in the table below and the 
narrative that follows.   Any variations shown below only relate to the 2016/17 spend 
profiles and will not translate into over or under-spends against the overall scheme 
budgets, unless highlighted. 

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 2016/17

Service Area

Reprofiled 
Budget 
2016/17

Current 
Year 

Spend 
2016/17

% Current 
Year 

Spend 
against 

Reprofiled 
Budget

Forecast 
Outturn 
2016/17

Forecast 
Year-end 
Variance

£000 £000 % £000 £000
Capital Receipts Works Before Sale 0 0 0 0

Adults 1,384 272 20 1,384 0

Children & Families 25,269 2,912 12 25,269 0

Communities & Infrastructure:

Infrastructure 52,201 -465 -1 52,201 0

Business Support Services 10,227 752 7 10,201 -26

Libraries 390 23 6 390 0

Archives 1,503 5 0 1,503 0

Safety 608 35 6 606 -2

Total 91,582 3,534 4 91,554 -28

Page 245



Adults

The Adults capital programme is forecast to spend £1.38 million in 2016/17, in line with 
the budget.

Children & Families

The Children & Families capital programme is forecast to spend £25.27 million in 
2016/17, in line with the budget.

Basic Need Grant Allocation 2018/19

The Council has received notification from the Department for Education of its Basic 
Need Grant allocation for 2018/19.  The total allocation is £20.923 million and will be 
allocated to priority schemes in future financial years and included in the MTFS for 
2017/18. 

Communities & Infrastructure

Infrastructure

Highways Infrastructure schemes are forecast to spend in line with the 2016/17 budget, 
which assumes the approval of the recommendations detailed below.

The Council has recently been allocated £1.006 million from the DfT Pothole Action 
Fund grant.  It is recommended that this grant, together with the revenue contribution of 
£0.807 million approved by Cabinet in June 2016, £1.0 million from the Communities & 
Infrastructure reserve (a new reserve approved by Cabinet in June 2016 for highways 
use), and a £0.28 million transfer from the Minor Works budget, be used for a 
programme of structural patching on sections of the network that have experienced 
large numbers of pothole call outs.  A total amount of £3.1 million will be focused on A 
and B roads, although a number of needy sites elsewhere on the highway network will 
be addressed.

DEFRA has earmarked £1.501 million Flood Defence Grant Aid for three flood 
alleviation scheme at Whaddon (£1.288 million), Anne Hathaway Drive, Churchdown 
(£0.071 million), and Medway Crescent, Brockworth (£0.142 million).  

It is recommended that the approved capital programme be increased by £1.501 million 
for the three flood alleviation schemes, financed by Flood Defence Grant Aid. 

Business Support Services

Business Support Services schemes are forecast to under-spend by £0.026 million, the 
majority of which relates to AMPS Business Support schemes that are forecast to 
spend £0.025 million less than budget.

Page 246



Changes to the Capital Programme

Children & Families

Children’s’ Centres
In June 2016 Cabinet approved the transfer of £0.3 million to a new Services to 
Families with Young Children Reserve which is intended to fund the proposed redesign 
of services. It is proposed that a capital scheme is created as part of the capital 
programme, funded by a revenue contribution from the reserve.  This approval will 
enable children centre buildings to be adapted and made suitable for the provision of a 
wide range of children's services.

Lakefield C of E Primary
The 2016 admissions process for Reception places identified a need to provide 
additional space at Lakefield C of E Primary School, Frampton.  Lakefield C of E 
Primary has a 30 per year group intake, however, number of applicants exceeded 
places available and 4 pupils, all of which Lakefield was the nearest school, could not 
be allocated places at the school.  Following discussions with the Head and Governing 
Body, the school agreed to admit these additional pupils.  To accommodate these 
additional pupils and facilitate the learning of a larger group of children, through the Key 
Stage 1 phase, the 3 existing classrooms need to be extended.  The cost of this work is 
£231,000.  

It is recommended that this new scheme be included in the capital programme, 
financed from the transfer of £231,000 from the unallocated education Basic Need 
grant funding.  This does not increase the overall value of the capital programme.

Pittville School
In July 2015 Cabinet approved a £1.0 million budget transfer from the Future 
Secondary Basic Need allocation to a new project at Pittville School, with the aim of 
commissioning a development plan and carrying out priority work identified in the plan 
to increase capacity at the school.  

The development plan has identified the work needed to accommodate an additional 
form of entry at the school, requiring an additional £0.5 million budget.

It is recommended that an additional £0.5 million be transferred from the Future 
Secondary Basic Need allocation to the Pittville School capital project to increase 
capacity by an additional form of entry.  This does not increase the overall value of the 
capital programme. 

Bournside School
There is a need to increase the capacity of Bournside School by one form of entry.  
Feasibility work has identified that the cost of the required work will be £2.4 million.  

It is recommended that £2.187 million be transferred from the Future Secondary Basic 
Need allocation funding to the Bournside project.  The remaining £0.213 million can be 
allocated from s106 funding that we are currently holding.  The overall increase in the 
capital programme is £0.213 million.  
   

Page 247



Hunts Grove new primary school
A £5.875 million scheme is included in the capital programme to build a new school at 
Hunts Grove, funded from developer s106 contributions.  The housing developer has 
since re-submitted the outline planning application and the s106 contribution has 
required re-negotiation.  Under the new agreement the developer will build the new 
school and will no longer be required to make a s106 contribution to the Council.  
It is recommended that the Hunts Grove budget and s106 funding source be removed 
from the capital programme. 
 
Adults

Social Care Capital Grant

The Council received a Social Care Grant of £1.409 million in 2015/16, which forms 
part of the 2015/16 Better Care Fund.  This funding is now intended to be used on 
Social Care capital, including IT associated with the “capped cost system under the 
Care Act”, which was initially scheduled for 2016 but has now been delayed until 2020.  

The intention is to support greater integration with Health and the implementation of the 
Care Act.  Spend will be predominantly on replacement of IT and systems 
enhancements and replacements along with the project management and 
implementation costs.  For example these include the Cold Harbour system, which is 
the Reablement rostering/planning system, ContrOOC, which is the finance system 
replacing the finance element of ERIC (Adults Social Care client database) and IT 
equipment for supporting frontline services such as the Fast Responder Service.  
 There is also an intension to fully replace ERIC, when more detailed guidance is 
received on the implementation of Phase 2 of the Care Act.

It is recommended that a new £1.409 million Social Care scheme be included in the 
capital programme, financed from the Social Care Capital Grant.  This increases the 
overall approved capital programme by £1.409 million.  

Fire & Rescue Service

New Fire Appliances 

The Service has a well established ongoing appliance replacement programme to 
ensure that the fleet reflects the values of the Service and maintains public confidence 
by ensuring appliances do not exceed their useable life.  Appliances which have been 
at busier higher risk locations are routinely moved to lowers risk areas where their use 
is expected to reduce. This cascading approach ensures the optimum use of each 
appliance.

The notional useable life of a fire appliance as per the specification and testing 
methodology for fire appliances is 12.5 years, however, due to careful management the 
Service extends useful life to 15 years.  

A recent fire appliance review has identified an immediate need for 2 new replacement 
fire appliances to ensure firefighter and community safety.  These existing vehicles are 

Page 248



now 14 years old and the Service is experiencing problems in sourcing spare parts.  It 
is therefore recommended that a new £0.51 million scheme for two new Fire Appliances 
be included in the capital programme for the Fire & Rescue Service, financed through a 
revenue contribution from the capital financing budget.  This increases the overall 
approved capital programme by £0.51 million.  

New Road Traffic Collision Equipment

GFRS regularly attends Road Traffic Collisions (RTC’s) where people require extrication. 
The Fire appliance review identified the need to replace existing hydraulic RTC 
equipment with new battery operated equipment to enhance fire fighter capabilities at 
RTC’s and improve safety and which are more efficient and cost effective.   One 
appliance will be replaced at each station with new apparatus to provide an equal level 
of response throughout the county, thereby increasing the availability of resources to 
attend incidents with the right equipment available on the first attendance.  

It is therefore recommended that a new £0.13 million scheme for new Road Traffic 
Collision Equipment be included in the capital programme for the Fire & Rescue 
Service, financed through a revenue contribution from the capital financing budget.  
This increases the overall approved capital programme by a further £0.13 million. 

Page 249



This page is intentionally left blank



1

COUNCIL STRATEGY AND MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY

2017/18 to 2019/20

Cabinet Date 20 July 2016

Cabinet Members Cllr Mark Hawthorne - Leader of Council 

Cllr Ray Theodoulou - Finance and Change

Key Decision This is not a key decision

Background 
Documents

Current Medium Term Financial Strategy and detailed budget for 2016/17 
Council Strategy 2016/17 update

Main Consultees Consultees will include the public, partners, scrutiny, schools and staff

Planned Dates September 2016 to January 2017

Divisional 
Councillor

Countywide

Officer Jo Walker – Strategic Finance Director (01452 328474)

Jane Burns – Director : Strategy and Challenge (01452 328472)

Paul Blacker – Head of Financial Management (01452 328999)

Purpose of Report To set out the overall context and outline the process / timetable for 
refreshing the Council Strategy and Medium Term Financial Strategy for 
the period 2017/18 to 2019/20.

Recommendation That Cabinet agree the proposed process for reviewing and developing 
the Council Strategy and producing the three-year Medium Term 
Financial Strategy covering the period 2017/18 to 2019/20.

Reasons for 
Recommendation

To ensure that the Council has a robust process for refreshing the 
Council Strategy and formulate the MTFS covering the period 2017/18 to 
2019/20.

Resource 
Implications This report deals with the financial budget from 2017/18 onwards.

Page 251

Agenda Item 11



2

MAIN REPORT CONTENTS

Background

1 The current Council Strategy and Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS), including 
the detailed budget for 2016/17, were agreed by Council in February 2016. The 
Council Strategy sets out the Council’s vision, values and priorities, and provides the 
main framework against which we monitor our future progress and performance.  

2 The current Council Strategy & MTFS were finalised in the context of the financial 
settlement for 2016/17, issued by the Government in February 2016. This settlement 
provided information in relation to four years 2016/17 to 2019/20.

3 Our current Council Strategy 2015-18 (2016/17 update) covers the three year period 
from 2015/16 to 2017/18. It is built upon three core values that inform everything the 
Council does:

 Living within our means:  focusing on our priorities in order to manage our 
budgets and reduce our borrowing;

 Doing the right thing: making sure we spend our money where the need is 
greatest and where we know it will make the biggest difference so that  local 
people get good outcomes from their services; 

 Helping communities help themselves:  helping people to live successful 
lives as independently as possible and giving power to local people in order to 
get better results and better value.

4 The basis of our strategy remains:
 Creating active individuals: helping people make the right life choices, like 

being fit and healthy and providing support for people to do more for themselves 
and their families in their own communities 

 Creating active communities: working with communities to help them develop 
their capacity and building on existing support to signpost people to what they 
need within their own communities 

 Getting people back to independence: providing intensive packages of 
support that focus on a quick recovery following an injury or trauma. We want to 
enable people to get back to normal as soon as possible to reduce the need for 
long term care 

 Being there when we're needed most: working with our partners to provide 
specialist, acute support for those who really need our help. We will target this 
care to people with complex needs and help them to make decisions about the 
long term care that is right for them

 Providing the infrastructure for a thriving economy:  working with partners 
in the public and private sectors to create the environment and infrastructure to 
attract inward investment from government and businesses and to stimulate 
economic development and growth.

Page 252



3

 Getting our Own House in Order:  as the Council’s overall budget decreases, 
so should the amount spend on activities not directly providing services to the 
public.  This has been done over the last four years and will continue into the 
future, with support services increasingly focusing on supporting the delivery of 
the Council’s strategic programmes, managing areas of highest risk and driving 
change on the front line.

This strategy is underpinned by a programme of detailed plans which will be reviewed 
and refreshed alongside the development of the budget and MTFS in order to ensure 
that the Council is able to deliver the level of transformation required within an 
affordable budget.  

5 The Strategy and MTFS approved in February 2016 is the starting point for producing 
the refreshed MTFS and the detailed budget proposals for 2017/18. 

The 2016/17 net budget approved by County Council in February 2016 was £420.46 
million. For MTFS planning purposes the 2016/17 budget – which is the starting point 
for 2017/18 - has been adjusted to £408.86 million. This is a presentational adjustment 
which removes the notional NHS Funding for Social Care which no longer exists as a 
funding source but was simply included previously to aid comparisons between years. 
This funding source has now been absorbed into the Better Care Fund along with the 
associated spend. All Cabinet monitoring reports for 2016/17 will continue to report 
against the approved budget of £420.46 million.  

6 The current year financial position is set out in the financial monitoring report 
elsewhere on the agenda.

Funding Forecasts – 2017/18 to 2019/20

7 The table below shows details of the four year financial settlement for the Council:

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20
Settlement Funding Assessment 119.25 101.92 92.18 83.16
of which:

Revenue Support Grant 49.91 31.21 19.39 8.04
Baseline Funding Level 20.63 21.04 21.66 22.35
Tariff/Top-Up 48.71 49.67 51.13 52.77

The figures in the table reflect the national announcements and an assumption that the Council 
accepts the four year funding settlement.

It should be noted that the overall Settlement Funding Assessment is not a cash figure, 
but rather an indicative amount that central government believe the Council could raise 
to fund expenditure.  This is because only the Revenue Support Grant and Tariff/Top 
Up is a fixed amount.  The Baseline Funding Level is indicative only, and actual cash is 
based on the return submitted by our district councils at the end of January each year.  
As a result of past year collection surpluses and deficits and district council estimates 
of total income collected from Business Rates the figure used in the Council’s Budget 
is the actual cash figure received by the Council, and will therefore differs from that of 
the settlement funding above. 

Page 253



4

When these core funding forecasts are combined with other funding sources the 
“affordable” budget forecast for 2017/18 is shown in the table below; 

Funding Source: 2016/17 
Revised 

£m

2017/18 
Forecast 

£m
Revenue Support  Grant 49.91 31.21
Business Rates :

Baseline Funding (incl 
impact of prior year 
adjustments)

Top Up Grant

19.63

48.71

20.17

49.67

Other Grants 9.48 5.78
New Homes Bonus 4.48 3.90
Council Taxpayers 250.71 262.25
Forecast Total funding 
available (excluding 
Public Health)

382.92 372.98

Public Health Grant 25.94 24.91
Forecast Total funding 
available (including 
Public Health)

408.86 397.89

The main reasons for the change in funding sources between 2016/17 and 2017/18 
relate to Revenue Support Grant, Council Taxpayers and Other Grants.  The Revenue 
Support Grant change is consistent with the settlement funding announcement - the 
decrease reflects national reductions in funding available. The amount from Council 
Taxpayers assumes council tax will rise by 1.99%, with a further 2% increase for the 
Adult Social Care Levy, each year.  The change in Other Grants relate to a reduction in 
Education Support Services Grant, reflecting the transfer of some schools to academy 
status

Taking all these assumptions into account it is currently forecast that the total funding 
available in 2017/18 will facilitate a budget of £397.89 million, some £10.97 million (or 
2.7%) lower in cash terms than the revised 2016/17 budget approved by Council. 

With regard to future years, based on current information available and assuming  
council tax increases, indicative funding forecasts for future years are:

2017/18
 £m

2018/19 
£m

2019/20 
£m

Indicative total funding available 397.9 397.9 402.3

In addition to the above funding streams underlying the base Budget, the Council also 
receives a number of specific grants to support spending.  The most significant of 
these are as follows:

Page 254



5

 Better Care Fund (BCF) – this is a programme spanning both the NHS and 
local government.  It has been created to improve the lives of some of the most 
vulnerable people in society which aims to provide fully integrated health and 
social care, resulting in an improved experience and better quality of life.   
Jointly with Health partners over £41.31 million is available through the BCF 
within Gloucestershire and this is expected to grow from 2018/19 based on 
announcements made as part of the last settlement.

 Pupil Premium Grant – this grant is worth over £19 million to schools and the 
local authority and provides funding for two policies:

 raising the attainment of disadvantaged pupils of all abilities, including 
children in care, to reach their potential

 supporting children and young people with parents in the regular armed 
forces.

Spending Pressures

8

9

In addition to addressing potential funding reductions, the MTFS and detailed annual 
budgets will also need to fund unavoidable cost increases. A detailed process is in place 
for the 2017/18 budget under which such pressures are identified and formally 
challenged. The outcome of this process will be finalised in November 2016. However, 
for budget planning purposes, it is currently forecast that in the order of £19 million will be 
required in 2017/18 for additional unavoidable cost increases.

Known spending pressures include;
 contractual inflation
 pay inflation
 national living wage
 demand costs relating to the care and protection of vulnerable children and adults
 increased waste tonnages. 

Savings Targets

For budget planning purposes – taking account of the forecast funding reductions of £11 
million and the estimate of unavoidable spending pressures of £19 million – it is 
estimated that savings in the region of £30 million will be needed to balance the budget. 

Detailed savings proposals will need to be formulated in the coming months. Proposals 
to achieve a balanced budget will be presented to Councillors in December 2016 in 
accordance with the timetable shown later in this report.

Page 255



6

Other Issues

10 a) 100% Business Rates Retention (BRR) Update

The Local Government Finance Bill introduced in December 2011 set out the 
Government’s intention to introduce a BRR scheme from 01 April 2013, which it did with a 
50:50 split between central and local government, and on which the Council’s current 
funding is based.

The Government has now launched the process for implementing 100% BRR later in this 
parliament, whereby in theory Gloucestershire would retain 100% of business rates 
collected within the county, subject to some sort of equalisation process yet to be 
determined.  A national Steering Group has been established to progress this, and it is 
envisaged that a formal consultation document will be produced over the summer.  

The Steering Group has formed to consider and provide information and advice on the 
mechanisms needed to set up and run the 100% BRR system, and the timing and 
implementation of the reforms.  Three technical working groups have also been 
established that are currently looking specifically at key aspects of the reforms. These are:

 Systems  design 
 Needs and distribution
 Responsibilities

The working groups will feed into the summer consultation, and at that time the Council 
will have the opportunity to respond. Further information can be found on the following 
web link:  http://www.local.gov.uk/business-rates  

11 b)  Academisation Update

The publication by the government of the consultation on the national funding formula for 
schools and the White Paper ‘Educational Excellence Everywhere’ identifies significant 
changes which will limit the role of local authorities and reduce the funding for the services 
currently provided to schools.  The intention is that all schools will become academies, 
although this is no longer mandatory some will be required to convert due to their Ofsted 
category and performance. These changes bring a significant financial risk to the Councils 
funding position due to:

 The loss of the Education Services Grant which funds the support that Local 
Authorities provide to maintained schools.  This will cease from September 2017 
with initial estimates predicting a loss of £3.5 million, although all of the statutory 
duties will continue with the exception of school improvement. This change has 
been included in the Funding Forecasts 2017/18 to 2019/20.    

 The potential loss of income from traded services to schools and the consequent 
reduction in the contribution to council overheads.

 Redundancy costs from services that are ceasing.
 Deficits from maintained schools falling to the Council as schools convert to 

academies.

The Council will look to facilitate the change process for schools and identify what 
services will need to be retained to meet statutory duties.  A further detailed consultation 
is expected imminently which should clarify the Local Authorities role and consequently 
the financial impact of the proposed changes. 

Page 256



7

12 c) Dedicated Schools Grant Update

The Department for Education (DfE) published the first part of a two-part consultation on 
changes to the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) on 7th March 2016 covering:

 A Schools National Funding Formula (NFF)
 A High Needs Funding Reform

The first consultation concentrated on the principles that should be applied and the factors 
and measures to be included in the new formula.

The second stage of the consultation was due during summer 2016 but has yet to be 
published.  The process and timetable for implementation is now unclear.  But the second 
stage consultation was expected to include detailed proposals on the formula weightings 
and values, and any transitional measures, which will apply at both local authority and 
school level. These will have a major impact on the total allocation to Gloucestershire and 
the subsequent distribution between schools.

It is anticipated that Gloucestershire schools and academies will gain once the national 
funding formula is fully implemented, however the impact will be unclear until the formula 
values and proposals on transition are published.. Similarly, there is uncertainty about 
how the allocation of high needs funding to local authorities will affect Gloucestershire. 

The March consultation proposed that, from 2017/18, in addition to the Schools, High 
Needs and Early Years blocks of the DSG, there is to be a new Central Block.

The current DSG block proposals are:

Schools Block
 The NFF will be introduced from 2017/18 to allocate the schools block of the DSG 

to local authorities. The schools block will be ring-fenced with a requirement for the 
total amount to be passed onto schools.

 For the first two years LAs will (as now) have discretion over the formula amounts 
used to allocate the schools block of the DSG to schools and academies. The 
Schools Forum will therefore continue to have a key role in advising on the local 
formula, and funding allocations, for 2017/18 and 2018/19. 

 From 2019/20 it will be a ‘hard’ national funding formula direct to schools and 
academies, with LAs (and Schools Forums) having no role in setting the 
mainstream funding formula.

High Needs Block
 The proposals are to continue to allocate funding to LAs for high needs, but from 

2017-18 a formula, rather than historic spend basis, will be used to allocate 
funding, with factors such as population; health; disability; low attainment; and 
deprivation.

 Local authorities are currently responsible for all high needs funding (including that 
for academies). 

Page 257



8

Although the government proposals will have an impact on the amount of high 
needs block DSG a local authority receives, the proposals do not change the local 
authority’s ongoing responsibility for determining and allocating high needs funding.

Early Years Block
 This is currently allocated to the local authority based on a national rate for eligible 

2 year olds and a national rate for eligible 3 and 4 year olds.  DfE have indicated 
that a consultation will take place later in the year on an early years funding 
formula.

Central Block
 This will fund the on-going duties local authorities hold for both maintained schools 

and academies.  It combines central costs currently within the schools block, e.g. 
admissions, together with the retained duties element of Education Services Grant 
(ESG).

 The general element of ESG disappears from September 2017 for both academies 
and local authorities, with local authorities expected to agree with its maintained 
schools the level of their DSG retained a local authorities statutory duties.

Local authorities are not expected to be funding any school improvement for maintained 
schools beyond September 2017.

13 d) UK Vote to leave EU

The full implications of the decision on 23 June by the UK to negotiate an exit from the 
European Union (EU) will become apparent over time.  There may be changes in 
government policy and any significant changes in the economy may have an impact on 
local government financing.  For now we continue to use the high level forecasts in the 
public domain for budgeting purposes and continue to monitor any impact on public sector 
funding and our treasury management activity closely.

Timeline

14 The proposed timetable refreshing the Council Strategy and developing the 2017/18 
budget is as follows: 

Stage 1 – June to September 2016 – Formulation of Three Year Strategy

Process to include:
 technical review/challenge to be undertaken by finance and performance;
 review of progress in delivering existing Council Strategy commitments;
 review and refresh Commissioning Intentions including  the delivery of the MtC2 

programme;
 formulation of detailed proposals across the council for consideration as part of 

a priorities/policy and performance review;
 finalisation and quantification of possible investment priorities and Meeting the 

Challenge and other savings for 2017/18;
 review of use of Dedicated Schools Grant and all other major revenue grants.
 Review continued impact of academisation.

Page 258



9

Stage 2 – October 2016 – Deadline for acceptance of Four Year Funding Offer and 
preparation of detailed budget proposals for 2017/18 and overview proposals for 2018/19 
and 2019/20.

Stage 3 – October to November 2016 - Preparation of detailed budget proposals for 
2017/18 and overview proposals for 2018/19 and 2019/20 in the context of the forecast 
funding position.

Stage 4 – December 2016 – Confirmation of financial settlement and preparation of the 
refreshed MTFS and budget proposal for 2017/18 for submission to Cabinet on 14th 
December 2016.

Stage 5 –December 2016 – January 2017 - Formal consultation with the public and 
stakeholders on the detailed budget proposal.  

Stage 6 – January 2017 - Group Leaders, Spokespersons and Scrutiny discussions on 
detailed budget proposals for 2017/18, and overview proposals for 2018/19 and 2019/20

Detailed discussions at Group Leaders and Political Group Spokespersons (Shadows) 
meetings and at Scrutiny Committees, to ensure a clear understanding of the issues in 
relation to potential budget items under consideration.  The Overview and Scrutiny and 
Management Committee will consider their own process for scrutinising the MTFS and 
Council Strategy.

Stage 7 – Final refreshed Council Strategy, MTFS and budget proposals and decisions – 
February 2017.

Officer Advice

15 The Council is required to produce a Council Strategy and MTFS. Officers recommend the 
processes and timeline set out in this report and will, wherever possible, use existing 
financial and performance processes in order to keep the additional burden on the Council 
to a minimum.

Risk Assessment

16 There are a number of key risks relating to the MTFS going forward and these include:
 The increased demand experienced in Adult and Children’s Social Care in 2016/17.
 The future of the Better Care Fund.
 On-going impact of the National Living Wage. 
 Deliverability of the MtC2 saving proposals.
 Academisation 
 Local Government Funding Changes
 DSG Changes
 Decision to leave EU

Equalities considerations

17 There is an existing due regard statement which covers the current Council Strategy, 
MTFS and budget. This will be reviewed and updated to take account of any changes and 
will be published alongside the relevant Cabinet and Council reports.

Page 259



10

 
Performance Management / Follow-up 

18 Monitoring of adherence to the Council Strategy and MTFS will be undertaken under 
normal performance and finance monitoring procedures during 2017/18.

Page 260


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Draft Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire (2018-2032) for Public Consultation
	Item 5 - Draft Minerals Local Plan (2018-2032)

	6 Extension of Contracts for the Provision of Carer Services within Gloucestershire
	7 Adoption West: Proposals and Consultation to develop a Regional Adoption Agency (RAA)
	8 Direct award of twenty seven 6 month interim recyclate contracts and the creation of a Dynamic Purchasing System for the delivery of Recyclate Services for the Household Recycling Centre Service
	9 Decision to launch public consultation on the principles of the Sexual Health Services Review
	10 Financial Monitoring Report 2016-17
	11 Council Strategy and Medium Term Financial Strategy 2017-18 to 2019-20

